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The Hanover Insurance Group

(1) Represents pre-tax income of the Company’s four operating segments: Personal Lines, Commercial Lines, Other Property and Casualty and Life Companies, as well as the interest expense
related to our corporate debt. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.131, the separate financial information of each segment is presented consistent with the
manner in which results are regularly evaluated by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Pre-tax segment income excludes
realized gains and losses, gains or losses on disposal of businesses and discontinued operations and other items, the details of which are included on page 27 in the attached Annual Report 
on Form 10-K. We report interest expense related to our corporate debt separately from the earnings of our operating segments.

The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc., based in Worcester, Mass., is the holding company for a group of insurers 
that includes The Hanover Insurance Company, also based in Worcester, Citizens Insurance Company of America,
headquartered in Howell, Michigan, and their affiliates. The Hanover offers a wide range of property and casualty
products and services to individuals, families and businesses through an extensive network of independent agents,
and has been meeting its obligations to its agent partners and their customers for more than 150 years. Taken as a
group, The Hanover ranks among the top 35 of more than 950 property and casualty insurers in the United States.

The Hanover Insurance Group conducts its business in two areas: Property and Casualty and Life Companies. Our
Property and Casualty business consists of three operating segments: Personal Lines, Commercial Lines, and Other
Property and Casualty. Together these segments account for 93% of our consolidated revenues. Our fourth operat-
ing segment is the Life Companies, which is a relatively small portion of our operations and is in run-off.

Personal Lines— includes such property and casualty coverage 
as personal automobile, homeowners and other personal policies.

Commercial Lines— includes such property and casualty
coverage as workers’ compensation, commercial automobile,
commercial multi peril and other commercial lines policies 
which include inland and ocean marine, fidelity and surety
bonds, umbrella, general liability and fire.

Other Property and Casualty— consists of run-off voluntary
pools business in which we have not actively participated 
since 1995, AMGRO — our premium financing business, and 
Opus Investment Management, Inc., which markets investment
management services to institutions, pension funds and 
other organizations.

Life Companies— On December 30, 2005, we sold our run-off variable life insurance and annuity business to
Goldman Sachs. After this sale, our remaining Life Companies segment, which is in run-off, now consists primarily
of a block of traditional life insurance products, our GIC business, certain group retirement products and certain 
non-insurance subsidiaries.

Financial  Summary

(In millions, except per share) 
Year Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

Revenues $2,624 $2,717 $2,831
Net (Loss) Income (325) 125 87
Pre-Tax Segment Income (1) 55 136 63
Total Assets 10,634 23,810 25,510
Shareholders Equity 1,951 2,340 2,220

Per Common Share

Net (Loss) Income —Diluted $(6.02) $2.34 $1.63
Book Value 36.30 43.91 41.89

The Hanover Insurance Group Highlights

NYSE: THG
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07148 2005 AR_Web  4/18/06  8:42 AM  Page 2



1

Our policy is performance.TM

2005 was a very important year for our company as 
we continued our journey to build a world class region-
al property and casualty company. We enhanced our 
strategic focus by selling our variable life insurance and
annuity business and rebranded our company, taking 
“The Hanover Insurance Group” name. We improved 
our financial strength, despite being tested by unprece-
dented hurricanes that affected our industry. And, we
continued to significantly enhance our capabilities in 
both our Personal and Commercial Lines businesses,
creating very competitive product suites for 
both markets. 

The improvements and investments we made in 2005, in addition to those made in the prior two years,
have enabled us to deliver on our promises to our agents and their customers, and have created
substantial value for our shareholders. 

In fact, The Wall Street Journal in its annual Shareholders Scoreboard reported that our company 
generated the single best three-year shareholder return among all property and casualty companies
tracked for the period through year-end 2005. Our average compound annual return for the three-
year period was 60.9 percent— nearly three times higher than the average for all property and casualty
companies. 

The results of our work over the past three years are encouraging and give us great confidence in our
future. But, we know we must remain focused on improving every day if we are going to build a 
world class regional company.

Frederick H. Eppinger
President and Chief Executive Officer

To Our Shareholders

The results of our work over the past three years are 

encouraging and give us great confidence in our future.
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The Hanover Insurance Group

Foundational Strength in Place
The significant advances we made during 2005 further strengthened our financial position, improved 
the overall risk profile of our company and increased our core earnings power. Our actions enhanced
our company’s focus and positioned us for greater success in 2006. 

The progress we made in 2005 is not readily apparent in our financial results, however, due to the 
impact of two extraordinary events; the sale of our variable life insurance and annuity business and the
impact of Hurricane Katrina.

While the life sale focused our company squarely on the property and casualty business and generated
gross proceeds of $360 million, it also resulted in an after-tax, non-cash loss of $444 million, which
reduced our net income. 

Hurricane Katrina also had a dramatic impact. While our strong reinsurance program minimized the
impact, Katrina still generated losses of $162 million on a net-of-tax basis. 

It is important to note that in spite of these two events, we enhanced our capital position and affirmed
our financial standing in the industry, maintaining our “A-” “Excellent” A.M. Best Co. financial strength
ratings, and gaining the trust and confidence of our key stakeholders. 

Sale of the Variable Life Insurance and Annuity Business

The sale of our variable life insurance and annuity business to The Goldman Sachs Group was an
important transaction that clarified our future.

Our life business had been placed in run-off in late 2002. Since that time, our strategy had been to pru-
dently manage this business in order to maximize and monetize the cash flow it generated. Our decision
to sell the business was consistent with that strategy and was the best answer for our company.

This transaction will create value for us in both the short and long term. Over the long term, we will
benefit from our enhanced focus on the property and casualty business. In the short term, the proceeds
generated through the sale will enable us to deliver value for our shareholders by accelerating the 
release of capital from our life companies and providing us with considerably more financial flexibility. 

Effective with the closing of the transaction at year-end, we instituted a share buyback program of up 
to $200 million, which we plan to execute through 2006. This share repurchase program complemented
the shareholder dividend that we also reinstituted in 2005. Even after the execution of these capital
management programs, our holding company is expected to have sufficient liquidity to cover its fixed
obligations for several years. 

We enhanced our capital position and affirmed our 

financial standing in the industry, gaining the trust 

and confidence of our key stakeholders.
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Our policy is performance.TM

Impact of Hurricane Katrina 

Hurricane Katrina was an event of unparalleled magnitude for our industry and for our company. This
storm hit directly in our largest concentration of coastal business, Louisiana, and it will cost us more 
than any single catastrophe in our company’s history.

Providing for and responding to catastrophes of this 
nature is our business. It is what we must do well as a 
top-quartile company, and I am proud of the way our
company and our people responded under extraordinar-
ily difficult circumstances. 

We overcame tremendous challenges, quickly getting
adjusters on the ground in the affected areas, assessing
damage, making advance payments and helping our 
agents and customers begin the process of rebuilding 
their lives. 

Katrina tested many in our industry, insurers and re-
insurers alike, requiring many to raise capital in order to 
meet their financial obligations. We passed the Katrina 

test, confirming the progress we had made and the financial strength of our company. 

Despite the significant losses sustained from Hurricane Katrina, we ended the year with $54 million
dollars in after-tax segment income, and with more statutory capital than we had at the beginning of 
the year. Our statutory surplus increased by over $100 million during 2005, up 10% to $1.2 billion, 
and we improved our capitalization ratios and operating leverage. 

Our ability to withstand the impact of Hurricane Katrina while generating meaningful earnings and
increasing our capital is a testimony to the strength of the underlying earnings power in our Property
and Casualty business.

Catastrophes are very much a part of our business, and we manage our business with an objective 
of earning at least our cost of capital on average over time. However, given the events of 2005, it is
helpful to look at earnings excluding catastrophes. 

Mark Welzenbach and John Urankar are leading
our Claims organization through a total redesign

that supports our business needs and financial
objectives for the future. 

We quickly and effectively helped our agents 

and customers begin the process of rebuilding their 

lives after Hurricane Katrina.
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The Hanover Insurance Group

Catastrophe losses were $304 million in 2005, compared to $99 million in 2004. Excluding the impact of
these catastrophes, our 2005 Property and Casualty pre-tax segment earnings were up $120 million, or
40%, compared to 2004. On this basis, both our Personal Lines and Commercial Lines businesses recorded
earnings improvement, with a 38% earnings growth in Personal Lines and a 47% earnings growth in
Commercial Lines.*

The growing earnings power of our company clearly demonstrates that the investments and the improve-
ments we have made in each of our business segments are having the desired effect.

Creating a Distinctive Position
While strengthening the foundation on which we are building our business, we also continued to make
great progress on the strategic initiatives that we believe will sustain our performance and position us 
for greater success going forward. 

The investments we have made in our business have enabled us to foster more and stronger relationships
with our agents and to meet the product and service expectations of our agents and their customers. We
have begun to see these investments generate growth in our business and we expect the rate of growth to
accelerate as these and other enhancements take hold.

Commercial Lines

In Commercial Lines, our company is positioned to be 
one of the very best in the small to mid-market business
segment, offering a distinctive operating model by part-
nering our experienced field team with winning agents. 
We also have developed expertise in specialty businesses
that can be leveraged across our distribution system and
provide opportunity for higher growth and improved
margins.

Despite competitive market conditions, we have been 
able to generate high-quality new business growth while
improving our mix. 

We will continue to leverage our position into 2006. 
Our objective is to maintain the focus on growth in small 

commercial and first-tier middle market, which we define as policies with annual premiums up to
$200,000, where we can capitalize on our distinctive strategy and value proposition.

Our ability to continue to grow Commercial Lines 

in 2006 will be driven by the strength and 

distinctiveness of the business model.

Sophia Phillips and Dick Van Steenburgh have driven 
significant improvements in our Bond and Marine 

capabilities, generating excellent business results while
strengthening our Commercial Lines value proposition. 
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Our policy is performance.TM

Our ability to continue to grow in 2006 will be driven by the strength and distinctiveness of the business
model that we have developed, which is aligned closely with the needs of growing mid-sized agents. 

We are now ready to offer our agents a unique opportunity; what we call a “total solutions approach.”
This approach provides our agents with a broad product portfolio, quick turnaround on quoting activity,
partnerships with knowledgeable underwriters, and a responsive, local service team.

We believe this business model will be a winning value proposition for our target agents and will make
us a “must have” carrier in our agents’ portfolio. 

Personal Lines

In Personal Lines, our strategy has been to strengthen our
foundation by improving our profitability and mix of busi-
ness, while investing in products and an operating model
that will allow us to compete aggressively in the market. 

Our growth objective in Personal Lines is supported by
Connections Auto, our new multi-variate auto product, 
and is augmented by a broad product offering. Our focus 
in this business is to provide a “total account solution,”
offering the capability to meet customers’ total personal
insurance needs, with an integrated family of products 
and without gaps in coverage. At the same time, we have 
the sophistication in our product and the breadth of cov-
erage to support the changing needs of our customers
through their various life stages.

Backing up our growth efforts, we have created a field presence with regional vice presidents of the
highest caliber in our key markets and we have made many enhancements to our service model that
make it easy for agents to do business with us. 

As in Commercial Lines, it is this comprehensive approach to the needs of our agent partners and
customers that will make us a distinctive carrier in our agent’s portfolio. 

The successful launch of Connections Auto was critical to the execution of our Personal Lines strategy
during 2005. This product was launched in April and was rolled out during the year in eight states:
Florida, Illinois, Indiana, Maine, New York, Tennessee, Virginia and Michigan. It represents a dramatic
improvement in our product portfolio and positions us to profitably write a much broader spectrum 

In Personal Lines, our comprehensive approach to the 

needs of our agent partners and customers will make us 

a distinctive carrier in our agent’s portfolio. 

Jose Trasancos and Cilsy Harris led the development 
of ConnectionsTM Auto in record time, providing a 

state-of the-art product platform to support our 
Personal Lines value proposition.  
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The Hanover Insurance Group

of the market, with greater underwriting precision, and supports our efforts to boost penetration in our
existing markets as well as our expansion efforts into new markets. 

The initial market response to this product has been overwhelmingly positive, resulting in significant
sales activity. Through the final eight months of 2005, we wrote more than 34,000 new Connections Auto

policies.

We are encouraged that this product, in combination with significantly improved service, will help 
build more and deeper partnerships with winning agents going forward, as it did during 2005, when
previously dormant agencies began working with us again and we appointed approximately 300 
new Personal Lines agents. 

We fully expect to continue the growth momentum created by the Connections Auto launch, as we roll 
the product out in nine additional states during 2006. 

Our Strategy is Sound and Remains Unchanged
Our success in 2005 has confirmed that our strategy is sound.

Today, the foundation of our business is solid. Our company is in excellent financial condition, and we
have the leadership team in place to build our business. 

Success in our industry has everything to do with strong
execution and it is people that make that happen. I am 
very proud of the leadership team that we have assembled,
complementing existing talent with some of the finest 
talent from the industry to create a company that has the
capability and drive to make things happen.

The quality of our people enabled us to achieve a great 
deal during 2005, including completing the complex 
sale of our variable life insurance and annuity business,
responding effectively to Hurricane Katrina, and bring-
ing Connections Auto to market in record time. 

Today, our company is in excellent financial condition, and 

we have the leadership team in place to build our business. 

The strong financial leadership of Joe Freitas and 
Michael Lorion has helped to deepen our understanding

of the economics of our business, leading to better 
decision making and ultimately higher returns. 
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Our policy is performance.TM

Outlook
With competition increasing and a shakeout underway in the
property and casualty business, we have a clear vision for 
the future — to become a world class regional property and
casualty insurance company— one that achieves top-quartile
financial position, provides our agent partners with top-
quartile products and service, and is a place where the best
people in our business want to work. 

We entered 2006 poised to grow both our Personal and
Commercial Lines of business. The signs of our progress are
everywhere. But, we are not done. We take pride in all we
have accomplished, but we focus every day on what we have
yet to achieve. 

Our immediate focus is to further improve our overall financial condition, continually strengthen our
team, create more and stronger partnerships with our agent partners, develop better products and
provide more responsive service. 

Our company is uniquely positioned today as a super regional, offering our independent agent partners
and their customers the best attributes of both national and regional companies. In the months and years
ahead, our goal is to exploit that competitive advantage, creating significant value for our shareholders
and all of our other stakeholders, as we create a very special, truly great company.

I have every confidence we will do just that.

Sincerely, 

Frederick H. Eppinger
President and Chief Executive Officer

Dan Mastrototaro and Mike Christiansen are part of one
of the most experienced and responsive field leadership

teams in the business, driving strong results today while
building our leadership capabilities for the future.

Our company is uniquely positioned as a super regional, 

offering our independent agent partners and their customers 

the best attributes of both national and regional companies.

* Actual GAAP 2005 pre-tax Property and Casualty segment earnings (including losses and loss adjustment expenses from Hurricane Katrina and other catastrophe losses in 2004 and 2005
and related reinstatement premium in 2005) decreased $84 million, or 43%, as compared to 2004, reflecting a 6% increase in Personal Lines and a 160% decline in Commercial Lines. Property
and Casualty total segment income is reconciled to net income on page 27 of the attached Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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The Hanover Insurance Group

The total account writer, delivering 

sophisticated products and ease of 

doing business 

An integrated suite of competitive
products with the sophistication
and breadth of coverage to support
the changing needs of a customer
through all of life’s stages

■ Multi-Variate Auto Product

■ Enhanced Homeowners Product

■ Ancillary Products

■ Umbrella

■ Valuable items

■ Watercraft

■ Dwelling fire

■ Growth in premium driven 
by product and execution

■ Further diversification of
geographic presence

■ Expanded distribution force

■ Distinctive “go to” 
relationships with the 
right producers 

■ A competitive advantage 
as an easy carrier to work 
with and a reputation for 
service excellence

■ Introduced Connections Auto —
a sophisticated multi-variate
product 

■ Generated 2005 new business
written premium of $44 million
from Connections Auto

■ Local sales power— eight
dedicated regional vice
presidents supported by 60 
sales people and technology
trainers, serving 1,850 
agencies

■ Easy to do business with—
technology, service, accuracy,
problem resolution

Personal Lines
Product Mix

2005 Net Written Premium

Personal Lines
Geographic Mix

2005 Net Written Premium

Personal Lines 
New Business 

Net Written Premium in Millions

28%

69%

3% Other

23%

43%

18%

7%

9%

$165

$112

$146

2003         2004         2005

Homeowners

Automobile

All Other
States

NJ

MA

NY
MI

Personal Lines
At-A-Glance

Products Highlights Outlook
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Our policy is performance.TM

Products Highlights Outlook

Commercial Lines
Product Mix

2005 Net Written Premium

Commercial Lines 
Geographic Mix

2005 Net Written Premium

A full breadth of flexible 
products that meet the needs 
of the small to mid-sized 
commercial agent 

■ Enhanced Business 
Owners Policy 

■ Competitive Standard 
Products

■ Commercial Package 
Product

■ Workers’ Compensation

■ Commercial Auto

■ Complementary Specialty
Products

■ Inland Marine

■ Umbrella

■ Expanded Bond Offering

■ Sustain growth rates that 
exceed industry average

■ Stable margins and 
improved mix 

■ Continue growth momen-
tum in small to mid-sized
commercial market, in 
policies with premiums of 
less than $200 thousand

■ Growth in complementary
specialty business 

■ Strengthen key agency
partnerships to achieve 
growth objective

■ Net written premium growth
exceeded industry average 

■ A distinctive operating 
model designed for the small 
to mid-sized market 

■ Top-tier field executives and
local underwriters supporting
our target market of policies
with premiums of less than
$200 thousand

■ Broad risk appetite and 
specialty capabilities—true
problem solvers

■ Excellent responsiveness and
customer service

■ A total solutions provider 
of standard and specialty 
products

Commercial Lines 
At-A-Glance

Commercial Lines
New Business 

Net Written Premium in Millions

The best growth partner for mid-sized 

agents, leveraging our broad risk appetite 

and excellent service 

19%

41%

15%

25%

21%

12%

7%
12%

48%

2003         2004         2005

$155$146

$175

Other

Workers’
Comp

Commercial
Multi-Peril

Commercial
Auto

All Other
States

NJ
MA

NY

MI
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The Hanover Insurance Group

ITEM 1 — BUSINESS

Organization 

The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. (“THG”), formerly
known as Allmerica Financial Corporation, is a holding
company organized as a Delaware corporation in 1995.
Our consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of THG; The Hanover Insurance Company
(“Hanover Insurance”) and Citizens Insurance Company
of America (“Citizens”), which are our principal proper-
ty and casualty subsidiaries; and First Allmerica
Financial Life Insurance Company (“FAFLIC”), which is
our life insurance and annuity subsidiary; and certain
other insurance and non-insurance subsidiaries. In addi-
tion, our results of operations prior to December 30,
2005, include Allmerica Financial Life Insurance and
Annuity Company (“AFLIAC”). On December 30, 2005,
we sold AFLIAC through a stock purchase agreement,
and reinsured 100% of the variable life insurance and
annuity business of FAFLIC (see Life Companies for fur-
ther information). The results of operations for AFLIAC
are reported as discontinued operations. 

On December 1, 2005, we changed the name of our
holding company from “Allmerica Financial
Corporation” to “The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.”
and our stock, which is traded on the New York Stock
Exchange, began trading under the symbol “THG”
instead of the previous symbol of “AFC”.

Financial Information About 
Operating Segments 

Our business includes financial products and services in
two major areas: Property and Casualty, and Life
Companies. Within these broad areas, we conduct busi-
ness principally in four operating segments. These seg-
ments are Personal Lines, Commercial Lines, Other
Property and Casualty, and Life Companies. We report
interest expense related to our corporate debt separately
from the earnings of our operating segments. Corporate
debt consists of our junior subordinated debentures and
our senior debentures.

Information with respect to each of our segments is
included in “Segment Results” on pages 30 to 42 in
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations and in Note 16 on
pages 103 to 105 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K. 

Description of Business by Segment 

Following is a discussion of each of our operating
segments. 

PART I 

Property and Casualty 

General 
Our Property and Casualty group accounted for $2.4 bil-
lion, or 93.2%, of consolidated segment revenues and
provided $113.7 million of segment income before feder-
al income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2005.
This group manages its operations principally through
three segments, identified as Personal Lines, Commercial
Lines and Other Property and Casualty. We underwrite
personal and commercial property and casualty insur-
ance through Hanover Insurance and Citizens, primarily
through an independent agent network concentrated in
the Midwest, Northeast, and Southeast United States.
Additionally, our Other Property and Casualty segment
consists of: voluntary pools business, in which we have
not actively participated since 1995; our premium financ-
ing business; and our investment management services
business.

Our strategy focuses on the fundamentals of the busi-
ness, namely disciplined underwriting, pricing, quality
claim handling, active agency management, effective
expense management and customer service. We have a
strong regional focus. Our Property and Casualty group
constituted the 31st largest property and casualty insur-
ance group in the United States based on 2004 direct pre-
miums written, according to A.M. Best.

Risks
The industry’s profitability and cash flow can be signifi-
cantly affected by: price; competition; volatile and
unpredictable developments such as extreme weather
conditions and natural disasters, including catastrophes;
legal developments affecting insurer and insureds’ liabil-
ity; extra-contractual liability; size of jury awards; acts of
terrorism; fluctuations in interest rates and other factors
that may affect investment returns; and other general
economic conditions and trends, such as inflationary
pressures, that may affect the adequacy of reserves.
Additionally, the economic conditions in geographic
locations where we conduct business, especially those
locations where our business is concentrated, may affect
the profitability of our business. The regulatory environ-
ments in those locations where we conduct business,
including any pricing, underwriting or product controls,
shared market mechanisms or mandatory pooling
arrangements, and other conditions, such as our agency
relationships, may also affect the profitability of our
business. In addition, our loss and loss adjustment
expense (“LAE”) reserves are based on our estimates,
principally involving actuarial projections, at a given
time, of what we expect the ultimate settlement and
administration of claims will cost based on facts and cir-
cumstances then known, predictions of future events,
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estimates of future trends in claims frequency and sever-
ity and judicial theories of liability, costs of repairs and
replacement, legislative activity and other factors.
Changes to these estimates may affect our profitability.

Lines of Business
We underwrite personal and commercial property and
casualty insurance coverage. In 2005, we introduced new
product suites for both lines of business. 

Personal Lines
Our Personal Lines segment accounted for $1.5 billion,
or 57.9%, of consolidated segment revenues and provid-
ed $143.2 million of segment income before federal
income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2005.
Personal Lines comprised 63.4% of the Property and
Casualty group’s net written premium in 2005. Personal
automobile accounted for 68.8% and homeowners
accounted for 28.4% of total personal lines net written
premium in 2005.

Personal automobile coverage insures individuals
against losses incurred from personal bodily injury, bod-
ily injury to third parties, property damage to an
insured’s vehicle, and property damage to other vehicles
and other property.

Homeowners coverage insures individuals for losses to
their residences and personal property, such as those
caused by fire, wind, hail, water damage (except for
flooding), theft and vandalism, and against third party
liability claims.

Other personal lines is comprised of miscellaneous poli-
cies including inland marine, umbrella, fire, personal
watercraft and earthquake.

Our top ten personal lines markets and the percent of
our 2005 personal lines’ net written premium represent-
ed by these markets are: 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2005

(In millions, except ratios)

Personal Lines

GAAP Net % of 
Premiums Written Total

Michigan $ 591.1 43.4%
Massachusetts 245.7 18.0
New Jersey 118.0 8.7
New York 100.9 7.4
Louisiana 40.9 3.0
Indiana 39.3 2.9
Connecticut 33.9 2.5
Maine 32.1 2.3
Florida 25.5 1.9
Illinois 19.3 1.4
Other 116.3 8.5

Total $1,363.0 100.0%

In Michigan, according to A.M. Best, based upon
direct written premium for 2004, we ranked 4th in the
industry for personal lines business, with approximately
9% of the state’s total market. Approximately 66% of the
Michigan personal lines business is in the personal auto-
mobile line. Approximately 42% of our total personal
automobile net written premium is in Michigan. In addi-
tion, approximately 32% of the Michigan personal lines
business is in the homeowners line. Approximately 48%
of our total homeowners net written premium is in
Michigan. In Michigan, we are a principal provider with
many of our agencies, averaging over $1.3 million of
total written premium per agent in 2005. 

Commercial Lines
Our Commercial Lines segment accounted for $0.9 bil-
lion, or 34.2%, of consolidated segment revenues and
incurred a segment loss before federal income taxes of
$35.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005.
Commercial Lines comprised 36.6% of the Property and
Casualty group’s net written premium in 2005.
Commercial multiple peril net written premium
accounted for 41.1%, commercial automobile 24.5% and
workers’ compensation 15.2% of total commercial lines
net written premium in 2005.

Commercial multiple peril coverage insures businesses
against third party liability from accidents occurring on
their premises or arising out of their operations, such as
injuries sustained from products sold. It also insures
business property for damage, such as that caused by
fire, wind, hail, water damage (except for flooding), theft
and vandalism.

Commercial automobile coverage insures businesses
against losses incurred from personal bodily injury, bod-
ily injury to third parties, property damage to an
insured’s vehicle, and property damage to other vehicles
and other property.

Workers’ compensation coverage insures employers
against employee medical and indemnity claims result-
ing from injuries related to work. Workers’ compensa-
tion policies are often written in conjunction with other
commercial policies.

Other commercial lines is comprised of miscellaneous
policies including inland and ocean marine, fidelity and
surety bonds, umbrella, general liability and fire.

We manage our commercial lines portfolio with a
focus on growth from the most profitable industry seg-
ments, which varies by line of business and geography.
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Our top ten commercial lines markets and the percent of
our 2005 commercial lines’ net written premium repre-
sented by these markets are:

For the Year Ended December 31, 2005

(In millions, except ratios)

Commercial Lines

GAAP Net % of 
Premiums Written Total

Michigan $ 166.8 21.2%
New York 97.4 12.4
Massachusetts 94.5 12.0
New Jersey 58.3 7.4
Maine 41.1 5.2
Louisiana 39.0 5.0
Illinois 34.2 4.3
Florida 31.5 4.0
Indiana 25.3 3.2
Connecticut 21.5 2.7
Other 177.8 22.6

Total $ 787.4 100.0%

Approximately 42.0% of commercial lines written pre-
mium is comprised of small policies having less than
$10,000 in premium. Policies with premium between
$10,000 and $100,000 account for an additional 46.5% of
the total. The commercial lines segment seeks to main-
tain effective agency relationships as a strategy to secure
and retain our agents’ best business. The quality of busi-
ness written is monitored through an ongoing quality
assurance program, accountability for which is shared at
the local, regional and corporate levels.

Other Property and Casualty
The Other Property and Casualty segment consists of
run-off voluntary pools business in which we have not
actively participated since 1995; AMGRO, Inc.
(“AMGRO”), our premium financing business; and
Opus Investment Management, Inc. (“Opus”), which
markets investment management services to institutions,
pension funds and other organizations. In addition, the
Other Property and Casualty segment includes earnings
on holding company assets. 

Premium Financing Services
Through AMGRO, we engage in the business of financ-
ing property and casualty insurance premiums to com-
mercial customers, primarily those of unaffiliated
carriers. Generally, these installment finance receivables
are secured by the related unearned insurance premiums
on such policies. The customers of AMGRO are those
persons or firms that borrow from AMGRO to finance
insurance premiums.

Investment Advisory Services 
Through our registered investment advisor, Opus, we
provide investment advisory services to affiliates and to
other institutions, including unaffiliated insurance com-
panies, retirement plans, foundations and a closed-end
mutual fund. At December 31, 2005, Opus had assets
under management of approximately $8.7 billion, of
which approximately $852 million represented assets
managed for entities unaffiliated with us. Included in the
$8.7 billion were approximately $1.1 billion of assets
related to our Allmerica Investment Trust Funds. These
funds were transferred in January 2006 as part of a fund
reorganization associated with the disposal of our vari-
able life insurance and annuity business (see Life
Companies – Overview on pages 16 and 17 of this Form
10-K and Note 2 on pages 82 and 83 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data of this Form 10-K).

Marketing and Distribution
On December 1, 2005, we changed the name of our
Delaware holding company from “Allmerica Financial
Corporation” to “The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.”
This change is part of an overall re-branding effort
intended to clearly position our corporation as principal-
ly a property and casualty company, and to build brand
recognition and brand equity in our markets. The com-
pany markets itself in all states except Michigan as The
Hanover Insurance Group. In Michigan, where
“Citizens” has well-established brand equity, we market
the Company as “Citizens Insurance, a member of The
Hanover Insurance Group.” 

We are licensed to sell property and casualty insur-
ance in all fifty states in the United States, as well as the
District of Columbia. In 2005, our top ten personal and
commercial markets based on total net written premium
in the state were: 
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In June of 2005, we began offering our new personal
lines’ automobile product, Connections Auto, which was
distributed in eight states by the end of the year.
Connections Auto utilizes a multivariate rating applica-
tion which is intended to allow agents to quickly and
accurately quote a wide spectrum of drivers. We have
already experienced increased agent interest in this
product and have appointed 307 new personal lines
agents in 2005. 

We have a strong regional focus. Our Property and
Casualty group maintains twenty-one local branch sales
and underwriting offices in seventeen states. Additional
processing support is provided in Atlanta, Georgia;
Worcester, Massachusetts; and Howell, Michigan.
Administrative functions are centralized in our head-
quarters in Worcester, Massachusetts. This regional strat-
egy allows us to maintain a strong focus on local markets
and the flexibility to respond to specific market condi-
tions. It also is a predominant factor in the establishment
and maintenance of long-term relationships with larger,
well-established independent agencies.

Independent agents provide specialized knowledge of
property and casualty products, local market conditions
and customer demographics. Independent agents
account for most of the sales of our property and casual-
ty products. Our growth strategy is closely aligned to
our relationship with the independent agency force. We
compensate agents primarily through regular commis-
sions and through a profit sharing plan that is tied to
agency level written premium and profitability. This
encourages agents to select customers whose risk char-
acteristics are aligned with our underwriting philosophy. 

Agencies are appointed based on profitability record,
financial stability, staff experience and professionalism,

and business strategy. Once appointed, we monitor each
agency’s performance and, in accordance with applica-
ble legal and regulatory requirements, take actions as
necessary to change these business relationships, such as
discontinuing the authority of the agent to underwrite
certain products or revising commissions or profit shar-
ing opportunities.

We sponsor local and national agent advisory councils
as forums to enhance relationships with our agents.
These councils provide input on the development of
products and services, help us to coordinate marketing
efforts, provide support to our strategies, and help us
enhance our local market presence. 

For our Other Property and Casualty segment busi-
ness, investment advisory services are marketed directly
through Opus, while premium financing services are
generally marketed through independent insurance
agents, primarily those of unaffiliated carriers.

Pricing and Competition
We seek to achieve a targeted combined ratio in each of
our product lines regardless of market conditions. The
targeted combined ratios reflect current investment yield
expectations, our loss payout patterns, and target returns
on equity. This strategy is intended to better enable us to
achieve measured growth and consistent profitability. In
addition, we seek to utilize our knowledge of local mar-
kets to achieve superior underwriting results. We rely on
market information provided by our local agents and on
the knowledge of our staff in the local branch offices.
Since we maintain a strong regional focus and a signifi-
cant market share in a number of states, we can apply
our knowledge and experience in making underwriting
and rate setting decisions.

For the Year Ended December 31, 2005

(In millions, except ratios)

Personal Lines Commercial Lines Total

GAAP Net % of GAAP Net % of GAAP Net % of 
Premiums Written Total Premiums Written Total Premiums Written Total

Michigan $ 591.1 43.4% $166.8 21.2% $ 757.9 35.2%
Massachusetts 245.7 18.0 94.5 12.0 340.2 15.8
New York 100.9 7.4 97.4 12.4 198.3 9.2
New Jersey 118.0 8.7 58.3 7.4 176.3 8.2
Louisiana 40.9 3.0 39.0 5.0 79.9 3.7
Maine 32.1 2.3 41.1 5.2 73.2 3.4
Indiana 39.3 2.9 25.3 3.2 64.6 3.0
Florida 25.5 1.9 31.5 4.0 57.0 2.7
Connecticut 33.9 2.5 21.5 2.7 55.4 2.6
Illinois 19.3 1.4 34.2 4.3 53.5 2.5
Other 116.3 8.5 177.8 22.6 294.1 13.7

Total $1,363.0 100.0% $787.4 100.0% $2,150.4 100.0%
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The property and casualty industry is a competitive
market with national agency companies, direct writers,
and regional and local insurers competing for business
on the basis of both price and service. Many national
agency, regional and local companies sell insurance
through independent agents and concentrate on both
commercial and personal lines. We market through inde-
pendent agents and, therefore, compete with both direct
writers and other independent agency companies for
business in each of the agencies representing them. Such
competition is based upon, among other things, pricing
and availability of products, product design, agency and
customer service, and ratings. 

In our Michigan personal lines business, we compete
with a number of national direct writers and regional
and local companies. Principal personal lines competi-
tors are AAA Auto Club of Michigan, State Farm Group
and Auto Owners. We believe our agency relationships,
Citizens Insurance brand recognition, the Citizens Best
program and our November 2005 introduction of
Connections Auto in the state enable us to distribute our
products competitively in Michigan. 

Based on net written premium, approximately 20.7%
of our 2005 personal automobile business was written in
Massachusetts. The Massachusetts Commissioner of
Insurance (the “Commissioner”) sets the rates for per-
sonal automobile business in the state. Effective January
1, 2006, the Commissioner issued a decision decreasing
the state-wide average rate by 8.7%, whereas on January
1, 2005, rates were decreased by 1.7% and on January 1,
2004, rates increased 2.5%. The impact of the rate change
on our average policy premium as a result of the prior
year changes was a decrease of 1.2% for 2005 and an
increase of 5.5% for 2004.

Due to the unique nature of the rate setting process
and the residual market mechanism in Massachusetts,
we carefully manage our business in this state. In 2005
and 2004, our efforts included the termination of several
agencies, the reduction or elimination of certain group
business, and an enhanced cession strategy relating to
the Massachusetts residual market. Also, we placed
additional focus on claims handling practices for
Massachusetts business. We believe these efforts have
improved our Massachusetts underwriting performance
compared to prior years. Our underwriting performance
in this state could be negatively impacted by the 2006
rate reduction, future rate reductions or changes to the
residual market mechanism.

In recent years, the Commissioner has proposed
changes to the residual market for personal automobile
insurance. If enacted, we do not believe that such
changes, as currently proposed, would have a material
effect on our Massachusetts underwriting performance.

In commercial lines, we face competition primarily
from national agency companies and regional and local
companies. We believe that our emphasis on maintaining
a local presence in our markets, coupled with invest-
ments in products, operating efficiency and technology,
will enable us to compete effectively. Our Property and
Casualty group is not dependent on a single customer or
even a few customers, for which the loss of any one or
more would have an adverse effect upon the group’s
insurance operation.

In our Other Property and Casualty segment, we face
strong competition among providers of investment advi-
sory services. In general, competition is based on a num-
ber of factors, including investment performance,
pricing and client service. There are few barriers to entry
by new investment advisory firms. In 2005 and earlier
years, Opus derived a significant portion of its revenue
from investment advisory fees received from Allmerica
Investment Trust funds (i.e., funds in which the separate
accounts of our life insurance subsidiaries invest premi-
ums received from variable life insurance and annuity
deposits). The sale of AFLIAC to Goldman Sachs, as well
as the reorganization of the Allmerica Investment Trust
funds into the Goldman Sachs Variable Insurance Trust
funds (see Life Companies – Overview on pages 16 and
17 of this Form 10-K and Note 2 on pages 82 and 83 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this
Form 10-K), will result in a prospective reduction of the
segment’s financial results. Opus also earns advisory
fees from other affiliated and unaffiliated separately
managed accounts and we are dependent upon the rela-
tionships we maintain with them. In the event that any
of these relationships are discontinued, the segment’s
financial results may be adversely affected.

Claims
We utilize experienced claims adjusters, appraisers,
medical specialists, managers and attorneys in order to
manage our claims. Our Property and Casualty group
has field claims adjusters strategically located through-
out our operating territories. Claims staff members work
closely with the agents and seek to settle claims rapidly
and in a cost-effective manner.

Claims office adjusting staff is supported by general
adjusters for large property and large casualty losses, by
automobile and heavy equipment damage appraisers for
automobile material damage losses, and by medical spe-
cialists whose principal concentration is on workers’
compensation and no-fault automobile injury cases. In
addition, the claims offices are supported by staff attor-
neys who specialize in litigation defense and claim set-
tlements. We also maintain a special investigative unit
that investigates suspected insurance fraud and abuse. 
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We utilize claims processing technology which allows
most of the smaller and more routine personal lines
claims to be processed at centralized locations. The cen-
tralization helps to increase efficiency and reduce oper-
ating costs. 

Catastrophes
Property and casualty insurers are subject to claims aris-
ing out of catastrophes, which may have a significant
impact on their results of operations and financial condi-
tion. We may experience catastrophe losses in the future
which could have a material adverse impact on us.
Catastrophes can be caused by various events, including
snow, ice storms, hurricanes, earthquakes, tornadoes,
wind, hail, terrorism, fires and explosions. The incidence
and severity of catastrophes are inherently unpre-
dictable. We manage our catastrophe risks through
underwriting procedures, including the use of specific
exclusions for floods, terrorism, as allowed, and other
factors, through geographic exposure management and
through reinsurance programs. The catastrophe reinsur-
ance program is structured to protect us on a per-occur-
rence basis, as well as to limit losses in the event of
multiple catastrophic events. We will continue to active-
ly monitor geographic location and coverage concentra-
tions in order to manage corporate exposure to all
catastrophic events. Although catastrophes can cause
losses in a variety of property and casualty lines, home-
owners and commercial multiple peril insurance have, in
the past, generated the majority of catastrophe-related
claims.

Terrorism
As a result of the Federal Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of
2002 (“TRIA”) and the Federal Terrorism Risk Insurance
Extension Act of 2005, prior terrorism exclusions in
insurance policies are void for certified terrorist events
(as defined by TRIA). As required, we have notified pol-
icyholders of their option to elect the terrorism coverage
and the cost of this coverage. We seek to manage our
exposures on an individual line of business basis and in
the aggregate by zip code and, as available, street
address. At this time, we have purchased no additional
specific terrorism-only reinsurance coverage. However,
we are reinsured for certain terrorism coverage within
existing Catastrophe, Property per Risk and Casualty
Excess of Loss corporate treaties (see Reinsurance –
Terrorism Coverage on pages 13 to 16 of this Form 10-K).
Our retention limit under TRIA in 2005 was $121.5 mil-
lion, representing 11.0% of year-end 2004 statutory poli-
cyholder surplus, and is estimated to be $111.5 million 
in 2006, representing 9.2% of 2005 year-end statutory
policyholder surplus. In addition, in 2006, we will be

required to retain an additional 10% of any claims from a
certified terrorist event in excess of our retention.
Coverage under TRIA is available for worker’s compen-
sation, commercial multiple peril and certain other com-
mercial lines policies.

State Regulation 
Our property and casualty insurance subsidiaries are
subject to extensive regulation in the various states and
jurisdictions in which they transact business and are also
supervised by the individual state insurance depart-
ments. Numerous aspects of our business are subject to
regulatory standards, including premium rates, manda-
tory risks that must be covered, prohibited exclusions,
licensing of agents, investments, restrictions on the size
of risks that may be insured under a single policy,
reserves and provisions for unearned premiums, losses
and other obligations, deposits of securities for the bene-
fit of policyholders, policy forms, and other conduct,
including the use of credit information in underwriting,
as well as other underwriting and claims practices. States
also regulate various aspects of the contractual relation-
ships between insurers and independent agents. 

In addition, as a condition to writing business in cer-
tain states, insurers are required to participate in various
pools or risk sharing mechanisms or to accept certain
classes of risk, regardless of whether such risks meet our
underwriting requirements for voluntary business. Some
states also limit or impose restrictions on the ability of an
insurer to withdraw from certain classes of business. For
example, Massachusetts, New Jersey, New York and
Louisiana each impose material restrictions on a compa-
ny’s ability to withdraw from certain lines of business in
their respective states. Furthermore, certain states pro-
hibit an insurer from withdrawing one or more lines of
insurance business from the state, except pursuant to a
plan that is approved by the state insurance department.
The state insurance departments can impose significant
charges on a carrier in connection with a market with-
drawal or refuse to approve these plans on the grounds
that they could lead to market disruption. Laws and reg-
ulations that limit cancellation and non-renewal and that
subject withdrawal plans to prior approval requirements
may significantly restrict an insurer’s ability to exit
unprofitable markets. 

On December 30, 2005, the Louisiana Insurance
Commissioner issued Emergency Rule 23 suspending
the authority of insurance companies to cancel or nonre-
new certain personal and commercial property insur-
ance policies covering properties in Louisiana that had
been damaged by hurricanes Katrina and Rita. The abil-
ity to issue notices of cancellation and nonrenewal has
been suspended until 60 days after the substantial com-



8

The Hanover Insurance Group

pletion of the repair or reconstruction of the dwelling,
residential property or commercial property or until
December 31, 2006, whichever occurs first. Under Rule
23, companies may cancel for certain reasons such as
nonpayment of premium and, with the approval of the
Louisiana Insurance Commissioner, may issue renewal
policies with coverage and premium changes. 

The insurance laws of many states generally provide
that property and casualty insurers doing business in
those states belong to statutory property and casualty
guaranty funds. The purpose of these guaranty funds is
to protect policyholders by requiring that solvent prop-
erty and casualty insurers pay certain insurance claims
of insolvent insurers. These guaranty associations gener-
ally pay these claims by assessing solvent insurers pro-
portionately based on the insurer’s share of voluntary
written premium in the state. While most guaranty asso-
ciations provide for recovery of assessments through rate
increases, surcharges or premium tax credits, there is no
assurance that insurers will ultimately recover these
assessments, which could be material – particularly fol-
lowing a large catastrophe affecting us and the industry
generally or in markets where we have significant mar-
ket share.

We are subject to periodic financial and market con-
duct examinations conducted by state insurance depart-
ments. We are also required to file annual and other
reports relating to the financial condition of our insur-
ance subsidiaries and other matters. 

Residual Markets and Pooling Arrangements
As a condition of our license to do business in various
states, we are required to participate in mandatory prop-
erty and casualty shared market mechanisms or pooling
arrangements which provide various insurance cover-
ages to individuals or other entities that otherwise are
unable to purchase such coverage. Such mechanisms
include assigned risk plans, reinsurance facilities and
pools, joint underwriting associations, fair access to
insurance requirements plans, and commercial automo-
bile insurance plans. For example, since most states com-
pel the purchase of a minimal level of automobile
liability insurance, states have developed shared market
mechanisms to provide the required coverages and in
many cases, optional coverages, to those drivers who,
because of their driving records or other factors, cannot
find insurers who will write them voluntarily. Our par-
ticipation in such shared markets or pooling mechanisms
is generally proportional to our direct writings for the
type of coverage written by the specific pooling mecha-
nism in the applicable state. We incurred an underwrit-
ing loss from participation in these mechanisms,
mandatory pools and underwriting associations of $34.9
million and $16.7 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively,

relating primarily to coverages for personal and com-
mercial automobile, personal and commercial property,
and workers’ compensation. The increase in the under-
writing loss in 2005, compared to 2004, is primarily the
result of losses from the Louisiana Fair Access to
Insurance Requirements Plan (“FAIR Plan”) due to
Hurricane Katrina. 

Reinsurance Facilities and Pools 
Reinsurance facilities are currently in operation in vari-
ous states that require an insurer to write all applications
submitted by an agent, regardless of its pricing or under-
writing characteristics. As a result, insurers in that state
may be writing policies for applicants with a higher risk
of loss than they would normally accept. The reinsurance
facility allows the insurer to cede this high risk business
to the reinsurance facility, thus sharing the underwriting
experience with all other insurers in the state. If a claim
is paid on a policy issued in this market, the facility will
reimburse the insurer. Typically, reinsurance facilities
operate at a deficit, which is then recouped by levying
assessments against the same insurers. 

With respect to our Massachusetts business, we cede a
portion of our personal and commercial automobile pre-
miums to the Commonwealth Automobile Reinsurers
(“CAR”) pool. Net premiums earned and losses and LAE
ceded to CAR were $53.3 million and $37.1 million in
2005, $46.6 million and $38.1 million in 2004, and $46.2
million and $61.0 million in 2003, respectively. At
December 31, 2005, CAR represented at least 10% of our
reinsurance activity.

In addition to CAR, Massachusetts also maintains an
Exclusive Representative Producer (“ERP”) program. An
ERP is an independent agency which cannot obtain a
voluntary insurance market for personal or commercial
automobile business from insurance companies in
Massachusetts. CAR assigns an ERP agency to an indi-
vidual insurance carrier, which is then required to write
all personal or commercial automobile business pro-
duced by that agency (subject to any cessions to the CAR
pool). We are required to maintain a level of ERPs con-
sistent with other carriers in the state and proportionate
to our overall market share of such business. Once an
agency is assigned to an insurance carrier, it is difficult to
terminate the relationship. ERPs generally produce
underwriting results that are markedly poorer than our
voluntary agents, although results vary significantly
among ERPs. As of December 31, 2005, we had approxi-
mately 47 ERPs assigned to us with annual direct
retained written premium of approximately $40.0 mil-
lion. As described above under “Pricing and
Competition”, the Massachusetts Commissioner of
Insurance has adopted rules to redistribute the residual
market, although such rules are the subject of a stay
order issued by a state court. 
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The Michigan Catastrophic Claims Association
(“MCCA”) is a reinsurance mechanism that covers no-
fault first party medical losses of retentions in excess of
$375,000. All automobile insurers doing business in
Michigan are required to participate in the MCCA.
Insurers are reimbursed for their covered losses in excess
of this threshold, which increased from $350,000 to
$375,000 on July 1, 2005 and will continue to increase
each July 1st in scheduled amounts until it reaches
$500,000 in 2011. Funding for MCCA comes from assess-
ments against automobile insurers based upon their pro-
portionate market share of the state’s automobile
liability insurance market. We ceded to the MCCA pre-
miums earned and losses and LAE of $68.9 million and
$61.3 million in 2005, $60.9 million and $12.4 million in
2004, and $46.8 million and $124.2 million in 2003,
respectively. At December 31, 2005, the MCCA repre-
sented at least 10% of our reinsurance activity. 

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, we had reinsurance
recoverables on paid and unpaid losses from CAR of
$47.2 million and $52.0 million, respectively, and from
the MCCA of $436.5 million and $411.9 million, respec-
tively. We believe that we are unlikely to incur any mate-
rial loss as a result of non-payment of amounts owed to
us by CAR, because CAR is a mandated pool supported
by all insurance companies licensed to write automobile
insurance in Massachusetts. In addition, with respect to
MCCA, we are unlikely to incur any material loss from
this facility as a result of non-payment of amounts owed
to us by MCCA because (i) it is currently in a surplus
position, (ii) the payment obligations of the MCCA are
extended over many years, resulting in relatively small
current payment obligations in terms of MCCA total
assets, and (iii) the MCCA is supported by assessments
permitted by statute. 

Reference is made to Note 18 on pages 105 to 107 and
Note 21 on pages 110 and 111 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K.

FAIR Plans and Other Involuntary Pools
The principal shared market mechanisms for property
insurance are FAIR Plans, the formation of which were
required by the federal government as a condition to an
insurer’s ability to obtain federal riot reinsurance cover-
age following the riots and civil disorder that occurred
during the 1960s. These plans, created as mechanisms
similar to automobile assigned risk plans, were designed
to increase the availability of property insurance in
urban areas, but now cover other circumstances where
homeowners are unable to obtain insurance, such as a
result of hurricanes or other natural exposures. The fed-
eral government reinsures those insurers participating in

FAIR Plans against excess losses sustained from riots and
civil disorders. The individual state FAIR Plans are creat-
ed pursuant to statute or regulation. The property shared
market mechanisms provide basic fire insurance and
extended coverage protection for dwellings and certain
commercial properties that could not be insured in the
voluntary market. A few states also include a basic
homeowners form of coverage in their shared market
mechanism. Approximately 30 states have FAIR Plans, 
or similar market mechanisms, including Louisiana,
Florida and Massachusetts. 

In 2005, the Louisiana FAIR Plan experienced sub-
stantial losses primarily from Hurricane Katrina. We
have estimated and recorded a liability related to
Louisiana’s FAIR Plan for accident year 2005 at approxi-
mately $20.0 million. The maximum annual FAIR Plan
assessment that can be levied against an insurer operat-
ing in Louisiana is approximately 20% of the annual
direct premium written by the insurer in the prior year,
representing a regular assessment of up to 10% and an
emergency assessment of up to 10%. Under the state’s
FAIR Plan, we are allowed to recover such losses from
policyholders, subject to annual limitations. However,
due to the uncertainty in the marketplace in Louisiana, it
is unclear whether our current estimate of liability will
be sufficient to cover our share of FAIR Plan losses or
whether we will be able to recover such costs from poli-
cyholders. Also, the availability of private homeowners
insurance in the state is declining as carriers seek to exit
or significantly reduce their exposure in the state. This
will increase the number of insureds seeking coverage
from the FAIR Plan and could result in increased losses
to us through the FAIR Plan.

The Florida Plan has also experienced considerable
losses during 2005 as a result of hurricanes and we
believe it has a significant deficit. The Florida Plan has
similar authority to the Louisiana FAIR Plan to assess
insurers up to an aggregate amount of approximately
20% of direct premium written from the prior year in the
form of a regular assessment not to exceed 10% and an
emergency assessment that may not exceed 10%. While
we believe we may receive an assessment in 2006, the
amount and timing of any assessment is uncertain.
Therefore, we are unable to estimate and record a liabili-
ty related to the Florida Plan at this time.

We have recently seen significant growth in the
Massachusetts FAIR Plan coastal exposures. We also
anticipate the FAIR Plan to have significant hurricane
exposures for 100 year or more events, which would like-
ly be material to the FAIR Plan, as well as to participat-
ing companies. The Massachusetts FAIR Plan does not
purchase catastrophe reinsurance and, as such, we are
exposed to our proportionate share of this potential
liability. 
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It should also be noted that such an event would be
subject to our reinsurance programs, as described in the
“Reinsurance” section on pages 13 to 16 of this Form 10-
K. Although it is difficult to accurately estimate such
exposure, it would likely be material to our financial
statements. Two other state FAIR Plans, where our par-
ticipation is larger as compared to other states, are North
Carolina and New York.

With respect to commercial automobile coverage,
another pooling mechanism, a Commercial Auto
Insurance Plan (“CAIP”), uses a limited number of serv-
icing carriers to handle assignments from other insurers.
The CAIP servicing carrier is paid a fee by the insurer
who otherwise would be assigned the responsibility of
handling the commercial automobile policy and paying
claims. Approximately 40 states have CAIP mechanisms,
including the states of New Jersey, New York, and
Louisiana, where our participation is larger as compared
to other states.

Assigned Risk Plans
Assigned risk plans are the most common type of shared
market mechanism. Many states, including Illinois, New
Jersey and New York operate assigned risk plans. Such
plans assign applications from drivers who are unable to
obtain insurance in the voluntary market to insurers
licensed in the applicant’s state. Each insurer is required
to accept a specific percentage of applications based on
its market share of voluntary business in the state. Once
an application has been assigned to an insurer, the insur-
er issues a policy under its own name and retains premi-
ums and pays losses as if the policy was voluntarily
written. With respect to New York’s assigned risk plan,
which is called The New York Automobile Insurance
Plan (“NYAIP”), we have elected to transfer our assign-
ments to a servicing carrier under a limited assignment
distribution (“LAD”) agreement. Under this LAD agree-
ment, the servicing carrier retains the assigned under-
writing results of the NYAIP for which it receives a fee
from us. In 2005 and 2004, we incurred expenses of $4.3
million and $0.1 million, respectively, related to this
agreement. 

Voluntary Pools
We have terminated our participation in virtually all vol-
untary pool business; however, we continue to be subject
to claims related to years in which we were a participant.
The most significant of these pools is a voluntary excess
and casualty reinsurance pool known as the Excess and
Casualty Reinsurance Association (“ECRA”), in which
we were a participant from 1950 to 1982. In 1982, the pool
was dissolved and since that time the business has been
in runoff. Our participation in this pool has resulted in

average paid losses of approximately $2 million annual-
ly over the past ten years. Because of the inherent uncer-
tainty regarding the types of claims in this pool, there
can be no assurance that the reserves will be sufficient.
Loss and LAE reserves for our voluntary pools were
$74.7 million and $72.0 million at December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively, including $53.3 million and $50.3 mil-
lion related to ECRA as of December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Excluding the ECRA pool, the average
annual paid losses and reserve balances at December 31,
2005 were not individually significant. 

Reserve for Unpaid Losses and 
Loss Adjustment Expenses 
Reference is made to “Reserve for Losses and Loss
Adjustment Expenses” on pages 35 to 39 of Manage-
ment’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations of this Form 10-K.

Our property and casualty actuaries review the
reserves each quarter and certify the reserves annually as
required for statutory filings. Significant periods of time
often elapse between the occurrence of an insured loss,
the reporting of the loss to us and our settlement and
payment of that loss. To recognize liabilities for unpaid
losses, we establish reserves as balance sheet liabilities
representing estimates of amounts needed to pay report-
ed and unreported losses and LAE.

We regularly review our reserving techniques, our
overall reserving position and our reinsurance. Based on
(i) review of historical data, legislative enactments, judi-
cial decisions, legal developments in impositions of
damages, changes in political attitudes and trends in
general economic conditions, (ii) review of per claim
information, (iii) historical loss experience of our proper-
ty and casualty business and the industry, (iv) the rela-
tively short-term nature of most policies written by us
and (v) internal estimates of required reserves, we
believe that adequate provision has been made for loss
reserves. However, establishment of appropriate
reserves is an inherently uncertain process and there can
be no certainty that current established reserves will
prove adequate in light of subsequent actual experience.
A significant change to the estimated reserves could have
a material effect on our results of operations or financial
position. An increase or decrease in reserve estimates
would result in a corresponding decrease or increase in
financial results. For example, each one percentage point
change in the aggregate loss and LAE ratio resulting
from a change in reserve estimation is currently project-
ed to have an approximate $22 million impact on prop-
erty and casualty segment income, based on 2005 full
year premiums.
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We do not use discounting techniques in establishing
reserves for losses and LAE, nor have we participated in
any loss portfolio transfers or other similar transactions. 

The following table reconciles reserves determined in
accordance with accounting principles and practices pre-
scribed or permitted by insurance statutory authorities
(“Statutory”) to reserves determined in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). 

December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Statutory reserve for losses 
and LAE $2,351.4 $ 2,162.6 $2,080.9

GAAP adjustments:
Reinsurance recoverable on 

unpaid losses 1,107.6 907.1 940.0
Other (0.3) (1.1) (2.0)

GAAP reserve for losses and LAE $3,458.7 $ 3,068.6 $3,018.9

Analysis of Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses Reserve Development 
The following table sets forth the development of our GAAP reserves (net of reinsurance recoverables) for unpaid
losses and LAE from 1995 through 2005. 

December 31 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995

(In millions)

Net reserve for 
losses and LAE(1) $2,351.1 $2,161.5 $ 2,078.9 $ 2,083.8 $ 2,056.9 $ 1,902.2 $ 1,924.5 $ 2,005.5 $ 2,038.7 $2,117.2 $2,132.5

Cumulative amount 
paid as of(2):

One year later — 622.0 658.3 784.5 763.6 780.3 703.8 638.0 643.0 732.1 627.6
Two years later — — 995.4 1,131.7 1,213.6 1,180.1 1,063.8 996.0 967.4 1,054.3 1,008.3
Three years later — — — 1,339.5 1,423.9 1,458.3 1,298.2 1,203.0 1,180.7 1,235.0 1,217.8
Four years later — — — — 1,551.5 1,567.8 1,471.8 1,333.0 1,301.5 1,365.9 1,325.9
Five years later — — — — — 1,636.9 1,524.4 1,446.0 1,375.5 1,439.8 1,408.8
Six years later — — — — — — 1,560.6 1,497.5 1,458.7 1,486.3 1,459.8
Seven years later — — — — — — — 1,537.4 1,496.3 1,555.3 1,492.5
Eight years later — — — — — — — — 1,528.0 1,584.5 1,552.5
Nine years later — — — — — — — — — 1,610.4 1,577.6
Ten years later — — — — — — — — — — 1,600.8

Net reserve 
re-estimated as of(3):

End of year 2,351.1 2,161.5 2,078.9 2,083.8 2,056.9 1,902.2 1,924.5 2,005.5 2,038.7 2,117.2 2,132.5
One year later — 2,082.0 2,064.4 2,124.2 2,063.3 2,010.8 1,837.1 1,822.1 1,911.5 1,989.3 1,991.1
Two years later — — 2,017.4 2,115.3 2,122.5 2,028.2 1,863.3 1,781.4 1,796.8 1,902.8 1,874.3
Three years later — — — 2,093.9 2,124.3 2,066.6 1,863.0 1,818.6 1,734.9 1,832.5 1,826.8
Four years later — — — — 2,121.6 2,071.1 1,893.6 1,823.5 1,762.9 1,783.7 1,780.7
Five years later — — — — — 2,078.3 1,901.6 1,860.5 1,770.9 1,810.9 1,740.1
Six years later — — — — — — 1,913.4 1,871.0 1,806.8 1,824.4 1,771.3
Seven years later — — — — — — — 1,883.1 1,818.3 1,856.9 1,787.5
Eight years later — — — — — — — — 1,834.7 1,867.9 1,817.1
Nine years later — — — — — — — — — 1,886.3 1,828.8
Ten years later — — — — — — — — — — 1,849.9

Redundancy 
(deficiency), net (4,5) $ — $ 79.5 $ 61.5 $ (10.1) $ (64.7) $ (176.1) $ 11.1 $ 122.4 $ 204.0 $ 230.9 $ 282.6

(1) Sets forth the estimated net liability for unpaid losses and LAE recorded at the balance sheet date for each of the indicated years; represents the estimated amount of net losses
and LAE for claims arising in the current and all prior years that are unpaid at the balance sheet date, including incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) reserves. 

(2) Cumulative loss and LAE payments made in succeeding years for losses incurred prior to the balance sheet date. 

(3) Re-estimated amount of the previously recorded liability based on experience for each succeeding year; increased or decreased as payments are made and more information
becomes known about the severity of remaining unpaid claims. 

(4) Cumulative redundancy or deficiency at December 31, 2005 of the net reserve amounts shown on the top line of the corresponding column. A redundancy in reserves means
the reserves established in prior years exceeded actual losses and LAE or were re-evaluated at less than the original reserved amount. A deficiency in reserves means the
reserves established in prior years were less than actual losses and LAE or were reevaluated at more than the original reserved amount. 

(5) The following table sets forth the development of gross reserve for unpaid losses and LAE from 1996 through 2005. 
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December 31 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 

(In millions)

Reserve for losses and LAE:
Gross liability $3,458.7 $ 3,068.6 $ 3,018.9 $ 2,961.7 $ 2,921.5 $ 2,719.1 $ 2,618.7 $ 2,597.2 $2,615.4 $2,744.1
Reinsurance recoverable 1,107.6 907.1 940.0 877.9 864.6 816.9 694.2 591.7 576.7 626.9

Net liability $2,351.1 $ 2,161.5 $ 2,078.9 $ 2,083.8 $ 2,056.9 $ 1,902.2 $ 1,924.5 $ 2,005.5 $2,038.7 $2,117.2

One year later:
Gross re-estimated liability $ 3,005.9 $ 2,972.2 $ 3,118.6 $ 2,926.4 $ 2,882.0 $ 2,553.4 $ 2,432.9 $2,472.6 $2,541.9
Re-estimated recoverable 923.9 907.8 994.4 863.1 871.2 716.3 610.8 561.1 552.6

Net re-estimated liability $ 2,082.0 $ 2,064.4 $ 2,124.2 $ 2,063.3 $ 2,010.8 $ 1,837.1 $ 1,822.1 $1,911.5 $1,989.3

Two years later:
Gross re-estimated liability $ 2,970.7 $ 3,113.5 $ 3,118.9 $ 2,913.0 $ 2,640.8 $ 2,379.6 $2,379.3 $2,424.5
Re-estimated recoverable 953.3 998.2 996.4 884.8 777.5 598.2 582.5 521.7

Net re-estimated liability $ 2,017.4 $ 2,115.3 $ 2,122.5 $ 2,028.2 $ 1,863.3 $ 1,781.4 $1,796.8 $1,902.8

Three years later:
Gross re-estimated liability $ 3,129.4 $ 3,146.6 $ 3,063.9 $ 2,658.0 $ 2,439.7 $2,305.2 $2,395.3
Re-estimated recoverable 1,035.5 1,022.3 997.3 795.0 621.1 570.3 562.8

Net re-estimated liability $ 2,093.9 $ 2,124.3 $ 2,066.6 $ 1,863.0 $ 1,818.6 $1,734.9 $1,832.5

Four years later:
Gross re-estimated liability $ 3,178.8 $ 3,088.5 $ 2,782.4 $ 2,458.4 $2,351.0 $2,336.3
Re-estimated recoverable 1,057.2 1,017.4 888.8 634.9 588.1 552.6

Net re-estimated liability $ 2,121.6 $ 2,071.1 $ 1,893.6 $ 1,823.5 $1,762.9 $1,783.7

Five years later:
Gross re-estimated liability $ 3,126.1 $ 2,814.1 $ 2,576.4 $2,368.2 $2,380.8
Re-estimated recoverable 1,047.8 912.5 715.9 597.3 569.9

Net re-estimated liability $ 2,078.3 $ 1,901.6 $ 1,860.5 $1,770.9 $1,810.9

Six years later:
Gross re-estimated liability $ 2,848.1 $ 2,619.0 $2,483.4 $2,405.0
Re-estimated recoverable 934.7 748.0 676.6 580.6

Net re-estimated liability $ 1,913.4 $ 1,871.0 $1,806.8 $1,824.4

Seven years later:
Gross re-estimated liability $ 2,649.2 $2,523.8 $2,512.6
Re-estimated recoverable 766.1 705.5 655.7

Net re-estimated liability $ 1,883.1 $1,818.3 $1,856.9

Eight years later:
Gross re-estimated liability $2,552.1 $2,551.8
Re-estimated recoverable 717.4 683.9

Net re-estimated liability $1,834.7 $1,867.9

Nine years later:
Gross re-estimated liability $2,579.5
Re-estimated recoverable 693.2

Net re-estimated liability $1,886.3
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Reinsurance 
We maintain a reinsurance program designed to protect
against large or unusual losses and LAE activity. We uti-
lize a variety of reinsurance agreements, which are
intended to control our exposure to large property and
casualty losses, stabilize earnings and protect capital
resources, including facultative reinsurance, excess of
loss reinsurance and catastrophe reinsurance.
Catastrophe reinsurance serves to protect the ceding
insurer from significant aggregate losses arising from a
single event such as snow, ice storm, windstorm, hail,
hurricane, tornado, riot or other extraordinary event. In
addition, we obtain catastrophe reinsurance to protect
against multiple catastrophes within an accident year.
We determine the appropriate amount of reinsurance
based upon our evaluation of the risks insured, exposure
analyses prepared by consultants and/or reinsurers, and
on market conditions, including the availability and pric-
ing of reinsurance.

We cede to reinsurers a portion of our risk based upon
policy premiums subject to such reinsurance.
Reinsurance contracts do not relieve us from our obliga-

tions to policyholders. Failure of reinsurers to honor
their obligations could result in losses to us. We believe
that the terms of our reinsurance contracts are consistent
with industry practice in that they contain standard
terms with respect to lines of business covered, limit and
retention, arbitration and occurrence. Based upon an
ongoing review of our reinsurers’ financial statements,
reported financial strength ratings from rating agencies
and the analysis and guidance of our reinsurance inter-
mediaries, we believe that our reinsurers are financially
sound. 

We are subject to concentration of risk with respect to
reinsurance ceded to various residual market mecha-
nisms. As a condition to the ability to conduct certain
business in various states, we are required to participate
in various residual market mechanisms and pooling
arrangements which provide various insurance cover-
ages to individuals or other entities that are otherwise
unable to purchase such coverage. These market mecha-
nisms and pooling arrangements include CAR and
MCCA.

Reference is made to “Reinsurance” in Note 18 on
pages 105 to 107 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K.

Reference is also made to “Reinsurance Facilities and
Pools” on pages 8 and 9 of this Form 10-K.



14

The Hanover Insurance Group

A summary of our reinsurance programs is as follows:

2005

(in millions)

Reinsurance Coverage,
Including Non- Certified Terrorism Coverage

Treaty Loss Amount Loss Retention Certified Terrorism (as defined by TRIA)

Property catastrophe occurrence treaty 
All perils, per occurrence < $45.0 100% NA NA

$45.0 to $410.0 15% 85% 85%; Personal 
lines only

> $410.0 100% NA NA
Property catastrophe aggregate treaty (1)

All perils < $80.0 100% NA NA
$80.0 to $130.0 10% 90% 90%; Personal

lines only
> $130.0 100% NA NA

Property per risk treaty (2)

All perils, per risk < $2.0 100% NA NA
$2.0 to $50.0 NA 100% 100%

> $50.0 100% NA NA
Casualty reinsurance (3)

Each loss, per occurrence for < $0.5 100% NA NA
general liability, auto liability  $0.5 to $1.25 60% 40% 40%; subject to 
and workers’ compensation annual aggregate 

limit
$1.25 to $30.0 NA 100% 100%; subject to 

annual aggregate 
limit

> $30.0 100% NA NA
Umbrella reinsurance (2)

Excess of loss treaty on umbrella < $1.0 100% NA NA
liability coverages $1.0 to $15.0 NA 100% 100%; non-target

risks only
> $15.0 100% NA NA

Commercial marine reinsurance (2)

All inland and ocean marine, < $1.0 100% NA NA
each occurence $1.0 to $6.0 NA 100% 100%; inland

marine only
> $6.0 100% NA NA

Surety/fidelity reinsurance (2)

Excess of loss treaty on surety/ < $2.0 100% NA NA
fidelity business $2.0 to $30.0 15% 85% NA

> $30.0 100% NA NA

NA – Not applicable

(1) Retention and loss amounts are variable, ranging from $80.0 million to $82.8 million and $130.0 million to $132.8 million, respectively. The property catastrophe aggregate
treaty includes a per occurrence limit of $30.0 million.

(2) The property per risk, commercial marine and surety/fidelity treaties have an annual effective date of July 1st and the excess of loss on umbrella liability coverage is
continuous. All other treaties have January 1st effective dates.

(3) The casualty reinsurance treaty includes $5.0 million of coverage for nuclear, chemical or biological events, whether or not such events are terrorism related. Certified
terrorism losses, as defined by TRIA, which are not related to nuclear, chemical or biological events are subject to an annual aggregate limit of $30.0 million.
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2006

(in millions)

Reinsurance Coverage,
Including Non- Certified Terrorism Coverage

Treaty Loss Amount Loss Retention Certified Terrorism (as defined by TRIA)

Property catastrophe occurrence treaty 
All perils, per occurrence < $60.0 100% NA NA

$60.0 to $500.0 14% 86% 86%; Personal
lines only

> $500.0 100% NA NA
Property catastrophe aggregate treaty (1)

All perils < $90.0 100% NA NA
$90.0 to $140.0 10% 90% 90%; Personal

lines only
> $140.0 100% NA NA

Property per risk treaty (2)

All perils, per risk < $2.0 100% NA NA
$2.0 to $50.0 NA 100% 100%

> $50.0 100% NA NA
Casualty reinsurance (3)

Each loss, per occurrence for < $0.5 100% NA NA
general liability, auto liability  $0.5 to $1.25 35% 65% 65%; subject to 
and workers’ compensation annual aggregate

limit
$1.25 to $30.0 NA 100% 100%; subject to 

annual aggregate
limit

> $30.0 100% NA NA
Umbrella reinsurance (2)

Excess of loss treaty on umbrella < $1.0 100% NA NA
liability coverages $1.0 to $15.0 NA 100% 100%; non-target

risks only
> $15.0 100% NA NA

Commercial marine reinsurance (2)

All inland and ocean marine, < $1.0 100% NA NA
each occurence $1.0 to $6.0 NA 100% 100%; inland

marine only
> $6.0 100% NA NA

Surety/fidelity reinsurance (2)

Excess of loss treaty on surety/ < $2.0 100% NA NA
fidelity business $2.0 to $30.0 15% 85% NA

> $30.0 100% NA NA

NA – Not applicable

(1) Retention and loss amounts are variable, ranging from $90.0 million to $93.0 million and $140.0 million to $143.0 million, respectively. The property catastrophe aggregate
treaty includes a per occurrence limit of $30.0 million.

(2) The property per risk, commercial marine and surety/fidelity treaties have an annual effective date of July 1st and the excess of loss on umbrella liability coverage is
continuous. All other treaties have January 1st effective dates.

(3) The casualty reinsurance treaty includes $5.0 million of coverage for nuclear, chemical or biological events, whether or not such events are terrorism related. Certified
terrorism losses, as defined by TRIA, which are not related to nuclear, chemical or biological events are subject to an annual aggregate limit of $30.0 million.
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Under our property catastrophe occurrence treaty, for
the year ended December 31, 2005, we ceded Hurricane
Katrina related losses and LAE of $312.3 million under
the terms of the agreement. Also, since we had exhaust-
ed our ceding limits under the treaty, we were contractu-
ally obligated to pay $27.0 million of reinsurance
reinstatement premiums in 2005. This ensured that our
property catastrophe occurrence treaty was available
again in the event of another large catastrophe loss dur-
ing the remainder of the year.

Under our property catastrophe aggregate treaty,
catastrophe losses are calculated cumulatively, in the
aggregate, at the end of each quarter during the term of
the contract and are subject to a retention limit based on
our property lines net earned premium. For the year
ended December 31, 2005, we incurred losses of $19.1
million in excess of our retention limit, of which 90%, or
$17.2 million, was subsequently ceded under the terms
of this agreement.

We renewed both our property catastrophe occur-
rence and property catastrophe aggregate reinsurance
treaties for approximately $52 million in 2006, which rep-
resents a 34% increase over 2005. For 2006, we increased
our property catastrophe occurrence treaty coverage
from $410 million to $500 million and raised our reten-
tion from $45 million to $60 million. In addition, we
raised our aggregate retention in our property catastro-
phe aggregate treaty for 2006 from $80 million to $90 mil-
lion while maintaining $50 million of coverage in excess
of our retention. Reinstatement premium provisions in
2006 are consistent with those in 2005. Reduced capacity
in the reinsurance market or increased pricing of rein-
surance coverage could adversely affect our ability to
obtain reinsurance in the future or the future cost of such
reinsurance coverage.

While we exclude coverage of nuclear, chemical or
biological events from the personal and commercial poli-
cies we write, we are required by law to offer this cover-
age in our workers’ compensation policies. We have
reinsurance coverage under our casualty reinsurance
treaty for losses that result from nuclear, chemical or bio-
logical events of approximately $5 million. All other
treaties exclude such coverage. Further, under TRIA, our
retention of losses from such events, if deemed certified
terrorist events, is limited to $111.5 million and 10% of
losses in excess of this limit in 2006. However, there can
be no assurance that such events would not be material
to our financial position or results of operations.

Life Companies 

Overview
On December 30, 2005, we sold all of the outstanding
shares of capital stock of AFLIAC, a life insurance sub-
sidiary representing approximately 95% of our run-off
variable life insurance and annuity business, to The
Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. (“Goldman Sachs”), pur-
suant to a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”)
entered into on August 22, 2005. The transaction also
includes the reinsurance of 100% of the variable business
of FAFLIC. In connection with these transactions,
Allmerica Investment Trust (“AIT”) agreed to transfer
certain assets and liabilities of its funds to certain
Goldman Sachs Variable Insurance Trust managed funds
through a fund reorganization transaction. Finally, we
agreed to sell to Goldman Sachs all of the outstanding
shares of capital stock of Allmerica Financial Investment
Management Service, Inc. (“AFIMS”), our investment
advisory subsidiary, concurrently with the consumma-
tion of the fund reorganization transaction. The fund
reorganization transaction was consummated on
January 9, 2006. 

We have made various representations, warranties
and covenants in the Agreement to Goldman Sachs. We
have agreed to indemnify Goldman Sachs for breaches of
such representations, warranties and covenants. We have
also agreed to indemnify Goldman Sachs for certain liti-
gation, regulatory matters and other liabilities relating to
the pre-sale activities of the business being transferred. 

In connection with these transactions, FAFLIC will
provide transition services until the earlier of eighteen
months from the December 30, 2005 closing or when the
operations of AFLIAC, and the reinsured FAFLIC busi-
ness, can be transferred to Goldman Sachs. This transi-
tion period is currently expected to extend into the
fourth quarter of 2006.

Dividends from our life insurance subsidiaries to the
holding company are restricted by Massachusetts laws
and regulations governing insurance companies. Any
distributions require regulatory approval from the
Massachusetts Commissioner of Insurance. In connec-
tion with the sale, we received approval from the
Commissioner for a cash dividend of $48.6 million from
FAFLIC, including the $8.6 million ceding commission
received as part of the reinsurance of 100% of the vari-
able business of FAFLIC, and for the distribution of other
non-insurance subsidiaries, from which the holding
company received approximately $15.4 million of addi-
tional funds. 
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Our Life Companies segment consists of two major
components: Continuing Operations and Discontinued
Operations. Our Continuing Operations segment com-
ponent manages run-off blocks of traditional life insur-
ance products (principally the Closed Block), group
retirement products, our GIC business, our discontinued
group life and health business, including group life and
health voluntary pools (the former Corporate Risk
Management Services segment), and certain non-insur-
ance subsidiaries. This segment also included the
FAFLIC variable business through the closing of the
Agreement on December 30, 2005. Our Discontinued
Operations segment component represents the result of
operations of the AFLIAC variable business mentioned
above. 

For the year ended December 31, 2005, our
Continuing Operations segment accounted for $185.3
million, or 7.1%, of consolidated segment revenues, and
a segment loss of $18.7 million before federal income
taxes. 

Products 
The following table reflects total reserves held, both
gross and net of reinsurance recoverable, including uni-
versal life and investment-oriented contract reserves, for
the segment’s major product lines, including the Closed
Block (see Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies, Closed Block on page 74 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K),
for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004.

December 31 2005 2004 2005 2004

(In millions)

Gross Net of Reinsurance Recoverable

General Account Reserves:
Insurance

Traditional life $ 760.2 $ 821.2 $ 760.0 $ 812.8
Universal life 1.0 579.8 — 0.4
Variable universal life (1) 32.9 242.9 — 231.5
Individual health 18.7 257.9 0.4 0.6

Total insurance 812.8 1,901.8 760.4 1,045.3

Annuities 
Individual annuities (1) 113.5 1,378.0 15.7 1,367.5
Group annuities 400.7 428.7 395.5 423.4

Total annuities 514.2 1,806.7 411.2 1,790.9

Guaranteed investment contracts 30.3 30.0 30.3 30.0

Total general account reserves (2) $1,357.3 $ 3,738.5 $1,201.9 $ 2,866.2

Trust instruments supported by funding obligations $ 294.3 $ 1,126.0 $ 294.3 $ 1,126.0

Separate Account Liabilities:
Insurance

Variable universal life $ 70.2 $ 1,053.6 $ 70.2 $ 1,053.6
Annuities

Variable individual annuities 405.5 9,315.1 405.5 9,315.1
Group annuities 96.2 86.3 96.2 86.3

Total annuities 501.7 9,401.4 501.7 9,401.4

Total separate account liabilities (3) $ 571.9 $10,455.0 $ 571.9 $10,455.0

(1) Effective December 30, 2005, variable universal life and individual annuity reserves totaling $124.6 million were ceded to AFLIAC from FAFLIC in conjunction with a
coinsurance agreement.

(2) Excludes reserves related to our discontinued operations in our former CRMS segment (see “Discontinued Operations – Group Life and Health” in Note 16 – Segment
Information on pages 103 to 105 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K).

(3) Effective December 30, 2005, separate account liabilities of $465.7 million are subject to a modified coinsurance agreement with AFLIAC.
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Traditional Products 
The primary insurance products we previously offered
in this segment include traditional life insurance prod-
ucts, such as whole life and universal life. In addition,
our insurance products included fixed annuities and
retirement plan funding products.

Retirement Products
We provided consulting and investment services to
defined benefit retirement plans of corporate employers,
to which we continue to provide investment services for
a small number of qualified pension and profit sharing
plans. We also continue to manage annuity accounts for
participants of defined benefit plans whose retirement
benefits were purchased for them by their defined bene-
fit plan sponsor. We are no longer actively soliciting new
business.

Stable Value Products 
We offered our customers the option of investing in sta-
ble value products, comprised of both traditional GICs
and non-qualified GICs, often referred to as funding
agreements. The traditional GIC was issued to ERISA-
qualified retirement plans, and provided a fixed guaran-
teed interest rate and fixed maturity for each contract.
The funding agreement is similar to the traditional GIC,
except that it was issued to non-ERISA institutional buy-
ers. Long-term funding agreements, with maturities of 1
to 10 years, were offered to institutional buyers such as
banks, insurance companies and money managers.
Funding agreements sold in this market had either fixed
or variable interest rates. In addition, funding agree-
ments sold through our Euro-GIC program were denom-
inated in either U.S. dollars or foreign currencies.

In 2005, $831.4 million of these funding agreements
matured while in 2004, we retired $185.2 million of fund-
ing agreements at discounts through open market pur-
chases. At December 31, 2005, the Company held $324.6
million of these long-term funding agreements, of which
approximately 90% will mature in 2006.

Accident and Health Assumed Reinsurance 
Pools Business
We previously participated in approximately 40
assumed accident and health reinsurance pools and
arrangements. We ceased writing new premiums in this
business in 1998, subject to certain contractual obliga-
tions. This reinsurance business was included in our for-
mer Corporate Risk Management Services segment,
which was discontinued in 1999. The reinsurance pool
business consisted primarily of direct and assumed med-
ical stop loss, the medical and disability portions of
workers’ compensation risks, small group managed care,
long-term disability and long-term care pools, student
accident and special risk business. We are currently mon-

itoring and managing the run-off of our related partici-
pation in the 25 pools with remaining liabilities. 

We both reinsured business from these pools and
arrangements, as well as ceded business to other rein-
surers that we assumed from these pools and arrange-
ments. Accordingly, we have established reserves for
claims and expenses related to this discontinued acci-
dent and health assumed reinsurance pool business. Our
total reserves were $247.1 million at December 31, 2005.
Our total amount recoverable from third party reinsurers
was $187.5 million at December 31, 2005. Although there
have been no results in our Consolidated Statements of
Income relating to our accident and health assumed rein-
surance pools business since we discontinued this busi-
ness in 1999, should we incur any additional losses from
these pools, they would be reflected in discontinued
operations.

Competition
We are no longer competing for new business in this seg-
ment. Our focus is now on managing our existing port-
folio of proprietary insurance product assets. 

Distribution 
We are no longer distributing products in this segment.
Our focus is now on managing our existing portfolio of
proprietary insurance product assets.

General Account Reserves 
We have established liabilities for policyholders’ account
balances and future policy benefits, included in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, to meet obligations on var-
ious policies and contracts. Reserves for policyholders’
account balances for universal life and investment-type
policies are equal to cumulative account balances con-
sisting of deposits plus credited interest, less expense
and mortality charges and withdrawals. Future policy
benefits for traditional products are computed on the net
level premium method, which utilizes assumed invest-
ment yields, mortality, persistency, morbidity and
expenses (including a margin for adverse deviation).
These reserves were established at the time of issuance of
a policy and generally vary by product, year of issue and
policy duration. We periodically review both reserve
assumptions and policyholder liabilities.

Regulation of Life Insurance and 
Broker-Dealer Subsidiaries
Our life insurance subsidiary is subject to the laws and
regulations of Massachusetts governing insurance com-
panies, and to the insurance laws and regulations of the
various jurisdictions where they are licensed to operate.
The extent of regulation varies, although most jurisdic-
tions have laws and regulations governing the financial
aspects of insurers, including standards of solvency,
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reserves, reinsurance and capital adequacy, and the busi-
ness conduct of insurers. Reference is made to “Liquidity
and Capital Resources” on pages 56 to 58 of Manage-
ment’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations and to Note 15 – Dividend
Restrictions on pages 102 and 103 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K.

The securities industry is subject to extensive regula-
tion under federal and state law. In general, broker-
dealers are required to register with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and to be members of
the National Association of Securities Dealers (“NASD”).
As such, we are subject to the requirements of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules promul-
gated thereunder relating to broker-dealers and to the
Rules of Fair Practice of the NASD. These regulations
establish, among other things, minimum net capital
requirements for the related operating subsidiaries, and
regulate sales and compensation practices. We are also
subject to regulation under various state laws in all 50
states and the District of Columbia, including registra-
tion requirements.

In addition, we are involved, from time to time, in
investigations and proceedings by governmental and
self-regulatory agencies, which currently include investi-
gations relating to “market timing” in sub-accounts of
variable annuity and life products, “revenue sharing”
and other matters, and regulatory inquiries into com-
pensation arrangements with brokers and agents. A
number of companies have announced settlements of
enforced actions related to such matters with various
regulatory agencies, including the SEC, which has
included a range of monetary penalties and restitution.
Reference is made to “Contingencies and Regulatory
Matters” on pages 59 and 60 of Management’s Discus-
sion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations and to Note 21 – Commitments and
Contingencies on pages 110 and 111 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K.

Reinsurance 
Consistent with the general practice in the life insurance
industry, we have reinsured portions of the coverage
provided by our insurance products with other insur-
ance companies. Insurance is ceded principally to reduce
net liability on individual risks, to provide protection
against large losses and to obtain a greater diversifica-
tion of risk. In addition, we maintain coinsurance agree-
ments to reinsure substantially all of our variable life
insurance and annuity business (see Significant Trans-
action on pages 54 and 55 of Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations on this Form 10-K), individual disability
income business and yearly renewable term business.
Although reinsurance does not legally discharge the ced-
ing insurer from its primary liability for the full amount
of policies reinsured, it does make the reinsurers liable to
the insurer to the extent of the reinsurance ceded. We
maintain a gross reserve for reinsurance liabilities. We
ceded 18.7% of our statutory individual life insurance
premiums in 2005. 

We have entered into reinsurance treaties primarily
with highly rated reinsurers. Our policy is to use rein-
surers who have received an A.M. Best rating of “A-
(Excellent)” or better, with the exception of AFLIAC
whose A.M. Best rating is B+ (Very Good). We believe
that we have established appropriate reinsurance cover-
age based on our net retained insured liabilities com-
pared to our surplus. Based on a review of our
reinsurers’ financial positions and reputations in the
reinsurance marketplace, we believe that our reinsurers
are financially sound.

Investment Portfolio 

We held $6.7 billion of investment assets at December 31,
2005. These investments are generally of high quality
and are broadly diversified across asset classes and indi-
vidual investment risks. The major categories of invest-
ment assets are: fixed maturities, which includes both
investment grade and below investment grade public
and private debt securities; equity securities; mortgage
loans, principally on commercial properties; policy loans
and other long-term investments. The remainder of
investment assets is comprised of cash and cash
equivalents. 

We determine the appropriate asset allocation (the
selection of broad investment categories such as fixed
maturities, equity securities and mortgage loans) by a
process that focuses overall on the types of businesses in
each segment and the level of surplus (net worth)
required to support these businesses. 

We have an integrated approach to developing an
investment strategy that maximizes income while incor-
porating overall asset allocation, business segment objec-
tives, and asset/liability management tailored to specific
insurance or investment product requirements. Our inte-
grated approach and the execution of our investment
strategy are founded upon a value orientation. Our
investment professionals seek to identify undervalued
securities in the markets through extensive fundamental
research and credit analysis. We believe this research-
driven, value orientation is a key to achieving the overall
investment objectives of producing superior rates of
return, preserving capital and meeting the financial
goals of our business segments. 
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We have developed an asset/liability management
approach tailored to specific insurance, investment prod-
uct and income objectives. The investment assets are
managed in approximately 20 portfolio segments consis-
tent with specific products or groups of products having
similar liability characteristics. We develop investment
guidelines for each portfolio segment consistent with the
return objectives, risk tolerance, liquidity, time horizon,
tax and regulatory requirements of the related product or
business segment. Specific investments frequently meet
the requirements of, and are acquired by, more than one
investment portfolio. We have a general policy of diver-
sifying investments both within and across all portfolios.
We monitor the credit quality of our investments and our
exposure to individual markets, borrowers, industries,
sectors and, in the case of mortgages, property types and
geographic locations. All investments held by our insur-
ance subsidiaries are subject to diversification require-
ments under insurance laws. 

Consistent with this asset/liability management
approach, portfolio managers maintain close working
relationships with the managers of related product lines
within the Property and Casualty group and Life
Companies segment.

Reference is made to “Investment Portfolio” on pages
43 to 45 and “Derivative Instruments” on pages 45 and 46
of Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations of this Form 10-K.

Rating Agencies 

Insurance companies are rated by rating agencies to pro-
vide both industry participants and insurance con-
sumers information on specific insurance companies.
Higher ratings generally indicate the rating agencies’
opinion regarding financial stability and a stronger abil-
ity to pay claims. 

We believe that strong ratings are important factors in
marketing our products to our agents and customers,
since rating information is broadly disseminated and
generally used throughout the industry. We believe that
a rating of “A-“ or higher from A.M. Best Co. is particu-
larly important for our business. Insurance company
financial strength ratings are assigned to an insurer
based upon factors deemed by the rating agencies to be
relevant to policyholders and are not directed toward
protection of investors. Such ratings are neither a rating
of securities nor a recommendation to buy, hold or sell
any security. 

See “Rating Agency Actions” on pages 61 and 62 in
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations of this Form 10-K.

Employees 

We have approximately 4,100 employees located
throughout the United States as of December 31, 2005.
We believe our relations with employees and agents are
good. 

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Reference is made to “Directors and Executive Officers of
the Registrant” in Part III, Item 10 on page 114 of this
Form 10-K.

Available Information

We file our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, periodic information on Form 8-K,
our proxy statement, our variable product filings and
other required information with the SEC. Shareholders
may read and copy any materials on file with the SEC at
the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW,
Washington, DC 20549. Shareholders may obtain infor-
mation on the operation of the Public Reference Room by
calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC
maintains an Internet website, http://www.sec.gov,
which contains reports, proxy and information state-
ments and other information with respect to our filings.

Our website address is http://www.hanover.com. We
make available free of charge on or through our website,
our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amend-
ments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electron-
ically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC.
Additionally, our Code of Conduct is also available, free
of charge, on our website. The Code of Conduct applies
to our directors, officers and employees, including our
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and
Controller. While we do not expect to grant waivers to
our Code of Conduct, any such waivers granted to our
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer or
Controller, or any amendments to our Code will be post-
ed on our website as required by law or rules of the New
York Stock Exchange. Our Corporate Governance
Guidelines and the charters of our Audit Committee,
Compensation Committee, Committee of Independent
Directors and Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee are available on our website. All documents
are also available in print to any shareholder who
requests them.
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ITEM 1A — RISK FACTORS
Reference is made to “Risks and Forward-Looking
Statements” on pages 62 to 64 of Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations and Exhibit 99.2, “Important
Factors Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” of this
Form 10-K.

ITEM 1B — UNRESOLVED STAFF
COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2 — PROPERTIES
We own our headquarters, located at 440 Lincoln Street,
Worcester, Massachusetts, which consist primarily of
approximately 758,000 square feet of office and confer-
ence space. 

Citizens owns its home office, located at 645 W. Grand
River, Howell, Michigan, which is approximately 104,000
square feet. Citizens also owns a three-building complex
located at 808 North Highlander Way, Howell, Michigan,
with approximately 157,000 square feet, where various
business operations are conducted. 

Hanover and Citizens lease offices throughout the
country for branch sales, underwriting and claims pro-
cessing functions. 

We believe that our facilities are adequate for our
present needs in all material respects. Certain of our
properties may be made available for lease. 

ITEM 3 — LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
On July 24, 2002, an action captioned American National
Bank and Trust Company of Chicago, as Trustee f/b/o
Emerald Investments Limited Partnership, and Emerald
Investments Limited Partnership v. Allmerica Financial
Life Insurance and Annuity Company, was commenced
in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Illinois, Eastern Division. In 1999, plaintiffs
purchased two variable annuity contracts with initial
premiums aggregating $5 million. Plaintiffs, who AFLI-
AC subsequently identified as engaging in frequent
transfers of significant sums between sub-accounts that
in our opinion constituted “market timing”, were subject
to restrictions upon such trading that AFLIAC imposed
in December 2001. Plaintiffs allege that such restrictions
constituted a breach of the terms of the annuity con-
tracts. In December 2003, the court granted partial sum-
mary judgment to the plaintiffs, holding that at least
certain restrictions imposed on their trading activities
violated the terms of the annuity contracts. We filed a

motion for reconsideration and clarification of the
court’s partial summary judgment opinion, which was
denied on April 8, 2004.

On May 19, 2004, plaintiffs filed a Brief Statement of
Damages in which, without quantifying their damage
claim, they outlined a claim for (i) amounts totaling
$150,000 for surrender charges imposed on the partial
surrender by plaintiffs of the annuity contracts, (ii) loss
of trading profits they expected over the remaining term
of each annuity contract, and (iii) lost trading profits
resulting from AFLIAC’s alleged refusal to process five
specific transfers in 2002 because of trading restrictions
imposed on market timers. With respect to the lost prof-
its, plaintiffs claim that pursuant to their trading strategy
of transferring money from money market accounts to
international equity accounts and back again to money
market accounts, they have been able to consistently
obtain relatively risk free returns of between 35% and
40% annually. Plaintiffs claim that they would have been
able to continue to maintain such returns on the account
values of their annuity contracts over the remaining
terms of the annuity contracts (which are based in part
on the lives of the named annuitants). The aggregate
account value of plaintiffs’ annuities was approximately
$12.8 million in December 2001.

We continue to vigorously defend this matter, and
regard plaintiffs’ claims for lost trading profits as being
speculative and, in any case, subject to an obligation to
mitigate damages. Further, in our view, these purported
lost profits would not have been earned because of vari-
ous actions taken by us, the investment management
industry and regulators to deter or eliminate market
timing, including the implementation of “fair value”
pricing. 

The monetary damages sought by plaintiffs, if award-
ed, could have a material adverse effect on our financial
position. Although AFLIAC was sold to Goldman Sachs
on December 30, 2005 we have indemnified AFLIAC and
Goldman Sachs with respect to this litigation. However,
in our judgment, the outcome is not expected to be mate-
rial to our financial position, although it could have a
material effect on the results of operations for a particu-
lar quarter or annual period. A trial date for the damage
phase of the litigation has not been set.

ITEM 4 — SUBMISSION OF MATTERS 
TO A VOTE OF SECURITY
HOLDERS 

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders
in the fourth quarter of the fiscal year covered by this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
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PART II 

ITEM 5 — MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S
COMMON EQUITY, RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES 
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Common Stock and Stockholder Ownership 

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol “THG”. Prior to December
1, 2005, our common stock was traded on the New York
Stock Exchange under the symbol “AFC”. On February
28, 2006, we had 34,217 shareholders of record and
53,115,822 shares outstanding. On the same date, the
trading price of our common stock was $48.45 per share. 

Common Stock Prices and Dividends

High Low Dividends

2005
First Quarter $ 36.50 $ 30.27 —
Second Quarter $ 37.29 $ 32.85 —
Third Quarter $ 42.11 $ 37.13 —
Fourth Quarter $ 42.03 $ 37.20 $ 0.25

2004
First Quarter $ 38.25 $ 30.84 —
Second Quarter $ 36.10 $ 30.71 —
Third Quarter $ 34.61 $ 26.05 —
Fourth Quarter $ 33.00 $ 25.45 —

2005 Dividend Schedule 

On October 18, 2005, the Board of Directors declared a
$0.25 cash dividend, which was paid on December 12,
2005 to shareholders of record as of November 28, 2005.
No dividends were paid to shareholders in 2004. The
payment of future dividends on our common stock will
be a business decision made by the Board of Directors
from time to time based upon our results of operations
and financial condition and such other factors as the
Board of Directors considers relevant.

Dividends to shareholders may be funded from divi-
dends paid to us from our subsidiaries. Dividends from
insurance subsidiaries are subject to restrictions imposed
by state insurance laws and regulations. See “Liquidity
and Capital Resources” on pages 56 to 58 of Manage-
ment’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations and Note 15 – Dividend
Restrictions on pages 102 and 103 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K. 

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Total Number of Shares Maximum Number of

Purchased as Part of Shares That May Yet
Total Number of Average Price Publicly Announced be Purchased Under

Period Shares Purchased Paid per Share Plans or Programs the Plans or Programs

October 1 – 31, 2005 — $ — — —
November 1 – 30, 2005 — — — —
December 1 – 31, 2005 — — — —

Total — $ — — —
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ITEM 6 — SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Five Year Summary of Selected Financial Highlights

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

(In millions, except per share data)

Statements of Income
Revenues

Premiums $ 2,198.2 $ 2,288.6 $ 2,282.3 $ 2,320.1 $ 2,254.7
Fees and other income 80.9 83.1 169.2 207.1 185.7
Net investment income 321.4 329.3 363.9 502.4 573.8
Net realized investment gains (losses) 23.8 16.1 15.1 (126.1) (122.3)

Total revenues 2,624.3 2,717.1 2,830.5 2,903.5 2,891.9

Benefits, Losses and Expenses
Policy benefits, claims, losses and loss adjustment expenses 1,703.1 1,646.7 1,783.2 1,941.0 2,034.6
Policy acquisition expenses 465.2 477.0 467.7 463.9 396.6
Losses (gains) from retirement of funding agreements 

and trust instruments supported by funding obligations — 0.2 (5.7) (102.6) —
(Income) loss from sale of universal life business — — (5.5) 31.3 —
Restructuring costs 2.1 8.5 28.7 14.8 2.7
Losses (gains) on derivative instruments 2.3 0.6 1.9 (40.3) 35.2
Loss from selected property and casualty exited 

agencies, policies, groups and programs — — — — 68.3
Voluntary pool losses — — — — 33.0
Other operating expenses 380.3 439.6 500.0 465.4 437.2

Total benefits, losses and expenses 2,553.0 2,572.6 2,770.3 2,773.5 3,007.6
Income (loss) from continuing operations before 

federal income taxes 71.3 144.5 60.2 130.0 (115.7)
Federal income tax (benefit) expense (5.2) (0.8) 3.9 (1.4) (88.2)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before

minority interest 76.5 145.3 56.3 131.4 (27.5)
Minority interest (2) — — — (16.0) (16.0)
Income (loss) from continuing operations 76.5 145.3 56.3 115.4 (43.5)
Discontinued Operations:

Income (loss) from operations of discontinued 
business, net of taxes 42.7 37.2 30.6 (417.8) 43.6

Loss on disposal of variable life insurance and 
annuity business, net of taxes (444.4) — — — —

(Loss) income from discontinued operations (401.7) 37.2 30.6 (417.8) 43.6
(Loss) income before cumulative effect of change 

in accounting principle (325.2) 182.5 86.9 (302.4) 0.1
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — (57.2) — (3.7) (3.2)

Net (loss) income $ (325.2) $ 125.3 $ 86.9 $ (306.1) $ (3.1)

(Loss) earnings per common share (diluted) (1) $ (6.02) $ 2.34 $ 1.63 $ (5.79) $ (0.06)
Dividends declared per common share (diluted) $ 0.25 $ — $ — $ — $ 0.25

Balance Sheets (at December 31)
Total assets $10,634.0 $23,810.1 $25,510.1 $26,627.0 $30,336.1
Long-term debt (2) 508.8 508.8 499.5 199.5 199.5
Total liabilities 8,682.7 21,470.6 23,289.9 24,254.8 27,645.0
Minority interest (2) — — — 300.0 300.0
Shareholders’ equity 1,951.3 2,339.5 2,220.2 2,072.2 2,391.1
(1) Per share data for the year ended December 31, 2002 represents basic loss per share due to antidilution.

(2) In 2005, 2004 and 2003, long-term debt includes the mandatorily redeemable preferred securities of a subsidiary trust (Minority interest) in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity (“Statement No. 150”). Preferred dividends
associated with these instruments have been reflected in interest expense, which is included in other operating expenses, in 2005, 2004 and 2003. Reclassification of prior year
amounts is not permitted under Statement No. 150.
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Introduction

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations of The
Hanover Insurance Group, Inc., formerly known as
“Allmerica Financial Corporation”, (“the holding com-
pany”) and subsidiaries (“THG”) should be read in con-
junction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and
related footnotes included elsewhere herein.

Our results of operations include the accounts of The
Hanover Insurance Company (“Hanover Insurance”)
and Citizens Insurance Company of America
(“Citizens”), our principal property and casualty compa-
nies; and First Allmerica Financial Life Insurance
Company (“FAFLIC”), our life insurance and annuity
company, and certain other insurance and non-insurance
subsidiaries. Our results of operations also include the
accounts of Allmerica Financial Life Insurance and
Annuity Company (“AFLIAC”) through December 30,
2005. On December 30, 2005, we completed the sale of
AFLIAC and the reinsurance of 100% of the variable life
insurance and annuity business of FAFLIC (see
Significant Transaction on pages 54 and 55 of this Form
10-K for further information) to The Goldman Sachs
Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“Goldman Sachs”). The
results of AFLIAC’s variable life insurance and annuity
operations that were sold are reported as discontinued
operations. Hanover and Citizens are domiciled in the
states of New Hampshire and Michigan, respectively,
while FAFLIC is domiciled in Massachusetts. 

Executive Overview

On December 30, 2005, we sold our run-off variable life
insurance and annuity business to Goldman Sachs. The
transaction included the sale of AFLIAC, through a stock
purchase agreement. In addition, AFLIAC assumed, via
a reinsurance agreement, 100% of the remaining variable
business held by FAFLIC, in effect transferring all of our
variable life insurance and annuity business to Goldman
Sachs. As a result of this transaction, we recognized a
$444.4 million loss (see Significant Transaction on pages
54 and 55 of this Form 10-K for further information).

In the third quarter of 2005, the property and casualty
industry was significantly and adversely affected by the
damage and devastation caused by Hurricane Katrina.
This catastrophe placed unprecedented demands on
both the industry and THG. We estimate our after-tax
loss from this catastrophe to be approximately $162 mil-
lion, or $3.00 per share. The after-tax loss of $162 million
is net of reinsurance and includes the cost of reinsurance
reinstatement premiums and loss adjustment expense, as

well as an estimate for the Louisiana Fair Plan assess-
ment. Approximately two-thirds of the losses sustained
relate to our commercial lines business and one-third is
attributed to our personal lines business.

In our personal lines business, we continue to make
investments that are intended to maintain profitability,
build a distinctive position in the market and prepare
Citizens and Hanover for profitable growth in 2006. We
are focused on expanding our distribution capabilities
by writing more business with our best agents and
developing new relationships with agents in states
where we conduct business. We are also focused on
enhancing our service capabilities. At the same time, we
are making significant investments to strengthen our
product offerings, including the introduction of a new
multivariate auto product, Connections Auto, in selected
states. We will continue to introduce Connections Auto
in additional states throughout 2006. We believe the
introduction of this new product will help us to deepen
and expand our distribution network. 

During 2005, we continued to invest in our commer-
cial lines business, beginning with building and main-
taining our relationships with key agents in each of our
territories. We are further developing our product port-
folio and specialty lines expertise in our commercial lines
business as we target the small and first-tier middle mar-
kets, which represents clients whose premiums are gen-
erally below $200,000. We are expanding our
businessowner’s policy to accommodate a broader spec-
trum of risks and larger accounts. We also continue to
enhance our inland marine, bond and umbrella pro-
grams, which on average are expected to offer higher
margins over time and enable us to deliver a complete
product portfolio to our agents and policyholders in our
target market. 

During 2005, our property and casualty group’s seg-
ment earnings decreased compared to the prior year pri-
marily due to unusually high catastrophe losses in both
our Personal Lines and Commercial Lines segments pri-
marily as a result of Hurricane Katrina, and to a lesser
extent, Hurricane Rita. Partially offsetting these losses
was an increase in favorable development on prior
year’s loss and loss adjustment expense (“LAE”)
reserves and a decrease in underwriting expenses.

Description of Operating Segments

Our business includes financial products and services in
two major areas: Property and Casualty and Life
Companies. Within these broad areas, we conduct busi-
ness principally in four operating segments. These seg-
ments are Personal Lines, Commercial Lines, Other



26

The Hanover Insurance Group

Property and Casualty, and Life Companies. We present
the separate financial information of each segment con-
sistent with the manner in which our chief operating
decision maker evaluates results in deciding how to allo-
cate resources and in assessing performance. 

The Property and Casualty group manages its opera-
tions principally through three segments: Personal Lines,
Commercial Lines and Other Property and Casualty.
Personal Lines includes such property and casualty cov-
erages as personal automobile, homeowners and other
personal policies, while Commercial Lines includes such
property and casualty coverages as workers’ compensa-
tion, commercial automobile, commercial multiple peril
and other commercial policies. In addition, the Other
Property and Casualty segment consists of: voluntary
pools business in which we have not actively participat-
ed since 1995; Amgro, Inc. (“AMGRO”), our premium
financing business; Opus Investment Management, Inc.
(“Opus”), which markets investment management serv-
ices to institutions, pension funds and other organiza-
tions; and earnings on holding company assets. 

As a result of the aforementioned sale of our variable
life insurance and annuity business, our Life Companies
segment, which is in run-off, now consists primarily of a
block of traditional life insurance products (principally
the Closed Block), our guaranteed investment contract
(“GIC”) business and certain group retirement products,
as well as certain non-insurance subsidiaries. Assets and
liabilities related to our reinsured variable life insurance
and annuity business, as well as our discontinued group
life and health business, including group life and health
voluntary pools, are also reflected in this segment. 

We report interest expense related to our corporate
debt separately from the earnings of our operating seg-
ments. Corporate debt consists of our junior subordinat-
ed debentures and our senior debentures.

Results of Operations

Our consolidated net income includes the results of our
four operating segments (segment income), which we
evaluate on a pre-tax basis and our interest expense on
corporate debt. In addition, segment income excludes
certain items which we believe are not indicative of our
core operations. The income of our segments excludes
items such as federal income taxes and net realized
investment gains and losses, including net gains or loss-
es on certain derivative instruments, because fluctua-
tions in these gains and losses are determined by interest

rates, financial markets and the timing of sales. Also, seg-
ment income excludes net gains and losses on disposals
of businesses, discontinued operations, restructuring
costs, extraordinary items, the cumulative effect of
accounting changes and certain other items. Although
the items excluded from segment income may be signif-
icant components in understanding and assessing our
financial performance, we believe segment income
enhances an investor’s understanding of our results of
operations by identifying net income attributable to the
core operations of the business. However, segment
income should not be construed as a substitute for net
income determined in accordance with generally accept-
ed accounting principles (“GAAP”).

Our consolidated net loss was $325.2 million in 2005,
compared to net income of $125.3 million in 2004. The
decrease in 2005 of $450.5 million resulted primarily
from a $444.4 million loss on the disposal of our variable
life insurance and annuity business, as well as a decrease
in segment results in our property and casualty business.
The decrease from our property and casualty business
was primarily due to increased catastrophe losses from
Hurricane Katrina, and to a lesser extent, Hurricane Rita.
Net income in 2004 included the effect of the implemen-
tation of Statement of Position 03-01, Accounting and
Reporting by Insurance Enterprises for Certain
Nontraditional Long-Duration Contracts and for Separate
Accounts (“SOP 03-1”), which resulted in an after-tax
charge of $57.2 million, as well as a $30.4 million favor-
able federal income tax settlement.

Our consolidated net income increased in 2004, to
$125.3 million, compared to $86.9 million in 2003. The
increase of $38.4 million resulted primarily from a $80.5
million improvement in our property and casualty seg-
ment income. Also contributing to the increase in net
income was a $30.4 million favorable federal income tax
settlement and a $20.2 million reduction in restructuring
costs. These favorable items were partially offset by an
after-tax charge of $57.2 million related to the implemen-
tation of SOP 03-1, and an increase in federal income tax
expense of $25.7 million. Life Companies segment
income also decreased $8.1 million.

The following table reflects segment income (loss) and
a reconciliation to income of the total of our reportable
segments’ income (loss) for each year and is determined
in accordance with Statement of Accounting No. 131,
Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
information, to consolidated net (loss) income. 
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For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Segment income (loss) before 
federal income taxes:

Property and Casualty
Personal Lines $ 143.2 $ 134.6 $ 34.3
Commercial Lines (35.0) 58.0 98.7
Other Property and Casualty 5.5 5.4 (15.5)

Total Property and Casualty 113.7 198.0 117.5
Life Companies (18.7) (22.3) (14.2)
Interest expense on corporate debt (39.9) (39.9) (39.9)

Total segment income 55.1 135.8 63.4
Federal income tax expense on 

segment income (1.0) (26.6) (3.9)
Change in prior years tax reserves 2.3 — —
Federal income tax settlement 9.5 30.4 —
Net realized investment gains, 

net of deferred acquisition 
cost amortization 18.6 16.1 12.8

(Losses) gains on derivative 
instruments (0.3) 1.3 1.5

(Losses) gains from retirement 
of funding agreements and trust 
instruments supported by 
funding obligations — (0.2) 5.7

Restructuring costs (2.1) (8.5) (28.7)
Income from sale of universal 

life business — — 5.5
Federal income tax (expense) 

benefit on non-segment items (5.6) (3.0) —

Income from continuing operations, 
net of taxes 76.5 145.3 56.3

Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued 

variable life insurance and 
annuity business, net of taxes 42.7 37.2 30.6

Loss from disposal of variable 
life insurance and annuity 
business, net of taxes (444.4) — —

(Loss) income before cumulative 
effect of change in 
accounting principle (325.2) 182.5 86.9

Cumulative effect of change in 
accounting principle, net of taxes — (57.2) —

Net (loss) income $(325.2) $ 125.3 $ 86.9

Segment Income

2005 Compared to 2004
The Property and Casualty group’s segment income
decreased $84.3 million, or 42.6%, to $113.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2005, compared to $198.0
million in 2004. In 2005, we experienced significant catas-
trophe losses due primarily to Hurricane Katrina, and to
a lesser extent, Hurricane Rita. As a result, segment
income was negatively impacted by $303.9 million of

catastrophe related activity, which includes $27.0 million
of reinsurance reinstatement premiums resulting from
Hurricane Katrina, in 2005. Catastrophe losses for the
year ended December 31, 2004 were $99.3 million prima-
rily resulting from several hurricanes in the Southeast.
Excluding the impact of all catastrophe related activity,
our Property and Casualty group’s segment income
would have increased $120.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005, compared to 2004. Segment income
was positively affected as compared to 2004 by an
increase of $65.0 million of favorable development on
prior years’ loss and LAE reserves. Also positively affect-
ing segment income was an estimated $29 million of
improved current accident year underwriting results. In
addition, underwriting expenses decreased $27.4 million
primarily due to lower contingent commissions and a
one-time reduction in expenses due to a premium tax
credit associated with our participation in an involun-
tary pool. 

Life Companies’ segment loss was $18.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2005, compared to a loss of
$22.3 million during the same period in 2004. This
improvement of $3.6 million was primarily the result of
lower expenses due to the run-off of our continuing life
business partially offset by a $4.3 million provision for a
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) investiga-
tion related to market timing (see Contingencies and
Regulatory Matters on pages 59 and 60 of this Form 10-K).

Our federal income tax expense on segment income
was a $1.0 million in 2005 compared to an expense of
$26.6 million in 2004. The change in federal income tax
expense is primarily due to lower segment income in
2005, offset, in part, by a reduced level of tax-exempt
interest income in 2005.

2004 Compared to 2003
Segment income for the Property and Casualty group
increased $80.5 million, or 68.5%, to $198.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004, compared to $117.5
million in 2003. Segment income includes catastrophe
losses of $99.3 million in 2004, compared to $59.4 million
in 2003. Catastrophe losses were higher in 2004, as com-
pared to 2003, due to four hurricanes in the Southeast.
During 2003, however, we recorded a charge of $21.9
million resulting from an adverse arbitration decision
related to a single large property claim within a volun-
tary insurance pool that we exited in 1996. Excluding this
charge and the impact of the increase in catastrophe loss-
es, segment income would have increased $98.5 million
as compared to 2003. Segment income was positively
affected by an estimated $112 million of improved cur-
rent accident year loss performance due to net premium
rate increases across all principal product lines and to a
decrease in non-catastrophe claims activity primarily in
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personal lines. Additionally, development on prior
years’ loss and LAE reserves improved by $33.0 million,
excluding the pool charge described above. These favor-
able items were partially offset by an increase in policy
acquisition and other operating expenses of $38.1
million.

Life Companies’ segment loss was $22.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2004, compared to a segment
loss of $14.2 million during the same period in 2003. This
increase in loss was primarily the result of lower interest
margins on GICs, primarily from higher swap contract
expenses, an increase in corporate overhead costs related
to the discontinued variable life insurance and annuity
business, as well as lower net investment income result-
ing from a decline in partnership income. These were
partially offset by improved results due to the continued
run-off of our broker-dealer operations and from certain
non-insurance subsidiaries, as well as $11.5 million of
asset impairments recorded in 2003 related to our dis-
continued retail brokerage operations.

Our federal income tax expense on segment income
was $26.6 million for 2004, compared to $3.9 million in
2003. This increase in federal income tax expense is pri-
marily related to the higher segment income, as well as
lower tax-exempt interest in 2004.

Other Items
During 2005, we recorded a benefit of $2.3 million due to
a reduction in our federal income tax reserves resulting
from ongoing Internal Revenue Service audits. In 2005
and 2004, we recorded income tax benefits of $9.5 million
and $30.4 million, respectively, relating to federal income
tax settlements for prior years (see Income Taxes on pages
51 and 52 of this Form 10-K for further information).

Net realized investment gains, net of deferred acquisi-
tion cost amortization were $18.6 million in 2005, prima-
rily due to $33.4 million of gains recognized from the sale
of approximately $1.2 billion of fixed maturities.
Partially offsetting these gains were $9.3 million of
impairments, primarily related to fixed maturities and
$1.0 million of losses related to the termination of certain
derivative instruments. During 2004, net realized invest-
ment gains, net of deferred acquisition cost amortization,
were $16.1 million, primarily due to $29.1 million of
gains from the sale of $735.3 million of fixed maturities.
Partially offsetting these gains were losses of $9.7 million
related to the termination of certain derivative instru-
ments and $6.3 million of impairments primarily due to
fixed maturities. During 2003, net realized investment
gains, net of deferred acquisition cost amortization, were
$12.8 million primarily resulting from $60.9 million of
gains from the sale of approximately $1.0 billion of fixed
maturities. These gains were partially offset by impair-
ments of $40.2 million, primarily related to fixed
maturities.

Losses on derivative instruments were $0.3 million in
2005 as compared to gains on derivative instruments of
$1.3 million in 2004 and $1.5 million in 2003. The changes
in net gains on derivative instruments in 2005, 2004 and
2003 resulted from derivative activity that does not meet
the requirements of hedge accounting. 

In 2004, we retired $185.2 million of long-term fund-
ing agreement obligations, resulting in a loss of $0.2 mil-
lion, as compared to a gain of $5.7 million in 2003 from
the retirement of $78.8 million of long-term funding
agreement obligations.

In 2004, we ceased certain employee and affinity
group businesses and restructured certain commercial
lines operations in our Property and Casualty group and
recognized $3.2 million in expenses related to this effort.
In 2003, we ceased our retail operations related to our
broker-dealer in our Life Companies segment. In 2005,
2004 and 2003, we recognized expenses of $2.1 million,
$5.3 million and $28.7 million, respectively, primarily as
a result of this restructuring effort. These restructuring
costs consisted of severance and other employee-related
expenses, as well as the cancellation of certain lease
agreements and contracted services.

During 2003, we recognized income of $5.5 million
from the settlement of post-closing items related to the
December 2002 sale of our universal life insurance busi-
ness through a 100% coinsurance agreement. 

In 2005, we completed the sale of our variable life
insurance and annuity business (see Significant
Transaction on pages 54 and 55 of this Form 10-K for fur-
ther information). In accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets (“Statement
No. 144”), we have reflected the results of our AFLIAC
variable life insurance and annuity business as a discon-
tinued operation. As such, we have restated prior year
balances related to this business as discontinued opera-
tions. We recognized income of $42.7 million from the
discontinued variable life insurance and annuity busi-
ness in 2005, compared to $37.2 million in 2004 and $30.6
million in 2003. Also, in 2005, we recorded a loss of
$444.4 million related to the aforementioned sale of our
variable life insurance and annuity business (see Life
Companies – Discontinued Operations on page 41 of this
Form 10-K for a further discussion of this business).

During 2004, we adopted SOP 03-1, which resulted in
a charge of $57.2 million, net of taxes. The charge results
from new requirements for recognizing guaranteed min-
imum death benefit and guaranteed minimum income
benefit reserves based on various assumptions, includ-
ing estimates of future market returns and expected con-
tract persistency. 
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Net income (loss) includes the following items by segment:

2005

(In millions)

Property and Casualty

Commercial Other Property Life 
Personal Lines Lines and Casualty (2) Companies Total

Change in prior years tax reserves $ — $ — $ — $ 2.3 $ 2.3
Federal income tax settlement — — — 9.5 9.5
Net realized investment gains, net of deferred acquisition 

cost amortization (1) 2.6 2.6 2.4 11.0 18.6
Losses on derivative instruments — — — (0.3) (0.3)
Restructuring costs — — — (2.1) (2.1)
Income from discontinued variable life insurance and 

annuity business, net of taxes — — — 42.7 42.7
Loss on disposal of variable life insurance and annuity 

business, net of taxes — — — (444.4) (444.4)

2004

Federal income tax settlement $ — $ — $ — $ 30.4 $ 30.4
Net realized investment gains (losses), net of deferred 

acquisition cost amortization (1) 7.7 7.8 4.7 (4.1) 16.1
Gains on derivative instruments — — — 1.3 1.3
Loss from retirement of funding agreements and trust 

instruments supported by funding obligations — — — (0.2) (0.2)
Restructuring costs (1.2) (2.0) — (5.3) (8.5)
Income from discontinued variable life insurance 

and annuity business, net of taxes — — — 37.2 37.2
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of taxes — — — (57.2) (57.2)

2003

Net realized investment gains (losses), net of deferred 
acquisition cost amortization (1) $ 5.5 $ 5.5 $ (3.3) $ 5.1 $ 12.8

Losses on derivative instruments — — — 1.5 1.5
Gains from retirement of funding agreements and 

trust instruments supported by funding obligations — — — 5.7 5.7
Restructuring costs — 0.3 — (29.0) (28.7)
Income from sale of universal life business — — — 5.5 5.5
Income from discontinued variable life insurance 

and annuity business, net of taxes — — — 30.6 30.6

(1) We manage investment assets for our property and casualty business based on the requirements of the entire property and casualty group. We allocate the investment
income, expenses and realized gains (losses) to our Personal Lines, Commercial Lines and Other Property and Casualty segments based on actuarial information related to
the underlying business.

(2) Includes corporate eliminations.
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Segment Results

The following is our discussion and analysis of the
results of operations by business segment. The segment
results are presented before taxes and other items which
management believes are not indicative of our core oper-
ations, including realized gains and losses.

Property and Casualty

The following table summarizes the results of operations
for the Property and Casualty group for the periods
indicated:

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Net premiums written $ 2,150.4 $2,236.2 $2,234.2

Net premiums earned 2,161.3 2,249.1 2,240.4
Net investment income 209.1 196.9 185.5
Other income 51.9 52.7 55.7

Total segment revenues 2,422.3 2,498.7 2,481.6

Losses and LAE 1,596.9 1,552.0 1,653.5
Policy acquisition expenses 458.5 470.1 457.6
Other operating expenses 253.2 278.6 253.0

Total losses and operating 
expenses 2,308.6 2,300.7 2,364.1

Segment income $ 113.7 $ 198.0 $ 117.5

The following table summarizes the impact of catas-
trophes on results for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003:

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Hurricane Katrina:
Losses $ 216.8 $ — $ —
LAE 5.9 — —
Reinstatement premiums 27.0 — —

Total impact of Katrina 249.7 — —
Other 54.2 99.3 59.4

Pretax catastrophe effect $ 303.9 $ 99.3 $ 59.4

2005 Compared to 2004
The Property and Casualty group’s segment income
decreased $84.3 million, or 42.6%, to $113.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2005, compared to $198.0
million in 2004. In 2005, we experienced significant catas-
trophe losses due primarily to Hurricane Katrina, and to
a lesser extent, Hurricane Rita. As a result, segment
income was negatively impacted by $303.9 million of
catastrophe related activity, which includes $27.0 million
of reinsurance reinstatement premiums resulting from
Hurricane Katrina, in 2005. Catastrophe losses for the

year ended December 31, 2004 were $99.3 million, pri-
marily resulting from several hurricanes in the
Southeast. Excluding the impact of all catastrophe relat-
ed activity, our Property and Casualty group’s segment
income would have increased $120.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005, compared to 2004. Segment
income was positively affected by an increase of $65.0
million of favorable development on prior years’ loss
and LAE reserves, to $79.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005, from $14.5 million of favorable
development in the same period of 2004. Also positively
affecting segment income was an estimated $29 million
of improved current accident year underwriting results,
primarily due to favorable loss performance in both our
personal and commercial lines business. In addition,
underwriting expenses decreased $27.4 million, primari-
ly due to lower contingent commissions, reflecting a
change in the agency commission program, to lower
employee related expenses and to a one-time reduction
in expenses due to a premium tax credit associated with
our participation in an involuntary pool. 

2004 Compared to 2003
Segment income from our Property and Casualty group
increased $80.5 million, or 68.5%, to $198.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004, compared to $117.5
million in 2003. In 2004, catastrophe losses were $99.3
million, compared to $59.4 million in 2003. Catastrophe
losses in 2004 included four significant hurricanes in the
Southeast. During 2003, however, we recorded a charge
of $21.9 million resulting from an adverse arbitration
decision related to a single large property claim within a
voluntary insurance pool. We exited this pool in 1996.
Excluding this charge and the impact of the increase in
catastrophe losses, segment income would have
increased $98.5 million in 2004, as compared to the same
period in 2003. Segment income was positively affected
by an estimated $112 million of improved current acci-
dent year loss performance due to net premium rate
increases across all principal product lines and a
decrease in non-catastrophe claims activity primarily in
personal lines. Net premium rate increases reflect rate
actions, discretionary pricing adjustments, inflation and
changes in exposure, net of the estimated impact of loss
inflation and policy acquisition costs. Additionally,
development on prior years’ loss and loss adjustment
expense reserves improved $33.0 million, from $18.5 mil-
lion of adverse development for the year ended
December 31, 2003, excluding the pool charge described
above, to $14.5 million of favorable development for the
year ended December 31, 2004. These favorable items
were partially offset by an increase in policy acquisition
and other operating expenses of $38.1 million due to
higher contingent commissions, employee-related
expenses and technology costs. 
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Underwriting Results

We report underwriting results using GAAP. We manage
investment assets for our property and casualty business
based on the requirements of the entire Property and
Casualty group. 

The following table summarizes GAAP net premiums
written and GAAP loss, LAE, expense and combined
ratios for the Personal Lines and Commercial Lines seg-
ments. These items are not meaningful for our Other
Property and Casualty segment.

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions, except ratios)

GAAP Net GAAP Catastrophe GAAP Net GAAP Catastrophe GAAP Net GAAP Catastrophe
Premiums Loss Loss Premiums Loss Loss Premiums Loss Loss

Written Ratios (1) Ratios (2) Written Ratios (1) Ratios (2) Written Ratios (1) Ratios (2)

Personal Lines:
Personal automobile $ 937.4 60.2 0.4 $ 1,033.2 63.9 0.2 $ 1,098.2 72.3 0.2
Homeowners 387.6 59.9 20.4 413.6 54.4 11.3 396.7 60.1 8.5
Other personal 38.0 50.3 14.6 40.5 57.5 4.5 42.9 42.2 2.5

Total Personal Lines 1,363.0 59.9 6.5 1,487.3 61.2 3.3 1,537.8 68.4 2.3

Commercial Lines:
Workers’ compensation 119.6 81.5 — 124.9 80.0 — 122.8 92.4 —
Commercial automobile 193.1 47.8 0.6 186.3 48.5 0.1 171.3 49.0 0.2
Commercial multiple peril 323.8 83.7 43.2 332.2 58.9 14.8 314.2 52.2 6.0
Other commercial 150.7 64.3 29.8 105.3 41.6 1.0 87.8 37.7 4.8

Total Commercial Lines 787.2 71.3 23.4 748.7 57.6 6.8 696.1 56.8 3.3

Total $ 2,150.2 64.1 12.5 $ 2,236.0 60.1 4.4 $ 2,233.9 65.9 2.7

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions, except ratios)

GAAP GAAP GAAP GAAP GAAP GAAP GAAP GAAP GAAP
LAE Expense Combined LAE Expense Combined LAE Expense Combined

Ratio Ratio (4) Ratio Ratio Ratio (4) Ratio Ratio Ratio (4) Ratio

Personal Lines 9.7 28.3 97.9 8.5 28.6 98.3 8.6 27.4 104.4
Commercial Lines 10.0 36.9 118.2 9.8 38.5 105.9 6.7 36.5 100.0

Total 9.8 31.3 105.2 9.0 31.8 100.9 8.0 30.3 104.2

(1) GAAP loss ratio is a common industry measurement of the results of property and casualty insurance underwriting. This ratio reflects incurred claims compared to premiums
earned. Our GAAP loss ratios include catastrophe losses.

(2) Catastrophe loss ratio reflects incurred catastrophe claims compared to premiums earned.

(3) GAAP combined ratio is a common industry measurement of the results of property and casualty insurance underwriting. This ratio is the sum of incurred claims, claim
expenses and underwriting expenses incurred to premiums earned. Our GAAP combined ratios also include catastrophe losses. Federal income taxes, net investment income
and other non-underwriting expenses are not reflected in the GAAP combined ratio. Our GAAP combined ratios include the impact of reinsurance reinstatement premiums,
resulting from Hurricane Katrina, which represented increases of 1.3%, 1.3% and 1.3% to our Personal Lines, Commercial Lines and Total GAAP combined ratios, respectively,
for the year ended December 31, 2005. 

(4) Includes policyholders’ dividends.
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The following table summarizes GAAP underwriting
results for the Personal Lines, Commercial Lines and
Other Property and Casualty segments and reconciles it
to GAAP segment income.

For the Year Ended December 31, 2005

(In millions)

Other
Property 

Personal Commercial and 
Lines Lines Casualty Total

GAAP underwriting profit, 
excluding prior year  
reserve development 
and catastrophes $ 98.4 $ 11.1 $ 0.6 $ 110.1

Prior year reserve 
development favorable 
(unfavorable) 42.4 41.2 (4.1) 79.5

Pretax catastrophe effect (110.7) (193.2) — (303.9)

GAAP underwriting 
profit (loss) 30.1 (140.9) (3.5) (114.3)

Net investment income(1) 102.6 101.4 5.1 209.1
Other income 15.5 13.0 23.4 51.9
Other operating expense (5.0) (8.5) (19.5) (33.0)

Segment income (loss) $ 143.2 $ (35.0) $ 5.5 $ 113.7

For the Year Ended December 31, 2004

(In millions)

Other
Property 

Personal Commercial and 
Lines Lines Casualty Total

GAAP underwriting profit 
(loss), excluding prior 
year reserve development 
and catastrophes $ 66.1 $ (1.3) $ (0.1) $ 64.7

Prior year reserve 
development favorable 
(unfavorable) 10.4 7.7 (3.6) 14.5

Pretax catastrophe effect (49.8) (49.5) — (99.3)

GAAP underwriting 
profit (loss) 26.7 (43.1) (3.7) (20.1)

Net investment income(1) 97.1 97.6 2.2 196.9
Other income 16.1 12.1 24.5 52.7
Other operating expense (5.3) (8.6) (17.6) (31.5)

Segment income $ 134.6 $ 58.0 $ 5.4 $ 198.0

For the Year Ended December 31, 2003

(In millions)

Other
Property 

Personal Commercial and 
Lines Lines Casualty Total

GAAP underwriting (loss) 
profit, excluding prior 
year reserve development 
and catastrophes $ (6.0) $ 15.9 $ (1.3) $ 8.6

Prior year reserve 
development 
(unfavorable) favorable (25.3) 7.9 (23.0) (40.4)

Pretax catastrophe effect (35.6) (23.8) — (59.4)

GAAP underwriting loss (66.9) — (24.3) (91.2)
Net investment income(1) 91.1 92.4 2.0 185.5
Other income 16.0 14.3 25.4 55.7
Other operating expenses (5.9) (8.0) (18.6) (32.5)

Segment income (loss) $ 34.3 $ 98.7 $ (15.5) $ 117.5

(1) We allocate net investment income to our Personal Lines, Commercial Lines and
Other Property and Casualty segments based on estimated levels of reserves and
capital related to the underlying business.

2005 Compared to 2004
Personal Lines
Personal Lines’ net premiums written decreased $124.3
million, or 8.4%, to $1.4 billion for the year ended
December 31, 2005. The decrease in net premiums writ-
ten is partially due to reinsurance reinstatement premi-
ums of $17.7 million, resulting from Hurricane Katrina.
Excluding the impact of the reinsurance reinstatement
premiums, Personal Lines’ net premiums written would
have decreased $106.6 million, or 7.2%, for the year
ended December 31, 2005. This was primarily the result
of a decrease of $93.1 million, or 9.0%, in the personal
automobile line, in addition to a decrease of $12.2 mil-
lion, or 3.0%, in the homeowners line. The decreases in
the personal automobile and homeowners lines resulted
primarily from 6.0% and 5.3% decreases in policies in
force since December 31, 2004, respectively. Approxi-
mately three-fourths of the decline in policies in force in
both lines was the result of our strategies to enhance
margins by reducing policies in certain less profitable
portions of our business. We have reduced exposures in
Massachusetts, where the regulatory structure is chal-
lenging and where we conduct a significant amount of
business. We continue to exit certain unprofitable agency
relationships. We are also exiting certain employer and
affinity group accounts that were unprofitable and not
well aligned with our current strategy. However, policies
in force also declined in other markets, most significant-
ly in Michigan, where policies in force decreased 2.9%
since December 31, 2004. We attribute this decline partly
to the introduction of an insurance score-based product
toward the end of 2003 that enhanced our ability to seg-
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premiums, Commercial Lines’ net premiums written
would have increased $47.8 million, or 6.4%, for the year
ended December 31, 2005. This increase is primarily
attributable to an increase in business volume and an
overall increase of 2.8% in premiums on renewed poli-
cies principally attributable to policy level exposure
increases in the period. The increase in business volume
was driven by growth in our other commercial lines
business, primarily fidelity and surety bonds, inland
marine, and to a lesser extent, umbrella.

Commercial Lines’ segment income decreased $93.0
million to a loss of $35.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005, compared to income of $58.0 million
in 2004, primarily due to Hurricane Katrina, and to a
lesser extent, Hurricane Rita. As a result, Commercial
Lines’ segment results were negatively impacted by
$193.2 million of catastrophe related activity, which
includes $9.3 million of reinsurance reinstatement pre-
miums resulting from Hurricane Katrina, for the year
ended December 31, 2005. Catastrophe losses for the year
ended December 31, 2004 were $49.5 million. In 2004, we
experienced catastrophe losses due to several hurricanes
in the Southeast. Excluding the impact of all catastrophe
losses, our Commercial Lines’ segment results would
have increased $50.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005, compared to 2004. Segment income
was positively affected by an increase in favorable devel-
opment on prior years’ loss and LAE reserves of $33.5
million, to $41.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2005, from $7.7 million in 2004. In addition, segment
income was positively impacted by an estimated $12 mil-
lion of improved current accident year underwriting
results and $7 million of decreased underwriting expens-
es. The lower underwriting expenses primarily reflect
lower contingent commissions due to a 2005 change in
the agency commission program. 

Our ability to increase Commercial Lines’ net premi-
ums written and to maintain and improve underwriting
results may be affected by continued price competition.

Other Property and Casualty
Segment income of the Other Property and Casualty seg-
ment increased $0.1 million to $5.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005 from $5.4 million in 2004 pri-
marily due to an increase in net investment income, off-
set by higher operating expenses and lower fee income.

2004 Compared to 2003
Personal Lines
Personal Lines’ net premiums written decreased $50.5
million, or 3.3%, to $1.5 billion for the year ended
December 31, 2004. This was primarily the result of a
decrease of $65.0 million, or 5.9%, in the personal auto-
mobile line, partially offset by an increase of $16.9 mil-
lion, or 4.3% in the homeowners line. The decrease in the

ment risks, certain service issues which management has
addressed, and rate increases on specific classes of
business. 

Our ability to increase Personal Lines’ net written pre-
mium and to maintain and improve underwriting results
may be affected by price competition and regulatory
action. For example, the Massachusetts Commissioner of
Insurance has ordered a reduction in net rates of person-
al automobile insurance of 8.7% for 2006. Also, there can
be no assurance that we will not experience further
declines in our policies in force. However, the introduc-
tion of our new product, Connections Auto, is resulting
in improving levels of new business premium.
Accordingly, we currently do not expect the same levels
of premium declines as we experienced in recent years.

Personal Lines’ segment income increased $8.6 mil-
lion to $143.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2005, compared to $134.6 million for the same period in
2004, despite significant catastrophe losses due primari-
ly to Hurricane Katrina, and to a lesser extent, Hurricane
Rita. As a result, Personal Lines’ segment income was
negatively impacted by $110.7 million of catastrophe
related activity, which includes $17.7 million of reinsur-
ance reinstatement premiums resulting from Hurricane
Katrina, for the year ended December 31, 2005.
Catastrophe losses for the year ended December 31, 2004
were $49.8 million. In 2004, we experienced catastrophe
losses due to several hurricanes in the Southeast.
Excluding the impact of all catastrophe related activity,
our Personal Lines’ segment income would have
increased by $69.5 million in 2005 primarily due to favor-
able non-catastrophe loss experience and lower expens-
es. Segment income was positively affected by an
increase of $32.0 million of favorable development on
prior years’ loss and LAE reserves, to $42.4 million in
2005, from $10.4 million in 2004. Also, segment income
increased due to an estimated $17 million of improved
current accident year underwriting results primarily
attributable to a decrease in frequency of non-catastro-
phe claims in both the personal automobile and home-
owners lines. In addition, underwriting expenses
decreased approximately $21 million, primarily from
lower contingent commissions, reflecting a change in the
agency commission program, from lower employee
related costs and from a one-time decrease in expenses
due to a premium tax credit associated with our partici-
pation in an involuntary pool.

Commercial Lines
Commercial Lines’ net premiums written increased $38.5
million, or 5.1%, to $787.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005. The increase in net premiums written
was partially offset by reinsurance reinstatement premi-
ums of $9.3 million resulting from Hurricane Katrina.
Excluding the impact of the reinsurance reinstatement
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personal automobile line is primarily due to the decline
of 11.9% in policies in force since December 31, 2003.
Partially offsetting this decrease of policies in force was a
4.6% rate increase in the personal automobile line. The
increase in the homeowners line resulted primarily from
an overall 12.7% rate increase, partially offset by a
decrease in overall policies in force of 8.7% since
December 31, 2003. Approximately one-half of the
decline in policies in force in both lines was the result of
our strategies to enhance margins, and in some cases,
reduce exposures in certain states where the regulatory
structure is challenging, particularly Massachusetts and
New Jersey, where we conduct a significant amount of
business. Part of this reduction reflects our exit of certain
employer and affinity group accounts that were unprof-
itable and not well aligned with our strategy. However,
policies in force also declined in many other markets,
most significantly in Michigan where policies in force
decreased 8.0% since December 31, 2003. We attribute
this decline to the aforementioned introduction of a new
product that enhances our ability to segment risks, cer-
tain service issues which management has addressed,
and rate increases on specific classes of business. 

Personal Lines’ segment income increased $100.3 mil-
lion to $134.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2004. The increase in segment income is primarily attrib-
utable to an estimated $98 million of improved current
accident year loss performance. The improved loss per-
formance is attributable to the favorable effect of net pre-
mium rate increases. Also, a decrease in non-catastrophe
claims activity due to lower frequency in both the per-
sonal automobile and homeowners lines favorably
impacted segment income. In addition, development on
prior years’ loss and LAE reserves improved $35.7 mil-
lion, to $10.4 million of favorable development for the
year ended December 31, 2004, compared to $25.3 mil-
lion of adverse development in 2003. These favorable
items were partially offset by an increase in policy acqui-
sition and other operating expenses of $26.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to 2003,
due to higher contingent commissions, employee-related
expenses and technology costs. Additionally, catastrophe
losses increased $14.2 million, to $49.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2004, compared to $35.6 mil-
lion in 2003, due to four hurricanes in the Southeast. 

Commercial Lines
Commercial Lines’ net premiums written increased $52.6
million, or 7.6%, to $748.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004, primarily due to an overall increase
of 6.7% in premiums on renewed policies in commercial
lines business since December 31, 2003. 

Commercial Lines’ segment income decreased $40.7
million to $58.0 million for the year ended December 31,

2004. The decrease in segment income is primarily attrib-
utable to an increase in catastrophe losses of $25.7 mil-
lion, to $49.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2004, compared to $23.8 million for the same period in
2003. Catastrophe losses in 2004 included four significant
hurricanes in the Southeast. Also contributing to the
decline in segment income is the increase of $19.4 million
in policy acquisition and other operating expenses for
the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to 2003.
Policy acquisition and other operating expenses
increased due to higher contingent commissions,
employee-related expenses and technology costs. Loss
adjustment expenses increased approximately $15 mil-
lion primarily due to higher employee-related expenses,
as a result of increased catastrophe activity, and higher
litigation activity. Additionally, favorable development
on prior years’ loss and LAE reserves decreased $2.9 mil-
lion, to $4.1 million of favorable development for the
year ended December 31, 2004, compared to $7.0 million
of favorable development for the same period in 2003.
Partially offsetting these unfavorable items was an esti-
mated $14 million in improved current accident year loss
performance. 

Other Property and Casualty
Segment results of the Other Property and Casualty seg-
ment increased $20.9 million to $5.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2004 from a loss of $15.5 million in
2003. In 2003, segment results included a charge of $21.9
million resulting from an adverse arbitration decision
related to a single large property claim within a volun-
tary insurance pool. We exited this pool in 1996. 

Investment Results

Net investment income before taxes was $209.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2005, $196.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004 and $185.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase in net
investment income in 2005 primarily reflects an increase
in average invested assets, partially offset by a reduction
in average pre-tax yields on fixed maturities. Average
pre-tax yields on fixed maturities decreased to 5.6% in
2005 compared to 5.7% in 2004 due to the lower prevail-
ing fixed maturity investment rates available for new
investments when compared to the higher embedded
yields on existing investments. 

The increase in net investment income in 2004 com-
pared to 2003 also primarily reflects an increase in aver-
age invested assets, partially offset by a reduction in
average pre-tax yields on fixed maturities. Average pre-
tax yields on fixed maturities decreased to 5.7% in 2004
compared to 6.0% in 2003 due to the lower prevailing
fixed maturity rates. 
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Reserve for Losses and Loss 
Adjustment Expenses

Overview of Loss Reserve Estimation Process 
We maintain reserves for our property and casualty
products to provide for our ultimate liability for losses
and loss adjustment expenses with respect to reported
and unreported claims incurred as of the end of each
accounting period. These reserves are estimates, taking
into account actuarial projections at a given point in
time, of what we expect the ultimate settlement and
administration of claims will cost based on facts and cir-
cumstances then known, estimates of future trends in
claim severity and frequency, judicial theories of liability
and policy coverage, and other factors. 

We determine the amount of loss and loss adjustment
expense reserves (the “loss reserves”) based on an esti-
mation process that is very complex and uses informa-
tion obtained from both company specific and industry
data, as well as general economic information. The esti-
mation process is judgmental, and requires us to contin-
uously monitor and evaluate the life cycle of claims on
type-of-business and nature-of-claim bases. Using data
obtained from this monitoring and assumptions about
emerging trends, our actuaries develop information
about the size of ultimate claims based on historical
experience and other available market information. The
most significant assumptions used in the actuarial esti-
mation process, which vary by line of business, include
determining the expected consistency in the frequency
and severity of claims incurred but not yet reported to
prior years claims, the trend in loss costs, changes in the
timing of the reporting of losses from the loss date to the
notification date, and expected costs to settle unpaid
claims. This process assumes that past experience,
adjusted for the effects of current developments and
anticipated trends, is an appropriate basis for predicting
future events. On a quarterly basis, our actuaries provide
to management a point estimate for each significant line
of our direct business to summarize their analysis. 

In establishing the appropriate loss reserve balances
for any period, management carefully considers these
actuarial point estimates, which are the principal bases
for establishing our reserve balances, along with a quali-
tative evaluation of business trends, environmental
changes, and numerous other factors. In general, such
additional factors may include, but are not limited to,
improvement or deterioration of the actuarial indications
in the period, the maturity of the accident year, trends
observed over the recent past such as changes in the mix
of business or the impact of regulatory or litigation
developments, the level of volatility within a particular
line of business, and the magnitude of the difference

between the actuarial indication and the recorded
reserves. Regarding our indirect business from voluntary
and involuntary pools, we are provided loss estimates by
managers of each pool. We adopt reserve estimates for
the pools that consider this information and other facts.
At December 31, 2005 and 2004, total recorded reserves
were 5.4% and 5.7% greater than actuarially indicated
reserves, respectively. 

Management’s Review of Judgments 
and Key Assumptions
There is greater inherent uncertainty in estimating insur-
ance reserves for certain types of property and casualty
insurance lines, particularly workers’ compensation and
other liability lines, where a longer period of time may
elapse before a definitive determination of ultimate lia-
bility and losses may be made. In addition, the techno-
logical, judicial, regulatory and political climates
involving these types of claims change regularly. We
maintain a practice of significantly limiting the issuance
of long-tailed other liability policies, including directors
and officers (“D&O”) liability, errors and omissions
(“E&O”) liability and medical malpractice liability. The
industry has experienced recent adverse loss trends in
these lines of business.

We regularly update our reserve estimates as new
information becomes available and further events occur
which may impact the resolution of unsettled claims.
Reserve adjustments are reflected in the results of opera-
tions as adjustments to losses and LAE. Often, these
adjustments are recognized in periods subsequent to the
period in which the underlying policy was written and
the loss event occurred. These types of subsequent
adjustments are described separately as “prior year
reserve development”. Such development can be either
favorable or unfavorable to our financial results and may
vary by line of business. 

Inflation generally increases the cost of losses covered
by insurance contracts. The effect of inflation varies by
product. Our property and casualty insurance premiums
are established before the amount of losses and LAE and
the extent to which inflation may affect such expenses
are known. Consequently, we attempt, in establishing
rates and reserves, to anticipate the potential impact of
inflation and increasing medical costs in the projection of
ultimate costs. We have experienced increasing medical
costs, including those associated with personal automo-
bile personal injury protection claims, particularly in
Michigan, as well as in our workers’ compensation line
in most states. This increase is reflected in our reserve
estimates, but continued increases could contribute to
increased losses and LAE in the future.
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We regularly review our reserving techniques, our
overall reserving position and our reinsurance. Based on
(i) our review of historical data, legislative enactments,
judicial decisions, legal developments in impositions of
damages and policy coverage, political attitudes and
trends in general economic conditions, (ii) our review of
per claim information, (iii) our historical loss experience
and that of the industry, (iv) the relatively short-term
nature of most policies written by us and (v) our internal
estimates of required reserves, we believe that adequate
provision has been made for loss reserves. However,
establishment of appropriate reserves is an inherently
uncertain process and there can be no certainty that cur-
rent established reserves will prove adequate in light of
subsequent actual experience. A significant change to the
estimated reserves could have a material impact on our
results of operations and financial position. An increase
or decrease in reserve estimates would result in a corre-
sponding decrease or increase in financial results. For
example, each one percentage point change in the aggre-
gate loss and LAE ratio resulting from a change in
reserve estimation is currently projected to have an
approximate $22 million impact on property and casual-
ty segment income, based on 2005 full year premiums.

As discussed below, estimated loss and LAE reserves
for claims occurring in prior years developed favorably
(unfavorably) by $79.5 million, $14.5 million and $(40.4)
million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, which rep-
resents 2.3%, 0.5% and 1.4% of loss reserves held, respec-
tively.

The major causes of material uncertainty relating to
ultimate losses and loss adjustment expenses (“risk fac-
tors”) generally vary for each line of business, as well as
for each separately analyzed component of the line of
business. In some cases, such risk factors are explicit
assumptions of the estimation method and in others,
they are implicit. For example, a method may explicitly
assume that a certain percentage of claims will close each
year, but will implicitly assume that the legal interpreta-
tion of existing contract language will remain
unchanged. Actual results will likely vary from expecta-
tions for each of these assumptions, resulting in an ulti-
mate claim liability that is different from that being
estimated currently.

Some risk factors will affect more than one line of
business. Examples include changes in claim department
practices, changes in settlement patterns, regulatory and
legislative actions, court actions, timeliness of claim
reporting, state mix of claimants, and degree of claimant
fraud. The extent of the impact of a risk factor will also
vary by components within a line of business. Individual

risk factors are also subject to interactions with other risk
factors within line of business components. Thus, risk
factors can have offsetting or compounding effects on
required reserves. 

Our loss estimate for Hurricane Katrina was devel-
oped using closed claims data, an analysis of the claims
reported to date and estimated values of properties in
the affected areas. Wind-speed data, flood maps and
intelligence provided by on-the-ground staff and inde-
pendent adjusters, were used to project anticipated
claims and damage projections. Anticipated costs for
demand surge (increased costs for construction material
and labor due to the increased damage resulting from
the hurricane) were also included in the estimate.
However, estimating losses following a major catastro-
phe is an inherently uncertain process, which is made
more difficult by the unprecedented nature of this event,
including the legal and regulatory uncertainty, difficulty
in accessing portions of the affected areas, the complexi-
ty of factors contributing to the losses, delays in claim
reporting, aggravating circumstances of Hurricane Rita
and a slower pace of recovery resulting from the extent
of damage sustained in the affected areas. As a result
there can be no assurance that our ultimate costs associ-
ated with this event will not substantially exceed these
estimates.

Loss Reserves by Line of Business
We perform actuarial reviews on certain detailed line of
business coverages. These individual estimates are
summarized into six broader lines of business: personal
automobile, homeowners, workers’ compensation, com-
mercial automobile, commercial multiple peril, and
other lines.

The process of estimating reserves involves consider-
able judgment by management and is inherently uncer-
tain. Actuarial point estimates by line of business are the
primary basis for determining ultimate expected losses
and LAE and the level of net reserves required; however,
other factors are considered as well. In general, such
additional factors may include, but are not limited to,
improvement or deterioration of the actuarial indications
in the period, the maturity of the accident year, trends
observed over the recent past such as changes in the mix
of business or the impact of regulatory or litigation
developments, the level of volatility within a particular
line of business, and the magnitude of the difference
between the actuarial indication and the recorded
reserves. The table below shows our recorded net
reserves and the actuarial reserve point estimates by line
of business at December 31, 2005 and 2004. 
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December 31, 2005 2004

(In millions)

Recorded Actuarial Recorded Actuarial
Net Point Net Point

Reserves Estimate Reserves Estimate

Personal Automobile $ 695.2 $ 665.9 $ 696.9 $ 671.2
Homeowners 108.8 101.3 84.7 71.4
Workers’ Compensation 424.1 409.1 407.9 386.6
Commercial Automobile 167.6 156.5 169.0 158.1
Commercial Multiple 

Peril 538.0 504.2 441.7 414.6
Other Commercial and

Personal lines 168.7 149.2 122.2 106.9
Asbestos and 

Environmental 24.4 20.5 24.7 21.6
Pools and other 224.3 224.3 214.4 214.4

Total $ 2,351.1 $ 2,231.0 $ 2,161.5 $ 2,044.8

The principal factors considered by management in
addition to the actuarial point estimates in determining
the reserves at December 30, 2005 and 2004 vary by line
of business. In our Commercial Lines segment, manage-
ment considered the likelihood of future adverse devel-
opment related to significant catastrophe losses
experienced in the third quarter of each year and the cur-
rent extent to which changes in the mix of business have
affected our ultimate loss trends, particularly in our com-
mercial multiple peril line of business. Moreover, in our
Commercial Lines segment, management considered the
likelihood of continued adverse development in the
workers’ compensation line where losses tend to emerge
over long periods of time and rising medical costs have
continued. In our other commercial lines business, man-
agement considered the significant growth in our surety
bond and inland marine businesses for which we have
limited actuarial data to estimate ultimate losses. In our
Personal Lines segment, management considered the
significant improvement in frequency and severity
trends the industry has experienced over several years in
these lines of business which were unanticipated and
remain to some extent unexplained. Regarding our indi-
rect business from voluntary and involuntary pools, we
are provided loss estimates by managers of each pool.
We adopt reserve estimates for the pools that consider
this information and other factors. At December 30, 2005
and 2004, total recorded reserves were 5.4% and 5.7%
greater than actuarially indicated reserves, respectively. 

The table below provides a reconciliation of the gross
beginning and ending reserve for unpaid losses and LAE
as follows: 

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Reserve for losses and LAE,
beginning of year $ 3,068.6 $3,018.9 $2,961.7

Incurred losses and LAE, net of 
reinsurance recoverable:

Provision for insured events
of current year 1,677.5 1,570.2 1,610.6

(Decrease) increase in provision 
for insured events of prior 
years; (favorable) unfavorable 
development (79.5) (14.5) 40.4

Total incurred losses and LAE 1,598.0 1,555.7 1,651.0

Payments, net of reinsurance
recoverable:

Losses and LAE attributable to
insured events of current year 786.4 814.8 868.2

Losses and LAE attributable to
insured events of prior years 622.0 658.3 784.5

Total payments 1,408.4 1,473.1 1,652.7

Change in reinsurance recoverable 
on unpaid losses 200.5 (32.9) 58.9

Reserve for losses and LAE,
end of year $ 3,458.7 $3,068.6 $3,018.9

The table below summarizes the gross reserve for
losses and LAE by line of business.

December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Personal Automobile $ 1,183.9 $1,183.9 $1,184.6
Homeowners and Other 224.5 218.3 192.7

Total Personal 1,408.4 1,402.2 1,377.3
Workers’ Compensation 672.5 640.6 623.3
Commercial Automobile 245.0 254.2 277.2
Commercial Multiple Peril 812.0 572.1 549.5
Other Commercial 320.8 199.5 191.6

Total Commercial 2,050.3 1,666.4 1,641.6

Total reserve for losses and LAE $3,458.7 $3,068.6 $3,018.9

The total reserve for losses and LAE as disclosed in
the above tables increased by $390.1 million and $49.7
million, for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. The increase in 2005 was mostly a result of
additional direct reserves, prior to reinsurance ceded, for
Hurricanes Katrina and Rita. The increase in 2004 was
primarily due to additional direct reserves for four hur-
ricanes experienced in the Southeast.
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Prior Year Development by Line of Business
When trends emerge that we believe affect the future set-
tlement of claims, we adjust our reserves accordingly.
Reserve adjustments are reflected in the Consolidated
Statements of Income as adjustments to losses and LAE.
Often, we recognize these adjustments in periods subse-
quent to the period in which the underlying loss event
occurred. These types of subsequent adjustments are dis-
closed and discussed separately as “prior year reserve
development”. Such development can be either favor-
able or unfavorable to our financial results.

The table below summarizes the change in provision
for insured events of prior years by line of business.

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

(Decrease) increase in loss provision 
for insured events of prior years:

Personal Automobile $(29.9) $ (3.4) $ 29.6
Homeowners and Other (13.1) (5.3) 4.0

Total Personal (43.0) (8.7) 33.6

Workers’ Compensation 4.0 11.9 30.0
Commercial Automobile (8.5) (4.6) (2.0)
Commercial Multiple Peril (18.2) (8.6) (11.4)
Other Commercial (4.1) 7.7 2.2

Total Commercial (26.8) 6.4 18.8
Voluntary Pools 4.1 3.6 22.1

(Decrease) increase in loss provision 
for insured events of prior years (65.7) 1.3 74.5

Decrease in LAE provision for
insured events of prior years (13.8) (15.8) (34.1)

(Decrease) increase in total 
loss and LAE provision for 
insured events of prior years $(79.5) $(14.5) $ 40.4

Estimated loss reserves for claims occurring in prior
years developed favorably by $65.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005, while during the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, loss reserves for prior years
developed unfavorably by $1.3 million and $74.5 million,
respectively. The favorable loss reserve development
during the year ended December 31, 2005 is primarily
the result of a decrease in personal lines claim frequency
and claim severity in the 2004 accident year. In addition,
the commercial multiple peril line and other commercial
lines experienced lower claim severity in the most recent
accident years. Partially offsetting these items was
adverse development in the workers’ compensation line
during 2005, which is primarily the result of increased
medical and long-term attendant care costs.

The unfavorable loss development during the year
ended December 31, 2004 was primarily the result of
continued adverse development in the workers’ com-
pensation line of business related to increased medical
and long-term attendant care costs. Additionally, adverse

loss development was experienced in other commercial
lines, primarily in umbrella and general liability, which
is primarily the result of increases in estimated ultimate
losses for these long-tail lines. Partially offsetting these
items was favorable loss development in the commercial
multiple peril, commercial automobile, homeowners and
personal automobile lines of business. The improvement
in loss development in these lines of business is primari-
ly the result of improved claim frequency trends.

The unfavorable loss reserve development during the
year ended December 31, 2003 was primarily the result
of the $21.9 million charge from the aforementioned vol-
untary pool arbitration decision. Additionally, loss
reserves for the workers’ compensation line increased as
a result of increasing medical and long-term attendant
care costs. Loss reserve development was also affected
by an increase in personal automobile claim severity
related to medical settlements in Michigan. Partially off-
setting these items was favorable development in 2003 in
the commercial multiple peril line due to improved
claim frequency in the 2002 accident year.

During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003, estimated LAE reserves for claims occurring in prior
years developed favorably by $13.8 million, $15.8 million
and $34.1 million, respectively. The favorable develop-
ment in 2005 is primarily attributable to the aforemen-
tioned improvement in ultimate loss activity on prior
accident years which results in the decrease of ultimate
loss adjustment expenses. Development in all these peri-
ods was also favorably affected by claims process
improvement initiatives taken by us during the 1997 to
2001 calendar-year period. Since 1997, we have lowered
claim settlement costs through increased utilization of
in-house attorneys and consolidation of claim offices. As
actual experience begins to establish trends inherent
within the improved claim settlement process, the actuar-
ial reserving process recognizes these trends, resulting in
favorable development. Since we believe that the impact
of these actions has been previously recognized, we
expect less favorable LAE prior year reserve development
from these process improvements. This fact is reflected in the
decline in favorable LAE prior year reserve development
for the year ended December 31, 2005 versus 2004.

See also “Analysis of Losses and Loss Adjustment
Expense Reserve Development” in Item 1 – Business on
pages 11 and 12 of this Form 10-K for the period ended
December 31, 2005 for guidance related to the annual
development of our loss and LAE reserves.

Asbestos and Environmental Reserves 
Although we do not specifically underwrite policies that
include asbestos, environmental damage and toxic tort lia-
bility, we may be required to defend such claims. The table
below summarizes our business asbestos and environ-
mental reserves (net of reinsurance and excluding pools):
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For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Environ- Environ- Environ-
Asbestos mental Total Asbestos mental Total Asbestos mental Total

Beginning reserves $ 10.9 $ 13.8 $ 24.7 $ 12.5 $ 12.4 $ 24.9 $ 12.6 $ 13.0 $ 25.6
Incurred losses and LAE 0.2 (0.5) (0.3) (1.9) 3.4 1.5 2.9 (0.3) 2.6
Paid losses and LAE (0.5) 0.6 0.1 (0.3) 2.0 1.7 3.0 0.3 3.3

Ending reserves $ 11.6 $ 12.7 $ 24.3 $ 10.9 $ 13.8 $ 24.7 $ 12.5 $ 12.4 $ 24.9

Ending loss and LAE reserves for all direct business
written by our property and casualty companies related
to asbestos, environmental damage and toxic tort liabili-
ty, included in the reserve for losses and LAE, were $24.3
million, $24.7 million and $24.9 million, respectively, net
of reinsurance of $16.2 million, $16.3 million and $15.0
million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The out-
standing reserves for direct business asbestos and envi-
ronmental damage have remained relatively consistent
for the last three-years. As a result of our historical direct
underwriting mix of commercial lines policies toward
smaller and middle market risks, past asbestos, environ-
mental damage and toxic tort liability loss experience
has remained minimal in relation to our total loss and
LAE incurred experience. 

In addition, and not included in the numbers above,
we have established loss and LAE reserves for assumed
reinsurance pool business with asbestos, environmental
damage and toxic tort liability of $49.2 million, $46.4 mil-
lion, and $45.6 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respec-
tively. These reserves relate to pools in which we have
terminated our participation; however, we continue to be
subject to claims related to years in which we were a par-
ticipant. A significant part of our pool reserves relates to
our participation in the Excess and Casualty Reinsurance
Association (“ECRA”) voluntary pool from 1950 to 1982.
In 1982, the pool was dissolved and since that time, the
business has been in runoff. Our percentage of the total
pool liabilities varied from 1.15% to 6.00% during these
years. Our participation in this pool has resulted in aver-
age paid losses of approximately $2 million annually
over the past ten years. Because of the inherent uncer-
tainty regarding the types of claims in these pools, we
cannot provide assurance that our reserves will be
sufficient. 

We estimate our ultimate liability for asbestos, envi-
ronmental and toxic tort liability claims, whether result-
ing from direct business assumed reinsurance and pool
business, based upon currently known facts, reasonable
assumptions where the facts are not known, current law
and methodologies currently available. Although these
outstanding claims are not significant, their existence

gives rise to uncertainty and are discussed because of the
possibility that they may become significant. We believe
that, notwithstanding the evolution of case law expand-
ing liability in asbestos and environmental claims,
recorded reserves related to these claims are adequate.
Nevertheless, the asbestos, environmental and toxic tort
liability reserves could be revised if the estimates used in
determining the liability are revised, and any such revi-
sions could have a material adverse effect on our results
of operations for a particular quarter or annual period or
on our financial position.

Reinsurance 

Our Property and Casualty group maintains a reinsur-
ance program designed to protect against large or
unusual losses and allocated LAE activity. This includes
excess of loss reinsurance, proportional (quota-share)
and catastrophe reinsurance. We determine the appro-
priate amount of reinsurance based on our evaluation of
the risks accepted and analyses prepared by consultants
and/or reinsurers, and on market conditions including
the availability and pricing of reinsurance. Reinsurance
contracts do not relieve us from our primary obligations
to policyholders. Failure of reinsurers to honor their obli-
gations could result in losses to us. We believe that the
terms of our reinsurance contracts are consistent with
industry practice in that they contain standard terms
with respect to lines of business covered, limit and reten-
tion, arbitration and occurrence. Based on an ongoing
review of our reinsurers’ financial statements, reported
financial strength ratings from rating agencies and the
analysis and guidance of our reinsurance intermediaries,
we believe that our reinsurers are financially sound.

Catastrophe reinsurance serves to protect the ceding
insurer from significant losses arising from a single event
or aggregate events such as windstorm, hail, hurricane,
tornado, riot or other extraordinary events. Under our
catastrophe reinsurance agreements, we ceded $329.4
million of losses in 2005, primarily as a result of
Hurricane Katrina, and to a lesser extent, Hurricane Rita.
Due to the significant impact of recent storms, we believe
the availability and pricing of reinsurance will be nega-
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tively impacted. See also “Reinsurance” in Item 1 –
Business on pages 13 to 16 of this Form 10-K for further
information on our reinsurance programs.

We are subject to concentration of risk with respect to
reinsurance ceded to various residual market mecha-
nisms. As a condition to the ability to conduct certain
businesses in various states, we are required to partici-
pate in various residual market mechanisms and pooling
arrangements which provide various insurance coverage
to individuals or other entities that are otherwise unable
to purchase such coverage. These market mechanisms
and pooling arrangements include the Massachusetts
Commonwealth Automobile Reinsurers and the
Michigan Catastrophic Claims Association.

Life Companies 

On December 30, 2005, we sold all of the outstanding
shares of capital stock of AFLIAC, a life insurance sub-
sidiary representing approximately 95% of our run-off
variable life insurance and annuity business to Goldman
Sachs. The transaction also includes the reinsurance of
100% of the variable business of FAFLIC. In connection
with these transactions, Allmerica Investment Trust
(“AIT”) agreed to transfer certain assets and liabilities of
its funds to certain Goldman Sachs Variable Insurance
Trust managed funds through a fund reorganization
transaction. Finally, we agreed to sell to Goldman Sachs
all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of Allmerica
Financial Investment Management Service, Inc.
(“AFIMS”), our investment advisory subsidiary, concur-
rently with the consummation of a fund reorganization
transaction. The fund reorganization transaction was
consummated on January 9, 2006. 

In connection with these agreements, FAFLIC will
provide transition services until the earlier of eighteen
months from the December 30, 2005 closing or when the
operations of AFLIAC, and the FAFLIC business to be
reinsured, can be transferred to Goldman Sachs. This
transition period is currently expected to extend into the
fourth quarter of 2006. See Loss on Sale of AFLIAC
Variable Life Insurance and Annuity Business on pages
41 and 42 of this Form 10-K.

Description of Life Companies Segment
Our Life Companies segment is discussed in two major
components: Continuing Operations and Discontinued
Operations. Our Life Companies Continuing Operations
segment component manages run-off blocks of tradition-
al life insurance products (principally the Closed Block),
group retirement products, our GIC business, our dis-
continued group life and health business, including

group life and health voluntary pools (which were part
of the former Corporate Risk Management Services seg-
ment), and certain non-insurance subsidiaries. This seg-
ment also included the FAFLIC variable business
through the closing of the Agreement on December 30,
2005. Our Discontinued Operations segment component
represents the results of operations of the sold AFLIAC
variable business mentioned above. 

Continuing Operations
The following table summarizes the results of operations
for the Continuing Operations segment component for
the periods indicated: 

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Segment revenues
Premiums $ 36.9 $ 39.5 $ 41.9
Fees and other income 36.3 38.8 121.0
Net investment income (1) 112.1 132.2 179.0

Total segment revenue 185.3 210.5 341.9
Policy benefits, claims and losses 101.0 94.7 127.4
Policy acquisition expenses 6.7 6.9 10.2
Other operating expenses (2) 96.3 131.2 218.5

Segment net loss $ (18.7) $ (22.3) $ (14.2)

(1) Net investment income includes GIC income of $16.5 million, $41.0 million and
$71.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 

(2) Other operating expenses includes interest credited to the holders of such GICs of
$19.6 million, $51.8 million and $53.5 million for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

2005 Compared to 2004
Life Companies’ Continuing Operations segment loss
was $18.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005,
compared to a loss of $22.3 million during the same peri-
od in 2004. This improvement was primarily the result of
lower expenses due to the run-off of our continuing life
business, partially offset by a $4.3 million provision in
2005 for an SEC investigation related to market timing
(see Contingencies and Regulatory Matters on pages 59
and 60 of this Form 10-K).

2004 Compared to 2003
Life Companies’ Continuing Operations segment loss
was $22.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2004,
compared to $14.2 million during the same period in
2003. This decrease was primarily the result of lower
interest margins on GICs, primarily from higher swap
contract expenses, an increase in corporate overhead
costs, as well as lower net investment income due to a
decline in partnership income. These were partially
offset by improved results due to the continued run-off
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of our broker-dealer operations and from certain non-
insurance subsidiaries, as well as $11.5 million of asset
impairments recorded in 2003 related to our discontin-
ued retail brokerage operations.

Discontinued Operations
The following table summarizes the results of operations
for the periods indicted related to the Discontinued
Operations segment component, primarily consisting of
the AFLIAC variable life insurance and annuity business.
This business was sold as of December 31, 2005; therefore,
we do not expect future income related to the operations
of this business.

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Segment revenues
Fees and other income $ 256.1 $ 296.2 $ 332.3
Net investment income 80.5 85.2 91.8

Total segment revenue 336.6 381.4 424.1
Policy benefits, claims and losses 133.2 137.3 135.5
Policy acquisition expenses 105.0 113.9 134.8
Other operating expenses 70.8 100.6 135.1

Segment income before net 
realized gains and taxes 27.6 29.6 18.7

Net realized gains 6.8 12.6 9.0
GMDB hedge losses — — (8.4)
Tax benefit (expense) and change 

in prior year tax reserves 8.3 (5.0) 11.3

Income from discontinued operations $ 42.7 $ 37.2 $ 30.6

Loss on sale of AFLIAC variable 
life insurance and annuity business $ (444.4) $ — $ —

2005 Compared to 2004
Life Companies’ Discontinued Operations income was
$42.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, com-
pared to $37.2 million during the same period in 2004.
This increase was primarily due to a benefit of $10.6 mil-
lion resulting from a change in prior years tax reserves in
2005. Additionally, the combined effect of decreased
GMDB reserve expenses under SOP 03-1 and derivative
losses associated with the GMDB hedging program, both
net of DAC, was favorable by $6.3 million in 2005 as
compared to 2004. These changes were partially offset by
the continued run-off of our variable life insurance and

annuity business that resulted in lower fees, net of both
related DAC amortization and operating expenses. Also,
there was a decrease in net investment income due to
lower average general account assets and lower pre-tax
yields on fixed maturity securities.

2004 Compared to 2003
Life Companies’ Discontinued Operations income was
$37.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, com-
pared to $30.6 million during the same period in 2003.
This increase was primarily the result of net savings from
ongoing expense management efforts. Partially offset-
ting the increase in Discontinued Operations income was
an increase in DAC amortization primarily resulting
from the effect of equity market returns and surrender
patterns being unfavorable relative to our assumptions
as compared to the effect of equity market returns
exceeding our assumptions, partially offset by a perma-
nent impairment for DAC assets in 2003. In addition,
results decreased due to an increase in federal income tax
expenses resulting from a decrease in the dividends
received deduction related to this business, as well as the
continued run-off of the variable life insurance and
annuity business that resulted in lower fees, net of both
related DAC amortization and operating expenses.
Included in both years was approximately $8.5 million
related to the combined effect of derivative losses associ-
ated with the GMDB hedging program and GMDB
reserve expenses required under SOP 03-1, net of DAC.
However, in 2004 these results were reflected in segment
income, while in 2003, they were presented as a non-seg-
ment item.

Loss on Sale of AFLIAC Variable Life Insurance 
and Annuity Business
For the year ended December 31, 2005, we recorded a
loss of $444.4 million on the aforementioned sale of the
AFLIAC variable life insurance and annuity business. 

The following table summarizes the components of
the loss on the disposal of our variable life insurance and
annuity business as of December 30, 2005:
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(In millions)

Proceeds from Goldman Sachs(1) $ 318.8
Less:

Carrying value of AFLIAC(2) (719.3)
Hedge results(3) (27.9)
Liability for certain legal indemnities(4) (13.0)
Estimated transaction costs(5) (10.5)
Deferred gain on FAFLIC coinsurance(6) (8.6)
THG tax benefit (7) 10.0
Realized gain on securities related to AFLIAC 6.1

Net loss $ (444.4)

(1) Total proceeds from Goldman Sachs are based on the purchase price calculated as
of the December 30, 2005 closing, subject to any adjustments following the
purchaser’s review of the final purchase price calculation. We do not expect
significant changes to our purchase price. Proceeds from Goldman Sachs include
deferred payments of $46.7 million to be received over three years.

(2) Shareholder’s equity of the AFLIAC variable life insurance and annuity business at
December 30, 2005, prior to the impact of the sale transaction.

(3) A hedging program was implemented on August 23, 2005 to reduce the volatility
in the sales price calculation from effects of equity market movements through the
date of the closing.

(4) Liability for certain contractual indemnities of AFLIAC provided under the
Agreement to Goldman Sachs recorded under FASB Interpretation No. 45,
Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others (“FIN 45”).

(5) Transaction costs include investment banker, legal, vendor contract licensing and
other professional fees.

(6) Included in the proceeds from Goldman Sachs is the FAFLIC variable business
coinsurance ceding commission of $8.6 million. This gain will be deferred and
amortized over the remaining life of the policies in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 113, Accounting and Reporting for Reinsurance of
Short-Duration and Long-Duration Contracts.

(7) At December 31, 2005, THG holding company received a tax benefit primarily due
to realized losses generated by the AFLIAC sale.

As of September 30, 2005, we recorded an estimated
loss on sale of $474.6 million based on our estimate at
that date. Our current estimate was based on actual
results through the closing date of the sale and resulted
in an adjustment of $30.2 million to the loss on the sale.
We anticipate incurring approximately $15 million, net
of taxes, of additional costs related to employee sever-
ance and retention, net costs of transitional services and
operations conversion expenses in this business in 2006.
In addition, although we believe our liability for certain
legal indemnities is appropriate, there can be no assur-
ance that we won’t incur additional expenses in the
future.

GIC Derivative Instruments
2005 Compared to 2004
We use derivative instruments to hedge our GIC portfo-
lio (see Derivative Instruments on pages 45 to 46 of this
Form 10-K). For floating rate GIC liabilities that are
matched with fixed rate securities, we manage the inter-
est rate risk by hedging with interest rate swap contracts
designed to pay fixed and receive floating interest. In
addition, some funding agreements are denominated in
foreign currencies. To mitigate the effect of changes in
currency exchange rates, we hedge this risk by entering
into foreign exchange swap and futures contracts, as well
as compound foreign currency/interest rate swap con-
tracts to hedge our net foreign currency exposure. In
2005 and 2004, the majority of these derivative instru-
ments qualified for “effective” hedge accounting in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivatives and Hedging
Activities (“Statement No. 133”). These hedges resulted
in a $10.8 million reduction in net investment income
during 2005, as compared to a $21.3 million reduction in
net investment income during 2004. These reductions
were offset by similar reductions in GIC interest credited
during these periods. The decreased effect of derivative
instruments in 2005 was due to a decrease in average
outstanding GIC deposits and associated hedges. Any
ineffectiveness related to these derivative instruments is
recognized in other operating expenses in our
Consolidated Statements of Income. Although we do not
expect our hedges to become ineffective, in accordance
with Statement No. 133, there can be no assurance that
we will not experience losses from ineffective hedges in
the future. 

2004 Compared to 2003
Derivative instruments utilized to hedge our GIC portfo-
lio reduced net investment income during 2004 by $21.3
million, as compared to a $5.9 million reduction in 2003.
These reductions were offset by similar reductions in
GIC interest credited during these periods. 

The increased effect of derivative instruments in 2004
was primarily due to new swap contracts entered into to
replace futures contracts. The futures contracts did not
qualify for hedge accounting in accordance with
Statement No. 133 and were therefore deemed “ineffec-
tive” for accounting purposes. The new foreign currency
swaps are “effective” hedges for accounting purposes;
thus, they had no impact on other income during 2004.
The “ineffective” futures contracts resulted in a $9.0 mil-
lion decrease in other income during 2003. 
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Investment Portfolio

We held general account investment assets diversified
across several asset classes, as follows:

December 31 2005 2004

(In millions, except percentage data)

% of Total % of Total 
Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying

Value Value Value(1) Value(1)

Fixed maturities (2) $ 5,708.2 85.1% $7,822.2 89.4% 
Equity securities (2) 18.0 0.3% 17.0 0.2%
Mortgages 99.6 1.5% 114.8 1.3%
Policy loans (2) 139.9 2.1% 256.4 2.9%
Cash and cash 

equivalents (2) 701.5 10.4% 486.5 5.6%
Other long-term 

investments 42.6 0.6% 55.3 0.6%

Total $ 6,709.8 100.0% $8,752.2 100.0% 

(1) Includes $1.6 billion of investment assets of our AFLIAC discontinued variable life
insurance and annuity business at December 31, 2004.

(2) We carry these investments at fair value.

Total investment assets decreased approximately $2.0
billion, or 23.3%, to $6.7 billion during 2005, primarily as
a result of decreases in fixed maturities of $2.1 billion
and policy loans of $116.5 million, partially offset by an
increase in cash and cash equivalents of $215.0 million.
The decreases in fixed maturities and policy loans result-
ed primarily from the sale of our variable life insurance
and annuity business, the maturity of long-term funding
agreements in our Life Companies segment and market
value depreciation. Partially offsetting these decreases
was the investment of proceeds from the sale of the vari-
able life insurance and annuity business in cash and cash
equivalents. 

Our fixed maturity portfolio is comprised primarily of
investment grade corporate securities, tax-exempt issues
of state and local governments, U.S. government and
agency securities and other issues. Based on ratings by
the National Association of Insurance Commissioners
(“NAIC”), investment grade securities comprised 93.5%
at December 31, 2005 and 94.2% at December 31, 2004 of
our total fixed maturity portfolio.

The following table provides information about the credit quality of our fixed maturities at December 31, 2005 and
December 31, 2004.

December 31 2005 2004

(In millions)

NAIC Rating Agency Amortized Carrying Amortized Carrying
Designation Equivalent Designation Cost Value Cost(1) Value(1)

1 Aaa/Aa/A $ 3,891.2 $ 3,896.0 $4,976.3 $ 5,113.8
2 Baa 1,430.8 1,440.4 2,167.5 2,257.6
3 Ba 152.4 152.3 220.1 233.7
4 B 152.2 151.7 132.8 142.6
5 Caa and lower 55.5 62.8 44.8 56.3
6 In or near default 3.8 5.0 11.9 18.2

Total fixed maturities $ 5,685.9 $ 5,708.2 $7,553.4 $7,822.2

(1) Includes fixed maturities related to our AFLIAC discontinued variable life insurance and annuity business at December 31, 2004.
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Although we expect to invest new funds primarily in
cash, cash equivalents and investment grade fixed matu-
rities, we may invest a portion of new funds in below
investment grade fixed maturities or equity securities.
The average yield on fixed maturities was 5.6% for the
year ended December 31, 2005 and 5.8% for the year
ended December 31, 2004. This decline reflects lower
prevailing fixed maturity investment rates and an
increased emphasis on higher credit quality, shorter
duration fixed maturity investments. We expect lower
prevailing fixed maturity investment rates for new
investments will continue to negatively affect our invest-
ment yields.

At December 31, 2005, $100.1 million of our fixed
maturities were invested in traditional private placement
securities, as compared to $157.7 million at December 31,
2004. Fair values of traditional private placement securi-
ties are determined by either a third party broker or by
internally developed pricing models, including the use
of discounted cash flow analyses.

We recognized $9.1 million of realized losses on other-
than-temporary impairments of fixed maturities for the
year ended December 31, 2005, as compared to $6.2 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2004, principally
resulting from our exposure to below investment grade
securities. Other-than-temporary impairments of fixed
maturities in 2005 included $4.0 million related to the
industrial sector; $1.6 million related to the airline/trans-
portation sector; $1.4 million related to the automotive
sector; $1.2 million related to the finance sector; $0.5 mil-
lion related to the communication sector; $0.3 million
related to the utilities sector and $0.1 million related to
the consumer cyclical sector. Other-than-temporary
impairments of fixed maturities in 2004 included $6.0
million related to the airline/transportation sector; and
$0.2 million related to the communication sector. In addi-
tion, we recognized $0.2 million of realized losses on
other-than-temporary impairments of equity securities
in 2005, as compared to $0.1 million on other-than-tem-
porary impairments of equity securities in 2004. 

In our determination of other-than-temporary impair-
ments, we consider several factors and circumstances,
including the issuer’s overall financial condition; the
issuer’s credit and financial strength ratings; the issuer’s
financial performance, including earnings trends, divi-
dend payments, and asset quality; a weakening of the
general market conditions in the industry or geographic
region in which the issuer operates; the length of time in
which the fair value of an issuer’s securities remains
below our cost; and with respect to fixed maturity invest-
ments, any factors that might raise doubt about the
issuer’s ability to pay all amounts due according to the
contractual terms. We apply these factors to all securities.

Other-than-temporary impairments are recorded as a
realized loss, which serves to reduce net income and
earnings per share. Temporary declines in market value
are recorded as unrealized losses, which do not affect net
income and earnings per share but reduce other compre-
hensive income. We cannot provide assurance that the
other-than-temporary impairments will, in fact, be ade-
quate to cover future losses or that we will not have sub-
stantial additional impairments in the future.

The following table provides information about our
fixed maturities and equity securities that have been con-
tinuously in an unrealized loss position. 

December 31 2005 2004

(In millions)

Gross Gross
Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair

Losses Value Losses(1) Value(1)

Investment grade 
fixed maturities:
0-6 months $ 33.4 $2,151.5 $ 4.2 $ 652.7
7-12 months 5.3 184.2 6.1 332.0
Greater than 12 months 26.7 595.8 15.5 425.4

Total investment grade 
fixed maturities 65.4 2,931.5 25.8 1,410.1

Below investment grade 
fixed maturities:
0-6 months 6.2 141.4 0.4 36.9
7-12 months 2.8 29.9 1.9 20.3
Greater than 12 months — — — 1.0

Total below investment 
grade fixed maturities 9.0 171.3 2.3 58.2

Equity securities 0.1 1.4 0.1 0.7

Total fixed maturities 
and equity securities $ 74.5 $3,104.2 $ 28.2 $1,469.0

(1) Includes the investments of our AFLIAC discontinued variable life insurance and
annuity business at December 31, 2004.

We had $74.5 million of gross unrealized losses on
fixed maturities and equity securities at December 31,
2005, as compared to $28.2 million at December 31, 2004.
The increase in gross unrealized losses of investment
grade fixed maturity investments is primarily due to the
impact of higher market interest rates, rather than a
decline in the credit quality of these investments.
Approximately $12.1 million of the gross unrealized loss-
es at December 31, 2005 relate to investment grade fixed
maturity obligations of the U.S. Treasury, U.S. govern-
ment and agency securities, states and political subdivi-
sions, compared to $5.5 million at December 31, 2004. At
both December 31, 2005 and 2004, substantially all below
investment grade securities with an unrealized loss had
been rated by the NAIC, Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s. 
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Derivative Instruments

We maintain an overall risk management strategy that
incorporates the use of derivative instruments to mini-
mize significant unplanned fluctuations in earnings that
are caused by foreign currency, equity market and inter-
est rate volatility. As such, we enter into foreign currency
swaps and futures contracts, as well as compound for-
eign currency/interest rate swap contracts, to hedge for-
eign currency and interest rate exposure on specific
funding agreement liabilities. We also entered into vari-
ous types of interest rate swap contracts to hedge expo-
sure to interest rate fluctuations on floating rate funding
agreement liabilities that were matched with fixed rate
securities. 

On December 3, 2003, we implemented an economic
hedging program involving exchange traded futures
contracts to hedge against increased GMDB claims that
could arise from declines in the equity market below lev-
els at December 3, 2003. In response to our entering into
the aforementioned Agreement to sell our variable life
insurance and annuity business, we discontinued this
program on August 22, 2005. We recognized $0.5 million
in losses for the year ended December 31, 2005, $25.1 mil-
lion in losses for the year ended December 31, 2004 and
$8.4 million in losses for the year ended December 31,
2003 as a result of this program. These losses are reflect-
ed in the Consolidated Statements of Income as income
(loss) from operations of discontinued business. The
GMDB hedges did not qualify for hedge accounting
under Statement No. 133.

On August 23, 2005, we implemented a new deriva-
tive program designed to economically hedge against
fluctuations in the purchase price of the variable life
insurance and annuity business. The purchase price was
determined at the time of closing and was subject to
changes in interest rate, equity market, implied equity
market volatility and surrender activity. The derivatives
were terminated concurrent with the sale closing on
December 30, 2005. The derivatives in this program
included exchange traded futures contracts, interest rate
swap contracts, and strike price call options. During the
year ended December 31, 2005, we recognized $27.9 mil-
lion in losses, reflected in the Consolidated Statements of
Income as loss on disposal of variable life insurance and
annuity business. (See Life Companies – Loss on Sale of
AFLIAC Variable Life Insurance and Annuity Business
on pages 41 and 42 of this Form 10-K). The hedges did not
qualify for hedge accounting under Statement No. 133.

We view the gross unrealized losses of fixed maturi-
ties and equity securities as being temporary. The risks
inherent in our assessment methodology include the risk
that, subsequent to the balance sheet date, market factors
may differ from our expectations; we may decide to sub-
sequently sell a security for unforeseen business needs;
or changes in the credit assessment or equity characteris-
tics from our original assessment may lead us to deter-
mine that a sale at the current value would maximize
recovery on such investments. To the extent that there
are such adverse changes, the unrealized loss would
then be realized and we would record a charge to earn-
ings. Although unrealized losses are not reflected in the
results of financial operations until they are realized or
deemed “other-than-temporary”, the fair value of the
underlying investment, which does reflect the unreal-
ized loss, is reflected in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The following table sets forth gross unrealized losses
for fixed maturities by maturity period, and for equity
securities at December 31, 2005 and 2004. Actual maturi-
ties may differ from contractual maturities because bor-
rowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations,
with or without call or prepayment penalties, or we may
have the right to put or sell the obligations back to the
issuers. Mortgage-backed securities are included in the
category representing their stated maturity.

December 31 2005 2004

(In millions)

Due in one year or less $ 0.2 $ 1.0
Due after one year through five years 13.9 3.4
Due after five years through ten years 33.4 10.9
Due after ten years 26.9 12.8

Total fixed maturities 74.4 28.1
Equity securities 0.1 0.1

Total fixed maturities and equity securities $ 74.5 $ 28.2

We had fixed maturity securities with a carrying value
of $5.1 million on non-accrual status at December 31,
2005, as compared to $29.8 million at December 31, 2004.
The effect of non-accruals, compared with amounts that
would have been recognized in accordance with the
original terms of the fixed maturities, was a reduction in
net investment income of $2.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005, as compared to a reduction of $4.1
million in income from continuing operations for the
year ended December 31, 2004. We expect that defaults in
the fixed maturities portfolio may continue to negatively
affect investment income. 
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We use derivative financial instruments, primarily
interest rate swaps, with indices that correlate to bal-
ance sheet instruments to modify our indicated net
interest sensitivity to levels that we deem appropri-
ate. Specifically, for floating rate GIC liabilities that
are matched with fixed rate securities, we manage the
interest rate risk by hedging with interest rate swap
contracts designed to pay fixed and receive floating
interest. 

The following tables for the years ended December
31, 2005 and 2004 provide information about our
financial instruments used for purposes other than
trading that are sensitive to changes in interest rates.
The tables present principal cash flows and related
weighted-average interest rates by expected maturi-
ties, unless otherwise noted below. Expected maturi-
ties may differ from contractual maturities because
borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obli-
gations with or without call or prepayment penalties,
or we may have the right to put or sell the obligations
back to the issuers. Mortgage-backed and asset-
backed securities are included in the category repre-
senting their expected maturity. Available-for-sale
securities include both U.S. and foreign-denominated
fixed maturities, but exclude interest rate swap con-
tracts and foreign currency swap contracts, which are
disclosed in separate tables. Foreign-denominated
fixed maturities are also shown separately in the table
of financial instruments subject to foreign currency
risk. For liabilities that have no contractual maturity,
the tables present principal cash flows and related
weighted-average interest rates based on our histori-
cal experience, management’s judgment, and statisti-
cal analysis, as applicable, concerning their most
likely withdrawal behaviors. Additionally, we have
assumed our available-for-sale securities are similar
enough to aggregate those securities for presentation
purposes. Specifically, variable rate available-for-sale
securities and mortgage loans comprise an immateri-
al portion of the portfolio and do not have a signifi-
cant impact on weighted-average interest rates.
Therefore, the variable rate investments are not pre-
sented separately; instead they are included in the
tables at their current interest rate.

We recognized in income from continuing operations
$1.2 million of net realized gains on derivatives for the
year ended December 31, 2005, $9.7 million of losses for
the year ended December 31, 2004 and $4.3 million of
losses for the year ended December 31, 2003. The real-
ized gains during 2005 were primarily due to the termi-
nation of derivative instruments used to hedge the
embedded gains of certain bonds identified to be liqui-
dated to settle the maturity of a particular long-term
funding agreement. The realized losses during both 2004
and 2003 were primarily due to the termination of deriv-
ative instruments used to hedge funding agreements in
response to the retirement of long-term funding agree-
ments at discounts. In 2005 and 2004, our derivative
instruments primarily consisted of swap contracts, the
majority of which were effective hedges under Statement
No. 133. In 2003, we held futures contracts which were
replaced during the year by the aforementioned swaps.
The futures did not qualify for hedge accounting under
Statement No 133.

Market Risk and Risk Management Policies 

Interest Rate Sensitivity
Our operations are subject to risk resulting from interest
rate fluctuations to the extent that there is a difference
between the amount of our interest-earning assets and
the amount of interest-bearing liabilities that are paid,
withdrawn, mature or re-price in specified periods. We
have developed an asset/liability management approach
tailored to specific insurance or investment product
objectives. The principal objective of our approach is to
provide maximum levels of net investment income,
while maintaining acceptable levels of interest rate and
liquidity risk and facilitating our funding needs. We
manage our investment assets in approximately 20 port-
folio segments consistent with specific products or
groups of products having similar liability characteris-
tics. As part of this approach, we develop investment
guidelines for each portfolio segment consistent with the
return objectives, risk tolerance, liquidity, time horizon,
tax and regulatory requirements of the related product or
business segment. We have a general policy of diversify-
ing investments both within and across all portfolio seg-
ments. We monitor the credit quality of our investments
and our exposure to individual markets, borrowers,
industries, sectors, and in the case of mortgages, proper-
ty types and geographic locations. In addition, we cur-
rently carry long-term debt. 
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Fair
Value

For the Years Ended December 31, 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Thereafter Total 12/31/05

(Dollars in millions)

Rate Sensitive Assets:
Available-for-sale securities $ 816.9 $ 288.9 $ 333.1 $ 375.4 $ 529.8 $ 3,664.6 $6,008.7 $6,045.4

Average interest rate 5.23% 5.79% 5.46% 5.96% 6.13% 5.71% 5.69%
Mortgage loans $ 23.3 $ 3.3 $ 2.8 $ 10.4 $ 39.4 $ 21.5 $ 100.7 $ 109.0

Average interest rate 8.55% 8.20% 7.07% 7.66% 7.87% 7.67% 7.95%
Policy loans $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 139.9 $ 139.9 $ 139.9

Average interest rate — — — — — 8.00% 8.00%

Rate Sensitive Liabilities:
Fixed interest rate GICs $ 30.3 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 30.3 $ 30.5

Average interest rate 6.95% — — — — — 6.95%
Supplemental contracts without 

life contingencies $ 9.1 $ 4.8 $ 3.0 $ 1.6 $ 0.2 $ 2.7 $ 21.4 $ 18.5
Average interest rate 2.86% 2.86% 2.77% 2.54% 2.64% 2.52% 2.79%

Other individual contract deposit funds $ 6.8 $ 5.6 $ 4.9 $ 4.0 $ 3.8 $ 71.8 $ 96.9 $ 96.9
Average interest rate 3.62% 3.57% 3.54% 3.51% 3.51% 3.50% 3.55%

Other group contract deposit funds $ 4.9 $ 3.4 $ 3.0 $ 2.6 $ 2.4 $ 19.3 $ 35.6 $ 35.1
Average interest rate 2.26% 2.33% 2.33% 2.33% 2.33% 2.33% 2.32%

Individual annuity contracts - 
general account $ 13.2 $ 13.0 $ 13.2 $ 8.2 $ 12.3 $ 37.0 $ 96.9 $ 93.7

Average interest rate 3.10% 3.09% 3.09% 3.09% 3.09% 3.09% 3.09%
Trust instruments supported

by funding obligations $ 255.5 $ — $ 19.0 $ — $ — $ 17.7 $ 292.2 $ 297.3
Average interest rate 3.50% — 8.20% — — 6.00% 3.94%

Long-term debt $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 508.8 $ 508.8 $ 537.9
Average interest rate — — — — — 7.98% 7.98%
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Fair
Value

For the Years Ended December 31, 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter Total 12/31/04

(Dollars in millions)

Rate Sensitive Assets:
Available-for-sale securities $ 853.5 $ 634.8 $ 544.7 $ 432.7 $ 503.3 $ 4,597.6 $7,566.6 $7,868.4

Average interest rate 6.15% 6.03% 5.71% 5.68% 6.15% 5.84% 5.90%
Mortgage loans $ 9.0 $ 15.4 $ 3.6 $ 7.2 $ 10.8 $ 70.5 $ 116.5 $ 133.9

Average interest rate 9.05% 8.33% 8.29% 7.14% 7.71% 7.85% 7.97%
Policy loans $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 256.4 $ 256.4 $ 256.4

Average interest rate — — — — — 7.21% 7.21%

Rate Sensitive Liabilities:
Fixed interest rate GICs $ — $ 30.0 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 30.0 $ 31.2

Average interest rate — 7.00% — — — — 7.00%
Supplemental contracts without 

life contingencies $ 36.1 $ 18.2 $ 11.1 $ 7.5 $ 0.4 $ 5.4 $ 78.7 $ 75.4
Average interest rate 2.12% 2.29% 2.54% 2.98% 4.17% 4.10% 2.42%

Other individual contract deposit funds $ 10.2 $ 8.9 $ 7.9 $ 7.1 $ 6.3 $ 90.6 $ 131.0 $ 130.2
Average interest rate 4.35% 4.29% 4.24% 4.19% 4.15% 4.10% 4.23%

Other group contract deposit funds $ 5.2 $ 3.7 $ 3.3 $ 2.9 $ 2.6 $ 20.9 $ 38.6 $ 38.3
Average interest rate 3.29% 3.61% 3.61% 3.61% 3.61% 3.61% 3.57%

Individual annuity contracts - 
general account $ 149.8 $ 126.5 $ 114.0 $ 105.9 $ 108.9 $ 551.0 $1,156.1 $1,121.3

Average interest rate 3.18% 3.16% 3.16% 3.17% 3.17% 3.18% 3.17%
Trust instruments supported

by funding obligations $ 779.3 $ 293.2 $ — $ 19.0 $ — $ 19.7 $ 1,111.2 $1,128.2
Average interest rate 4.82% 3.50% — 8.20% — 6.00% 4.54%

Long-term debt $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 508.8 $ 508.8 $ 552.3
Average interest rate — — — — — 7.98% 7.98%

Foreign Currency Sensitivity
A portion of our investment securities and trust instru-
ments supported by funding obligations are denominat-
ed in foreign currencies. Our operating results are
exposed to changes in exchange rates between the U.S.
dollar and foreign currencies, primarily the Japanese
Yen, British Pound and Euro. To mitigate the short-term
effect of changes in currency exchange rates, we regular-
ly hedge by entering into foreign exchange swaps and
futures, as well as compound foreign currency/interest
rate swap contracts to hedge our net foreign currency
exposure. The following tables for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004 provide information about
our derivative financial instruments and other financial

instruments, used for purposes other than trading, by
functional currency and presents fair value information
in U.S. dollar equivalents. The tables summarize infor-
mation on instruments that are sensitive to foreign cur-
rency exchange rates, including securities denominated
in foreign currencies, compound foreign currency/inter-
est rate swap contracts, foreign currency forward
exchange agreements, foreign currency futures contracts,
and foreign currency options contracts. For foreign cur-
rency denominated securities and liabilities, the tables
present principal cash flows and applicable current for-
eign currency exchange rates by contractual maturity.
For foreign currency derivative instruments, the tables
present the notional amounts and weighted-average
exchange rates by expected (contractual) maturity dates.
The notional amounts are used to calculate the contrac-
tual payments to be exchanged under the contracts.
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Fair
Value

For the Years Ended December 31, 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Thereafter Total 12/31/05

(Currencies in millions)

Fixed Interest Securities Denominated 
in Foreign Currencies:

Fixed interest rate securities 
denominated in British Pounds 9.5 — — — — — 9.5 $ 24.3

Current foreign exchange rate 1.7230 — — — — — 1.7230
Currency Swap Agreements Related 
to Fixed Interest Securities:

Receive British Pounds
Notional amount in foreign currency 9.5 — — — — — 9.5 $ (0.4)
Average contract rate 1.9800 — — — — — 1.9800
Current foreign exchange rate 1.7230 — — — — — 1.7230

Liabilities Denominated in 
Foreign Currencies:

Trust instruments supported by funding 
obligations denominated in Japanese Yen 30,000.0 — — — — — 30,000.0 $ 258.6

Current foreign exchange rate 0.0085 — — — — — 0.0085
Trust instruments supported by funding 

obligations denominated in British Pounds — — — — — 9.8 9.8 $ 18.5
Current foreign exchange rate — — — — — 1.7230 1.7230

Currency Swap Agreements Related 
to Trust Obligations:

Receive Japanese Yen
Notional amount in foreign currency 30,000.0 — — — — — 30,000.0 $ (22.3)
Average contract rate 0.0093 — — — — — 0.0093
Current foreign exchange rate 0.0085 — — — — — 0.0085

Receive British Pounds
Notional amount in foreign currency — — — — — 9.8 9.8 $ 2.7
Average contract rate — — — — — 1.4415 1.4415
Current foreign exchange rate — — — — — 1.7230 1.7230
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Fair
Value

For the Years Ended December 31, 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter Total 12/31/04

(Currencies in millions)

Fixed Interest Securities Denominated 
in Foreign Currencies:

Fixed interest rate securities denominated 
in British Pounds — 9.5 — — — — 9.5 $ 24.3

Current foreign exchange rate — 1.9181 — — — — 1.9181
Currency Swap Agreements Related 
to Fixed Interest Securities:

Receive British Pounds
Notional amount in foreign currency — 9.5 — — — — 9.5 $ (0.9)
Average contract rate — 1.9800 — — — — 1.9800
Current foreign exchange rate — 1.9181 — — — — 1.9181

Liabilities Denominated in 
Foreign Currencies:

Trust instruments supported by funding 
obligations denominated in Euros 196.7 — — — — — 196.7 $ 288.5

Current foreign exchange rate 1.3554 — — — — — 1.3554
Trust instruments supported by funding 

obligations denominated in Japanese Yen 50,000.0 30,000.0 — — — — 80,000.0 $ 803.0
Current foreign exchange rate 0.0097 0.0097 — — — — 0.0097

Trust instruments supported by funding 
obligations denominated in British Pounds — — — — — 9.8 9.8 $ 20.3

Current foreign exchange rate — — — — — 1.9181 1.9181
Currency Swap Agreements Related 
to Trust Obligations:

Receive Euros
Notional amount in foreign currency 196.7 — — — — — 196.7 $ 18.4
Average contract rate 0.9514 — — — — — 0.9514
Current foreign exchange rate 1.3554 — — — — — 1.3554

Receive Japanese Yen
Notional amount in foreign currency 50,000.0 30,000.0 — — — — 80,000.0 $ 43.6
Average contract rate 0.0093 0.0093 — — — — 0.0093
Current foreign exchange rate 0.0097 0.0097 — — — — 0.0097

Receive British Pounds
Notional amount in foreign currency — — — — — 9.8 9.8 $ 4.0
Average contract rate — — — — — 1.4415 1.4415
Current foreign exchange rate — — — — — 1.9181 1.9181

Commodity Price Risk Sensitivity
A portion of our December 31, 2004 liabilities included a
GMDB feature that provided annuity contractholders
with a guaranteed minimum death benefit. This mini-
mum death benefit was subject to equity market risk. On
December 3, 2003, we implemented a hedging program
to economically hedge against increased GMDB claims
that could arise from declines in the equity market below
levels at December 3, 2003. In response to our entering
into the Agreement to sell our variable life insurance and
annuity business, we discontinued this program on
August 22, 2005. On August 23, 2005, we implemented a
new derivative program designed to economically hedge
against fluctuations in the purchase price of the variable

life insurance and annuity business. The business was
sold and the derivatives were closed on December 30,
2005. As of December 31, 2005, we no longer held equity
market sensitive derivatives used to economically hedge
either the increased GMDB claims or the purchase price
for the sale of the variable life insurance and annuity
business.

The following table for the year ended December 31,
2004 provides information about our derivative financial
instruments used for purposes other than trading that
are sensitive to changes in the equity market. The table
presents notional amounts, number of contracts, and
weighted-average contract price by index and expected
maturity.
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Fair
Value

For the Years Ended December 31, 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter Total 12/31/04

(Dollars in millions, except average opening price)

S&P Index Futures Contracts (Short) 
Related to the GMDB Hedging Program:

Notional Amount in U.S. Dollars $ 121.7 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 121.7 $ (2.4)
Number of Contracts 409.0 — — — — — 409.0
Average opening price $ 1,190.60 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $1,190.60

Russell Index Futures Contracts (Short) 
Related to the GMDB Hedging Program:

Notional Amount in U.S. Dollars $ 25.5 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 25.5 $ (1.0)
Number of Contracts 81.0 — — — — — 81.0
Average opening price $ 629.30 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 629.30

NASDAQ Index Futures Contracts (Short) 
Related to the GMDB Hedging Program:

Notional Amount in U.S. Dollars $ 20.1 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 20.1 $ (0.4)
Number of Contracts 126.0 — — — — — 126.0
Average opening price $ 1,593.40 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $1,593.40

Income Taxes

We file a consolidated United States federal income tax
return that includes THG and its domestic subsidiaries
(including non-insurance operations). We segregate the
entities included within the consolidated group into
either a life insurance or a non-life insurance company
subgroup. The consolidation of these subgroups is sub-
ject to certain statutory restrictions on the percentage of
eligible non-life tax losses that can be applied to offset
life company taxable income. 

The provision for federal income taxes from continu-
ing operations before the cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle were benefits of $5.2 million and
$0.8 million during 2005 and 2004, respectively, com-
pared to an expense of $3.9 million during 2003. These
provisions resulted in consolidated effective federal tax
rates of (7.3%), (0.6%), and 6.5% of pre-tax income for
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The 2005 provision
reflects a $9.5 million benefit resulting from the settle-
ment of disputed items in our federal tax returns filed for
1992 to 1994 and a $2.3 million benefit resulting from a
reduction in federal income tax reserves for prior years
from ongoing Internal Revenue Service audits. The 2004
provision reflects a $30.4 million benefit resulting from
the settlement of disputed items in our federal tax
returns filed for 1979 to 1991. The largest of these disput-
ed items relates to deductions taken for increased death
benefits pertaining to certain life insurance contracts
existing in 1982 and 1983. Under this settlement, we
received a refund of amounts paid for these years, as
well as various tax credits that have been applied to off-
set federal tax liabilities in other years.

Absent the aforementioned benefits, the effective tax
rates in 2005 and 2004 were 9.3% and 20.5%, respective-
ly. The decrease from the prior year is principally due to
lower underwriting income, primarily as a result of
Hurricane Katrina losses, partially offset by a reduced
level of tax-exempt interest in the current year. The
increase in the rates from 2003 to 2004 is primarily due to
higher underwriting income in our property and casual-
ty business and a reduced level of tax-exempt interest in
2004.

Included in our deferred tax net asset as of December
31, 2005 is an asset of approximately $10 million related
to federal income tax net operating loss carryforwards
(“NOL”) and a net asset of approximately $9 million
related to capital loss carryforwards. Our gross capital
losses totaled approximately $497 million, including
approximately $492 million resulting from the sale of our
variable life insurance and annuity business. A valuation
allowance of approximately $472 million has been
recorded against our gross capital loss carryforwards,
since it is our opinion that it is more likely than not that
this asset will not be fully realized. Our estimate of the
gross amount and likely realization of capital loss carry-
forwards may change over time. The NOL may be uti-
lized in future years to offset taxable income of
approximately $29 million and will begin expiring in
2020. The net capital loss carryforwards may be utilized
to offset future capital gains of approximately $25 mil-
lion and will begin expiring in 2008. In addition, at
December 31, 2005, there is an asset of approximately
$185 million, of which approximately $124 million
relates to alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards,
$60 million relates to low income housing tax credit
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carryforwards and other general business credits and
approximately $1 million relates to foreign tax credit car-
ryforwards. The alternative minimum tax credit carry-
forwards have no expiration date, the low income
housing credit carryforwards will expire beginning in
2018 and the foreign tax credit will expire beginning in
2013. We may utilize the credits to offset regular federal
income taxes due from future income, and although we
believe that these assets are fully recoverable, there can
be no certainty that future events will not affect their
recoverability.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition
and results of operations are based upon the consolidat-
ed financial statements. These statements have been pre-
pared in accordance with GAAP, which requires us to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of con-
tingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amount of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates. The following critical
accounting estimates are those which we believe affect
the more significant judgments and estimates used in the
preparation of our financial statements. Additional infor-
mation about our other significant accounting policies
and estimates may be found in Note 1 – Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included on pages 74
to 82 of this Form 10-K.

Property & Casualty Insurance Loss Reserves
We determine the amount of loss and loss adjustment
expense reserves (the “loss reserves”), as discussed in
“Segment Results – Property and Casualty, Overview of
Loss Reserve Estimation Process” based on an estimation
process that is very complex and uses information
obtained from both company specific and industry data,
as well as general economic information. The estimation
process is judgmental, and requires us to continuously
monitor and evaluate the life cycle of claims on type-of-
business and nature-of-claim bases. Using data obtained
from this monitoring and assumptions about emerging
trends, our actuaries develop information about the size
of ultimate claims based on historical experience and
other available market information. The most significant
assumptions used in the actuarial estimation process,
which vary by line of business, include determining the
expected consistency in the frequency and severity of
claims incurred but not yet reported to prior years
claims, the trend in loss costs, changes in the timing of

the reporting of losses from the loss date to the notifica-
tion date and expected costs to settle unpaid claims. This
process assumes that past experience, adjusted for the
effects of current developments and anticipated trends,
is an appropriate basis for predicting future events. On a
quarterly basis, our actuaries provide to management a
point estimate for each significant line of our direct busi-
ness to summarize their analysis. 

In establishing the appropriate loss reserve balances
for any period, management carefully considers these
actuarial point estimates, which are the principal bases
for establishing our reserve balances, along with a quali-
tative evaluation of business trends, environmental
changes, and numerous other factors. In general, such
additional factors may include, but are not limited to,
improvement or deterioration of the actuarial indications
in the period, the maturity of the accident year, trends
observed over the recent past such as changes in the mix
of business or the impact of regulatory or litigation
developments, the level of volatility within a particular
line of business, and the magnitude of the difference
between the actuarial indication and the recorded
reserves. Specific factors considered by management in
determining the reserves at December 31, 2005 and 2004
included the likelihood of future adverse development
related to significant catastrophes losses experienced in
the third quarter of each year, the current extent to which
changes in the mix of business in our Commercial Lines
segment have affected our ultimate loss trends, the sig-
nificant improvement in personal lines frequency and
severity trends the industry has experienced over the
past couple of years which were unanticipated and
remain to some extent unexplained, the likelihood of
continued adverse development in the workers compen-
sation line where losses tend to emerge over long periods
of time and rising medical costs have continued and sig-
nificant growth in our surety bond and inland marine
businesses for which we have limited actuarial data to
estimate ultimate losses. Regarding our indirect business
from voluntary and involuntary pools, we are provided
loss estimates by managers of each pool. We adopt
reserve estimates for the pools that consider this infor-
mation and other facts. At December 31, 2005 and 2004,
total recorded reserves were 5.4% and 5.7% greater than
actuarially indicated reserves, respectively. We exercise
judgment in estimating all loss reserves based upon our
knowledge of the property and casualty business, review
of the outcome of actuarial studies, historical experience
and other factors to record an estimate which reflects our
expected ultimate loss and loss adjustment expenses. We
believe that adequate provision has been made for loss
reserves. However, establishment of appropriate
reserves is an inherently uncertain process and there can
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be no certainty that current established reserves will
prove adequate in light of subsequent actual experience.
A significant change to the estimated reserves could have
a material impact on our results of operations and finan-
cial position. An increase or decrease in reserve estimates
would result in a corresponding decrease or increase in
financial results. For example, each one percentage point
change in the loss and LAE ratio resulting from a change
in reserve estimation is currently projected to have an
approximate $22 million impact on property and casual-
ty segment income, based on 2005 full year premiums. 

When trends emerge that we believe affect the future
settlement of claims, we adjust our reserves accordingly
(see Segment Results – Property and Casualty, Manage-
ment’s Review of Judgments and Key Assumptions for
further explanation of factors affecting our reserve esti-
mates, our review process and our process for determin-
ing changes to our reserve estimates). Reserve
adjustments are reflected in the Consolidated Statements
of Income as adjustments to losses and loss adjustment
expenses. Often, we recognize these adjustments in peri-
ods subsequent to the period in which the underlying
loss event occurred. These types of subsequent adjust-
ments are disclosed and discussed separately as “prior
year reserve development”. Such development can be
either favorable or unfavorable to our financial results.
As discussed in “Segment Results – Property and
Casualty, Management’s Review of Judgments and Key
Assumptions”, estimated loss and LAE reserves for
claims occurring in prior years developed favorably
(unfavorably) by $79.5 million, $14.5 million, and $(40.4)
million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively, which represents 2.30%, 0.47% and
1.34% of loss reserves held, respectively. See also
“Analysis of Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses
Reserve Development” in Item 1 – Business on pages 11
and 12 of this Form 10-K, for guidance related to the
annual development of our loss and LAE reserves.

The major causes of material uncertainty relating to
ultimate losses and loss adjustment expenses (“risk fac-
tors”) generally vary for each line of business, as well as
for each separately analyzed component of the line of
business. In some cases, such risk factors are explicit
assumptions of the estimation method and in others,
they are implicit. For example, a method may explicitly
assume that a certain percentage of claims will close each
year, but will implicitly assume that the legal interpreta-
tion of existing contract language will remain
unchanged. Actual results will likely vary from expecta-
tions for each of these assumptions, resulting in an ulti-
mate claim liability that is different from that being
estimated currently. Some risk factors will affect more

than one line of business. Examples include changes in
claim department practices, changes in settlement pat-
terns, regulatory and legislative actions, court actions,
timeliness of claim reporting, state mix of claimants, and
degree of claimant fraud. The extent of the impact of a
risk factor will also vary by components within a line of
business. Individual risk factors are also subject to inter-
actions with other risk factors within line of business
components. Thus, risk factors can have offsetting or
compounding effects on required reserves. 

Our loss estimate for Hurricane Katrina was devel-
oped using an analysis of the claims reported to date and
estimated values of properties in the affected areas.
Wind-speed data, flood maps and intelligence provided
by on-the-ground staff and independent adjusters were
used to project anticipated claims and damage projec-
tions. Anticipated costs for demand surge (increased
costs for construction material and labor due to the
increased damage resulting from the hurricane) were
also included in the estimate. However, estimating loss-
es following a major catastrophe is an inherently uncer-
tain process, which is made more difficult by the
unprecedented nature of this event, including the legal
and regulatory uncertainty, difficulty in accessing por-
tions of the affected areas, the complexity of factors con-
tributing to the losses, delays in claim reporting,
aggravating circumstances of Hurricane Rita and a slow-
er pace of recovery resulting from the extent of damage
sustained in the affected areas. As a result, there can be
no assurance that our ultimate costs associated with this
event will not substantially exceed these estimates.

Property & Casualty Reinsurance Recoverables
We share a significant amount of insurance risk of the
primary underlying contracts with various insurance
entities through the use of reinsurance contracts. As a
result, when we experience loss events that are subject to
the reinsurance contract, reinsurance recoveries are
recorded. The amount of the reinsurance recoverable can
vary based on the size of the individual loss or the aggre-
gate amount of all losses in a particular line, book of
business or an aggregate amount associated with a par-
ticular accident year. The valuation of losses recoverable
depends on whether the underlying loss is a reported
loss, or an incurred but not reported loss. For reported
losses, we value reinsurance recoverables at the time the
underlying loss is recognized, in accordance with con-
tract terms. For incurred but not reported losses, we esti-
mate the amount of reinsurance recoverable based on the
terms of the reinsurance contracts and historical reinsur-
ance recovery information and apply that information to
the gross loss reserve estimates. The most significant
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assumption we use is the average size of the individual
losses for those claims that have occurred but have not
yet been recorded by us. The reinsurance recoverable is
based on what we believe are reasonable estimates and is
disclosed separately on the financial statements.
However, the ultimate amount of the reinsurance recov-
erable is not known until all losses are settled.

Pension Benefit Obligations
Prior to 2005, we provided pension retirement benefits to
substantially all of our employees based on a defined
benefit cash balance formula. In addition to the cash bal-
ance allocation, certain transition group employees, who
had met specified age and service requirements as of
December 31, 1994, were eligible for a grandfathered
benefit based primarily on the employees’ years of serv-
ice and compensation during their highest five consecu-
tive plan years of employment. As of January 1, 2005, the
defined benefit pension plans were frozen.

We account for our pension plans in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 87,
Employers’ Accounting for Pensions (“Statement No. 87”).
In order to measure the liabilities and expense associated
with these plans, we must make various estimates and
key assumptions, including discount rates used to value
liabilities, assumed rates of return on plan assets,
employee turnover rates and anticipated mortality rates.
These estimates and assumptions are reviewed at least
annually and are based on our historical experience, as
well as current facts and circumstances. In addition, we
use outside actuaries to assist in measuring the expenses
and liabilities associated with this plan.

The discount rate enables us to state expected future
cash flows as a present value on the measurement date.
A lower discount rate increases the present value of ben-
efit obligations and increases pension expense. We deter-
mine our discount rate utilizing the Citigroup Pension
Discount Curve as of December 31, 2005. As of December
31, 2005, based upon our plan assets in relation to this
discount curve, we decreased our discount rate to 5.50%,
from 5.63% at December 31, 2004. 

To determine the expected long-term return on plan
assets, we consider the historical mean returns by asset
class for passive indexed strategies, as well as current
and expected asset allocations and adjust for certain fac-
tors that we believe will have an impact on future
returns. As of December 31, 2005, the expected rate of
return on plan assets was 8.25% compared to 8.50% at
December 31, 2004. Increases in actual returns on plan
assets will generally reduce our additional minimum
pension liability.

As a result of an increase in the actual return on assets
in 2005, as well as demographic participant changes, par-
tially offset by the lower 2005 year-end discount rate, we
expect our pre-tax pension expense to decrease from
$21.2 million in 2005 to approximately $13 million in
2006. 

Holding all other assumptions constant, sensitivity to
changes in our key assumptions are as follows:

Discount Rate – A 25 basis point increase or reduction
in discount rate would decrease or increase, respectively
our pension expense in 2006 by approximately $2.5 mil-
lion. This 25 basis point increase or reduction in the dis-
count rate would also decrease or increase, respectively,
our projected benefit obligation by approximately $16
million.

Expected Return on Plan Assets – A 25 basis point
increase or decrease in the expected return on plan assets
would decrease or increase our pension expense in 2006
by approximately $1.0 million.

Significant Transaction

On December 30, 2005, we sold all of the outstanding
shares of capital stock of AFLIAC, a life insurance sub-
sidiary representing approximately 95% of our run-off
variable life insurance and annuity business, to Goldman
Sachs. The transaction also includes the reinsurance of
100% of the variable business of FAFLIC. In connection
with these transactions, AIT agreed to transfer certain
assets and liabilities of its funds to certain Goldman
Sachs Variable Insurance Trust managed funds through a
fund reorganization transaction. Finally, we agreed to
sell to Goldman Sachs all of the outstanding shares of
capital stock of AFIMS, our investment advisory sub-
sidiary, concurrently with the consummation of the fund
reorganization transaction. The fund reorganization
transaction was consummated on January 9, 2006. In
connection with the sale, the Massachusetts Division of
Insurance approved both a cash dividend of $48.6 mil-
lion from FAFLIC, including the $8.6 million ceding com-
mission received related to the 100% reinsurance of
FAFLIC’s variable business, and the distribution of other
non-insurance subsidiaries, from which the holding
company received approximately $15.4 million of addi-
tional funds.

Total proceeds from the sale were $318.8 million, com-
prised of $284.0 million from the sale of AFLIAC, pro-
ceeds from the sale of AFIMS of $26.2 million and
proceeds from the ceding commission related to the rein-
surance of the FAFLIC variable business of $8.6 million.
Included in the proceeds from the sale of AFLIAC is
$46.7 million of proceeds expected to be deferred and



Our policy is performance.TM

55

tions of AFLIAC, and the reinsured FAFLIC business,
can be transferred to Goldman Sachs. This transition
period is currently expected to extend into the fourth
quarter of 2006.

Statutory Capital of Insurance Subsidiaries
The NAIC prescribes an annual calculation regarding
risk based capital (“RBC”). RBC ratios for regulatory
purposes, as described in the glossary, are expressed as a
percentage of the capital required to be above the
Authorized Control Level (the “Regulatory Scale”); how-
ever, in the insurance industry RBC ratios are widely
expressed as a percentage of the Company Action Level
(without regard to the application of the negative trend
test). Set forth below are Total Adjusted Capital, the
Company Action Level, the Authorized Control Level
and RBC ratios for FAFLIC and Hanover, as of December
31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, expressed both on the
Industry Scale (Total Adjusted Capital divided by the
Company Action Level) and Regulatory Scale (Total
Adjusted Capital divided by Authorized Control Level):

paid over a three year period, with 50% being received in
the first year and 25% in each of the following two years.
The actual purchase price paid by Goldman Sachs was
determined based on the actual total adjusted statutory
capital level of AFLIAC at December 30, 2005. For the
year ended December 31, 2005, we recorded a loss from
this transaction of $444.4 million. (See Life Companies –
Discontinued Operations on page 41 of this Form 10-K
for further information regarding the components of this
loss).

In connection with these transactions, we have made
various representations, warranties and covenants to
Goldman Sachs. We have agreed to indemnify Goldman
Sachs for breaches of such representations, warranties
and covenants. We have also agreed to indemnify
Goldman Sachs for certain litigation, regulatory matters
and other liabilities relating to the pre-closing activities of
the business being transferred.

In connection with these transactions, we will provide
transition services until the earlier of eighteen months
from the December 30, 2005 closing or when the opera-

2005

(In millions, except ratios)

Total Adjusted Company Authorized RBC Ratio RBC Ratio
Capital Action Level Control Level Industry Scale Regulatory Scale

Hanover (1) $ 1,204.6 $ 450.3 $ 225.1 268% 535%
FAFLIC (2) 195.2 46.1 23.1 410% 817%

(1) Hanover’s Total Adjusted Capital includes $733.0 million related to its subsidiary, Citizens. 

(2) FAFLIC’s Total Adjusted Capital is reported net of the $48.6 million dividend declared to the holding company in December 2005.

2004

(In millions, except ratios)

Total Adjusted Company Authorized RBC Ratio RBC Ratio
Capital Action Level Control Level Industry Scale Regulatory Scale

Hanover (1) $ 1,098.8 $ 434.7 $ 217.4 253% 506%
FAFLIC 207.7 61.3 30.6 339% 679%

(1) Hanover’s Total Adjusted Capital includes $609.7 million related to its subsidiary, Citizens.
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The total adjusted statutory capital position of
FAFLIC declined during 2005, from $207.7 million at
December 31, 2004 to $188.8 million at December 31,
2005. The decrease in statutory surplus primarily result-
ed from the declared dividend of $48.6 million to the
holding company in December 2005, partially offset by
payments from Hanover or Citizens to FAFLIC for the
utilization of FAFLIC’s net operating loss carryforwards
and other tax attributes. Due to the sale of AFLIAC on
December 30, 2005, its total adjusted statutory capital
position is not included above. 

The improvement of FAFLIC’s RBC ratios reflect
lower required risk-based capital primarily due to lower
asset and statutory reserve levels as a result of coinsur-
ance and continued business run-off. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity is a measure of our ability to generate sufficient
cash flows to meet the cash requirements of business
operations. As a holding company, our primary ongoing
source of cash is dividends from our insurance sub-
sidiaries. However, dividend payments to us by our
insurance subsidiaries are subject to limitations imposed
by state regulators, such as the requirement that cash
dividends be paid out of unreserved and unrestricted
earned surplus. As a result of this limitation, no divi-
dends may be paid from FAFLIC without the consent of
the Massachusetts Commissioner of Insurance. Also, the
payment of “extraordinary” dividends, as defined, from
any of our insurance subsidiaries is restricted. In addi-
tion, we entered into an agreement with the
Massachusetts Commissioner of Insurance, upon the
sale of our variable life insurance and annuity business,
whereby we agree to maintain FAFLIC’s RBC ratio at a
minimum of 100% of the Company Action Level (on the
Industry Scale).

During 2005, we received no dividends from our
property and casualty businesses. Approximately $120.5
million is currently available to dividend from our prop-
erty and casualty companies without prior approval
from the Insurance Commissioners in the states of domi-
cile. In connection with the sale of the variable life insur-
ance and annuity business to Goldman Sachs, the
Massachusetts Division of Insurance approved both a
cash dividend from FAFLIC of $48.6 million, including
the $8.6 million ceding commission related to the rein-
surance of 100% of FAFLIC’s variable life insurance and
annuity business, and the distribution of other non-
insurance subsidiaries, from which the holding company
received an additional $15.4 million of funds. These div-
idends were paid to the holding company in 2006.

Our sources of cash for our insurance subsidiaries are
premiums and fees collected, investment income and
maturing investments. Primary cash outflows are paid
benefits, claims, losses and loss adjustment expenses,
policy acquisition expenses, other underwriting expens-
es and investment purchases. Cash outflows related to
benefits, claims, losses and loss adjustment expenses can
be variable because of uncertainties surrounding settle-
ment dates for liabilities for unpaid losses and because of
the potential for large losses either individually or in the
aggregate. We expect an increase in cash outflows during
2006 due to the expectation of an increase in claims pay-
ments resulting from Hurricane Katrina, as well as the
aforementioned share repurchase program. These out-
flows will be funded with existing cash and with pro-
ceeds from the sale of cash equivalents and fixed
maturities. We periodically adjust our investment policy
to respond to changes in short-term and long-term cash
requirements.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $153.1
million and $142.4 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively,
while net cash used by operating activities was $174.3
million in 2003. The $10.7 million increase in cash pro-
vided by operating activities in 2005 was primarily due
to lower net loss and LAE payments in our property and
casualty business, as well as to lower net payments from
the general account as a result of fewer annuity contract
surrenders, and our receipt in 2004 of a non-recurring
federal income tax settlement of $30.4 million. These
were partially offset by lower written premiums,
increased payments in 2005 for contingent commissions
related to 2004 business, and an increase in federal
income tax payments. The $316.7 million increase in cash
provided by operating activities in 2004 was primarily
due to lower net loss and LAE payments in the property
and casualty business. In addition, cash flows from oper-
ations improved in 2004 due to lower net payments from
the general account as a result of fewer annuity contract
redemptions in the Life Companies. The usage of cash
for operations during 2003 primarily reflects net pay-
ments from the general account as a result of increased
annuity contract withdrawals in our Life Companies
segment as a result of ratings downgrades and our ces-
sation of new sales. In addition, approximately $100 mil-
lion of cash was transferred, related to the settlement of
payables resulting from the sale of our universal life
insurance business. We also contributed $25 million to
our qualified pension plan in 2003. 

Net cash provided by investing activities was $811.5
million in 2005, $41.3 million in 2004 and $354.3 million
in 2003. The $770.2 million increase in cash provided by
investing activities in 2005 was primarily due to net sales
of fixed maturity securities, primarily resulting from the
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maturity of certain long-term funding agreements in our
Life Companies segment, as well as lower underwriting
results in our property and casualty group. In addition,
we received net proceeds from the sale of our variable
life insurance and annuity business in 2005. The $313.0
million decrease in cash provided by investing activities
in 2004, as compared to 2003, was primarily from net
purchases of fixed maturities and other investment
assets, resulting from improved underwriting results in
the Property and Casualty group. Additionally,
increased funding agreement withdrawals also con-
tributed to the decline in cash provided by investing
activities partially offset by lower general account annu-
ity redemptions in the Life Companies segment. Cash
provided by investing activities in 2003 also included
$64.9 million of proceeds from the disposal of our com-
pany owned life insurance policy. 

Net cash used in financing activities was $749.6 mil-
lion and $475.3 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively,
while net cash provided by financing activities was
$160.2 million in 2003. Cash used in both 2005 and 2004
was primarily due to the maturity of certain long-term
funding agreements in our Life Companies segment,
including trust instruments supported by funding obli-
gations and the reduction of cash held as collateral relat-
ed to our securities lending program. The cash provided
by financing activities in 2003 primarily reflects a net
increase in collateral held related to our securities lend-
ing program, partially offset by withdrawals of trust
instruments supported by funding obligations. 

During 2005, we sold AFLIAC, which held $11.0 bil-
lion of assets and $10.7 billion of liabilities at December
30, 2005. Assets transferred as a part of the sale included
investment assets of $1.3 billion and $123.2 million of
cash. Additionally, during 2003, we transferred approxi-
mately $450 million of investment assets and $100 mil-
lion of cash to settle payables related to the sale of our
universal life insurance business.

At December 31, 2005, THG, as a holding company,
had $333.7 million of cash and fixed maturities. As a
result of the sale of our variable life insurance and annu-
ity business, the holding company received $235.8 mil-
lion of net proceeds on December 30, 2005 upon the
closing of the transaction. In the first quarter of 2006, the
holding Company expects additional net cash related to
the sale, as well as dividends proposed in connection
therewith as described above, totalling $77.1 million. An
additional $46.7 million of proceeds from Goldman
Sachs has been deferred and will be received over 
the next three years. Excluding the deferred proceeds
from Goldman Sachs, the total cash proceeds at the hold-
ing company of $312.9 million was comprised of the
following:

(In millions)

Total proceeds from Goldman Sachs $318.8
Dividend from FAFLIC 40.0
Dividend from non-insurance subsidiaries 15.4
Purchase price adjustment hedge losses (14.6)

359.6
Deferred portion of proceeds (46.7)

Net amount received or collectible at closing $312.9

In connection with the sale of the variable life insur-
ance and annuity business, THG will incur transaction
related costs, currently estimated at $10.5 million, as well
as provide guarantees to Goldman Sachs regarding legal
claims, reinsurance arrangements, the accuracy of cer-
tain representations and warranties and the compliance
with certain covenants, and other indemnification obli-
gations. The cost of these guarantees, as determined in
accordance with FIN 45, is currently estimated to be
approximately $13 million, after taxes.

On December 28, 2005, our Board of Directors author-
ized a share repurchase program of up to $200 million.
As of February 28, 2006, we have repurchased 1.4 million
shares at an aggregate cost of $62.3 million.

We believe our current holding company assets are
sufficient to meet our future obligations, which consist
primarily of interest on both our senior debentures and
our junior debentures, and to pay certain federal income
tax liabilities expected to become due in 2006. In 2005, we
paid an annual dividend of 25 cents per share to our
shareholders totaling $13.4 million. We believe that our
holding company assets are sufficient to provide for
future shareholder dividends should the Board of
Directors declare them. 

We expect to continue to generate sufficient positive
operating cash to meet all short-term and long-term cash
requirements, including the funding of our qualified
defined benefit pension plan. The combination of the
current interest rate environment reflecting lower yield-
ing fixed maturities and volatile stock market returns
have caused many U.S. pension plans, including ours, to
become underfunded. As a result, without pension fund-
ing relief currently being considered by Congress, we
expect to make significant cash contributions to our
qualified defined benefit pension plan in future years.
Based upon current law, we are required to contribute
$52.1 million in 2006. As the single employer of THG, the
funding of these plans is the responsibility of FAFLIC.
This contribution will not affect the statutory surplus of
FAFLIC.

Our insurance subsidiaries, including FAFLIC, main-
tain a high degree of liquidity within their respective
investment portfolios in fixed maturity investments,
common stock and short-term investments. In addition,
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we had no commercial paper borrowings as of December
31, 2005 and we do not anticipate utilizing commercial
paper in 2006. Debt ratings downgrades resulted in our
non-renewal of our credit line in 2003 and continue to
preclude or adversely affect the cost and availability of
credit lines, commercial paper, other additional debt and
equity financing.

Our financing obligations generally include repay-
ment of our senior debentures and junior subordinated
debentures, operating lease payments, trust instruments
supported by funding obligations and funding agree-
ments. The following table represents our annual pay-

ments related to the principal payments of these financ-
ing obligations as of December 31, 2005 and operating
lease payments reflect expected cash payments based
upon lease terms. In addition, we also have included
individual contract deposit funds related to the opera-
tions of our life insurance companies which provide for
contractual payments, our estimated payments related to
our policy and claim reserves, as well as our current
expectation of payments to be made to support the obli-
gations of our benefit plans. Actual payments may differ
from the contractual and/or estimated payments in the
table.

December 31, 2005

(In millions)

Maturity Maturity
less than Maturity Maturity in excess

1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years of 5 years Total

Long-term debt (1) $ — $ — $ — $ 508.8 $ 508.8
Trust instruments supported by funding obligations (2) 255.5 19.0 — 17.7 292.2
Funding agreements (2) 30.3 — — — 30.3
Individual contract deposit funds (3) 6.8 10.5 7.8 71.8 96.9
Operating lease commitments (4) 15.0 18.0 4.1 — 37.1
Qualified pension plan funding obligations (5) 52.1 62.4 21.8 — 136.3
Non-qualified pension plan benefit obligations (6) 7.7 16.3 16.4 40.5 80.9
Life-contingent contract  benefit obligations (7) (11) 48.8 96.2 95.7 1,048.9 1,289.6
Group annuity pension benefit obligations (8) 42.4 78.3 69.7 361.7 552.1
Certain group life and health insurance obligations (9) (11) 7.8 22.2 16.7 71.8 118.5
Loss and LAE obligations (10) 1,619.3 960.2 395.0 484.2 3,458.7

(1) Long-term debt includes our senior debentures due in 2025, which pay annual interest at a rate of 7 5/8%, and our junior subordinated debentures due in 2027, which pay
cumulative dividends at an annual rate of 8.207%.

(2) Trust instruments supported by funding obligations payments and funding agreement payments are reflected in the category representing their contractual maturity.

(3) Individual contract deposit funds are reflected in the category representing their contractual maturity.

(4) We have operating leases in FAFLIC, Hanover and Citizens.

(5) Qualified pension plan funding obligations represent the amounts necessary to be contributed to the plan to satisfy minimum funding obligations in accordance with the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. Beginning in 2006, substantial contributions will be required based on the current level of pension assets and liabilities.
These estimated payments are based on several assumptions, including but not limited to, the rate of return on plan assets, the discount rate for benefit obligations, mortality
experience, and interest crediting rates. Differences between actual plan experience and our assumptions will result in changes to our future minimum funding obligations.

(6) Non-qualified pension plan benefit obligations reflect estimated payments to be made through plan year 2015 for pension, postretirement and postemployment benefits.
Estimates of these payments and the payment patterns are based upon historical experience.

(7) Life-contingent contract benefits relate to traditional life insurance contracts and reflect the estimated cash payments to be made to policyholders in the future. The timing of
cash outflows related to these contracts is based on historical experience and our expectation of future payment patterns. Uncertainties relating to these estimates include
mortality assumptions, customer lapse and surrender activity, renewal premium and expense assumptions. Actual payments may differ from our estimates and could result
in a significantly different future payment pattern. The total contractual obligations exceeds the corresponding liability on the financial statements primarily because the
financial statement liability has been discounted for interest.

(8) Group annuity pension obligations reflect the estimated cash payments due to annuitants as a result of policies purchased from us by their employers. The timing of cash
outflows related to these contracts is based on historical experience and our expectation of future payment patterns. Mortality assumptions are the primary uncertainty in
estimating these obligations. The total contractual obligations exceeds the corresponding liability on the financial statements primarily because the financial statement
liability has been discounted for interest.

(9) During 1999, we exited our group life and health insurance business. Certain group life and health benefit obligations relate to this discontinued business and primarily
represent the run-off of accident and health assumed reinsurance pool obligations. The timing of cash outflows related to these contracts is based on historical experience and
information provided by the administrators of each pool. Uncertainties relating to these estimates include mortality assumptions, morbidity assumptions, medical inflation
costs and other factors. Actual payments may differ from our estimates and could result in a significantly different future payment pattern. The total contractual obligations
differ from the corresponding liability on the financial statements primarily because we have included reserves related to business that is reinsured with other insurance
companies and because the financial statement liability has been discounted for interest.

(10) Unlike many other forms of contractual obligations, loss and LAE reserves do not have definitive due dates and the ultimate payment dates are subject to a number of
variables and uncertainties. As a result, the total loss and LAE reserve payments to be made by period, as shown above, are estimates based principally on historical
experience.

(11) As of December 31, 2005, FAFLIC variable business reserves of $124.6 million, universal life insurance reserves of $1.0 million, individual health insurance reserves of $18.7
million, and certain group life and health insurance reserves of $176.0 million have been excluded because substantially all of these obligations are reinsured with other
insurance companies. The related contractual obligations and cash flows are borne by the reinsurers. 
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We currently do not have any material off-balance sheet
arrangements that are reasonably likely to have an effect
on our financial position, revenues, expenses, results of
operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital
resources. 

Contingencies and Regulatory Matters

Litigation and Certain Regulatory Matters
On July 24, 2002, an action captioned American National
Bank and Trust Company of Chicago, as Trustee f/b/o
Emerald Investments Limited Partnership, and Emerald
Investments Limited Partnership v. Allmerica Financial
Life Insurance and Annuity Company, was commenced
in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Illinois, Eastern Division. In 1999, plaintiffs
purchased two variable annuity contracts with initial
premiums aggregating $5 million. Plaintiffs, who AFLI-
AC subsequently identified as engaging in frequent
transfers of significant sums between sub-accounts that
in our opinion constituted “market timing”, were subject
to restrictions upon such trading that AFLIAC imposed
in December 2001. Plaintiffs allege that such restrictions
constituted a breach of the terms of the annuity con-
tracts. In December 2003, the court granted partial sum-
mary judgment to the plaintiffs, holding that at least
certain restrictions imposed on their trading activities
violated the terms of the annuity contracts. We filed a
motion for reconsideration and clarification of the
court’s partial summary judgment opinion, which was
denied on April 8, 2004.

On May 19, 2004, plaintiffs filed a Brief Statement of
Damages in which, without quantifying their damage
claim, they outlined a claim for (i) amounts totaling
$150,000 for surrender charges imposed on the partial
surrender by plaintiffs of the annuity contracts, (ii) loss
of trading profits they expected over the remaining term
of each annuity contract, and (iii) lost trading profits
resulting from AFLIAC’s alleged refusal to process five
specific transfers in 2002 because of trading restrictions
imposed on market timers. With respect to the lost prof-
its, plaintiffs claim that pursuant to their trading strategy
of transferring money from money market accounts to
international equity accounts and back again to money
market accounts, they have been able to consistently
obtain relatively risk free returns of between 35% to 40%
annually. Plaintiffs claim that they would have been able
to continue to maintain such returns on the account val-

ues of their annuity contracts over the remaining terms
of the annuity contracts (which are based in part on the
lives of the named annuitants). The aggregate account
value of plaintiffs’ annuities was approximately $12.8
million in December 2001.

We continue to vigorously defend this matter, and
regard plaintiffs claims for lost trading profits as being
speculative and, in any case, subject to an obligation to
mitigate damages. Further, in our view, these purported
lost profits would not have been earned because of vari-
ous actions taken by us, the investment management
industry and regulators, to deter or eliminate market
timing, including the implementation of “fair value”
pricing. 

The monetary damages sought by plaintiffs, if award-
ed, could have a material adverse effect on our financial
position. Although AFLIAC was sold to Goldman Sachs
on December 30, 2005, we have indemnified AFLIAC
and Goldman Sachs with respect to this litigation.
However, in our judgment, the outcome is not expected
to be material to our financial position, although it could
have a material effect on the results of operations for a
particular quarter or annual period. The trial date for the
damage phase of the litigation has not been set.

We have been named a defendant in various other
legal proceedings arising in the normal course of busi-
ness. This includes class actions and other litigation in
the southeast United States, particularly Louisiana and
Mississippi, relating to the scope of insurance coverage
under homeowners and commercial property policies of
losses due to flooding, civil authority actions, loss of
landscaping and business interruption.

In addition, we are involved, from time to time, in
investigations and proceedings by governmental and
self-regulatory agencies, which currently include investi-
gations relating to “market timing” in sub-accounts of
variable annuity and life products, and inquiries relating
to tax reporting calculations to policyholders and others
in connection with distributions under a subset of vari-
able annuity contracts in this business. 

The potential outcome of other litigation or regulato-
ry actions, or other legal proceedings in which we have
been named a defendant, and our ultimate liability, if
any, from such action or legal proceedings, is difficult to
predict at this time. In our opinion, based on the advice
of legal counsel, the ultimate resolutions of such pro-
ceedings will not have a material effect on our financial
position, although they could have a material effect on
the results of operations for a particular quarter or annu-
al period.
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Other Regulatory Matters
On October 10, 2005, the Governor of Michigan proposed
a comprehensive plan intended to reform personal auto-
mobile and homeowners insurance in the state. The
Governor’s proposal includes twenty specific initiatives,
including a 20% reduction in personal automobile and
homeowners’ premium rates, effective upon adoption of
the plan. Should the proposed reduction in premium
rates become effective, we believe it is likely to have a
material, adverse effect on our results of operations. 

The proposal also includes a provision which would
prohibit insurance companies from using an individual’s
credit history or credit score to determine insurance
rates. The Commissioner of Insurance in Michigan had
previously promulgated rules purporting to ban the use
of any form of credit scores in the underwriting or pric-
ing of personal lines products, but these rules were inval-
idated by the Circuit Court of Barry County, a ruling the
Commissioner has appealed. If the Circuit Court’s deci-
sion is overturned and the proposed ban becomes effec-
tive, it would likely have a disruptive impact on the
overall market as some consumers experience a decrease
in premium. The proposed ban could have an adverse
effect on our retention rates and new business volume, as
well as possibly lowering of overall premiums as actions
are taken to offset the anticipated lower retention rates
and new business volumes. 

Additionally, the Louisiana Insurance Commissioner
has enacted emergency rules suspending the authority of
insurance companies to cancel or nonrenew certain per-
sonal and commercial property insurance policies cover-
ing properties in Louisiana that had been damaged by
hurricanes Katrina and Rita. Specifically, our ability to
issue notices of cancellation and nonrenewal has been
suspended until 60 days after the substantial completion
of the repair or reconstruction of the dwelling, residen-
tial property or commercial property or until December
31, 2006, whichever occurs first. There can be no assur-
ance that we will not be adversely affected by such limi-
tations imposed by the state. 

In addition, the Louisiana FAIR Plan has experienced
substantial losses related to Hurricane Katrina. Under
the state’s Plan, we are allowed to recover our share of
such losses from policyholders, subject to annual limita-
tions. Although we have recognized an expense for our
estimated losses from the Louisiana FAIR Plan, given the

uncertainty in the marketplace in Louisiana, there can be
no assurance that our estimate of this liability will be suf-
ficient to cover our share of the FAIR Plan losses or
whether we will be able to recover such costs from poli-
cyholders. Also, the availability of private homeowners
insurance in the state is declining as carriers seek to exit
or significantly reduce their exposure in the state. This
may increase the number of insureds seeking coverage
from the FAIR Plan and could result in increased losses
to us through the FAIR Plan. 

In Massachusetts, as a condition to writing business,
we are required to participate in the Massachusetts
Commonwealth Automobile Reinsurers (“CAR”) pool.
Within CAR, Massachusetts also maintains an Exclusive
Representative Producer (“ERP”) program. An ERP is an
independent agency which cannot obtain a voluntary
insurance market for personal or commercial automobile
business from companies in the state. CAR assigns an
ERP agency to an individual insurance carrier (Servicing
Carrier), which is then required to write all personal or
commercial automobile business produced by that
agency. ERPs generally produce underwriting results
that are markedly poorer than our voluntarily appointed
agents, although results can vary significantly among
ERPs. Once an agency is assigned to an insurance carri-
er, it is difficult to terminate that relationship. This can
result in an inequitable distribution of losses, as meas-
ured by direct loss ratio, amongst all the insurance carri-
ers in the state. In September 2005, the Massachusetts
Commissioner of Insurance directed CAR to redistribute
the ERPs amongst the state’s insurance carriers, effective
during 2006. We expect this redistribution will at least
temporarily lead to a better equalization of the loss bur-
den from the ERPs and is not likely to adversely affect
our results of operations or financial position.

Finally, the Governor of Massachusetts has proposed
legislation intended to reform the Massachusetts auto-
mobile insurance system. Among other items, this pro-
posed legislation would give the Massachusetts
Commissioner of Insurance the authority to create an
assigned risk plan and allow for the gradual phase-in of
competitively set personal automobile rates. The
Governor’s reform proposal is currently being consid-
ered by the Legislature. We cannot determine how this
legislation, if passed, may affect our results of operations
or financial position.



Moody’s Ratings

End of Year Rating

December 2003 December 2004 December 2005 February 2006

Financial Strength Ratings
Property and Casualty Companies Baa2 Baa1 Baa1 Baa1

(Adequate) (Adequate) (Adequate) (Adequate)
with stable outlook with stable outlook with negative outlook with stable outlook

FAFLIC Ba1 Ba1 Ba1 Ba1
(Questionable) (Questionable) (Questionable) (Questionable)

with stable outlook with stable outlook with stable outlook with stable outlook

Debt Ratings
Senior Debt Ba3 Ba1 Ba1 Ba1

(Questionable) (Questionable) (Questionable) (Questionable)
with stable outlook with stable outlook with stable outlook with stable outlook

Capital Securities B2 Ba2 Ba2 Ba2
(Poor) (Questionable) (Questionable) (Questionable)

with stable outlook with stable outlook with stable outlook with stable outlook

Short-term Debt NP NP NP NP
(Not Prime) (Not Prime) (Not Prime) (Not Prime)
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Rating Agency Actions

Insurance companies are rated by rating agencies to pro-
vide both industry participants and insurance con-
sumers information on specific insurance companies.
Higher ratings generally indicate the rating agencies’
opinion regarding financial stability and a stronger abil-
ity to pay claims.

We believe that strong ratings are important factors in
marketing our products to our agents and customers,
since rating information is broadly disseminated and
generally used throughout the industry. Insurance com-
pany financial strength ratings are assigned to an insur-
er based upon factors deemed by the rating agencies to
be relevant to policyholders and are not directed toward
protection of investors. Such ratings are neither a rating
of securities nor a recommendation to buy, hold or sell
any security. 

The following tables provide information about our
ratings at December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 and recent
updates to these ratings.

Standard & Poor’s Ratings

End of Year Rating

December December December
2003 2004 2005

Financial Strength 
Ratings
Property and Casualty BBB+ BBB+ BBB+
Companies (Good) (Good) (Good)

with a stable with a stable with a stable 
outlook outlook outlook

FAFLIC B+ BB BBB-
(Weak) (Marginal) (Good)
with a with a with a

positive stable stable
outlook outlook outlook

Debt Ratings
Senior Debt BB- BB BB+

(Marginal) (Marginal) (Marginal)
with a with a with a 

positive stable stable
outlook outlook outlook

Capital Securities B- B B+
(Weak) (Weak) (Weak)
with a with a with a

positive stable stable
outlook outlook outlook
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A.M. Best’s Ratings

End of Year Rating

December December December
2003 2004 2005

Financial Strength 
Ratings
Property and
Casualty Companies B++ A- A-

(Very Good) Excellent) Excellent)
with stable with stable with stable

outlook outlook outlook

FAFLIC B- B+ B+
(Fair) (Very Good) (Very Good)

with stable with stable with stable
outlook outlook outlook

Debt Ratings
Senior Debt bb bb+ bbb-

(Speculative) (Speculative) (Adequate)
with stable with stable with stable

outlook outlook outlook

Capital Securities b+ bb- bb
(Very speculative) (Speculative) (Speculative)

with stable with stable with stable
outlook outlook outlook

Short-term Debt AMB-4 AMB-3 Not Rated
with stable with stable

outlook outlook

Our holding company’s current debt ratings, which
are below investment grade, are expected to adversely
affect our ability to obtain, or the cost and availability, of
credit lines, commercial paper and other debt and equity
financing.

Recent Developments

On December 28, 2005 our Board of Directors authorized
a stock repurchase program of up to $200 million of our
common stock. As of February 28, 2006, we have repur-
chased 1.4 million shares at an aggregate cost of approxi-
mately $62.3 million.

Risks and Forward-Looking Statements

We wish to caution readers that the following important
factors, among others, in some cases have affected and in
the future could affect our actual results and could cause
our actual results for 2006 and beyond to differ material-
ly from historical results and from those expressed in any
of our forward-looking statements. When used in
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, the words
“believes”, “anticipates”, “expects” and similar expres-
sions are intended to identify forward looking state-
ments. See “Important Factors Regarding Forward-

Looking Statements” filed as Exhibit 99-2 to our Annual
Report on Form 10K for the period ended December 31,
2005.

The following important factors, among others, in
some cases have affected and in the future could affect
our actual results, and cause actual results to differ mate-
rially from historical or projected results. While any of
these factors could affect our business as a whole, we
have grouped certain factors by the business segment to
which we believe they are most likely to apply. 

Risks Relating to Our Property and 
Casualty Insurance Business
We generate most of our total revenues and earnings
through our property and casualty insurance sub-
sidiaries. The results of companies in the property and
casualty insurance industry historically have been sub-
ject to significant fluctuations and uncertainties. Our
profitability could be affected significantly by (i) adverse
catastrophe experience, severe weather or other unantic-
ipated significant losses; (ii) adverse loss development or
loss adjustment expense for events we have insured in
either the current or in prior years, including risks indi-
rectly insured through discontinued pools which are
included in the Other Property and Casualty segment
(our retained Life Companies business also includes dis-
continued pools which present similar risks); (iii) an
inability to retain profitable policies in force and attract
profitable policies in our Personal Lines and Commercial
Lines segments; (iv) increases in costs, particularly those
occurring after the time our products are priced and
including construction, automobile, and medical and
rehabilitation costs; (v) restrictions on insurance under-
writing; (vi) industry-wide change resulting from cur-
rent investigations and inquiries relating to compensation
arrangements with insurance brokers and agents; and
(vii) disruptions caused by the introduction of new per-
sonal lines products, such as our new multi-variate auto
product, and related technology changes and new per-
sonal and commercial lines operating models.

Specifically, underwriting results and segment income
could be adversely affected by changes in our net loss
and LAE estimates related to hurricanes Katrina and
Rita. The risks and uncertainties in our business that may
affect such estimates and future performance, including
the difficulties in arriving at such estimates, should be
considered. Estimating losses following any major catas-
trophe is an inherently uncertain process, which is made
more difficult by the unprecedented nature of this event.
Factors that add to the complexity in this event include
the legal and regulatory uncertainty, difficulty in access-
ing portions of the affected areas, the complexity of fac-
tors contributing to the losses, delays in claim reporting,
the exacerbating circumstances of Hurricane Rita and a
slower pace of recovery resulting from the extent of dam-
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age sustained in the affected areas. As a result, there can
be no assurance that our ultimate costs associated with
this event will not be substantially different from these
estimates. In addition, there can be no assurance that, in
light of the devastation in the areas affected by
Hurricane Katrina, our ability to obtain and retain poli-
cyholders will not be adversely affected. 

Hurricane Katrina has also caused uncertainty regard-
ing the reinsurance marketplace, which also will experi-
ence significant losses related to this catastrophe. There
can be no assurance that we will not be adversely affect-
ed by changes in the reinsurance marketplace, including
the cost of and ability to obtain reinsurance coverages
similar to our current programs.

Additionally, future operating results as compared to
prior years and forward-looking information regarding
Personal Lines and Commercial Lines segment informa-
tion on written and earned premiums, policies in force,
underwriting results and segment income currently are
expected to be adversely affected by competitive and
regulatory pressures affecting rates. In addition, under-
writing results and segment income could be adversely
affected by changes in the current favorable frequency
and loss trends generally being experienced industry-
wide. Results in personal lines business may also be
adversely affected by pricing decreases and market dis-
ruptions (including any caused by the Governor of
Michigan’s proposals to reduce rates or the Michigan
Commissioner of Insurance’s proposed ban on the use of
credit scores), by unfavorable loss trends that may result
in New Jersey due to that state’s recent supreme court
ruling relating to the no-fault tort threshold, and by dis-
ruptions caused by judicial and potential legislative
intervention related to new rules adopted by the
Massachusetts Commissioner of Insurance to reform the
distribution of losses from the Massachusetts personal
automobile residual market, as well as the 2006 reduc-
tion in personal automobile rates and the possibility of
future rate reductions. Also, our personal lines business
production and earnings may be unfavorably affected by
the introduction of our new multivariate auto product
should we experience adverse selection because of our
pricing, operational difficulties or implementation
impediments with independent agents. In addition,
there are increased underwriting risks associated with
premium growth and the introduction of new products
or programs, the appointment of new agencies and the
expansion into new geographical areas.

Risks Relating to Our Life Companies
Our businesses may be affected by (i) lower appreciation
or decline in value of our managed investments or the
investment markets in general; (ii) adverse trends in
mortality and morbidity; (iii) possible claims relating to
sales practices for insurance and investment products or

our historical administration of such products; (iv) loss-
es due to foreign currency fluctuations; (v) adverse loss
and expense development related to our discontinued
assumed accident and health reinsurance pool business
or failures of our reinsurers to timely pay their obliga-
tions (especially in light of the fact that historically these
pools sometimes involved multiple layers of overlap-
ping reinsurers, or so called “spirals”); and (vi) adverse
actions related to legal and regulatory actions described
under “Contingencies”. 

In particular, we have provided forward looking
information relating to the sale of our variable life insur-
ance and annuity business and its effect on our results of
operations and financial position. There are certain fac-
tors that could cause actual results to differ materially
from those anticipated herein. These include (i) the abil-
ity to timely achieve overhead and other expense sav-
ings; (ii) the ability of THG and FAFLIC to perform the
transitional services in connection with the transactions
without incurring unexpected expenses and the comple-
tion of the transitional services within the projected time
so that we can realize projected cost savings; (iii) the
impact of contingent liabilities, including litigation and
regulatory matters, assumed by THG in connection with
the transaction and the impact of other indemnification
obligations owed from THG to Goldman Sachs; (iv) the
ability to outsource the administration of the retained
FAFLIC businesses at projected rates; and (v) future
statutory operating results of FAFLIC, which will affect
its projected statutory adjusted capital and ability to
obtain future regulatory approval for dividends.

Risks Relating to Our Business Generally 
Other market fluctuations and general economic, market
and political conditions also may negatively affect our
business and profitability. These conditions include (i)
heightened competition, including the intensification of
price competition, the entry of new competitors and the
introduction of new products by new and existing com-
petitors, or as the result of consolidation within the
financial services industry and the entry of additional
financial institutions into the insurance industry; (ii)
adverse state and federal legislation or regulation,
including decreases in rates, the inability to obtain fur-
ther rate increases, limitations on premium levels,
increases in minimum capital and reserve requirements,
benefit mandates, limitations on the ability to manage
care and utilization, requirements to write certain classes
of business, limitations on the use of credit scoring, such
as the recent proposal to ban the use of credit scores with
respect to personal lines in Michigan, restrictions on the
use of certain compensation arrangements with agents
and brokers, as well as continued compliance with state
and federal regulations; (iii) changes in interest rates
causing a reduction of investment income or in the mar-
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ket value of interest rate sensitive investments; (iv) fail-
ure to obtain new customers, retain existing customers or
reductions in policies in force by existing customers; (v)
higher service, administrative or general expense due to
the need for additional advertising, marketing, adminis-
trative or management information systems expendi-
tures; (vi) the inability to attract, or the loss or retirement
of key executives or other key employees, particularly in
the Life Companies segment through completion of the
anticipated transition to Goldman Sachs; (vii) changes in
our liquidity due to changes in asset and liability match-
ing, including the effect of defaults of debt securities;
(viii) adverse changes in the ratings obtained from inde-
pendent rating agencies, such as Moody’s, Standard and
Poor’s and A.M. Best (for example, written premiums in
our Commercial Lines segment were adversely affected
during the time that A.M. Best had Hanover Insurance
and Citizens on “credit watch” shortly after hurricanes
Katrina and Rita and before we provided our prelimi-
nary estimate of projected losses); (ix) failure of a rein-
surer of our policies to pay its liabilities under
reinsurance or coinsurance contracts or adverse effects
on the cost and availability of reinsurance; (x) changes in
the mix of assets comprising our investment portfolios
and changes in general market conditions that may
cause the market value of our investment portfolio to
fluctuate; (xi) losses resulting from our participation in
certain reinsurance pools, including pools in which we
no longer participate but may have unquantified poten-
tial liabilities relating to asbestos and other matters, or
from fronting arrangements where the reinsurer does not
meet all of its reinsurance obligations; (xii) defaults or
impairments of debt securities held by us; (xiii) higher
employee benefit costs due to changes in market values
of plan assets, interest rates and employee compensation
levels; (xiv) the effects of our restructuring actions,
including any resulting from our review of operational
matters related to our business, including a review of our
markets, products, organization, financial capabilities,
agency management, regulatory environment, ancillary
businesses and service processes; (xv) errors or omis-
sions in connection with the administration of any of our
products; and (xvi) interruptions in our ability to con-
duct business as a result of terrorist actions, catastrophes
or other significant events affecting infrastructure, and
delays in recovery of our operating capabilities.

In addition, except where required or permitted by
applicable accounting principles, components of our
Consolidated Balance Sheets are not marked to market
or otherwise intended to reflect our estimates of the fair
market or disposition value of such assets or liabilities or
the related businesses. The recorded value of certain
assets, such as deferred acquisition costs, deferred feder-
al income taxes and goodwill, and certain liabilities

reflect the application of our assumptions to generally
accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, in the event
of a disposition of all or a portion of any such assets, lia-
bilities or related businesses, the value obtainable in such
a transaction may differ materially from the value
reflected in our consolidated financial statements, which
would in turn have a material impact on Shareholders’
Equity and book value per share.

Glossary of Selected Insurance Terms

Annuity contracts – An annuity contract is an arrange-
ment whereby an annuitant is guaranteed to receive a
series of stipulated amounts commencing either imme-
diately or at some future date. Annuity contracts can be
issued to individuals or to groups.

Benefit payments – Payments made to an insured or
their beneficiary in accordance with the terms of an
insurance policy.

Casualty insurance – Insurance that is primarily con-
cerned with the losses caused by injuries to third persons
and their property (other than the policyholder) and the
related legal liability of the insured for such losses.

Catastrophe – A single event that causes our property
and casualty companies both a significant number of
claims (175 or more) and $500,000 or more in insured
property damage losses.

Cede; cedent; ceding company – When a party reinsures
its liability with another, it “cedes” business and is
referred to as the “cedent” or “ceding company”.

Closed Block – Consists of certain individual life insur-
ance participating policies, individual deferred annuity
contracts and supplementary contracts not involving life
contingencies which were in force as of FAFLIC’s demu-
tualization in 1995. The purpose of this block of business
is to protect the policy dividend expectations of such
FAFLIC dividend paying policies and contracts. The
Closed Block will be in effect until none of the Closed
Block policies are in force, unless an earlier date is agreed
to by the Massachusetts Commissioner of Insurance.

Combined ratio, GAAP – This ratio is the GAAP equiva-
lent of the statutory ratio that is widely used as a bench-
mark for determining an insurer’s underwriting
performance. A ratio below 100% generally indicates
profitable underwriting prior to the consideration of
investment income. A combined ratio over 100% gener-
ally indicates unprofitable underwriting prior to the con-
sideration of investment income. The combined ratio is
the sum of the loss ratio, the loss adjustment expense
ratio and the underwriting expense ratio.
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Dividends received deduction – A corporation is entitled
to a special tax deduction from gross income for divi-
dends received from a domestic corporation that is sub-
ject to income tax.

Earned premium – The portion of a premium that is rec-
ognized as income, or earned, based on the expired por-
tion of the policy period, that is, the period for which loss
coverage has actually been provided. For example, after
six months, $50 of a $100 annual premium is considered
earned premium. The remaining $50 of annual premium
is unearned premium. Net earned premium is earned
premium net of reinsurance.

Excess of loss reinsurance – Reinsurance that indemni-
fies the insured against all or a specific portion of losses
under reinsured policies in excess of a specified dollar
amount or “retention”.

Exposure – A measure of the rating units or premium
basis of a risk; for example, an exposure of a number of
automobiles.

Frequency – The number of claims occurring during a
given coverage period.

Guaranteed Minimum Death Benefit (GMDB) – A con-
tract feature which provides annuity contractholders
with a guarantee that the benefit received at death will
be no less than a prescribed minimum amount. This min-
imum amount is based on either the net deposits paid
into the contract, the net deposits accumulated at a spec-
ified rate, the highest historical account value on a con-
tract anniversary, or more typically, the greatest of these
values.

Inland Marine Insurance - A type of coverage developed
for shipments that do not involve ocean transport. It cov-
ers articles in transit by all forms of land and air trans-
portation as well as bridges, tunnels and other means of
transportation and communication. Floater policies that
cover expensive personal items such as fine art and jew-
elry are included in this category.

Loss adjustment expenses (LAE) – Expenses incurred in
the adjusting, recording, and settlement of claims. These
expenses include both internal company expenses and
outside services. Examples of LAE include claims adjust-
ment services, adjuster salaries and fringe benefits, legal
fees and court costs, investigation fees and claims pro-
cessing fees.

Loss adjustment expense ratio, GAAP – The ratio of loss
adjustment expenses to earned premiums for a given
period. 

Loss costs – An amount of money paid for a property
and casualty claim.

Loss ratio, GAAP– The ratio of losses to premiums
earned for a given period.

Loss reserves – Liabilities established by insurers to
reflect the estimated cost of claims payments and the
related expenses that the insurer will ultimately be
required to pay in respect of insurance it has written.
Reserves are established for losses and for LAE.

Multivariate product – An insurance product, the pric-
ing for which is based upon the magnitude of, and cor-
relation between, multiple rating factors. In practical
application, the term refers to the foundational analytics
and methods applied to the product construct. 

Net premium rate increase – A measure of the estimated
earnings impact of increasing premium rates charged to
property and casualty policyholders. This measure
includes the estimated increase in revenue associated
with higher prices (premiums), including those caused
by price inflation and changes in exposure, partially off-
set by higher volume driven expenses and inflation of
loss costs. Volume driven expenses include policy acqui-
sition costs such as commissions paid to property and
casualty agents which are typically based on a percent-
age of premium dollars. 

Peril – A cause of loss.

Property insurance – Insurance that provides coverage
for tangible property in the event of loss, damage or loss
of use.

Rate – The pricing factor upon which the policyholder’s
premium is based.

Rate increase (commercial lines) – Represents the aver-
age change in premium on renewal policies caused by
the estimated net effect of base rate changes, discretion-
ary pricing, inflation or changes in policy level exposure.

Rate increase (personal lines) – The estimated cumula-
tive premium effect of approved rate actions during the
prior policy period applied to a policy’s renewal
premium.

Reinstatement premium – A pro-rata reinsurance premi-
um that may be charged for reinstating the amount of
reinsurance coverage reduced as the result of a reinsur-
ance loss payment under a catastrophe cover. For exam-
ple, in 2005 this premium was required to ensure that our
property catastrophe occurrence treaty, which was
exhausted by Hurricane Katrina, was available again in
the event of another large catastrophe loss in 2005.

Reinsurance – An arrangement in which an insurance
company, the reinsurer, agrees to indemnify another
insurance or reinsurance company, the ceding company,
against all or a portion of the insurance or reinsurance
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risks underwritten by the ceding company under one or
more policies. Reinsurance can provide a ceding compa-
ny with several benefits, including a reduction in net lia-
bility on risks and catastrophe protection from large or
multiple losses. Reinsurance does not legally discharge
the primary insurer from its liability with respect to its
obligations to the insured.

Risk based capital (“RBC”) - A method of measuring the
minimum amount of capital appropriate for an insur-
ance company to support its overall business operations
in consideration of its size and risk profile. The RBC ratio
for regulatory purposes is calculated as total adjusted
capital divided by required risk based capital. Total
adjusted capital for property and casualty companies is
capital and surplus. Total adjusted capital for life insur-
ance companies is defined as capital and surplus, plus
asset valuation reserve, plus 50% of dividends appor-
tioned for payment. The Company Action Level is the
first level at which regulatory involvement is specified
based upon the level of capital. Regulators may take
action for reasons other than triggering various RBC
action levels. The various action levels are summarized
as follows:
• The Company Action Level, which equals 200% of the

Authorized Control Level, requires a company to pre-
pare and submit a RBC plan to the commissioner of
the state of domicile. A RBC plan proposes actions
which a company may take in order to bring statuto-
ry capital above the Company Action Level. After
review, the commissioner will notify the company if
the plan is satisfactory.

• The Regulatory Action Level, which equals 150% of
the Authorized Control Level, requires the insurer to
submit to the commissioner of the state of domicile an
RBC plan, or if applicable, a revised RBC plan. After
examination or analysis, the commissioner will issue
an order specifying corrective actions to be taken.

• The Authorized Control Level authorizes the com-
missioner of the state of domicile to take whatever
regulatory actions considered necessary to protect the
best interest of the policyholders and creditors of the
insurer.

• The Mandatory Control Level, which equals 70% of
the Authorized Control Level, authorizes the commis-
sioner of the state of domicile to take actions necessary
to place the company under regulatory control (i.e.,
rehabilitation or liquidation).

• Life and health companies whose Total Adjusted
Capital is between 200% and 250% of the Authorized
Control Level are subject to a trend test. The trend test
calculates the greater of the decrease in the margin
between the current year and the prior year and the
average of the past three years.

Separate accounts – An investment account that is main-
tained separately from an insurer’s general investment
portfolio and that allows the insurer to manage the funds
placed in variable life insurance policies and variable
annuity policies. Policyholders direct the investment of
policy funds among the different types of separate
accounts available from the insurer.

Severity – A monetary increase in the loss costs associat-
ed with the same or similar type of event or coverage.

Statutory accounting principles – Recording transac-
tions and preparing financial statements in accordance
with the rules and procedures prescribed or permitted
by insurance regulatory authorities including the
National Association of Insurance Commissioners
(“NAIC”), which in general reflect a liquidating, rather
than going concern, concept of accounting.

Surrender or withdrawal – Surrenders of life insurance
policies and annuity contracts for their entire net cash
surrender values and withdrawals of a portion of such
values.

Underwriting – The process of selecting risks for insur-
ance and determining in what amounts and on what
terms the insurance company will accept risks.

Underwriting expenses – Expenses incurred in connec-
tion with the acquisition, pricing, and administration of
a policy.

Underwriting expense ratio, GAAP – This ratio reflects
underwriting expenses to earned premiums.

Unearned premiums – The portion of a premium repre-
senting the unexpired amount of the contract term as of
a certain date.

Variable annuity – An annuity which includes a provi-
sion for benefit payments to vary according to the invest-
ment experience of the separate account in which the
amounts paid to provide for this annuity are allocated.

Written premium – The premium assessed for the entire
coverage period of a property and casualty policy with-
out regard to how much of the premium has been
earned. See also earned premium. Net written premium
is written premium net of reinsurance.

ITEM 7A — QUANTITATIVE AND
QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK 

Reference is made to “Market Risk and Risk Manage-
ment Policies” on pages 46 to 51 of Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations in this Form 10-K.
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ITEM 8 — FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements and
financial statement schedules based on our audits. We
conducted our audits of these statements in accordance
with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain rea-
sonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement. An audit of
financial statements includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement presenta-
tion. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

Internal control over financial reporting
Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, includ-
ed in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A, that the
Company maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 based on cri-
teria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO), is fairly stated, in all
material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore,
in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial report-
ing as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.:

We have completed integrated audits of The Hanover
Insurance Group, Inc.’s (formerly known as Allmerica
Financial Corporation) 2005 and 2004 consolidated
financial statements and of its internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, and an audit
of its 2003 consolidated financial statements in accor-
dance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opin-
ions on the Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.’s 2005, 2004
and 2003 consolidated financial statements and on its
internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2005, based on our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements and 
financial statement schedules
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements list-
ed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(1) present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries
at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2005 in con-
formity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion,
the financial statement schedules listed in the index
appearing under Item 15 (a)(2) present fairly, in all mate-
rial respects, the information set forth therein when read
in conjunction with the related consolidated financial
statements. These financial statements and financial
statement schedules are the responsibility of the
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in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the
COSO. The Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting. Our responsi-
bility is to express opinions on management’s assess-
ment and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We
conducted our audit of internal control over financial
reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal
control over financial reporting includes obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial report-
ing, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control, and performing such other procedures
as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting
is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting princi-
ples. A company’s internal control over financial report-

ing includes those policies and procedures that (i) per-
tain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting princi-
ples, and that receipts and expenditures of the company
are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company; and (iii)
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or dis-
position of the company’s assets that could have a mate-
rial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control
over financial reporting may not prevent or detect mis-
statements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effec-
tiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Boston, MA
March 16, 2006
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Consolidated Statements of Income

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions, except per share data)

Revenues
Premiums $ 2,198.2 $ 2,288.6 $2,282.3
Fees and other income 80.9 83.1 169.2
Net investment income 321.4 329.3 363.9
Net realized investment gains 23.8 16.1 15.1

Total revenues 2,624.3 2,717.1 2,830.5

Benefits, losses and expenses
Policy benefits, claims, losses and loss adjustment expenses 1,703.1 1,646.7 1,783.2
Policy acquisition expenses 465.2 477.0 467.7
Restructuring costs 2.1 8.5 28.7
Other operating expenses 382.6 440.4 490.7

Total benefits, losses and expenses 2,553.0 2,572.6 2,770.3
Income before federal income taxes 71.3 144.5 60.2
Federal income tax (benefit) expense

Current (6.8) 39.2 4.1
Deferred 1.6 (40.0) (0.2)

Total federal income tax (benefit) expense (5.2) (0.8) 3.9
Income from continuing operations 76.5 145.3 56.3
Discontinued operations (See Note 2):

Income from operations of discontinued business (less applicable
income tax (benefit) expense of $(8.3), $5.0 and $(11.3)) 42.7 37.2 30.6

Loss on disposal of variable life insurance and annuity business (444.4) — —
(Loss) income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (325.2) 182.5 86.9
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — (57.2) —
Net (loss) income $ (325.2) $ 125.3 $ 86.9

Earnings per common share: 
Basic:

Income from continuing operations $ 1.43 $ 2.73 $ 1.06
Discontinued operations:

Income from operations of discontinued business (less applicable 
income tax (benefit) expense of $(0.16), $0.09 and $(0.21)) 0.80 0.70 0.58

Loss on disposal of variable life insurance and annuity business (8.31) — —
(Loss) income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (6.08) 3.43 1.64
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — (1.07) —
Net (loss) income per share $ (6.08) $ 2.36 $ 1.64
Weighted average shares outstanding 53.5 53.2 52.9

Diluted:
Income from continuing operations $ 1.42 $ 2.71 $ 1.06
Discontinued operations:

Income from operations of discontinued business (less applicable 
income tax (benefit) expense of $(0.15), $0.09 and $(0.21)) 0.79 0.69 0.57

Loss on disposal of variable life insurance and annuity business (8.23) — —
(Loss) income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (6.02) 3.40 1.63
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — (1.06) —
Net (loss) income per share $ (6.02) $ 2.34 $ 1.63
Weighted average shares outstanding 54.0 53.7 53.2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31 2005 2004

(In millions, except per share data)

Assets
Investments:

Fixed maturities at fair value (amortized cost of $5,685.9 and $7,553.4) $ 5,708.2 $ 7,822.2
Equity securities at fair value (cost of $13.0 and $13.7) 18.0 17.0
Mortgage loans 99.6 114.8
Policy loans 139.9 256.4
Other long-term investments 42.6 55.3

Total investments 6,008.3 8,265.7
Cash and cash equivalents 701.5 486.5
Accrued investment income 76.5 118.2
Premiums, accounts and notes receivable, net 493.2 485.4
Reinsurance receivable on paid and unpaid losses, benefits and unearned premiums 1,617.3 2,117.3
Deferred policy acquisition costs 209.0 905.5
Deferred federal income taxes 465.3 415.1
Goodwill 128.2 128.2
Other assets 362.8 433.2
Separate account assets 571.9 10,455.0

Total assets $10,634.0 $ 23,810.1

Liabilities
Policy liabilities and accruals:

Future policy benefits $ 1,336.1 $ 3,553.2
Outstanding claims, losses and loss adjustment expenses 3,551.6 3,179.0
Unearned premiums 1,011.3 1,029.8
Contractholder deposit funds and other policy liabilities 254.7 379.5
Total policy liabilities and accruals 6,153.7 8,141.5

Expenses and taxes payable 1,062.0 1,152.8
Reinsurance premiums payable 92.0 86.5
Trust instruments supported by funding obligations 294.3 1,126.0
Long-term debt 508.8 508.8
Separate account liabilities 571.9 10,455.0

Total liabilities 8,682.7 21,470.6
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 17 and 21)

Shareholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 20.0 million shares authorized, none issued — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 300.0 million shares authorized, 60.5 million

and 60.4 million shares issued 0.6 0.6
Additional paid-in capital 1,785.1 1,782.1
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income (59.5) 3.0
Retained earnings 589.8 943.4
Treasury stock at cost (6.8 million and 7.2 million shares) (364.7) (389.6)

Total shareholders’ equity 1,951.3 2,339.5
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $10,634.0 $ 23,810.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Preferred Stock
Balance at beginning and end of year $ — $ — $ — 

Common Stock
Balance at beginning and end of year 0.6 0.6 0.6

Additional Paid-in Capital
Balance at beginning of year 1,782.1 1,775.6 1,768.4

Tax benefit from exercise of stock options and other 3.0 6.5 7.2
Balance at end of year 1,785.1 1,782.1 1,775.6

Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income 
Net Unrealized Appreciation on Investments and Derivative Instruments:
Balance at beginning of year 87.1 89.4 83.4
(Depreciation) appreciation during the period:

Net (depreciation) appreciation on available-for-sale securities 
and derivative instruments (118.7) (3.6) 9.2

Benefit (provision) for deferred federal income taxes 41.5 1.3 (3.2)
(77.2) (2.3) 6.0

Balance at end of year 9.9 87.1 89.4

Minimum Pension Liability:
Balance at beginning of year (84.1) (73.3) (120.8)
Decrease (increase) during period:

Decrease (increase) in minimum pension liability 22.6 (16.6) 73.1
(Provision) benefit for deferred federal income taxes (7.9) 5.8 (25.6)

14.7 (10.8) 47.5
Balance at end of year (69.4) (84.1) (73.3)
Total accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income (59.5) 3.0 16.1

Retained Earnings
Balance at beginning of year 943.4 833.1 746.2
Net (loss) income (325.2) 125.3 86.9
Dividends to shareholders (13.4) — —
Treasury stock issued for less than cost (15.0) (15.0) —
Balance at end of year 589.8 943.4 833.1

Treasury Stock
Balance at beginning of year (389.6) (405.2) (405.6)
Net shares reissued at cost under employee stock-based compensation plans 24.9 15.6 0.4
Balance at end of year (364.7) (389.6) (405.2)
Total shareholders’ equity $ 1,951.3 $ 2,339.5 $2,220.2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Net (loss) income $ (325.2) $ 125.3 $ 86.9

Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Available-for-sale securities:

Net (depreciation) appreciation during the period (195.0) (34.3) 16.4
Benefit (provision) for deferred federal income taxes 68.2 12.0 (5.7)

Total available-for-sale securities (126.8) (22.3) 10.7

Derivative instruments:
Net appreciation (depreciation) during the period 76.3 30.7 (7.2)
(Provision) benefit for deferred federal income taxes (26.7) (10.7) 2.5

Total derivative instruments 49.6 20.0 (4.7)
(77.2) (2.3) 6.0

Minimum pension liability:
Decrease (increase) in minimum pension liability 22.6 (16.6) 73.1
(Provision) benefit for deferred federal income taxes (7.9) 5.8 (25.6)

Total minimum pension liability 14.7 (10.8) 47.5
Other comprehensive (loss) income (62.5) (13.1) 53.5
Comprehensive (loss) income $ (387.7) $ 112.2 $ 140.4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net (loss) income $ (325.2) $ 125.3 $ 86.9
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash 

provided by (used in) operating activities:
Loss on disposal of variable life insurance and annuity business 444.4 — —
Net realized investment gains (30.6) (28.7) (24.1)
Losses on futures contracts 0.5 25.1 10.2
Losses (gains) on derivative instruments 0.3 (1.3) 6.9
Net amortization and depreciation 31.6 38.2 35.8
Interest credited to contractholder deposit funds and trust instruments 

supported by funding obligations 21.1 46.1 57.4
Deferred federal income taxes (1.8) 2.5 (2.0)
Change in deferred acquisition costs 139.8 137.9 126.9
Change in premiums and notes receivable, net of reinsurance payable (7.7) (84.6) 122.3
Change in accrued investment income 21.7 8.3 11.8
Change in policy liabilities and accruals, net 133.3 (279.7) (370.8)
Change in reinsurance receivable (304.6) 84.8 (35.4)
Change in expenses and taxes payable 24.7 17.8 (214.3)
Other, net 5.6 50.7 14.1
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 153.1 142.4 (174.3)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Proceeds from disposals and maturities of available-for-sale fixed maturities 2,426.2 1,725.7 2,468.9
Proceeds from disposals of equity securities 2.6 12.2 81.3
Proceeds from disposals of other investments 22.7 47.1 82.1
Proceeds from mortgages sold, matured or collected 15.8 60.6 85.7
Proceeds from collections of installment finance and notes receivable 321.0 319.6 320.4
Proceeds from sale of variable life insurance and annuity business, net 121.3 — —
Purchase of available-for-sale fixed maturities (1,734.4) (1,810.2) (2,432.8)
Purchase of equity securities (1.8) (2.7) (42.4)
Purchase of other investments (5.5) (9.0) (21.9)
Capital expenditures (8.3) (7.8) (5.4)
Net (payments) receipts related to margin deposits on derivative instruments (39.7) (4.9) 56.6
Disbursements to fund installment finance and notes receivable (308.4) (289.5) (303.2)
Proceeds from disposal of company owned life insurance — — 64.9
Other investing activities, net — 0.2 0.1

Net cash provided by investing activities 811.5 41.3 354.3

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Withdrawals from contractholder deposit funds (1.7) (183.4) (32.7)
Withdrawals from trust instruments supported by funding obligations (651.5) (182.7) (156.9)
Change in collateral related to securities lending program (91.6) (113.5) 349.5
Dividends paid to shareholders (13.4) — —
Exercise of options 8.6 4.3 0.3

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (749.6) (475.3) 160.2
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 215.0 (291.6) 340.2
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 486.5 778.1 437.9
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 701.5 $ 486.5 $ 778.1

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Interest payments $ 40.6 $ 40.6 $ 40.0
Income tax net payments (refunds) $ 17.2 $ (0.3) $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies

A. Basis of Presentation and Principles of
Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of The Hanover
Insurance Group, Inc. (“THG” or the “Company”), for-
merly known as Allmerica Financial Corporation,
include the accounts of The Hanover Insurance
Company (“Hanover Insurance”), Citizens Insurance
Company of America (“Citizens”), First Allmerica
Financial Life Insurance Company (“FAFLIC”), and cer-
tain other insurance and non-insurance subsidiaries.
These legal entities conduct their operations through
several business segments as discussed in Note 16. All
significant intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated. The Company’s results of operations
also include the accounts of Allmerica Financial Life
Insurance and Annuity Company (“AFLIAC”) through
December 30, 2005. As further described in Note 2 – Sale
of Variable Life Insurance and Annuity Business, on
December 30, 2005, the Company sold, as part of a stock
purchase agreement, its run-off variable life insurance
and annuity business. Results of operations of AFLIAC’s
variable life insurance and annuity business are reported
as a discontinued operation. Prior period results have
been restated to reflect this business as a discontinued
operation.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles requires
the Company to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported amount of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

B. Closed Block
FAFLIC established and began operating a closed block
(the “Closed Block”) for the benefit of the participating
policies included therein, consisting of certain individual
life insurance participating policies, individual deferred
annuity contracts and supplementary contracts not
involving life contingencies which were in force as of
FAFLIC’s demutualization on October 16, 1995; such
policies constitute the “Closed Block Business”. The pur-
pose of the Closed Block is to protect the policy dividend
expectations of such FAFLIC dividend paying policies
and contracts. Unless the Massachusetts Commissioner
of Insurance consents to an earlier termination, the
Closed Block will continue to be in effect until the date

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements

none of the Closed Block policies are in force. FAFLIC
allocated to the Closed Block assets in an amount that is
expected to produce cash flows which, together with
future revenues from the Closed Block Business, are rea-
sonably sufficient to support the Closed Block Business,
including provision for payment of policy benefits, cer-
tain future expenses and taxes and for continuation of
policyholder dividend scales payable in 1994 so long as
the experience underlying such dividend scales contin-
ues. The Company expects that the factors underlying
such experience will fluctuate in the future and policy-
holder dividend scales for Closed Block Business will be
set accordingly.

Although the assets and cash flow generated by the
Closed Block inure solely to the benefit of the holders of
policies included in the Closed Block, the excess of
Closed Block liabilities over Closed Block assets as meas-
ured on a GAAP basis represent the expected future
after-tax income from the Closed Block which may be
recognized in income over the period the policies and
contracts in the Closed Block remain in force.

If the actual income from the Closed Block in any
given period equals or exceeds the expected income for
such period as determined at the inception of the Closed
Block, the expected income would be recognized in
income for that period. Further, cumulative actual
Closed Block income in excess of the expected income
would not inure to the shareholders and would be
recorded as an additional liability for policyholder divi-
dend obligations. This accrual for future dividends effec-
tively limits the actual Closed Block income currently
recognized in the Company’s results to the income
expected to emerge from operation of the Closed Block
as determined at inception.

If, over the period the policies and contracts in the
Closed Block remain in force, the actual income from the
Closed Block is less than the expected income, only such
actual income (which could reflect a loss) would be rec-
ognized in income. If the actual income from the Closed
Block in any given period is less than the expected
income for that period and changes in dividend scales
are inadequate to offset the negative performance in rela-
tion to the expected performance, the income inuring to
shareholders of the Company will be reduced. If a poli-
cyholder dividend liability had been previously estab-
lished in the Closed Block because the actual income to
the relevant date had exceeded the expected income to
such date, such liability would be reduced by this reduc-
tion in income (but not below zero) in any period in
which the actual income for that period is less than the
expected income for such period.
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C. Valuation of Investments
In accordance with the provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, Accounting for
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities
(“Statement No. 115”), the Company is required to clas-
sify its investments into one of three categories: held-to-
maturity, available-for-sale or trading. The Company
determines the appropriate classification of debt securi-
ties at the time of purchase and re-evaluates such desig-
nation as of each balance sheet date.

Fixed maturities and equity securities are classified as
available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are car-
ried at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses,
net of taxes, reported in accumulated other comprehen-
sive income, a separate component of shareholders’
equity. The amortized cost of fixed maturities is adjusted
for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts
to maturity. Such amortization is included in net invest-
ment income. 

Mortgage loans on real estate are stated at unpaid
principal balances, net of unamortized discounts and
reserves. Reserves on mortgage loans are based on loss-
es expected by the Company to be realized on transfers
of mortgage loans to real estate (upon foreclosure), on
the disposition or settlement of mortgage loans and on
mortgage loans which the Company believes may not be
collectible in full. In establishing reserves, the Company
considers, among other things, the estimated fair value
of the underlying collateral.

Fixed maturities and mortgage loans that are delin-
quent are placed on non-accrual status, and thereafter
interest income is recognized only when cash payments
are received. 

Policy loans are carried principally at unpaid princi-
pal balances.

Realized investment gains and losses, other than those
related to separate accounts for which the Company
does not bear the investment risk and that meet the con-
ditions for separate account reporting under Statement
of Position 03-1, Accounting and Reporting by Insurance
Enterprises for Certain Nontraditional Long-Duration
Contracts and for Separate Accounts (“SOP 03-1”), are
reported as a component of revenues based upon specif-
ic identification of the investment assets sold. When an
other-than-temporary decline in value of a specific
investment is deemed to have occurred, the Company
reduces the cost basis of the investment to fair value.
This reduction is permanent and is recognized as a real-
ized investment loss. Changes in the reserves for
mortgage loans are included in realized investment
gains or losses. Realized investment gains and losses
related to separate accounts that meet the conditions for
separate account reporting under SOP 03-1 accrue to the
contractholder.

D. Financial Instruments
In the normal course of business, the Company enters
into transactions involving various types of financial
instruments, including debt, investments such as fixed
maturities, mortgage loans and equity securities, invest-
ment and loan commitments, swap contracts, option
contracts and futures contracts. These instruments
involve credit risk and are also subject to risk of loss due
to interest rate and foreign currency fluctuation. The
Company evaluates and monitors each financial instru-
ment individually and, when appropriate, obtains collat-
eral or other security to minimize losses.

E. Derivatives and Hedging Activities
All derivatives are recognized on the balance sheet at
their fair value. On the date the derivative contract is
entered into, the Company designates the derivative as
(1) a hedge of the fair value of a recognized asset or lia-
bility (“fair value” hedge); (2) a hedge of a forecasted
transaction or of the variability of cash flows to be
received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability
(“cash flow” hedge); (3) a foreign currency fair value or
cash flow hedge (“foreign currency” hedge); or (4) “held
for trading”. Changes in the fair value of a derivative
that is highly effective and that is designated and quali-
fies as a fair value hedge, along with the gain or loss on
the hedged asset or liability that is attributable to the
hedged risk, are recorded in current period earnings.
Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is highly
effective and that is designated and qualifies as a cash
flow hedge are recorded in other comprehensive income,
until earnings are affected by the variability of cash flows
(i.e., when periodic settlements on a variable-rate asset
or liability are recorded in earnings). Changes in the fair
value of derivatives that are highly effective and that are
designated and qualify as foreign currency hedges are
recorded in either current period earnings or other com-
prehensive income, depending on whether the hedge
transaction is a fair value hedge or a cash flow hedge.
Lastly, changes in the fair value of derivative trading
instruments are reported in current period earnings.

The Company may hold financial instruments that
contain “embedded” derivative instruments. The
Company assesses whether the economic characteristics
of the embedded derivative are clearly and closely relat-
ed to the economic characteristics of the remaining com-
ponent of the financial instrument, or host contract, and
whether a separate instrument with the same terms as
the embedded instrument would meet the definition of a
derivative instrument. When it is determined that (1) the
embedded derivative possesses economic characteristics
that are not clearly and closely related to the economic
characteristics of the host contract, and (2) a separate
instrument with the same terms would qualify as a
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derivative instrument, the embedded derivative is sepa-
rated from the host contract, carried at fair value, and
designated as a fair value, cash flow or foreign currency
hedge, or as a trading derivative instrument.

The Company formally documents all relationships
between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well
as its risk-management objective and strategy for under-
taking various hedge transactions. This process includes
linking all derivatives that are designated as fair value,
cash flow, or foreign currency hedges to specific assets
and liabilities on the balance sheet or to specific forecast-
ed transactions. The Company also formally assesses,
both at the hedge’s inception and on an ongoing basis,
whether the derivatives that are used in hedging trans-
actions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair
values or cash flows of hedged items. When it is deter-
mined that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge
or that it has ceased to be a highly effective hedge, the
Company discontinues hedge accounting prospectively,
as discussed below.

The Company discontinues hedge accounting
prospectively when (1) it is determined that the deriva-
tive is no longer effective in offsetting changes in the fair
value or cash flows of a hedged item, including forecast-
ed transactions; (2) the derivative expires or is sold, ter-
minated, or exercised; (3) the derivative is no longer
designated as a hedge instrument because it is unlikely
that a forecasted transaction will occur; or (4) manage-
ment determines that designation of the derivative as a
hedge instrument is no longer appropriate.

When hedge accounting is discontinued because it is
determined that the derivative no longer qualifies as an
effective fair value hedge, the derivative will continue to
be carried on the balance sheet at its fair value, and the
hedged asset or liability will no longer be adjusted for
changes in fair value. When hedge accounting is discon-
tinued because the derivative used in a cash flow hedge
expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, the gain or
loss on the derivative will continue to be deferred in
accumulated other comprehensive income and reclassi-
fied to earnings when the hedged forecasted transaction
affects earnings. When hedge accounting is discontinued
because it is probable that a forecasted transaction will
not occur, the derivative will continue to be carried on
the balance sheet at its fair value, and gains and losses
that were accumulated in other comprehensive income
will be recognized immediately in earnings. In all other
situations in which hedge accounting is discontinued,
the derivative will be carried at its fair value on the bal-
ance sheet, with changes in its fair value recognized in
current period earnings.

F. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
amounts due from banks and highly liquid debt instru-
ments purchased with an original maturity of three
months or less.

G. Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs and 
Deferred Sales Inducements
Acquisition costs consist of commissions, underwriting
costs and other costs, which vary with, and are primari-
ly related to, the production of revenues. Property and
casualty insurance business acquisition costs are
deferred and amortized over the terms of the insurance
policies. In addition, the Company’s variable annuity
product offerings included contracts that offered
enhanced crediting rates or bonus payments, also
referred to as sales inducements. Acquisition costs and
sales inducements related to variable annuities and con-
tractholder deposit funds that were deferred in 2002 and
prior, were permanently impaired upon the disposal of
the Company’s variable life insurance and annuity busi-
ness. Prior to the disposal of the variable life insurance
and annuity business, deferred acquisition costs
(“DAC”) and sales inducements were amortized in pro-
portion to total estimated gross profits from investment
yields, mortality, surrender charges and expense margins
over the expected life of the contracts. This amortization
was reviewed periodically and adjusted retrospectively
when the Company revised its estimate of current or
future gross profits to be realized from this group of
products, including realized and unrealized gains and
losses from investments. Acquisition costs related to
fixed annuities and other life insurance products which
were deferred in 2002 and prior are amortized, generally
in proportion to the ratio of annual revenue to the esti-
mated total revenues over the contract periods based
upon the same assumptions used in estimating the lia-
bility for future policy benefits. 

DAC for each life product and property and casualty
line of business is reviewed to determine if it is recover-
able from future income, including investment income. If
such costs are determined to be unrecoverable, they are
expensed at the time of determination. Although recov-
erability of DAC is not assured, the Company believes it
is more likely than not that all of these costs will be
recovered. The amount of DAC considered recoverable,
however, could be reduced in the near term if the esti-
mates of gross profits or total revenues discussed above
are reduced or permanently impaired as a result of the
disposition of a line of business. The amount of amorti-
zation of DAC could be revised in the near term if any of
the estimates discussed above are revised.
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H. Reinsurance Recoverables
The Company shares certain insurance risks it has
underwritten, through the use of reinsurance contracts,
with various insurance entities. Reinsurance accounting
is followed for ceded transactions when the risk transfer
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 113, Accounting and Reporting for
Reinsurance of Short-Duration and Long-Duration Contracts
(“Statement No. 113”), have been met. As a result, when
the Company experiences loss or claims events, or unfa-
vorable mortality or morbidity experience that are sub-
ject to a reinsurance contract, reinsurance recoverables
are recorded. The amount of the reinsurance recoverable
can vary based on the terms of the reinsurance contract,
the size of the individual loss or claim, or the aggregate
amount of all losses or claims in a particular line, book of
business or an aggregate amount associated with a par-
ticular accident year. The valuation of losses or claims
recoverable depends on whether the underlying loss or
claim is a reported loss or claim, an incurred but not
reported loss or a future policy benefit. For reported loss-
es and claims, the Company values reinsurance recover-
ables at the time the underlying loss or claim is
recognized, in accordance with contract terms. For
incurred but not reported losses and future policy bene-
fits, the Company estimates the amount of reinsurance
recoverables based on the terms of the reinsurance con-
tracts and historical reinsurance recovery information
and applies that information to the gross loss reserve and
future policy benefit estimates. The reinsurance recover-
ables are based on what the Company believes are rea-
sonable estimates and the balance is disclosed separately
in the financial statements. However, the ultimate
amount of the reinsurance recoverable is not known
until all losses and claims are settled.

I. Property, Equipment and Capitalized Software
Property, equipment, leasehold improvements and capi-
talized software are stated at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is provided
using the straight-line or accelerated method over the
estimated useful lives of the related assets, which gener-
ally range from 3 to 30 years. The estimated useful life for
capitalized software is generally 5 years. Amortization of
leasehold improvements is provided using the straight-
line method over the lesser of the term of the leases or
the estimated useful life of the improvements.

The Company tests for the recoverability of long-lived
assets whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recover-
able. The Company recognizes impairment losses only to
the extent that the carrying amounts of long-lived assets
exceed the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected

to result from the use and eventual disposition of the
assets. When an impairment loss occurs, the Company
reduces the carrying value of the asset to fair value. Fair
values are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis.

J. Goodwill
In accordance with the provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets (“Statement No. 142”), the
Company carries its goodwill at amortized cost, net of
impairments. The Company’s goodwill primarily relates
to its property and casualty business. The Company tests
for the recoverability of goodwill annually or whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the car-
rying amounts may not be recoverable. The Company
recognizes impairment losses only to the extent that the
carrying amounts of reporting units with goodwill
exceed the fair value. The amount of the impairment loss
that is recognized is determined based upon the excess
of the carrying value of goodwill compared to the
implied fair value of the goodwill, as determined with
respect to all assets and liabilities of the reporting unit.

The Company has performed its annual review of its
goodwill for impairment in the fourth quarters of 2005,
2004 and 2003. In 2005 and 2004, no impairments were
recognized. In 2003, the Company recorded a pre-tax
charge of $2.1 million to recognize the impairment of
goodwill related to one of its non-insurance subsidiaries.
This charge, which relates to the Life Companies seg-
ment (see Note 16 – Segment Information) was reflected
in other operating expenses in the Consolidated
Statements of Income. The Company used a discounted
cash flow model to value this subsidiary. Subsequent to
the Company’s annual impairment review, the Company
sold this subsidiary on December 31, 2003. The remain-
ing $0.9 million of goodwill was expensed as a compo-
nent of the related loss on sale.

K. Separate Accounts
Separate account assets and liabilities represent segre-
gated funds administered and invested by the Company
for the benefit of variable annuity and variable life insur-
ance contractholders and certain pension funds. Assets
consist principally of mutual funds, bonds, common
stocks and short-term obligations at market value. The
investment income and gains and losses of these
accounts generally accrue to the contractholders and,
therefore, are not included in the Company’s net income.
However, the Company’s net income reflects fees
assessed on fund values of these contracts. Prior to the
adoption of SOP 03-1, appreciation and depreciation of
the Company’s interest in the separate accounts, includ-
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ing undistributed net investment income, was reflected
in shareholders’ equity or net investment income. See
Note 4 – Adoption of Statement of Position 03-1,
Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises for
Certain Nontraditional Long-Duration Contracts and for
Separate Accounts.

L. Policy Liabilities and Accruals
Future policy benefits are liabilities for life, health and
annuity products. Such liabilities are established in
amounts adequate to meet the estimated future obliga-
tions of policies in force. The liabilities associated with
traditional life insurance products are computed using
the net level premium method for individual life and
annuity policies, and are based upon estimates as to
future investment yield, mortality and withdrawals that
include provisions for adverse deviation. Future policy
benefits for individual life insurance and annuity poli-
cies are computed using interest rates ranging from 
2 1/2% to 6% for life insurance and 2% to 9 1/2% for
annuities. Mortality, morbidity and withdrawal assump-
tions for all policies are based on the Company’s own
experience and industry standards. Liabilities for uni-
versal life, variable universal life and variable annuities
include deposits received from customers and invest-
ment earnings on their fund balances, less administrative
charges. Universal life fund balances are also assessed
mortality and surrender charges. Liabilities for variable
annuities include a reserve for guaranteed minimum
death benefits (“GMDB”) in excess of contract values.

Liabilities for outstanding claims, losses and loss
adjustment expenses (“LAE”) are estimates of payments
to be made on property and casualty and health insur-
ance contracts for reported losses and LAE and estimates
of losses and LAE incurred but not reported. These lia-
bilities are determined using case basis evaluations and
statistical analyses and represent estimates of the ulti-
mate cost of all losses incurred but not paid. These esti-
mates are continually reviewed and adjusted as
necessary; such adjustments are reflected in current
operations. Estimated amounts of salvage and subroga-
tion on unpaid property and casualty losses are deduct-
ed from the liability for unpaid claims.

Premiums for property and casualty insurance are
reported as earned on a pro-rata basis over the contract
period. The unexpired portion of these premiums is
recorded as unearned premiums.

Contractholder deposit funds and other policy
liabilities include investment-related products such as
guaranteed investment contracts (“GIC”), deposit
administration funds and immediate participation guar-
antee funds and consist of deposits received from cus-
tomers and investment earnings on their fund balances.

Trust instruments supported by funding obligations
consist of deposits received from customers, investment
earnings on their fund balance and the effect of changes
in foreign currencies related to these deposits.

All policy liabilities and accruals are based on the var-
ious estimates discussed above. Although the adequacy
of these amounts cannot be assured, the Company
believes that it is more likely than not that policy liabili-
ties and accruals will be sufficient to meet future obliga-
tions of policies in force. The amount of liabilities and
accruals, however, could be revised in the near-term if
the estimates discussed above are revised.

M. Junior Subordinated Debentures 
The Company has established a business trust, AFC
Capital Trust I, for the sole purpose of issuing mandato-
rily redeemable preferred securities to investors.
Through AFC Capital Trust I, the Company issued $300.0
million of Series B Capital Securities, which are regis-
tered under the Securities Act of 1933, the proceeds of
which were used to purchase related junior subordinat-
ed debentures from THG. In addition, the Company
issued $9.3 million of junior subordinated debentures to
purchase all of the common stock of AFC Capital Trust I.
Through certain guarantees, these subordinated deben-
tures and the terms of related agreements, the Company
has irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed the obli-
gations of AFC Capital Trust I.

The securities embody an unconditional obligation
that requires the Company to redeem the securities on a
stated maturity date. In addition, these securities contain
a settlement alternative that occurs as a result of a “spe-
cial event.” A special event could occur if a change in
laws and/or regulations or the application or interpreta-
tion of these laws and/or regulations causes the interest
from these debentures to become taxable income (or non-
deductible expense), or for the subsidiary trust to
become deemed an “investment company” and subject
to the filing requirements of Registered Investment
Companies. 

In 2004, the Company determined that the provisions
of FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities – an interpretation of ARB No. 51, which
was subsequently revised by the December 2003
issuance of Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46(R)”) applied
to the trust that issued these securities. As a result, the
Company deconsolidated the trust for financial report-
ing purposes. The debt issued by the Company to the
trust, previously eliminated in the consolidation of
financial results, is included in long-term debt, in accor-
dance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity (“Statement
No. 150”). 
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N. Premium, Fee Revenue and Related Expenses
Premiums for individual life insurance and individual
and group annuity products, excluding universal life
and investment-related products, are considered rev-
enue when due. Property and casualty insurance premi-
ums are recognized as revenue over the related contract
periods. Benefits, losses and related expenses are
matched with premiums, resulting in their recognition
over the lives of the contracts. This matching is accom-
plished through the provision for future benefits, esti-
mated and unpaid losses and amortization of deferred
policy acquisition costs. Revenues for investment-related
products consist of net investment income and contract
charges assessed against the fund values. Related benefit
expenses include annuity benefit claims for guaranteed
minimum death benefits in excess of contract values, and
net investment income credited to the fund values after
deduction for investment and risk charges. Revenues for
universal life products consist of net investment income,
with mortality, administration and surrender charges
assessed against the fund values. Related benefit expens-
es include universal life benefit claims in excess of fund
values and net investment income credited to universal
life fund values. Certain policy charges such as enhanced
crediting rates or bonus payments that represent com-
pensation for services to be provided in future periods
were classified as deferred sales inducements and amor-
tized over the period benefited using the same assump-
tions used to amortize DAC. These deferred policy
charges were permanently impaired upon the disposal
of the Company’s variable life insurance and annuity
business and are reflected in the Consolidated Statement
of Income for the year ended December 31, 2005 as a
component of the loss on disposal of variable life insur-
ance and annuity business.

O. Federal Income Taxes
THG and its domestic subsidiaries (including certain
non-insurance operations) file a consolidated United
States federal income tax return. Entities included with-
in the consolidated group are segregated into either a life
insurance or a non-life insurance company subgroup.
The consolidation of these subgroups is subject to certain
statutory restrictions on the percentage of eligible non-
life tax losses that can be applied to offset life company
taxable income.

Deferred income taxes are generally recognized when
assets and liabilities have different values for financial
statement and tax reporting purposes, and for other tem-
porary taxable and deductible differences as defined by
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes (“Statement No. 109”). These
differences result primarily from loss and LAE reserves,
policy reserves, tax credit carryforwards, net operating

and capital loss carryforwards, employee benefit plans
and policy acquisition expenses. Deferred tax assets are
reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than
not that all or some portion of the deferred tax assets will
not be realized. 

P. New Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 155, Accounting for Certain
Hybrid Financial Instruments—an amendment of FASB
Statements No. 133 and 140 (“Statement No. 155”). This
Statement amends Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities (‘Statement No. 133”), and
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140,
Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets
and Extinguishments of Liabilities. Statement No. 155,
among other things, permits fair value remeasurement
for any hybrid financial instrument that contains an
embedded derivative that otherwise would require
bifurcation, adds clarity regarding interest-only strips
and principal-only strips that are not subject to the
requirements of Statement No. 133, and requires compa-
nies to evaluate interests in securitized financial assets to
identify interests that are freestanding derivatives or that
are hybrid financial instruments containing an embed-
ded derivative that requires bifurcation. Statement No.
155 is effective for all financial instruments acquired or
issued after the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year
that begins after September 15, 2006. This statement is
not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s
financial position or results of operations.

In September 2005, the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“AICPA”) issued Statement of
Position 05-1, Accounting by Insurance Enterprises for
Deferred Acquisition Costs in Connection with Modifications
or Exchanges of Insurance Contracts (“SOP 05-1”). SOP 05-
1 provides guidance on accounting by insurance compa-
nies for deferred acquisition costs on internal
replacements of insurance and investment contracts
other than those described in Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 97, Accounting and Reporting
by Insurance Enterprises for Certain Long-Duration
Contracts and for Realized Gains and Losses from the Sale of
Investments. This statement is effective for internal
replacements occurring in fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. The Company is currently assessing
the effect of adopting SOP 05-1.

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 154, Accounting Changes and
Error Corrections – a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and
FASB Statement No. 3 (“Statement No. 154”). Statement
No. 154 replaces Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 20, Accounting Changes (“APB Opinion No. 20”), and
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Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 3,
Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial State-
ments. This statement establishes, unless impracticable,
retrospective application as the required method for all
voluntary changes in accounting principle in the absence
of specific transition provisions for the newly adopted
accounting principle. Statement No. 154 requires compa-
nies to retrospectively apply the effect of the change to
all prior periods practicable, and the financial statements
for all periods presented shall be adjusted to reflect the
change. Similarly, an error in the financial statements of
a prior period that is discovered subsequent to their
issuance shall be reported as a prior-period adjustment,
and the financial statements for each period presented
shall be adjusted to reflect the correction. This statement
also provides guidance for determining whether retro-
spective application of a change in accounting principle
is impracticable and the necessary disclosures once that
determination has been made. Additionally, changes in
methods of depreciation, amortization or depletion of
long-lived, non-financial assets must be accounted for as
a change in accounting estimate. The statement also
requires certain disclosures in the period in which a
change in accounting principle or correction of an error
is made. Statement No. 154 is effective for accounting
changes and correction of errors made in fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2005. Adoption of this
statement is not expected to have a material effect on the
Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004),
Share-Based Payment (“Statement No. 123(R)”). This state-
ment requires companies to measure and recognize the
cost of employee services received in exchange for an
award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair
value. Statement No. 123(R) replaces Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation (“Statement No. 123”), and
supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB Opinion
No. 25”). The provisions of this statement were original-
ly effective for interim and annual periods beginning
after June 15, 2005. In April 2005, the Securities and
Exchange Commission adopted a rule amending the
compliance dates of Statement No. 123(R). The rule
allows companies to implement the standard at the
beginning of their next fiscal year, rather than their next
reporting period, that begins after June 15, 2005.
Accordingly, the Company has adopted Statement No.
123(R) effective January 1, 2006. In accordance with APB
Opinion No. 25, the Company has not previously recog-
nized compensation expense for employee stock options
in net income because the exercise price equaled the mar-

ket value of the underlying common stock on the grant
date. Upon adoption of Statement No. 123(R), the Com-
pany was required to expense employee stock options.
The Company adopted Statement No. 123(R) using the
modified prospective transition method. Under this
method, the Company will recognize compensation
costs for all share-based awards granted, modified or set-
tled after January 1, 2006, as well as any awards that
were granted prior to January 1, 2006 for which the req-
uisite service period had not been provided as of the
implementation date, i.e., unvested awards. Unvested
awards are to be expensed consistent with the valuation
used in previous disclosures of the pro-forma effect of
Statement No. 123. In addition to stock options, the
Company’s share-based compensation plans also
include time-based restricted shares and performance
based restricted share units, for which compensation cost
has been recorded over the requisite service period.
Therefore, upon adoption of Statement No. 123(R), the
Company will experience an increase in expense related
to stock options, however, the cumulative change in
accounting principal adjustment is not expected to be
material. Assuming the actual number of stock compen-
sation awards granted in 2006 is consistent with the
Company’s expectations, the estimated increase in pre-
tax stock compensation expense related to the adoption
of Statement No. 123(R) will range from $11 million to
$14 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. 

In March 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board’s Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached
several consensuses regarding the application of guid-
ance related to the evaluation of whether an investment
is other than temporarily impaired in accordance with
EITF Issue No. 03-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary
Impairment and its Application to Certain Investments
(“EITF No. 03-1”). On September 30, 2004, the FASB
delayed indefinitely the effective date for the measure-
ment and recognition guidance of EITF No. 03-1. The dis-
closure requirements were not deferred. EITF No. 03-1
describes certain quantitative and qualitative disclosures
that are required for marketable fixed maturities and
equity securities covered by Statement No. 115, includ-
ing the aggregate amount of unrealized losses and the
aggregate related fair value of investments with unreal-
ized losses, by investment type, as well as additional
information supporting the conclusion that the impair-
ments are not other-than temporary, such as the nature of
the investment(s), cause of impairment and severity and
duration of the impairment. The disclosures required by
EITF No. 03-1 were effective for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2003. The Company implemented the dis-
closure requirements of this EITF for the year ended
December 31, 2003. 
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In December 2003, the FASB issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 132, (revised 2003)
Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other
Postretirement Benefits – an amendment of FASB Statements
No. 87, 88, and 106 (“Statement No. 132(R)”). This state-
ment revises employers’ disclosures about pension plans
and other postretirement benefit plans. Statement No.
132(R) requires additional disclosures related to plan
assets, benefit obligations, contributions, and net period-
ic benefit cost of defined benefit pension plans and other
postretirement benefit plans, including information
regarding the Company’s selection of certain assump-
tions, as well as expected benefit payments. This state-
ment also requires disclosures in interim financial
statements related to net periodic pension costs and con-
tributions. Most provisions of this statement were effec-
tive for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2003.
Disclosures regarding expected benefit payments were
effective for fiscal years ending after June 15, 2004. The
adoption of Statement No. 132(R) did not have a materi-
al effect on the Company’s financial position or results of
operations.

In July 2003, the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants issued SOP 03-1, which is applicable to all
insurance enterprises as defined by Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 60, Accounting and
Reporting by Insurance Enterprises. This statement pro-
vides guidance regarding accounting and disclosures of
separate account assets and liabilities and an insurance
company’s interest in such separate accounts. It further
provides for the accounting and disclosures related to
contractholder transfers to separate accounts from a
company’s general account and the determination of the
balance that accrues to the benefit of the contractholder.
In addition, SOP 03-1 provides guidance for determining
any additional liabilities for guaranteed minimum death
benefits or other insurance benefit features, potential
benefits available only on annuitization and liabilities
related to sales inducements, such as immediate bonus
payments, persistency bonuses, and enhanced crediting
rates or “bonus interest” rates, as well as the required
disclosures related to these items. This statement was
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2003. The determination of the GMDB reserve under
SOP 03-1 is complex and requires various assumptions,
including, among other items, estimates of future market
returns and expected contract persistency. Upon adop-
tion of this statement in the first quarter of 2004, the
Company recorded a $57.2 million charge, net of taxes.
This charge was reported as a cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle in the Consolidated

Statements of Income. See also Note 4 – Adoption of
Statement of Position 03-1, Accounting and Reporting by
Insurance Enterprises for Certain Nontraditional Long-
Duration Contracts and for Separate Accounts.

Q. Earnings Per Share
Earnings per share (“EPS”) for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 is based on a weight-
ed average of the number of shares outstanding during
each year. Basic and diluted EPS is computed by divid-
ing income available to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of shares outstanding for the
period. The weighted average shares outstanding which
were utilized in the calculation of basic earnings per
share differ from the weighted average shares outstand-
ing used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share
due to the effect of dilutive employee stock options and
nonvested stock grants. If the effect of such stock options
and grants are antidilutive, the weighted average shares
outstanding utilized in the calculation of diluted earn-
ings per share equal those utilized in the calculation of
basic earnings per share.

Options to purchase shares of common stock whose
exercise prices are greater than the average market price
of the common shares are not included in the computa-
tion of diluted earnings per share because the effect
would be antidilutive. 

R. Stock-Based Compensation
The Company applies the provisions of APB Opinion

No. 25 in accounting for its stock-based compensation
plans, and thus compensation cost is not generally
required to be recognized in the financial statements for
the Company’s stock options issued to employees.
However, costs associated with the issuance of stock
options to certain agents who did not qualify as employ-
ees were recognized in 2004 and 2003. Effective January
1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement No. 123(R) as
discussed in Note 1P – New Accounting Pronounce-
ments. This statement requires, among other items, that
the cost of stock options issued to employees be recog-
nized in the financial statements.

The following table illustrates the effect on net (loss)
income and net (loss) income per share if the Company
had applied the fair value recognition provisions of
Statement No. 123 to stock-based employee compensa-
tion. The Company’s stock-based compensation plans
are discussed further in Note 13 – Stock-Based
Compensation Plans.
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For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions, except per share data)

Net (loss) income, as reported $ (325.2) $ 125.3 $ 86.9
Stock-based compensation 

expense included in reported 
net (loss) income, net of taxes 2.6 0.4 1.7

Total stock-based compensation 
expense determined under fair 
value based method for all 
awards, net of taxes (10.3) (10.1) (12.8)

Net (loss) income, after effect 
of Statement No. 123 $ (332.9) $ 115.6 $ 75.8

Earnings per share:
Basic - as reported $ (6.08) $ 2.36 $ 1.64

Basic - after effect of 
Statement No. 123 $ (6.22) $ 2.17 $ 1.43

Diluted - as reported $ (6.02) $ 2.34 $ 1.63

Diluted - after effect of 
Statement No. 123 $ (6.19) $ 2.16 $ 1.43

Since options vest over several years and additional
awards generally are made each year, the aforemen-
tioned pro forma effects are not likely to be representa-
tive of the effects on reported net income for future years.

S. Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to con-
form to the current year presentation.

2. Sale of Variable Life Insurance 
and Annuity Business

On December 30, 2005, the Company sold all of the out-
standing shares of capital stock of AFLIAC, a life insur-
ance subsidiary representing approximately 95% of the
Company’s run-off variable life insurance and annuity
business to The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. (“Goldman
Sachs”). The transaction also includes the reinsurance of
100% of the variable business of FAFLIC. In connection
with these transactions, Allmerica Investment Trust
(“AIT”) agreed to transfer certain assets and liabilities of
its funds to certain Goldman Sachs Variable Insurance
Trust managed funds through a fund reorganization
transaction. Finally, the Company agreed to sell to
Goldman Sachs all of the outstanding shares of capital
stock of Allmerica Financial Investment Management
Service, Inc. (“AFIMS”), its investment advisory sub-
sidiary, concurrently with the consummation of a fund
reorganization transaction. The fund reorganization
transaction was consummated on January 9, 2006. 

Total proceeds from the sale were $318.8 million, com-
prised of $284.0 million of proceeds from the sale of
AFLIAC, proceeds from the sale of AFIMS of $26.2 mil-
lion and proceeds from the ceding commission related to
the reinsurance of the FAFLIC variable business of $8.6
million. Included in the proceeds from the sale of AFLI-
AC is $46.7 million of proceeds expected to be deferred
and paid over a three year period, with 50% being
received in the first year and 25% in the following two
years.

In connection with the sale, the Massachusetts
Division of Insurance approved a cash dividend of $48.6
million from FAFLIC, including the $8.6 million ceding
commission received related to the reinsurance of 100%
of the variable business of FAFLIC, and for the distribu-
tion of other non-insurance subsidiaries, from which the
holding company received $15.4 million of additional
funds.

The Company and Goldman Sachs have made vari-
ous representations, warranties and covenants in the
Stock Purchase Agreement. The Company has agreed to
indemnify Goldman Sachs for the breaches of the
Company’s representations, warranties and covenants.
THG has also agreed to indemnify Goldman Sachs for
certain litigation, regulatory matters and other liabilities
relating to the pre-closing activities of the business being
sold.

In connection with these agreements, the Company
will provide transition services until the earlier of eight-
een months from the December 30, 2005 closing or when
the operations of AFLIAC, and the FAFLIC business to
be reinsured, can be transferred to Goldman Sachs.
These services include policy and claims processing,
accounting and reporting, and other administrative serv-
ices. This transition period is currently expected to
extend into the fourth quarter of 2006. During this peri-
od, the Company expects to earn revenues estimated at
approximately $18 million related to the continuation of
activities with the disposed of business by providing
these administrative services, while incurring costs esti-
mated at approximately $25 million to $30 million. These
revenues and costs represent approximately 5% and 2%,
respectively, of the revenues and costs generated by the
disposed of business and therefore do not reflect signifi-
cant continuing involvement with the business that is
being disposed. Upon conclusion of this transition serv-
ices agreement, there will be no continuing cash flows
associated with the business that is being disposed.
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The Company determined that the disposal of AFLI-
AC should be reflected as a discontinued operation in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-lived Assets (“Statement No. 144”). As
such, the Company recognized a loss of $444.4 million
related to this transaction in 2005, primarily from the dis-
position of AFLIAC, whose book value was greater than
the proceeds received, including costs to sell. This loss is
presented in the Consolidated Statements of Income as
Loss on disposal of variable life insurance and annuity
business, a component of discontinued operations. The
components of this loss are summarized below.

(In millions)

Proceeds from Goldman Sachs(1) $ 318.8
Less:

Carrying value of AFLIAC(2) (719.3)
Hedge results(3) (27.9)
Liability for certain legal indemnities(4) (13.0)
Estimated transaction costs(5) (10.5)
Deferred gain on FAFLIC coinsurance(6) (8.6)
THG tax benefit(7) 10.0
Realized gain on securities related to AFLIAC 6.1

Net loss $(444.4)

(1) Total proceeds from Goldman Sachs are based on the purchase price calculated as
of the December 30, 2005 closing, subject to any adjustments following the
purchaser’s review of the final purchase price calculation. Proceeds from Goldman
Sachs include deferred payments of $46.7 million to be received over three years.

(2) Shareholder’s equity of the AFLIAC variable life insurance and annuity business at
December 30, 2005, prior to the impact of the sale transaction.

(3) A hedging program was implemented on August 23, 2005 to reduce the volatility
in the sales price calculation from effects of equity market movements through the
date of the closing.

(4) Liability for certain contractual indemnities of AFLIAC, provided under the
Agreement to Goldman Sachs recorded under FASB Interpretation No. 45,
Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.

(5) Transaction costs include investment banker, legal, vendor contract licensing and
other professional fees.

(6) Included in the proceeds from Goldman Sachs is the FAFLIC variable business
coinsurance ceding commission of $8.6 million. This gain will be deferred and
amortized over the remaining life of the policies in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 113, Accounting and Reporting for Reinsurance of
Short-Duration and Long-Duration Contracts.

(7) At December 30, 2005, THG holding company recognized a tax benefit primarily
due to realized losses generated by the AFLIAC sale.

The Company reclassified the results of operations
related to this business from its operations, including the
related tax effect, to discontinued operations in accor-
dance with Statement No. 144. These results are reflected
in the Consolidated Statements of Income as Income
from operations of discontinued business. Total revenues
and results from the variable life insurance and annuity
business previously included in the Life Companies seg-

ment (see Note 16 for a description of the Company’s
Operating Segments), now reported in discontinued
operations are as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Total revenues $ 343.5 $394.0 $433.1
Income before federal income taxes 34.4 42.2 19.3

As of December 31, 2005, there was a net receivable
from Goldman Sachs of approximately $75 million asso-
ciated with the variable life insurance and annuity busi-
ness, including $46.7 million that is being deferred over
three years and $26.2 million related to the AFIMS busi-
ness which was received in January 2006.

As of December 31, 2004, assets and liabilities associ-
ated with the discontinued variable life insurance and
annuity operations were as follows:

(In millions)

Assets:
Cash and investments $ 1,632.6
Reinsurance recoverables 839.8
Separate account assets 9,800.8
Other assets 763.6

Total assets $13,036.8

Liabilities:
Policy liabilities $ 2,281.4
Separate account liabilities 9,800.8
Other liabilities 191.9

Total liabilities $12,274.1

3. Significant Transactions

On December 28, 2005, the Company’s Board of
Directors authorized a share repurchase program of up
to $200 million. As of February 28, 2006, the Company
has repurchased 1.4 million shares at an aggregate cost of
approximately $62.3 million.

In the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company ceased
operations of its Life Companies segment retail broker-
dealer operations (see Note 16 for a description of the
Company’s operating segments). These operations had
distributed third-party investment and insurance prod-
ucts through VeraVest Investments, Inc. (“VeraVest”).
The Company recorded a pre-tax charge of $11.5 million
for asset impairments in 2003 in connection with this
action. The Company also recognized pre-tax restructur-
ing charges of $2.0 million, $3.6 million and $21.9 million
in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, in accordance with
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Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146,
Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities. These charges included $14.9 million related to
one-time termination benefits associated with the termi-
nation of 552 employees, and $12.6 million related to
contract termination fees and other costs. As of
December 31, 2005, the Company had made payments of
approximately $25.7 million related to this restructuring
plan, of which $14.5 million related to one-time termina-
tion benefits and $11.2 million related to contract termi-
nation fees and other costs. The liability balance at
December 31, 2005 was $1.8 million. The Company cur-
rently anticipates that approximately $1 million to $2
million of other costs will be recognized in 2006 related
to this restructuring. The plan is substantially complete.

The Company retired $185.2 million and $78.8 million
of long-term funding agreement obligations at discounts
in 2004 and 2003, respectively. This resulted in a pre-tax
loss of $0.2 million in 2004 and a pre-tax gain of $5.7 mil-
lion in 2003, which are reported as other operating
expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Certain amounts related to the termination of derivative
instruments used to hedge the retired funding agree-
ments were reported in separate line items in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. The net market
value loss on the early termination of derivative instru-
ments used to hedge the retired funding agreements of
$7.9 million and $6.4 million were recorded as net real-
ized investment gains in the Consolidated Statements of
Income in 2004 and 2003, respectively. There were no for-
eign currency transaction gains on the retired foreign
denominated funding agreements in 2005 and 2004. In
2003, net foreign currency transaction gains related to the
retired foreign-denominated funding agreements of $3.6
million were recorded as other income in the
Consolidated Statements of Income.

4. Adoption of Statement of Position 03-1,
Accounting and Reporting by Insurance
Enterprises for Certain Nontraditional
Long-Duration Contracts and for 
Separate Accounts

Effective January 1, 2004, the Company adopted SOP 03-
1 (see Note 1P – New Accounting Pronouncements).
Upon adoption, the Company recorded a cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle of $57.2 million,
net of taxes.

The following illustrates the components of that
charge (in millions):

Increase in guaranteed minimum death benefit liability $ 80.6
Establishment of guaranteed minimum income 

benefit liability 4.1
Change in deferred acquisition costs 3.3

88.0
Provision for federal income taxes (30.8)

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ 57.2

Guaranteed Minimum Death Benefits
The Company issued variable annuity contracts with a
GMDB feature. The GMDB feature provides annuity
contractholders with a guarantee that the benefit
received at death will be no less than a prescribed mini-
mum amount. This amount is based on either the net
deposits paid into the contract, the net deposits accumu-
lated at a specified rate, the highest historical account
value on a contract anniversary, or more typically, the
greatest of these values. If the GMDB is higher than the
current account value at the time of death, the Company
incurs a cost equal to the difference.

The following summarizes the liability for GMDB
contracts reflected in the general account:

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004

(In millions)

Beginning balance (1) $ 74.6 $106.8
Provision for GMDB:

GMDB expense incurred 43.3 48.6
Volatility (2) (5.4) (12.9)

37.9 35.7
Claims, net of reinsurance:

Claims from policyholders (57.6) (71.2)
Claims ceded to reinsurers 55.4 67.3

(2.2) (3.9)
GMDB reinsurance premium (58.2) (64.0)
GMDB reserve adjustment (3) (52.1) —

Ending balance $ — $ 74.6

(1) Beginning balance at January 1, 2004 includes $80.6 million associated with the
adoption of SOP 03-1.

(2) Volatility reflects the difference between actual and expected investment
performance, persistency, age distribution, mortality and other factors that are
assumptions within the GMDB reserving model.

(3) GMDB reserves were adjusted by $52.1 million in 2005 as a result of the
elimination of future GMDB claims due to the sale of the Company’s variable life
insurance and annuity business.
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Sales Inducements
The Company’s variable annuity product offerings
included contracts that offered enhanced crediting rates
or bonus payments. These enhanced rates are considered
sales inducements under SOP 03-1. As such, the balance
of sales inducement assets was required to be reclassified
from DAC to other assets upon adoption of SOP 03-1,
and amortization of these sales inducements over the 
life of the contract is required to be reflected as a 
policy benefit. Amortization of these contracts is
required to be computed using the same methodology
and assumptions used in amortizing DAC and deferred
sales inducements.

There were no deferred sales inducements as of
December 31, 2005 and the balance at December 31, 2004
was $72.9 million. Amortization of deferred sales induce-
ments subsequent to the adoption of SOP 03-1 was $11.6
million and $16.8 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively.
In connection with the aforementioned sale of the
Company’s variable life insurance and annuity business,
the $61.3 million balance of the deferred sales induce-
ments was also expensed in 2005. 

Separate Accounts with Credited Interest Guarantees
The Company issued variable life insurance and annuity
contracts through its separate accounts for which net
investment income, investment gains and losses accrue
directly to, and investment risk is borne by, the contrac-
tholder. The Company also issued variable life insurance
and annuity contracts through separate accounts where-
by the Company contractually guaranteed to the con-
tractholder the total deposits made to the contract less
any partial withdrawals plus a minimum return. 

Prior to the adoption of SOP 03-1, the Company had
recorded certain market value adjustments (“MVA”) to
the fixed annuity products as separate account assets
and separate account liabilities in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Changes in the fair value of MVA assets
were reflected in other comprehensive income in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. In addition, the Company
reflected policy fees, interest spreads, realized gains and
losses on investments, and changes in the liability for
minimum guarantees in net income. Notwithstanding
the market value adjustment feature of this product, all
of the investment performance of the separate account
assets related to this product does not accrue to the con-
tractholder, and it therefore does not meet the conditions
for separate account reporting under SOP 03-1. 

Upon adoption of SOP 03-1, assets related to the MVA
product, primarily fixed maturities, which were carried

at fair value, were reclassified to the general account as
available-for-sale securities. Reserves related to contract
account values included in separate account liabilities
were also reclassified to the Company’s general account.
Changes in the fair value of these assets have continued
to be reflected in other comprehensive income in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Additionally, amounts
assessed against the contractholders for mortality,
administrative and other services have continued to be
included in universal life and investment product policy
fees, and changes in liabilities for minimum guarantees
have continued to be included in policy benefits, claims,
losses and loss adjustment expenses in the Consolidated
Statements of Income. Components of the interest
spreads related to this product have continued to be
recorded in net investment income and policy benefits,
claims losses and loss adjustment expenses in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. Realized investment
gains and losses were recognized as incurred, consistent
with prior years.

The Company had the following variable annuities
with guaranteed minimum returns:

December 31 2005 2004

Account value (in millions) (1) $ 5.3 $ 90.3
Range of guaranteed 

minimum return rates 3.0 – 6.5% 3.0 – 6.5%

(1) The value as of December 31, 2004 included $83.6 million relating to the AFLIAC
variable life insurance and annuity business that was sold December 30, 2005. The
remaining balances in 2005 and 2004 relate to FAFLIC’s variable life insurance and
annuity business. This business was 100% reinsured by AFLIAC on December 30,
2005, in conjunction with the sale of AFLIAC to Goldman Sachs.

Account balances of these contracts with guaranteed
minimum returns were invested in variable separate
accounts as follows:

December 31 2005 2004(1)

(In millions)

Asset Type
Fixed maturities (1) $ 5.6 $ 104.7
Cash and cash equivalents (1) 0.8 4.5

Total $ 6.4 $ 109.2

(1) Account balances as of December 31, 2004 included $97.2 million of fixed
maturities and $4.0 million of cash and cash equivalents relating to the AFLIAC
variable life insurance and annuity business that was sold December 30, 2005. The
remaining balances in 2005 and 2004 relate to FAFLIC’s variable life insurance and
annuity business. This business was 100% reinsured by AFLIAC on December 30,
2005, in conjunction with the sale of AFLIAC to Goldman Sachs.
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5. Investments

A. Fixed Maturities and Equity Securities
The Company accounts for its investments in fixed
maturities and equity securities, all of which are classi-
fied as available-for-sale, in accordance with the provi-
sions of Statement No. 115.

The amortized cost and fair value of available-for-sale
fixed maturities and equity securities were as follows:

December 31 2005 

(In millions)

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost (1) Gains Losses Value

U.S. Treasury securities 
and U.S. government 
and agency securities $ 587.1 $ 0.9 $ 8.7 $ 579.3

States and political 
subdivisions 823.6 33.7 3.4 853.9

Foreign governments 4.4 — — 4.4
Corporate fixed 

maturities 2,845.4 53.4 41.7 2,857.1
Mortgage-backed 

securities 1,425.4 8.7 20.6 1,413.5

Total fixed maturities $ 5,685.9 $ 96.7 $ 74.4 $ 5,708.2

Equity securities $ 13.0 $ 5.1 $ 0.1 $ 18.0

December 31 2004 

(In millions)

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost (1) Gains Losses Value

U.S. Treasury securities 
and U.S. government 
and agency securities $ 617.6 $ 8.4 $ 3.5 $ 622.5

States and political 
subdivisions 1,130.6 52.1 2.1 1,180.6

Foreign governments 9.4 — 0.1 9.3
Corporate fixed 

maturities 4,345.8 199.7 17.9 4,527.6
Mortgage-backed 

securities 1,450.0 36.7 4.5 1,482.2

Total fixed maturities (2) $ 7,553.4 $ 296.9 $ 28.1 $ 7,822.2

Equity securities (3) $ 13.7 $ 3.4 $ 0.1 $ 17.0

(1) Amortized cost for fixed maturities and cost for equity securities.

(2) Total fixed maturities include amortized cost of $1.4 billion, gross unrealized gains
of $61.4 million, gross unrealized losses of $4.6 million and fair value of $1.4 billion
for the AFLIAC discontinued variable life insurance and annuity business at
December 31, 2004.

(3) Equity securities include amortized cost of $1.7 million, gross unrealized gains of
$1.4 million and fair value of $3.1 million for the AFLIAC discontinued variable
life insurance and annuity business at December 31, 2004.

The Company participates in a security lending pro-
gram for the purpose of enhancing income. Securities on
loan to various counterparties were fully collateralized

by cash and had a fair value of $186.7 million and $269.3
million, at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The
fair value of the loaned securities is monitored on a daily
basis, and the collateral is maintained at a level of at least
102% of the fair value of the loaned securities. Securities
lending collateral is recorded by the Company in cash
and cash equivalents, with an offsetting liability includ-
ed in expenses and taxes payable. 

Fixed maturities with an amortized cost of $80.7 mil-
lion and $128.2 million were on deposit with various
state and governmental authorities at December 31, 2005
and 2004, respectively. Fair values related to these secu-
rities were $81.7 million and $134.3 million at December
31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. At December 31, 2004,
fixed maturities with an amortized cost of $47.5 million
and a fair value of $50.7 million, were on deposit with
various state and government authorities for AFLIAC.
Included in those amounts at December 31, 2004, were
fixed maturities with an amortized cost of $42.4 million
and a fair value of $45.1 million, which were on deposit
in New York under an agreement with the State of New
York’s Department of Insurance related to AFLIAC’s vol-
untary withdrawal of its license in New York in 1994.
These deposits were maintained by AFLIAC after the
Company sold its variable life insurance and annuity
business to Goldman Sachs on December 30, 2005.

The Company enters into various reinsurance, deriva-
tive and other arrangements that may require fixed
maturities to be held as collateral. At December 31, 2005
and 2004, fixed maturities held as collateral had a fair
value of $220.3 million and $194.2 million, respectively. A
corresponding liability for these items has also been
recorded by the Company.

There were no contractual investment commitments
at December 31, 2005.

The amortized cost and fair value by maturity periods
for fixed maturities are shown below. Actual maturities
may differ from contractual maturities because borrow-
ers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with
or without call or prepayment penalties, or the Company
may have the right to put or sell the obligations back to
the issuers. Mortgage-backed securities are included in
the category representing their stated maturity.

December 31 2005

(In millions)

Amortized Fair
Cost Value

Due in one year or less $ 302.5 $ 303.5
Due after one year through five years 1,028.2 1,024.5
Due after five years through ten years 2,311.1 2,309.8
Due after ten years 2,044.1 2,070.4

Total $ 5,685.9 $ 5,708.2
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B. Mortgage Loans and Real Estate
The Company’s mortgage loans are diversified by prop-
erty type and location. Mortgage loans are collateralized
by the related properties and generally do not exceed
75% of the property’s value at the time of origination. No
mortgage loans were originated during 2005 and 2004.
The carrying values of mortgage loans, net of applicable
reserves, were $99.6 million and $114.8 million at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Mortgage
loans investment valuation allowances of $1.0 million
and $1.5 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respec-
tively, have been deducted in arriving at investment car-
rying values as presented in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. 

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, no real estate was
held in the Company’s investment portfolio. 

There were no contractual commitments to extend
credit under commercial mortgage loan agreements at
December 31, 2005. 

Mortgage loan investments comprised the following
property types and geographic regions:

December 31 2005 2004

(In millions)

Property Type:
Office building $ 45.2 $ 51.2
Retail 25.4 28.8
Industrial / warehouse 23.8 29.9
Residential 6.2 6.4
Valuation allowances (1.0) (1.5)

Total $ 99.6 $ 114.8

Geographic Region:
Pacific $ 31.6 $ 38.1
South Atlantic 30.1 32.6
East North Central 24.4 25.9
New England 8.0 12.5
West North Central 3.7 4.0
Middle Atlantic 1.9 2.0
West South Central 0.7 0.9
Other 0.2 0.3
Valuation allowances (1.0) (1.5)

Total $ 99.6 $ 114.8

At December 31, 2005, scheduled mortgage loan
maturities were as follows: 2006 - $23.0 million; 2007 -
$3.3 million; 2008 - $2.8 million; 2009 - $10.3 million; 2010
- $38.9 million and $21.3 million thereafter. Actual matu-
rities could differ from contractual maturities because
borrowers may have the right to prepay obligations with
or without prepayment penalties and loans may be refi-
nanced. During 2005, the Company did not refinance
any mortgage loans based on terms that differed from
current market rates. 

There were no impaired loans or related reserves as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004. There was no interest
income received in 2005 and 2004 related to impaired
loans.

C. Derivative Instruments
The Company maintains an overall risk management
strategy that incorporates the use of derivative instru-
ments to minimize significant unplanned fluctuations in
earnings that are caused by foreign currency, equity mar-
ket and interest rate volatility. As a result of the
Company’s issuance of trust instruments supported by
funding obligations denominated in foreign currencies,
as well as its investment in securities denominated in
foreign currencies, the Company’s operating results are
exposed to changes in exchange rates between the U.S.
dollar, the Japanese Yen, and the British Pound. The
Company uses foreign currency exchange swaps and
futures to mitigate the short-term effect of changes in
currency exchange rates and to manage the risk of cash
flow variability. Until August 22, 2005, the Company was
also exposed to changes in the equity market due to
increases in GMDB reserves that resulted from declines
in the equity market. The Company used exchange trad-
ed equity market futures contracts to reduce the volatili-
ty in statutory capital reserves from the effects of the
equity market movements. Finally, for the period
between August 22, 2005 and December 30, 2005, related
to the Company’s sale of its variable life insurance and
annuity business, the Company was exposed to changes
in the surplus value of AFLIAC which was driven by a
combination of equity market and interest rate move-
ments. To economically hedge against fluctuations in the
purchase price of the variable life insurance and annuity
business, the Company used exchange traded futures
contracts, interest rate swap contracts and strike price
call options.

The operations of the Company are subject to risks
resulting from interest rate fluctuations to the extent that
there is a difference between the amount of the
Company’s interest-earning assets and the amount of
interest-bearing liabilities that are paid, withdrawn,
mature or re-price in specified periods. The principal
objective of the Company’s asset/liability management
activities is to provide maximum levels of net investment
income, while maintaining acceptable levels of interest
rate and liquidity risk and facilitating the funding needs
of the Company. The Company’s investment assets are
managed in approximately 20 portfolio segments consis-
tent with specific products or groups of products having
similar liability characteristics. As part of this approach,
the Company has developed investment guidelines for
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each portfolio segment consistent with the return objec-
tives, risk tolerance, liquidity, time horizon, tax and reg-
ulatory requirements of the related product or business
segment. Management has a general policy of diversify-
ing investments both within and across all portfolios.
The Company monitors the credit quality of its invest-
ments and the exposure to individual markets, borrow-
ers, industries and sectors.

By using derivative instruments, the Company is
exposed to credit risk. If the counterparty fails to per-
form, credit risk is equal to the extent of the fair value
gain (including any accrued receivable) in a derivative.
The Company regularly assesses the financial strength of
the counterparties and generally enters into derivative
instruments with counterparties rated “A” or better by
nationally recognized rating agencies. Depending on the
nature of the derivative transaction, the Company main-
tains bilateral Collateral Standardized Arrangements
(“CSA”) with each counterparty. In general, the CSA sets
a minimum threshold of exposure that must be collat-
eralized, although thresholds may vary by CSA. The
Company’s counterparties held collateral, in the form of
cash, bonds and U.S. Treasury notes, of $129.7 million
and $94.8 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

Management monitors the Company’s derivative
activities by reviewing portfolio activities and risk levels.
Management also oversees all derivative transactions to
ensure that the types of transactions entered into and the
results obtained from those transactions are consistent
with both the Company’s risk management strategy and
with Company policies and procedures.

D. Fair Value Hedges
In 2005, the Company entered into exchange traded
equity futures contracts to hedge the embedded gains on
certain bonds identified to be liquidated to settle the
maturity of a particular long-term funding agreement.
The Company also entered into compound foreign cur-
rency/interest rate swaps to convert its foreign denomi-
nated fixed rate trust instruments supported by funding
obligations to U.S. dollar floating rate instruments. The
Company recognized gains of $2.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005, reported in net realized
investment gains in the Consolidated Statements of
Income. These derivative instruments were determined
to be effective hedges in accordance with Statement No.
133. The Company recognized no gains or losses in 2004
related to fair value hedges. However, the Company rec-
ognized net losses of $0.2 million for the year ended

December 31, 2003, reported in other operating expenses
in the Consolidated Statements of Income. These losses
represented the ineffective portion of all fair value
hedges. All components of each derivative’s gain or loss
are included in the assessment of hedge effectiveness,
unless otherwise noted.

E. Cash Flow Hedges
The Company enters into compound foreign currency/
interest rate swap contracts to hedge foreign currency
and interest rate exposure on specific trust instruments
supported by funding obligations. Under the swap con-
tracts, the Company agrees to exchange interest and
principal related to trust obligations payable in foreign
currencies, at current exchange rates, for the equivalent
payment in U.S. dollars translated at a specific currency
exchange rate. Additionally, the Company used foreign
exchange futures contracts to hedge foreign currency
exposure on specific trust instruments supported by
funding obligations. Finally, the Company also enters
into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge its for-
eign currency exposure on specific fixed maturity securi-
ties. Under the foreign exchange futures and forward
contracts, the Company has the right to purchase the
hedged currency at a fixed strike price in U.S. dollars.

The Company also may enter into various types of
derivatives to hedge exposure to interest rate fluctua-
tions. Specifically, for floating rate funding agreement
liabilities that are matched with fixed rate securities, the
Company may manage the risk of cash flow variability
by hedging with interest rate swap contracts. Under
these swap contracts, the Company agrees to exchange,
at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and
floating interest amounts calculated on an agreed-upon
notional principal amount. 

The Company recognized no gains or losses in 2005
and 2004 related to ineffective cash flow hedges.
However, the Company recognized a net loss of $9.0 mil-
lion in 2003, representing the ineffectiveness of all cash
flow hedges, related to ineffective futures and options
contracts, which are reported in fees and other income in
the Consolidated Statements of Income. All components
of each derivative’s gain or loss are included in the
assessment of hedge effectiveness, unless otherwise
noted.

As of December 31, 2005, $0.9 million of the deferred
net losses on derivative instruments accumulated in
other comprehensive income could be recognized in
earnings during the next twelve months depending on
the forward interest rate and currency rate environment.
Transactions and events that are expected to occur over



Our policy is performance.TM

89

the next twelve months and will necessitate reclassifying
to earnings these derivatives gains (losses) include: the
interest payments (receipts) on foreign denominated
trust instruments supported by funding obligations and
foreign securities; the possible repurchase of other fund-
ing agreements; and the anticipated reinvestment of
fixed maturities. The maximum term over which the
Company is hedging its exposure to the variability of
future cash flows, for all forecasted transactions, exclud-
ing interest payments on variable-rate funding agree-
ments, is twelve months.

F. Trading Activities
On August 23, 2005, the Company implemented a new
derivative program designed to economically hedge
against fluctuations in the purchase price of the variable
life insurance and annuity business. The purchase price
was determined on December 30, 2005 and was subject
to changes in interest rate, equity market, implied equity
market volatility and surrender activity. The derivatives
were terminated concurrent with the sale closing on
December 30, 2005. The derivatives in this program
included exchange traded futures contracts, interest rate
swap contracts, and strike price call options. (See Life
Companies – Loss on Sale of AFLIAC Variable Life
Insurance and Annuity Business of Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations on pages 41 and 42 of this Form 
10-K). The hedges did not qualify for hedge accounting
under Statement No. 133.

During the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company
began using exchange traded equity futures contracts to
economically hedge increased GMDB reserves which
could arise from declines in the equity market. In
response to entering into the aforementioned Stock
Purchase Agreement to sell the variable life insurance
and annuity business, the Company discontinued this
program on August 22, 2005. The GMDB hedges did not
qualify for hedge accounting under Statement No. 133.
Additionally, in 2003, the Company entered into equity-
linked swap contracts which are economic hedges but do
not qualify for hedge accounting under Statement No.
133. These products are linked to specific equity-linked
liabilities on the balance sheet. Under the equity-linked
swap contracts, the Company agrees to exchange, at spe-
cific intervals, the difference between fixed and floating
rate interest amounts calculated on an agreed upon
notional amount. The final payment at maturity will
include the appreciation, if any, of a basket of specific
equity indices. 

During 2005 and 2004, the Company recognized net
losses of $50.3 million and $18.3 million, respectively, on
all trading derivatives. In 2003, the Company recognized
net gains of $3.9 million on all trading derivatives. The
net loss recognized in 2005 included $27.9 million in loss-
es related to the derivatives used to economically hedge
the purchase price and were reflected in loss on disposal
of variable life insurance and annuity business in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. Additionally, the net
loss in 2005 included $19.6 million of net losses repre-
senting the ineffectiveness on equity-linked swap con-
tracts, which were recorded in fees and other income in
the Consolidated Statements of Income. Further, the 2005
net loss also included a $2.3 million loss related to
embedded derivatives on equity-linked trust instru-
ments supported by funding obligations, which was
reported in other operating expenses in the Consolidated
Statements of Income. Finally, the 2005 net loss included
$0.5 million in losses recorded within income from oper-
ations of discontinued business in the Consolidated
Statements of Income related to the GMDB hedges. The
net loss recognized in 2004 included $25.1 million in loss-
es recorded within income from operations of discontin-
ued business in the Consolidated Statements of Income
related to the GMDB hedges. Additionally, the net loss in
2004 included $7.4 million of net gains representing the
ineffectiveness on equity-linked swap contracts, which
were recorded in fees and other income in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. Further, the 2004 net
loss also included a $0.6 million loss related to embed-
ded derivatives on equity-linked trust instruments sup-
ported by funding obligations, which was reported in
other operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements
of Income. The net gain recognized in 2003 included
$14.0 million of net gains representing the ineffectiveness
on equity-linked swap contracts, which was recorded in
fees and other income in the Consolidated Statements of
Income. Additionally, the net gain in 2003 included $8.4
million in losses recorded within income from operations
of discontinued business in the Consolidated Statements
of Income related to the GMDB hedges. Further, the 2003
net gain also included a $1.7 million loss related to
embedded derivatives on equity-linked trust instru-
ments supported by funding obligations, which is
reported in other operating expenses in the Consolidated
Statements of Income. 
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G. Unrealized Gains and Losses
Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale, other
securities and derivative instruments are summarized as
follows:

For the Years Ended December 31

(In millions)

Equity
Fixed Securities

2005 Maturities(1) And Other(2) Total

Net appreciation, beginning of year $ 84.9 $ 2.2 $ 87.1
Net (depreciation) appreciation on 

available-for -sale securities and 
derivative instruments (171.4) 2.5 (168.9)

Net appreciation from the effect on
deferred policy acquisition costs
and on policy liabilities 50.2 — 50.2

Benefit (provision) for deferred
federal income taxes 42.4 (0.9) 41.5

(78.8) 1.6 (77.2)

Net appreciation, end of year $ 6.1 $ 3.8 $ 9.9

2004

Net appreciation, beginning of year $ 86.4 $ 3.0 $ 89.4
Net depreciation on 

available-for -sale securities and 
derivative instruments (8.3) (1.2) (9.5)

Net appreciation from the effect on
deferred policy acquisition costs
and on policy liabilities 5.9 — 5.9

Benefit for deferred federal 
income taxes 0.9 0.4 1.3

(1.5) (0.8) (2.3)

Net appreciation, end of year $ 84.9 $ 2.2 $ 87.1

2003

Net appreciation, beginning of year $ 76.8 $ 6.6 $ 83.4
Net appreciation (depreciation) on

available-for-sale securities and
derivative instruments 10.9 (5.5) 5.4

Net appreciation from the effect on
deferred policy acquisition costs
and on policy liabilities 3.8 — 3.8

(Provision) benefit for deferred
federal income taxes (5.1) 1.9 (3.2)

9.6 (3.6) 6.0

Net appreciation, end of year $ 86.4 $ 3.0 $ 89.4

(1) Fixed maturities include after-tax net appreciation (depreciation) on derivative
instruments of $49.6 million, $20.0 million and $(4.7) million in 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively. Balances at December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 include after-tax
net depreciation from derivative instruments of $0.9 million, $50.5 million and
$70.5 million, respectively.

(2) Equity securities and other at December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 include after-tax
net appreciation (depreciation) on other assets of $0.6 million, $1.1 million and
$(2.9) million, respectively.

H. Securities in a Continuous Unrealized Loss Position
The following table provides information about the
Company’s fixed maturities and equity securities that
have been continuously in an unrealized loss position at
December 31, 2005 and 2004:

December 31 2005 2004

(In millions)

Gross Gross
Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair

Losses Value Losses(3) Value(3)

Investment grade 
fixed maturities (1):

0-6 months $33.4 $2,151.5 $ 4.2 $ 652.7
7-12 months 5.3 184.2 6.1 332.0
Greater than 

12 months 26.7 595.8 15.5 425.4

Total investment 
grade fixed maturities 65.4 2,931.5 25.8 1,410.1

Below investment grade 
fixed maturities (2):

0-6 months 6.2 141.4 0.4 36.9
7-12 months 2.8 29.9 1.9 20.3
Greater than 

12 months — — — 1.0

Total below investment 
grade fixed maturities 9.0 171.3 2.3 58.2

Equity securities 0.1 1.4 0.1 0.7

Total fixed maturities 
and equity securities $74.5 $3,104.2 $28.2 $1,469.0

(1) Includes gross unrealized losses for investment grade fixed maturity obligations of
the U.S. Treasury, U.S. government and agency securities, states, and political
subdivisions of $12.1 million and $5.5 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

(2) Substantially all below investment grade securities with an unrealized loss had
been rated by the NAIC, Standard & Poor’s, or Moody’s at December 31, 2005 and
2004.

(3) Includes gross unrealized losses of $4.3 million and fair value of $191.8 million of
investment grade fixed maturities and gross unrealized losses of $0.3 million and
fair value of $1.5 million of below investment grade fixed maturities for the
Company’s discontinued variable life insurance and annuity business related to
AFLIAC at December 31, 2004. There were no equity securities in an unrealized
loss position for the Company’s discontinued variable life insurance and annuity
business at December 31, 2004. 

The Company employs a systematic methodology to
evaluate declines in fair values below amortized cost for
all investments. The methodology utilizes a quantitative
and qualitative process ensuring that available evidence
concerning the declines in fair value below amortized
cost is evaluated in a disciplined manner. In determining
whether a decline in fair value below amortized cost is
other-than-temporary, the Company evaluates the
issuer’s overall financial condition; the issuer’s credit



Our policy is performance.TM

91

and financial strength ratings; the issuer’s financial per-
formance, including earnings trends, dividend pay-
ments, and asset quality; a weakening of the general
market conditions in the industry or geographic region
in which the issuer operates; the length of time in which
the fair value of an issuer’s securities remains below cost;
and with respect to fixed maturity investments, any fac-
tors that might raise doubt about the issuer’s ability to
pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms.
The Company applies these factors to all securities. As a
result of this review, the Company has concluded that
the gross unrealized losses of fixed maturities and equi-
ty securities at December 31, 2005 are temporary.

I. Variable Interest Entity
The Company holds a significant variable interest in a
limited partnership. In 1997, the Company invested in
the McDonald Corporate Tax Credit Fund - 1996 Limited
Partnership, which was organized to invest in low
income housing projects which qualify for tax credits
under the Internal Revenue Code. The Company’s
investment in this limited partnership, which represents
approximately 36% of the partnership, is not a control-
ling interest; it entitles the Company to tax credits to be
applied against its federal income tax liability in addition
to tax losses to offset taxable income. The Company’s
maximum exposure to loss on this investment is limited
to its carrying value, which was $6.6 million at December
31, 2005. 

J. Other
At December 31, 2005, the Company had no concentra-
tion of investments in a single investee that exceeded
10% of shareholders’ equity except for investments with
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation with a fair
value of $729.9 million and Federal National Mortgage
Association with a fair value of $436.7 million. At
December 31, 2004, the Company had no concentration
of investments in a single investee that exceeded 10% of
shareholders’ equity except for investments with Federal
Home Loan Mortgage Corporation with a fair value of
$669.3 million, Federal National Mortgage Association
with a fair value of $474.0 million and Morgan Stanley
Dean Witter Capital I with a fair value of $270.5 million.

6. Investment Income and Gains and Losses

A. Net Investment Income
The components of net investment income were as
follows:

For The Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Fixed maturities $ 316.7 $ 339.6 $ 349.7 
Equity securities 1.0 2.1 0.6
Mortgage loans 9.7 12.2 19.3
Policy loans 8.6 9.2 10.1
Derivative instruments (10.8) (21.3) (5.9)
Other long-term investments — (3.9) (4.4)
Short-term investments 5.3 1.7 2.0

Gross investment income 330.5 339.6 371.4
Less investment expenses (9.1) (10.3) (7.5)

Net investment income $ 321.4 $ 329.3 $ 363.9

The Company had fixed maturities with a carrying
value of $5.1 million and $29.8 million on non-accrual
status at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The
Company had no mortgage loans on non-accrual status
at December 31, 2005 or 2004. The effect of non-accruals,
compared with amounts that would have been recog-
nized in accordance with the original terms of the invest-
ments, was a reduction in net investment income of $2.0
million, $4.1 million and $4.2 million in 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively.

The payment terms of mortgage loans may from time
to time be restructured or modified. There were no
restructured mortgage loans at December 31, 2005 and
2004.

There were no mortgage loans which were non-
income producing at December 31, 2005 and 2004.
However, the Company had non-income producing
fixed maturities with a carrying value of $1.5 million and
$13.3 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Included in other long-term investments is income
from limited partnerships of $1.5 million in 2005, losses
of $0.3 million in 2004, and income of $3.2 million in
2003.
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B. Net Realized Investment Gains and Losses
Realized gains (losses) on investments were as follows:

For The Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Fixed maturities $ 22.1 $ 22.9 $ 22.5
Equity securities 0.2 3.1 (3.4)
Mortgage loans 0.5 0.3 0.9
Derivative instruments 1.2 (9.7) (4.3)
Other long-term investments (0.2) (0.5) (0.6)

Net realized investment gains $ 23.8 $ 16.1 $ 15.1

The proceeds from voluntary sales of available-for-
sale securities and the gross realized gains and gross
realized losses on those sales were as follows:

For The Years Ended December 31

(In millions)

Proceeds from Gross Gross
2005 Voluntary Sales Gains Losses

Fixed maturities $ 1,213.8 $ 37.2 $12.7
Equity securities $ 0.9 $ 0.3 $ —

2004

Fixed maturities $ 724.5 $ 21.3 $ 4.3
Equity securities $ 6.6 $ 3.3 $ 0.1

2003

Fixed maturities $ 1,012.4 $ 66.1 $12.3
Equity securities $ 11.4 $ 1.3 $ —

The Company recognized losses of $9.3 million, $6.3
million and $40.2 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respec-
tively, related to other-than-temporary impairments of
fixed maturities and other securities. 

C. Other Comprehensive Income Reconciliation
The following table provides a reconciliation of gross
unrealized gains (losses) to the net balance shown in the
Statements of Comprehensive Income:

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Unrealized (depreciation) appreciation 
on available-for-sale securities:

Unrealized holding (losses) gains 
arising during period (net of 
income tax benefit (expense) of 
$60.8, $(1.1) and $(15.3) in 2005, 
2004 and 2003) $ (112.8) $ 1.9 $ 28.4

Less: reclassification adjustment 
for gains included in net income 
(net of income tax expense of 
$7.4, $13.1 and $9.6 in 2005, 2004 
and 2003) 14.0 24.2 17.7

Total available-for-sale securities (126.8) (22.3) 10.7

Unrealized appreciation (depreciation) 
on derivative instruments:

Unrealized holding (losses) gains 
arising during period (net of 
income tax benefit (expense) of 
$21.4, $(11.7) and $(10.7) in 2005, 
2004 and 2003) (39.8) 21.9 19.9

Less: reclassification adjustment 
for (losses) gains included in 
net income (net of income tax 
benefit (expense) of $48.1, $(1.0) 
and $(13.2) in 2005, 2004 and 2003) (89.4) 1.9 24.6

Total derivative instruments 49.6 20.0 (4.7)

Other comprehensive (loss) income $ (77.2) $ (2.3) $ 6.0

7. Fair Value Disclosures of Financial
Instruments

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 107,
Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments,
requires disclosure of fair value information about cer-
tain financial instruments (insurance contracts, real
estate, goodwill and taxes are excluded) for which it is
practicable to estimate such values, whether or not these
instruments are included in the balance sheet. The fair
values presented for certain financial instruments are
estimates which, in many cases, may differ significantly
from the amounts that could be realized upon immediate
liquidation. 

The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair value of each class of financial
instruments:

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
For these short-term investments, the carrying amount
approximates fair value.

Fixed Maturities 
Fair values are based on quoted market prices, if avail-
able. If a quoted market price is not available, fair values
are estimated using independent pricing sources or
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December 31 2005 2004

(In millions)

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Value Value Value Value

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 701.5 $ 701.5 $ 486.5 $ 486.5
Fixed maturities 5,708.2 5,708.2 7,822.2 7,822.2
Equity securities 18.0 18.0 17.0 17.0
Mortgage loans 99.6 109.0 114.8 133.9
Policy loans 139.9 139.9 256.4 256.4
Derivative instruments 3.5 3.5 72.9 72.9

$ 6,670.7 $ 6,680.1 $ 8,769.8 $ 8,788.9

Financial Liabilities
Guaranteed investment contracts $ 30.3 $ 30.5 $ 30.0 $ 31.2
Derivative instruments 24.0 24.0 12.3 12.3
Supplemental contracts without life contingencies 20.6 20.6 75.4 75.4
Dividend accumulations 85.1 85.1 86.1 86.1
Other individual contract deposit funds 11.8 11.8 44.1 44.1
Other group contract deposit funds 35.6 35.1 38.6 38.3
Individual annuity contracts – general account (1) 96.9 93.7 1,156.1 1,121.3
Trust instruments supported by funding obligations (2) 294.3 297.3 1,126.0 1,128.2
Long-term debt 508.8 537.9 508.8 552.3

$ 1,107.4 $ 1,136.0 $ 3,077.4 $ 3,089.2

(1) As of December 31, 2004 the carrying value and fair value included $1,045.8 million and $1,015.1 million, respectively, relating to the AFLIAC variable life insurance and
annuity business that was sold December 30, 2005. The remaining balances in 2005 and 2004 relate to FAFLIC’s variable life insurance and annuity business.

(2) Balances in 2005 decreased primarily due to scheduled maturities.

internally developed pricing models using discounted
cash flow analyses which utilize current interest rates for
similar financial instruments which have comparable
terms and credit quality.

Equity Securities
Fair values are based on quoted market prices, if avail-
able. If a quoted market price is not available, fair values
are estimated using independent pricing sources or
internally developed pricing models.

Mortgage Loans
Fair values are estimated by discounting the future con-
tractual cash flows using the current rates at which sim-
ilar loans would be made to borrowers with similar
credit ratings. The fair values are limited to the lesser of
the present value of the cash flows or book value.

Policy Loans
The carrying amount reported in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets approximates fair value since policy loans
have no defined maturity dates and are inseparable from
the insurance contracts. 

Derivative Instruments 
Fair values are estimated using independent pricing
sources. 

Investment Contracts (Without Mortality Features) 
Fair values for liabilities under guaranteed investment
type contracts are estimated using discounted cash flow
calculations using current interest rates for similar con-
tracts with maturities consistent with those remaining
for the contracts being valued. Liabilities under supple-
mental contracts without life contingencies are estimated
based on current fund balances while other individual
contract funds represent the present value of future
policy benefits. Other liabilities are based on current sur-
render values.

Trust Instruments Supported by Funding Obligations 
Fair values are estimated using discounted cash flow cal-
culations using current interest rates for similar contracts
with maturities consistent with those remaining for the
contracts being valued.

Long-term Debt 
The fair value of long-term debt was estimated based on
quoted market prices, if available. If a quoted market
price is not available, fair values are estimated using
independent pricing sources.

The estimated fair values of the financial instruments
were as follows: 



94

The Hanover Insurance Group

8. Closed Block

Summarized financial information of the Closed Block is
as follows for the periods indicated:

December 31 2005 2004

(In millions)

Assets
Fixed maturities, at fair value (amortized cost

of $514.5 and $505.3) $ 520.7 $ 535.1
Mortgage loans 25.2 31.4
Policy loans 135.8 144.4
Cash and cash equivalents 4.4 20.1
Accrued investment income 11.5 11.4
Deferred policy acquisition costs 3.4 4.4
Deferred federal income taxes 3.9 8.0
Other assets 2.2 2.6

Total assets $ 707.1 $ 757.4

Liabilities
Policy liabilities and accruals $ 707.1 $ 726.1
Policyholder dividends 34.4 64.9
Other liabilities 2.2 10.6

Total liabilities $ 743.7 $ 801.6

Excess of Closed Block liabilities over assets 
designated to the Closed Block $ 36.6 $ 44.2

Amounts included in accumulated other 
comprehensive income:

Net unrealized investment losses (net of 
deferred federal income tax benefits of 
$1.8 and $5.9) (3.4) (11.0)

Maximum future earnings to be recognized 
from Closed Block assets and liabilities $ 33.2 $ 33.2

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Revenues
Premiums and other income $ 36.4 $ 38.7 $ 40.8
Net investment income 41.5 43.0 46.4
Net realized investment gains 5.2 — 2.3

Total revenues 83.1 81.7 89.5

Benefits and expenses
Policy benefits 73.1 68.8 80.7
Policy acquisition expenses 1.1 1.7 2.2
Other operating expenses 0.4 0.1 0.2

Total benefits and expenses 74.6 70.6 83.1

Contribution from the Closed Block $ 8.5 $ 11.1 $ 6.4

Cash flows
Cash flows from operating activities:

Contribution from the Closed
Block $ 8.5 $ 11.1 $ 6.4

Adjustment for net realized 
investment gains (5.2) — (2.3)

Change in: 
Deferred policy acquisition costs 1.0 1.7 2.1
Policy liabilities and accruals (14.5) (25.6) (15.0)
Expenses and taxes payable (8.3) (0.3) (21.2)
Other, net 0.9 4.3 (0.8)

Net cash used in operating activities (17.6) (8.8) (30.8)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Sales, maturities and 

repayments of investments 65.8 67.9 136.2
Purchases of investments (72.5) (60.1) (107.6)
Policy loans 8.6 11.7 11.3

Net cash provided by 
investing activities 1.9 19.5 39.9

Net (decrease) increase in cash and 
cash equivalents (15.7) 10.7 9.1

Cash and cash equivalents, 
beginning of year 20.1 9.4 0.3

Cash and cash equivalents, 
end of year $ 4.4 $ 20.1 $ 9.4

Many expenses related to Closed Block operations are
charged to operations outside the Closed Block; accord-
ingly, the contribution from the Closed Block does not
represent the actual profitability of the Closed Block
operations. Operating costs and expenses outside of the
Closed Block are, therefore, disproportionate to the busi-
ness outside the Closed Block.
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9. Debt

Long-term debt as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 con-
sisted of the following:

(In millions)

Debt related to junior subordinated debentures $309.3
Senior debentures (unsecured) 199.5

$508.8

AFC Capital Trust I, an unconsolidated subsidiary of
THG, issued $300.0 million of preferred securities in
1997, the proceeds of which were used to purchase jun-
ior subordinated debentures issued by the Company.
Coincident with the issuance of the preferred securities,
the Company issued $9.3 million of junior subordinated
debentures to purchase all of the common stock of AFC
Capital Trust I. These junior subordinated debentures
have a face value of $309.3 million, pay cumulative divi-
dends semi-annually at 8.207% and mature February 3,
2027. The preferred securities and common stock pay
cumulative dividends semi-annually at 8.207%. The pre-
ferred securities are subject to certain restrictive
covenants, with which the Company is in compliance.
See also Note 1M – Junior Surbordinated Debentures.

Senior debentures of the Company have a $200.0 mil-
lion face value, pay interest semi-annually at a rate of 7
5/8% and mature on October 16, 2025. The senior deben-
tures are subject to certain restrictive covenants, includ-
ing limitations on issuance or disposition of stock of
restricted subsidiaries and limitations on liens. The
Company is in compliance with all covenants.

The Company had no commercial paper borrowings
as of December 31, 2005 and does not anticipate utilizing
commercial paper in 2006. 

Interest expense was $40.6 million in 2005 and 2004,
and $39.9 million in 2003. Interest expense included $15.3
million related to the Company’s senior debentures for
each year. In 2005 and 2004, interest expense also includ-
ed $25.3 million related to the junior subordinated
debentures, while the interest expense in 2003 included

$24.6 million of expense associated with the mandatorily
redeemable preferred securities of a subsidiary trust
holding solely junior subordinated debentures of the
Company. As a result of the adoption of Statement No.
150 in 2003, preferred dividends related to these securi-
ties were required to be reflected as a component of
interest expense. All interest expense is recorded in other
operating expenses.

10. Federal Income Taxes

Provisions for federal income taxes have been calculated
in accordance with the provisions of Statement No. 109.
A summary of the federal income tax (benefit) expense in
the Consolidated Statements of Income is shown below:

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Federal income tax (benefit) expense :
Current $ (6.8) $ 39.2 $ 4.1
Deferred 1.6 (40.0) (0.2)

$ (5.2) $ (0.8) $ 3.9

The federal income tax (benefit) expense attributable
to the consolidated results of operations is different from
the amount determined by multiplying income before
federal income taxes by the statutory federal income tax
rate. The sources of the difference and the tax effects of
each were as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Expected federal income tax expense $ 24.9 $ 50.6 $ 21.1
Tax-exempt interest (12.9) (15.1) (17.9)
Prior years’ federal income 

tax settlement (9.5) (30.4) —
Tax credits (4.1) (4.3) (4.5)
Change in estimates for prior years

dividend received deduction (2.3) — —
Dividend received deduction (2.1) (2.3) (2.4)
Changes in other tax estimates 1.9 2.7 5.9
Stock-based compensation — — 2.1
Other, net (1.1) (2.0) (0.4)

Federal income tax (benefit) expense $ (5.2) $ (0.8) $ 3.9
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Following are the components of the Company’s
deferred tax assets and liabilities.

December 31 2005 2004

(In millions)

Deferred tax (assets) liabilities
Insurance reserves $(186.2) $ (383.7)
Tax credit carryforwards (184.9) (184.9)
Loss carryforwards (184.3) (39.4)
Employee benefit plans (102.1) (107.2)
Deferred acquisition costs 65.6 259.9
Discontinued accident and health business (15.8) (16.6)
Investments, net (24.9) 10.7
Software capitalization 20.2 19.3
FAFLIC coinsurance agreement related to

variable life insurance and annuity business (9.6) —
Indemnity liability (6.7) —
Bad debt reserves (3.8) (3.4)
Restructuring reserves (0.7) (2.0)
Deferred sales inducements — 25.5
Other, net 2.6 6.7

(630.6) (415.1)
Valuation allowance 165.3 —

Deferred tax asset, net $(465.3) $ (415.1)

Gross deferred income tax assets totaled approximate-
ly $1.5 billion at December 31, 2005 and 2004. Gross
deferred income tax liabilities totaled approximately $1.0
billion and $1.1 billion at December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

The sale of the variable life insurance and annuity
business resulted in a tax loss of $491.8 million. A valua-
tion allowance of $472.3 million was recorded against the
capital loss carryforwards, as it is the Company’s opin-
ion that it is more likely than not that this asset will not
be realized. The Company believes, based on objective
evidence, the remaining deferred tax assets will be real-
ized. At December 31, 2005, the Company had net capi-
tal loss carryforwards of $24.9 million which begin to
expire in 2008. The Company also had net operating loss
carryforwards of $29.5 million which begin to expire in
2020. In addition, at December 31, 2005, there were avail-
able alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards, low
income housing credit carryforwards and foreign tax
credit carryforwards of $124.0 million, $60.2 million and
$0.7 million, respectively. The alternative minimum tax
credit carryforwards have no expiration date, the low
income housing credit carryforwards will expire begin-
ning in 2018 and the foreign tax credit carryforward will
expire beginning in 2013. 

The Company’s federal income tax returns are rou-
tinely audited by the IRS, and provisions are made in the
financial statements in anticipation of the results of these
audits. The IRS has examined the FAFLIC/AFLIAC con-

solidated group’s federal income tax returns through
2001. The IRS has also examined the former Allmerica
Property and Casualty Companies, Inc. (“Allmerica
P&C”) consolidated group’s federal income tax returns
through 2001. In the Company’s opinion, adequate tax
liabilities have been established for all years. However,
the amount of these tax liabilities could be revised in the
near term if estimates of the Company’s ultimate liabili-
ty are revised.

11. Pension Plans

Defined Benefit Plans
Prior to 2005, THG provided retirement benefits to sub-
stantially all of its employees under defined benefit pen-
sion plans. These plans were based on a defined benefit
cash balance formula, whereby the Company annually
provided an allocation to each covered employee based
on a percentage of that employee’s eligible salary, similar
to a defined contribution plan arrangement. In addition
to the cash balance allocation, certain transition group
employees who had met specified age and service
requirements as of December 31, 1994, were eligible for a
grandfathered benefit based primarily on the employees’
years of service and compensation during their highest
five consecutive plan years of employment. The
Company’s policy for the plans was to fund at least the
minimum amount required by the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”). 

As of January 1, 2005, the defined benefit pension
plans were frozen and the Company enhanced its
defined contribution 401(k) plan. No further cash bal-
ance allocations have been credited for plan years begin-
ning on or after January 1, 2005. In addition,
grandfathered benefits were frozen at January 1, 2005
levels with an annual transition pension adjustment cal-
culated at an interest rate equal to 5% per year, up to 35
years of completed service, and 3% thereafter. As a result
of these actions, the Company recognized a curtailment
gain of $1.0 million in 2004. The changes to the 401(k)
plan are discussed in detail below.

Assumptions
In order to measure the expense associated with these
plans, management must make various estimates and
assumptions, including discount rates used to value lia-
bilities, assumed rates of return on plan assets, employ-
ee turnover rates and anticipated mortality rates, for
example. The estimates used by management are based
on the Company’s historical experience, as well as cur-
rent facts and circumstances. In addition, the Company
uses outside actuaries to assist in measuring the expense
and liability associated with these plans.
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The Company utilizes a measurement date of
December 31st to determine its pension benefit obliga-
tions. Weighted-average assumptions used to determine
pension benefit obligations are as follows:

December 31 2005 2004 2003

Discount rate 5.50% 5.63% 5.875%
Rate of compensation increase (1) NA NA 4.00%
Cash balance allocation (1) NA NA 5.00%
Cash balance interest crediting rate 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

(1) As a result of the aforementioned decision to freeze the defined benefit plans,
pension benefit obligations will not be affected by future compensation increases
and there will be no further cash balance allocations.

The Company utilizes a measurement date of January
1st to determine its periodic pension costs. Weighted-
average assumptions used to determine net periodic
pension costs are as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

Discount rate 5.63% 5.875% 6.25%
Expected return on plan assets 8.25% 8.50% 8.50%
Rate of compensation increase (1) NA 4.00% 4.00%
Cash balance allocation (1) NA 5.50% 5.00%
Cash balance interest crediting rate 5.00% 5.00% 6.00%

(1) As a result of the aforementioned decision to freeze the defined benefit plans,
pension benefit obligations will not be affected by future compensation increases
and there will be no further cash balance allocations.

The expected rate of return was determined by using
historical mean returns, adjusted for certain factors
believed to have an impact on future returns.
Specifically, the Company expects the equity market
returns will be in the high single digit range and has
adjusted the historical mean return for actively managed
stocks downward to reflect this expectation. Also, the
Company decreased its fixed income mean return based
on its expectation of modest increases in interest rates
slightly offsetting the coupon return. The adjusted mean
returns were weighted to the plan’s actual asset alloca-
tion at December 31, 2004, resulting in an expected rate
of return on plan assets for 2005 of 8.25%.

Plan Assets
The Company utilizes a target allocation strategy, focus-
ing on creating a mix of assets to generate growth in
equity, as well as managing expenses and contributions.
Various factors were taken into consideration in deter-
mining the appropriate asset mix, such as census data,
actuarial valuation information and capital market
assumptions. The Company has determined that the

optimal investment strategy is to have a target mix of
72% of its plan assets in equity securities and 28% in
fixed income securities and money market funds. The
target allocations and actual invested asset allocations
for 2005 and 2004 for the Company’s plan assets are as
follows:

Target

December 31 Levels 2005 2004

Equity securities:
Domestic 47% 39.83% 41.91%
International 20% 20.47% 20.42%
THG Common Stock 5% 10.17% 7.88%

Total equity securities 72% 70.47% 70.21%

Fixed maturities 26% 28.61% 29.38%
Money market funds 2% 0.92% 0.41%

Total fixed maturities and 
money market funds 28% 29.53% 29.79%

Total assets 100% 100.00% 100.00%

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, approximately 87%
and 67% respectively, of plan assets were invested in
non-affiliated commingled funds. Equity securities
include 796,462 shares of THG common stock at
December 31, 2005 and 2004 with a market value of $33.3
million and $26.1 million, respectively. 

Obligations and Funded Status
The following table is a reconciliation of the beginning
and ending balances of the benefit obligations and the
fair value of plan assets. At December 31, 2005 and 2004,
the projected benefit obligations exceeded the plans’
assets, the difference of which is reflected as an addition-
al minimum pension liability. Changes in the minimum
pension liability are reflected as an adjustment to accu-
mulated other comprehensive income and are primarily
comprised of the difference between the present value of
accumulated benefit obligations and the market value of
assets funding the plan. At December 31, 2005 and 2004,
the Company had $106.8 million and $129.4 million in
accumulated other comprehensive income related to its
minimum pension liability. As such, during 2005 the
Company recorded a decrease in the minimum pension
liability of $22.6 million, while in 2004, the Company
recorded an increase of $16.6 million. The change in the
liability from 2004 to 2005 is primarily due to an increase
in the actual return on assets in 2005, as well as changes
in participant demographics, partially offset by a lower
2005 year-end discount rate. 
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December 31 2005 2004

(In millions)

Accumulated benefit obligation $ 548.3 $ 559.7

Change in benefit obligation:
Projected benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 559.7 $ 522.5
Service cost – benefits earned during the year 0.1 11.1
Interest cost 30.6 31.2
Actuarial (gains) losses (8.3) 28.4
Benefits paid (33.8) (33.5)

Projected benefit obligation, end of year 548.3 559.7

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year 331.9 330.7
Actual return on plan assets 25.1 28.9
Company contribution 3.9 5.8
Benefits paid (33.8) (33.5)

Fair value of plan assets, end of year 327.1 331.9

Funded status of the plan (221.2) (227.8)
Unrecognized transition obligation (8.1) (9.4)
Unamortized prior service cost 0.7 1.2
Unrecognized net actuarial losses 115.3 140.1
Additional minimum pension liability (106.8) (129.4)

Net pension liability $(220.1) $ (225.3)

Components of net periodic pension cost were as
follows:

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Service cost – benefits earned 
during the year $ 0.1 $ 11.1 $ 11.8

Interest cost 30.6 31.2 30.4
Expected return on plan assets (26.1) (27.0) (22.4)
Recognized net actuarial loss 17.4 22.4 29.8
Amortization of transition asset (1.3) (1.4) (1.4)
Amortization of prior service cost 0.5 (1.8) (1.9)
Curtailment (gain) loss and special 

termination benefits — (1.0) 0.7

Net periodic pension cost $ 21.2 $ 33.5 $ 47.0

The curtailment gain in 2004 is due to the aforemen-
tioned decision to freeze the defined benefit pension
plans and primarily reflects the elimination of unrecog-
nized prior service cost. The curtailment loss in 2003 of
$0.7 million is the result of the Life Companies VeraVest
restructuring effort in the fourth quarter of 2003 (see
Note 3 – Significant Transactions on pages 83 and 84 of
this Form 10-K). The curtailment loss primarily reflects
the elimination of future expected years of service for
those home office participants terminated as a result of
the VeraVest restructuring.

The unrecognized net actuarial gains (losses) which
exceed 10% of the greater of the projected benefit obliga-
tion or the market value of plan assets are amortized as
a component of net periodic pension cost over five years.

Contributions
The Company is required to contribute $52.1 million to
its qualified pension plan in 2006 in order to fund its
minimum obligation in accordance with ERISA. In addi-
tion, the Company expects to contribute $2.7 million to
its non-qualified pension plans to fund 2006 benefit pay-
ments. At this time, no discretionary contributions are
expected to be made to the plans in 2006.

Benefit Payments
The Company estimates that benefit payments over the
next 10 years will be as follows: 

For the Years Ended 2011-
December 31 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2015

(In millions)

Qualified pension 
plan $28.1 $28.1 $28.6 $ 28.7 $29.5 $164.2

Non-qualified 
pension plan $ 2.7 $ 2.6 $ 2.7 $ 2.6 $ 2.6 $ 12.6

The benefit payments are based on the same assump-
tions used to measure the Company’s benefit obligations
at the end of 2005. 

Defined Contribution Plans
In addition to the defined benefit plans, THG provides a
defined contribution 401(k) plan for its employees,
whereby the Company matches employee elective 401(k)
contributions, up to a maximum percentage determined
annually by the Board of Directors. Effective January 1,
2005, coincident with the aforementioned decision to
freeze the defined benefit plans, the Company enhanced
its 401(k) plan to match 100% of employees’ 401(k) plan
contributions up to 5% of eligible compensation. During
2005, the Company expense for this matching provision
was $11.5 million. In addition to this matching provision,
the Company will make an annual contribution to
employees’ accounts equal to 3% of the employee’s eligi-
ble compensation. This annual contribution will be made
regardless of whether the employee contributed to the
plan, as long as the employee was employed on the last
day of the year. The Company’s cost for this additional
contribution was $8.3 million for 2005. During 2004 and
2003, the 401(k) plan provided for a company match
equal to 50% of the employees’ contribution up to 6% of
eligible compensation and resulted in a cost to the
Company of $5.2 million and $5.4 million, respectively.
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12. Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

In addition to the Company’s pension plans, the
Company currently provides postretirement medical
and death benefits to certain full-time employees, former
agents, retirees and their dependents, under welfare ben-
efit plans sponsored by FAFLIC. Generally, active
employees become eligible with at least 15 years of serv-
ice after the age of 40. Former agents of the Company
became eligible at age 55 with at least 15 years of service.
The population of agents receiving postretirement bene-
fits was frozen as of December 31, 2002, when the
Company ceased its distribution of proprietary life and
annuity products and terminated all life insurance and
annuity agent contracts. Spousal coverage is generally
provided for up to two years after death of the retiree.
Benefits include hospital, major medical and a payment
at death equal to retirees’ final compensation up to cer-
tain limits. Effective January 1, 1996, the Company
revised these benefits so as to establish limits on future
benefit payments to beneficiaries of retired employees
and to restrict eligibility to then current employees. The
medical plans have varying co-payments and
deductibles, depending on the plan. These plans are
unfunded.

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (“The
Act”) was enacted. The Act provides for a prescription
drug benefit under Medicare as well as a federal subsidy
to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that pro-
vide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to the
benefit provided under Medicare. The Company adopt-
ed the provisions of the Act effective July 1, 2004. The
Company determined that its benefits were at least actu-
arially equivalent to those provided by Medicare, and
therefore recognized a reduction in its accumulated post-
retirement benefit obligation for the transition cost of
$2.9 million in 2004. 

Obligation and Funded Status
The plans funded status reconciled with amounts recog-
nized in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets
were as follows:

December 31 2005 2004

(In millions)

Change in benefit obligation:
Accumulated postretirement benefit 

obligation, beginning of year $ 69.0 $ 78.9
Service cost 0.4 1.3
Interest cost 3.2 4.2
Net actuarial losses 8.8 1.0
Plan amendments (5.7) (12.3)
Benefits paid (3.9) (4.1)

Accumulated postretirement benefit 
obligation, end of year 71.8 69.0

Fair value of plan assets, end of year — —

Funded status of plan (71.8) (69.0)
Unamortized prior service cost (19.8) (19.6)
Unrecognized net actuarial losses 13.5 5.1

Accumulated postretirement benefit costs $ (78.1) $ (83.5)

Plan amendments in 2005 and 2004 resulted in a ben-
efit of $5.7 million and $12.3 million, respectively. The
amendments reflect net increases in certain home office
and agent retiree contributions, deductibles and co-pay-
ments, thereby lowering plan costs. In addition, the 2004
plan amendments include the implementation of a cap
on future medical and drug claims for plan participants
under the age of 65.

The Company estimates that benefit payments over
the next 10 years will be as follows: 

For the Years Ended December 31

(In millions)

2006 $ 4.8
2007 5.4
2008 5.4
2009 5.5
2010 5.6
2011-2015 27.6
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The benefit payments are based on the same assump-
tions used to measure the Company’s benefit obligation
at the end of 2005 and reflect benefits attributable to esti-
mated future service. 

Components of Net Periodic Postretirement 
Benefit Costs
The components of net periodic postretirement benefit
cost were as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Service cost $ 0.4 $ 1.3 $ 1.4
Interest cost 3.2 4.2 4.9
Recognized net actuarial loss 0.4 0.4 0.2
Amortization of prior service cost (5.5) (3.2) (1.9)

Net periodic postretirement (benefit) cost $ (1.5) $ 2.7 $ 4.6

Assumptions
The Company utilizes a December 31 measurement date
for its postretirement benefit plans. Weighted-average
discount rate assumptions used to determine postretire-
ment benefit obligations and periodic postretirement
costs are as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004

Postretirement benefit obligations discount rate 5.50% 5.63%
Postretirement benefit cost discount rate 5.63% 5.875%

Assumed health care cost trend rates are as follows:

December 31 2005 2004

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 10% 10%
Rate to which the cost trend is assumed to 

decline (ultimate trend rate) 5% 5%
Year the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2012 2012

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a signifi-
cant effect on the amounts reported. A one-percentage
point change in assumed health care cost trend rates in
each year would have the following effects:

1-Percentage 1-Percentage
Point Increase Point Decrease

(In millions)

Effect on total of service and interest 
cost during 2005 $ 0.1 $ (0.1)

Effect on accumulated postretirement 
benefit obligation at December 31, 2005 $ 2.5 $ (2.2)

13. Stock-Based Compensation Plans

In 1996, the Company adopted a Long-Term Stock
Incentive Plan for employees of the Company, which
was amended in 2001 (the “Employees’ Plan”). Key
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries are
eligible for awards pursuant to the Plan administered by
the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors
(the “Committee”) of the Company. Under the terms of
the Employees’ Plan, the maximum number of shares
authorized for grants over the life of the Plan is equal to
9,153,198 shares as of December 31, 2005, increasing
annually by 1.25% of the Company’s outstanding stock.
The maximum number of shares available for award in
any given year is equal to 3.25% of the outstanding com-
mon stock of the Company at the beginning of the year,
plus any awards authorized but unused from prior
years. Under the Plan, awards may be granted in the
form of non-qualified or incentive stock options, stock
appreciation rights, performance awards or restricted
stock, or any combination of these.

Stock Options
Under the Plan, options may be granted to eligible
employees or agents at a price not less than the market
price of the Company’s common stock on the date of
grant. Option shares may be exercised subject to the
terms prescribed by the Committee at the time of grant.
Options granted in 2005, 2004 and 2003 vest over three
years with a 25% vesting rate in the first two years and a
50% vesting rate in the final year. Options granted prior
to 2002 all vest at a rate of 20% annually for five consec-
utive years. Options must be exercised not later than ten
years from the date of grant.
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Information on the Company’s stock option plan is summarized below:

2005 2004 2003

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average

(In whole shares and dollars) Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price

Outstanding, beginning of year 5,861,659 $ 37.83 5,139,372 $ 37.80 4,534,000 $ 48.35
Granted 975,473 36.46 1,689,250 36.17 1,824,500 16.45
Exercised 422,601 20.37 240,615 17.80 12,930 27.98
Forfeited 669,425 41.59 726,348 40.38 1,206,198 45.28 

Outstanding, end of year 5,745,106 $ 38.45 5,861,659 $ 37.83 5,139,372 $ 37.80

Options exercisable, end of year 3,000,945 $ 43.59 2,486,987 $ 44.77 2,040,992 $ 47.02

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date
of grant or date of conversion using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model. For all options granted through
2005, the exercise price equaled the market price of the
stock on the grant date. The weighted average fair value

of all options granted in 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $11.75
per share, $9.88 per share and $10.57 per share, respec-
tively. No options expired during 2005, 2004 or 2003.

The following significant assumptions were used to
determine the fair value for options granted:

Weighted Average Assumptions
for Options Granted during 2005 2004 2003

Dividend yield 0.61% to 0.80% — —
Expected volatility 30.86% to 34.97% 26.25% to 34.25% 36.62% to 122.34%
Risk-free interest rate 3.35% to 4.33% 1.86% to 3.95% 0.90% to 1.67%
Expected lives range (in years) 2.5 to 5 2.5 to 5 2.5 to 5 

The following table summarizes information about employee options outstanding and exercisable at December 31,
2005:

Options 
Options Outstanding Currently Exercisable

Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted

Remaining Average Average
Contractual Exercise Exercise

Range of Exercise Prices Number Lives Price Number Price

$14.94 to $29.75 1,004,097 7.22 $ 18.38 367,472 $ 19.46
$30.40 to $36.50 1,322,614 8.13 $ 35.86 210,012 $ 35.12
$36.88 to $41.20 1,160,234 8.20 $ 36.98 260,500 $ 36.95
$41.74 to $44.05 751,750 6.01 $ 44.03 751,750 $ 44.03
$44.56 to $47.23 350,361 4.18 $ 44.71 350,361 $ 44.71
$51.13 to $52.63 584,300 2.79 $ 52.25 584,100 $ 52.25
$55.00 to $66.88 571,750 5.01 $ 57.37 476,750 $ 57.43
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14. Earnings Per Share

The following table provides share information used in
the calculation of the Company’s basic and diluted earn-
ings per share:

December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions, except per share data)

Basic shares used in the calculation 
of earnings per share 53.5 53.2 52.9

Dilutive effect of securities:
Employee stock options 0.5 0.5 0.2
Non-vested stock grants — — 0.1

Diluted shares used in the calculation 
of earnings per share 54.0 53.7 53.2

Per share effect of dilutive securities on 
income from continuing operations $(0.01) $(0.02) $ —

Per share effect of dilutive securities 
on net (loss) income $ 0.06 $(0.02) $ (0.01)

Options to purchase 2.3 million shares, 4.4 million
shares, and 3.4 million shares of common stock were out-
standing during 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, but
were not included in the computation of diluted earn-
ings per share because the options’ exercise prices were
greater than the average market price of the common
shares and, therefore, the effect would be antidilutive. 

15. Dividend Restrictions

New Hampshire, Michigan and Massachusetts have
enacted laws governing the payment of dividends to
stockholders by insurers. New Hampshire and Michigan
laws affect the dividend paying ability of Hanover
Insurance and Citizens, respectively, while
Massachusetts laws affect the dividend paying ability of
FAFLIC. Prior to December 30, 2005, Massachusetts laws
also affected AFLIAC’s ability to pay dividends to its
then parent, THG.

Pursuant to New Hampshire’s statute, the maximum
dividends and other distributions that an insurer may
pay in any twelve month period, without prior approval
of the New Hampshire Insurance Commissioner, is lim-
ited to 10% of such insurer’s statutory policyholder sur-
plus as of the preceding December 31. Hanover
Insurance declared no dividends to its parent in 2005,
2004 or 2003. During 2006, the maximum allowable div-
idend and other distributions that can be paid to
Hanover Insurance’s parent without prior approval of
the New Hampshire Insurance Commissioner is $120.5
million.

Restricted Stock
Stock grants may be awarded to eligible employees at a
price established by the Committee (which may be zero).
Under the Employees’ Plan, stock grants may vest based
upon performance criteria or continued employment
and be in the form of shares or units. Stock grants which
vest based on performance vest over a minimum one
year period. Stock grants which vest based on continued
employment vest at the end of a minimum of three con-
secutive years.

During 2005 and 2004, the Company granted shares of
nonvested stock to eligible employees, which vest after
three years of continuous employment of service. Also,
during 2005 and 2004, the Company granted perform-
ance based restricted share units to certain employees,
which vest after three years of continuous employment
in addition to the attainment of specific performance
goals. During 2003, the Company granted shares of non-
vested stock to certain former Life Companies agents, all
of which were forfeited as a result of the Company’s
decision to cease operations of its broker-dealer opera-
tions (see Note 3 – Significant Transactions on pages 83
and 84 of this Form 10-K). The following table summa-
rizes information about employee and agent nonvested
stock and performance based restricted share units.

2005 2004 2003

(In whole shares and dollars)

Common stock granted 24,200 19,542 34,403
Weighted average fair value per 

share at the date of grant $ 38.05 $ 32.86 $ 14.20 
Performance based restricted 

stock units(1) 132,844 124,350 —
Weighted average fair value per 

share at the date of grant $ 36.40 $ 35.99 $ —

(1) Performance based restricted stock units provided in the table are based upon the
achievement of the performance metric at 100%. These units have the potential to
range from 0% to 150% of the shares disclosed in both 2005 and 2004.

The Company recognizes compensation expense
related to nonvested shares and performance based
share units over the vesting period on a pro rata basis. As
a result, the Company recognized $3.7 million, $1.7 mil-
lion and $2.3 million of compensation cost in 2005, 2004
and 2003, respectively. The expense in 2003 reflects net
benefits of $1.8 million resulting from the termination of
nonvested stock grants which were previously granted
to agents and other employees whose positions were
eliminated in that year.
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Pursuant to Michigan’s statute, the maximum divi-
dends and other distributions that an insurer may pay in
any twelve month period, without prior approval of the
Michigan Insurance Commissioner, is limited to the
greater of 10% of policyholders’ surplus as of December
31 of the immediately preceding year or the statutory net
income less realized gains, for the immediately preced-
ing calendar year. Citizens declared no dividends to its
parent in 2005 or 2004, and declared dividends to its par-
ent totaling $48.4 million in 2003. During 2006, the max-
imum allowable dividend and other distributions that
can be paid to Citizens’ parent without prior approval of
the Michigan Insurance Commissioner is $119.7 million. 

Massachusetts’ statute limits the dividends a life
insurer may pay in any twelve month period, without
the prior permission of the Massachusetts Commissioner
of Insurance, to the greater of (i) 10% of its statutory pol-
icyholder surplus as of the preceding December 31 or (ii)
the individual company’s statutory net gain from opera-
tions for the preceding calendar year. In addition, under
Massachusetts law, no domestic insurer may pay a divi-
dend or make any distribution to its shareholders from
other than unassigned funds unless the Commissioner
has approved such dividend or distribution. Effective
December 30, 2005, in connection with the closing of the
sale of the Company’s run-off variable life insurance and
annuity business to Goldman Sachs, the Company
entered into an agreement with the Massachusetts
Division of Insurance to maintain total adjusted capital
levels at a minimum of 100% of FAFLIC’s Company
Action Level, which was $46.1 million at December 31,
2005. This agreement replaces the previous commitment
from the Company to the Division of Insurance dated
December 23, 2002, whereby the Company agreed to
maintain total adjusted capital levels at a minimum of
100% of AFLIAC’s Company Action Level. Total adjust-
ed capital for life insurance companies is defined as cap-
ital and surplus, plus asset valuation reserve, plus 50% of
dividends apportioned for payment. The Company
Action Level is the first level in which the Massachusetts
Commissioner of Insurance could mandate regulatory
involvement based solely upon levels of risk based capi-
tal. There can be no assurance that FAFLIC would not
require additional capital contributions from THG.
FAFLIC cannot pay dividends to its parent without prior
approval from the Massachusetts Commissioner of
Insurance. In December 2005, FAFLIC, with permission
from the Massachusetts Commissioner of Insurance,
declared a $48.6 million dividend to THG. In the fourth
quarters of 2004 and 2003, with permission from the
Massachusetts Commissioner of Insurance, AFLIAC
declared dividends of $75.0 million and $25.0 million,
respectively, to its then parent, THG. 

16. Segment Information

The Company’s business includes financial products and
services in two major areas: Property and Casualty and
Life Companies. Within these broad areas, the Company
conducts business principally in four operating seg-
ments. These segments are Personal Lines, Commercial
Lines, Other Property and Casualty, and Life Companies.
In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 131, Disclosures About Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information (“Statement No. 131”),
the separate financial information of each segment is pre-
sented consistent with the way results are regularly eval-
uated by the chief operating decision maker in deciding
how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.
A summary of the Company’s reportable segments is
included below.

The Property and Casualty group manages its opera-
tions principally through three segments: Personal Lines,
Commercial Lines and Other Property and Casualty.
Personal Lines include such property and casualty cov-
erages as personal automobile, homeowners and other
personal policies, while Commercial Lines include such
property and casualty coverages as workers’ compensa-
tion, commercial automobile, commercial multiple peril
and other commercial policies. In addition, the Other
Property and Casualty segment consists of: voluntary
pools in which the Company has not actively participat-
ed since 1995; AMGRO, Inc. (“AMGRO”), the
Company’s premium financing business; Opus
Investment Management Inc. (“Opus”), which markets
investment management services to institutions, pension
funds and other organizations; and earnings on holding
company assets. 

As a result of the sale of the Company’s variable life
insurance and annuity business, the Life Companies seg-
ment, which is in run-off, now consists primarily of a
block of traditional life insurance products (principally
the Closed Block), GIC business, as well as certain non-
insurance subsidiaries (see Note 2 - Sale of Variable Life
Insurance and Annuity Business on pages 82 and 83 of
this Form 10-K). Assets and liabilities related to the rein-
sured variable life insurance and annuity business, as
well as the discontinued group life and health business,
including group life and health voluntary pools, are
reflected in this segment.

The Company reports interest expense related to its
corporate debt separately from the earnings of its oper-
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ating segments. Corporate debt consists of the
Company’s junior subordinated debentures and its sen-
ior debentures. 

Management evaluates the results of the aforemen-
tioned segments on a pre-tax basis. Segment income
excludes certain items, which are included in net income,
such as federal income taxes and net realized investment
gains and losses, including certain gains or losses on
derivative instruments, because fluctuations in these
gains and losses are determined by interest rates, finan-
cial markets and the timing of sales. Also, segment
income excludes net gains and losses on disposals of
businesses, discontinued operations, restructuring and
reorganization costs, extraordinary items, the cumula-
tive effect of accounting changes and certain other items.
While these items may be significant components in
understanding and assessing the Company’s financial
performance, management believes that the presentation
of segment income (loss) enhances understanding of the
Company’s results of operations by highlighting net
income (loss) attributable to the core operations of the
business. However, segment income (loss) should not be
construed as a substitute for net income (loss) deter-
mined in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles.

Summarized below is financial information with
respect to business segments:

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Segment revenues:
Property and Casualty:

Personal Lines $ 1,504.8 $1,634.3 $1,629.2
Commercial Lines 888.8 837.5 824.7
Other Property and Casualty 28.7 26.9 27.7

Total Property and Casualty 2,422.3 2,498.7 2,481.6
Life Companies 185.3 210.5 341.9
Intersegment revenues (9.1) (10.1) (11.5)

Total segment revenues 2,598.5 2,699.1 2,812.0
Adjustments to segment revenues:

Net realized investment gains 23.8 16.1 15.1
Other income 2.0 1.9 3.4

Total revenues $ 2,624.3 $2,717.1 $2,830.5

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Segment income before federal 
income taxes and cumulative effect 
of change in accounting principle:

Property and Casualty:
Personal Lines:
GAAP underwriting income (loss) $ 30.1 $ 26.7 $ (66.9)
Net investment income 102.6 97.1 91.1
Other 10.5 10.8 10.1

Personal Lines segment income 143.2 134.6 34.3

Commercial Lines:
GAAP underwriting loss (140.9) (43.1) —
Net investment income 101.4 97.6 92.4
Other 4.5 3.5 6.3

Commercial Lines segment 
(loss) income (35.0) 58.0 98.7

Other Property and Casualty:
GAAP underwriting loss (3.5) (3.7) (24.3)
Net investment income 5.1 2.2 2.0
Other 3.9 6.9 6.8

Other Property and Casualty 
segment income (loss) 5.5 5.4 (15.5)

Total Property and Casualty 113.7 198.0 117.5
Life Companies (18.7) (22.3) (14.2)
Interest on corporate debt (39.9) (39.9) (39.9)

Segment income before federal 
income taxes 55.1 135.8 63.4

Adjustments to segment income:
Net realized investment gains, 
net of deferred acquisition 
cost amortization 18.6 16.1 12.8

(Losses) gains on derivative 
instruments (0.3) 1.3 1.5

(Losses) gains from retirement of 
funding agreements and trust 
instruments supported by 
funding obligations — (0.2) 5.7

Restructuring costs (2.1) (8.5) (28.7)
Income from sale of univeral 
life insurance business — — 5.5

Income from continuing operations 
before federal income taxes and 
cumulative effect of change in 
accounting principle $ 71.3 $144.5 $ 60.2
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December 31 2005 2004 2005 2004

(In millions)

Identifiable Assets Deferred Acquisition Costs

Property and 
Casualty (1) $ 7,220.2 $ 6,459.4 $ 201.9 $ 211.4

Life Companies (2) 3,478.0 17,426.3 7.1 694.1
Intersegment 
eliminations (3) (64.2) (75.6) — —

Total $ 10,634.0 $ 23,810.1 $ 209.0 $ 905.5

(1) The Company reviews assets based on the total Property and Casualty Group and
does not allocate between the Personal Lines, Commercial Lines and Other
Property and Casualty segments.

(2) Includes assets related to the Company’s discontinued accident and health
business. Additionally, the 2004 balance includes assets related to the Company’s
variable life insurance and annuity business sold on December 30, 2005.

(3) The 2005 balance reflects $64.0 million from FAFLIC and other Life Companies’
non-insurance subsidiaries to the holding company, which was paid in the first
quarter of 2006. The 2004 balance reflects the $75.0 million dividend from AFLIAC
to the holding company, which was paid during the first quarter of 2005. 

Discontinued Operations – GroupLife and Health
During 1999, the Company exited its group life and
health insurance business, consisting of its Employee
Benefit Services (“EBS”) business, its Affinity Group
Underwriters business and its accident and health
assumed reinsurance pool business. Prior to 1999, these
businesses comprised substantially all of the former
Corporate Risk Management Services segment.
Accordingly, the operating results of the discontinued
segment have been reported in accordance with
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, Reporting
the Results of Operations – Reporting the Effects of Disposal
of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and
Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions (“APB
Opinion No. 30”). In 1999, the Company recorded a $30.5
million loss, net of taxes, on the disposal of this segment,
consisting of after-tax losses from the run-off of the
group life and health business of approximately $46.9
million, partially offset by net proceeds from the sale of
the EBS business of approximately $16.4 million.
Subsequent to the measurement date of June 30, 1999,
approximately $20.8 million of the aforementioned $46.9
million loss has been generated from the operations of
the discontinued business and net proceeds of $12.5 mil-
lion were received from the sale of the EBS business.

As permitted by APB Opinion No. 30, the
Consolidated Balance Sheets have not been segregated
between continuing and discontinued operations. At
December 31, 2005 and 2004, this discontinued group

accident and health business had assets of approximate-
ly $369.9 million and $365.9 million, respectively, con-
sisting primarily of invested assets and reinsurance
recoverables, and liabilities of approximately $441.9 mil-
lion and $435.8 million, respectively, consisting primari-
ly of policy liabilities. 

17. Lease Commitments

Rental expenses for operating leases amounted to $15.5
million, $16.4 million and $27.3 million in 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively. Sublease income was $1.2 million and
$1.5 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively. The net rental
expenses relate primarily to building leases of the
Company. 

In 2003, the Company ceased operations of its Life
Companies segment retail broker-dealer operations. As a
result, the Company recognized certain additional rental
expenses as restructuring costs. Such amounts were
$13.8 million in 2003, which reflects the present value of
the future minimum lease payments, net of $7.4 million
of estimated sublease rental income. In 2005 and 2004,
the Company recognized an additional $0.7 million and
$0.4 million, respectively, of related net lease expenses. 

At December 31, 2005, future minimum rental pay-
ments under non-cancelable operating leases, including
those related to the Company’s restructuring activities,
were approximately $37.1 million, payable as follows:
2006 - $15.0 million; 2007 - $10.7 million; 2008 - $7.3 mil-
lion; 2009 - $3.4 million; 2010 - $0.7 million; and no sig-
nificant rental payment commitments thereafter.
Additionally, the Company is subleasing certain proper-
ties, for which future minimum rental income under
non-cancelable sublease agreements in existence at
December 31, 2005 was $2.4 million. It is expected that in
the normal course of business, leases that expire may be
renewed or replaced by leases on other property and
equipment.

18. Reinsurance

In the normal course of business, the Company seeks to
reduce the losses that may arise from catastrophes or
other events that cause unfavorable underwriting results
by reinsuring certain levels of risk in various areas of
exposure with other insurance enterprises or reinsurers.
Reinsurance transactions are accounted for in accor-
dance with the provisions of Statement No. 113.



106

The Hanover Insurance Group

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in
a manner consistent with the claim liability associated
with the reinsured policy. Reinsurance contracts do not
relieve the Company from its obligations to policyhold-
ers. Failure of reinsurers to honor their obligations could
result in losses to the Company; consequently,
allowances are established for amounts deemed uncol-
lectible. The Company determines the appropriate
amount of reinsurance based on evaluation of the risks
accepted and analyses prepared by consultants and rein-
surers and on market conditions (including the availabil-
ity and pricing of reinsurance). The Company also
believes that the terms of its reinsurance contracts are
consistent with industry practice in that they contain
standard terms with respect to lines of business covered,
limit and retention, arbitration and occurrence. Based
upon an ongoing review of its reinsurers’ financial state-
ments, reported financial strength ratings from rating
agencies and the analysis and guidance of our reinsur-
ance intermediaries, the Company believes that its rein-
surers are financially sound.

On December 30, 2005, FAFLIC ceded $124.6 million
of its variable life insurance and annuity business
pursuant to a reinsurance agreement with AFLIAC (see
Note 2 – Sale of Variable Life Insurance and Annuity
Business on pages 82 and 83 of this Form 10-K).
Additionally, the Company has a 100% coinsurance
agreement related to substantially all of its universal life
insurance business. Reinsurance recoverables related to
this agreement were $1.0 million and $571.0 million at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. This balance
represented approximately 28.2% of the Company’s rein-
surance recoverables at December 31, 2004. The decline
in this recoverable is related to the sale of the variable life
insurance and annuity business. Although AFLIAC was
sold to Goldman Sachs on December 30, 2005, THG has
indemnified AFLIAC and Goldman Sachs with respect to
their reinsurance recoverables related to the business
ceded under this 100% coinsurance agreement.

Effective January 1, 1999, the Company entered into a
whole account aggregate excess of loss reinsurance
agreement, which provides coverage for the 1999 acci-
dent year for the Company’s property and casualty busi-
ness. The program covered losses and allocated LAE
expenses, including those incurred but not yet reported,
in excess of a specified whole account loss and allocated
LAE ratio. The annual coverage limit for losses and allo-
cated LAE is $150.0 million. The Company is subject to

concentration of risk with respect to this reinsurance
agreement. There were no net premiums earned under
this agreement during 2005, while net premiums earned
under this agreement during 2004 and 2003 for accident
year 1999 were $3.2 million and $9.6 million, respective-
ly. There were no net losses and LAE ceded during 2005,
while net losses and LAE ceded during 2004 and 2003
were $3.9 million and $11.8 million, respectively. The
effect of this agreement on the results of operations in
future periods is not currently determinable, as it will be
based on future losses and allocated LAE for accident
year 1999. 

In addition, the Company is subject to concentration
of risk with respect to reinsurance ceded to various resid-
ual market mechanisms. As a condition to the ability to
conduct certain business in various states, the Company
is required to participate in various residual market
mechanisms and pooling arrangements which provide
various insurance coverages to individuals or other enti-
ties that are otherwise unable to purchase such coverage
voluntarily provided by private insurers. These market
mechanisms and pooling arrangements include, among
others, the Massachusetts Commonwealth Automobile
Reinsurers (“CAR”) and the Michigan Catastrophic
Claims Association (“MCCA”). At December 31, 2005,
both CAR and MCCA represented 10% or more of the
Company’s reinsurance activity. As a servicing carrier in
Massachusetts, the Company cedes a significant portion
of its personal and commercial automobile premiums to
CAR. Net premiums earned and losses and LAE ceded
to CAR in 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $53.3 million and
$37.1 million, $46.6 million and $38.1 million, and $46.2
million and $61.0 million, respectively. Additionally, the
Company ceded to MCCA premiums earned and losses
and LAE in 2005, 2004 and 2003 of $68.9 million and
$61.3 million, $60.9 million and $12.4 million, and $46.8
million and $124.2 million, respectively.

Reinsurance recoverables related to MCCA were
$436.5 million and $411.9 million at December 31, 2005
and 2004, respectively, while reinsurance recoverables
related to CAR were $47.2 million and $52.0 million at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Because the
MCCA is supported by assessments permitted by
statute, and all amounts billed by the Company to CAR
and MCCA have been paid when due, the Company
believes that it has no significant exposure to uncol-
lectible reinsurance balances from these two entities.
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The effects of reinsurance were as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Life and accident and health 
insurance premiums:

Direct $ 72.8 $ 80.2 $ 81.2
Assumed 0.3 0.5 0.5
Ceded (36.2) (41.2) (39.8)

Net premiums $ 36.9 $ 39.5 $ 41.9

Property and casualty 
premiums written:

Direct $ 2,374.0 $2,427.7 $2,420.9
Assumed 55.0 58.8 59.7
Ceded (278.6) (250.3) (246.4)

Net premiums written $ 2,150.4 $2,236.2 $2,234.2

Property and casualty 
premiums earned:

Direct $ 2,388.5 $2,432.2 $2,432.2
Assumed 57.3 56.8 62.4
Ceded (284.5) (239.9) (254.2)

Net premiums earned $ 2,161.3 $2,249.1 $2,240.4

Life and accident and health 
insurance and other individual 
policy benefits, claims, losses 
and loss adjustment expenses:

Direct $ 155.7 $ 157.1 $ 213.3
Assumed (1.7) (1.3) (1.5)
Ceded (47.8) (62.0) (80.8)

Net policy benefits, claims, losses 
and loss adjustment expenses $ 106.2 $ 93.8 $ 131.0

Property and casualty benefits, 
claims, losses and loss 
adjustment expenses:

Direct $ 2,031.4 $1,651.9 $1,833.9
Assumed 81.9 81.8 98.7
Ceded (516.4) (180.8) (280.4)

Net policy benefits, claims, losses 
and loss adjustment expenses $ 1,596.9 $1,552.9 $1,652.2

19. Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

Changes to the deferred policy acquisition asset are as
follows:

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Balance at beginning of year $ 905.5 $1,115.5 $1,242.2
Acquisition expenses deferred 449.7 463.4 476.1
Amortized to expense during 

the year (570.9) (590.8) (602.6)
Impairment related to disposal of 

variable life insurance and 
annuity business (584.6) — —

Adoption of SOP 03-1 — (93.0) —
Adjustment to equity during 

the year 9.3 10.4 (0.2)

Balance at end of year $ 209.0 $ 905.5 $1,115.5

Upon the sale of the AFLIAC variable life insurance
and annuity business, the Company recognized a per-
manent impairment of the DAC asset of $556.7 million.
In addition, the Company recognized an additional $27.9
million permanent impairment of its DAC asset as a
result of the reinsurance of 100% of the FAFLIC variable
business.

The Company adopted SOP 03-1 effective January 1,
2004. Upon adoption, the Company reclassified the bal-
ance of capitalized sales inducements that were previ-
ously included in DAC to other assets. The balance of
capitalized sales inducements at January 1, 2004 was
$89.7 million. SOP 03-1 also required that estimated
gross profits used to calculate the amortization of DAC
be adjusted to reflect increases in the guaranteed mini-
mum benefit reserves. This resulted in a $3.3 million
reduction in the DAC asset in 2004. For further discus-
sion of the adoption of SOP 03-1, see Note 4 – Adoption
of Statement of Position 03-1, Accounting and Reporting by
Insurance Enterprises for Certain Nontraditional Long-
Duration Contracts and for Separate Accounts on pages 84
and 85 of this Form 10-K. 
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20. Liabilities for Outstanding Claims, 
Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

The Company regularly updates its reserve estimates as
new information becomes available and further events
occur which may impact the resolution of unsettled
claims. Reserve adjustments are reflected in results of
operations as adjustments to losses and LAE. Often these
adjustments are recognized in periods subsequent to the
period in which the underlying policy was written and
loss event occurred. These types of subsequent adjust-
ments are described as “prior year reserve develop-
ment”. Such development can be either favorable or
unfavorable to the Company’s financial results and may
vary by line of business.

The liability for future policy benefits and outstanding
claims, losses and LAE, excluding the effect of reinsur-
ance, related to the Company’s accident and health busi-
ness, consisting of the Company’s exited individual
health business and its discontinued group accident and
health business, was $319.4 million and $531.8 million at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Reinsurance
recoverables related to this business were $211.0 million
and $416.0 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively. The
significant decline in 2005 related to the sale of the vari-
able life insurance and annuity business, which included
the majority of this exited individual health business.

The table below provides a reconciliation of the begin-
ning and ending reserve for the Company’s property
and casualty unpaid losses and LAE as follows: 

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Reserve for losses and LAE, 
beginning of year $3,068.6 $3,018.9 $2,961.7

Incurred losses and LAE, net 
of reinsurance recoverable:

Provision for insured events 
of current year 1,677.5 1,570.2 1,610.6

(Decrease) increase in 
provision for insured 
events of prior years (79.5) (14.5) 40.4

Total incurred losses and LAE 1,598.0 1,555.7 1,651.0

Payments, net of reinsurance 
recoverable:

Losses and LAE attributable 
to insured events of 
current year 786.4 814.8 868.2

Losses and LAE attributable to
insured events of prior years 622.0 658.3 784.5

Total payments 1,408.4 1,473.1 1,652.7

Change in reinsurance 
recoverable on unpaid losses 200.5 (32.9) 58.9

Reserve for losses and LAE, 
end of year (1) $3,458.7 $3,068.6 $3,018.9

(1) Total reserve for losses and LAE increased by $390.1 million in 2005, mostly as a
result of additional direct reserves, prior to reinsurance ceded, for hurricanes
Katrina and Rita.

As part of an ongoing process, the reserves have been
re-estimated for all prior accident years and were
decreased by $79.5 million and $14.5 million in 2005 and
2004, respectively, and increased by $40.4 million in 2003.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, estimated
loss reserves for claims occurring in prior years devel-
oped favorably by $65.7 million, while during the years
ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, loss reserves for
prior years developed unfavorably by $1.3 million and
$74.5 million, respectively. The favorable loss develop-
ment during the year ended December 31, 2005 is prima-
rily the result of a decrease in personal lines claim
frequency and claim severity in the 2004 accident year. In
addition, the commercial multiple peril line and other
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commercial lines experienced lower claim severity in the
most recent accident years. Partially offsetting these
items was adverse development in the workers’ com-
pensation line during 2005, which is primarily the result
of increased medical and long-term attendant care costs.

The unfavorable loss development during the year
ended December 31, 2004 was primarily the result of
continued adverse development in the workers’ com-
pensation line of business related to increased medical
and long-term attendant care costs. Additionally, adverse
loss development was experienced in other commercial
lines, primarily umbrella and general liability, which is
primarily the result of increases in estimated ultimate
losses for these long-tail lines. Partially offsetting these
items was favorable loss development in the commercial
multiple peril, commercial automobile, homeowners and
personal automobile lines of business. The improvement
in loss development on these lines of business is prima-
rily the result of improved claim frequency trends.

The unfavorable loss reserve development during the
year ended December 31, 2003 was primarily the result
of a $21.9 million charge in the Other Property and
Casualty segment resulting from an adverse arbitration
decision in 2003, related to a voluntary insurance pool
that the Company exited in 1996. Additionally, loss
reserves for the workers’ compensation line were
increased by $15.7 million in 2003, primarily as a result of
increasing medical and long-term attendant care costs.
Loss reserve development was also affected by an
increase in personal automobile claim severity related to
medical settlements in Michigan. Partially offsetting
these items was favorable development in the commer-
cial multiple peril line due to improved claim frequency
in the 2002 accident year.

During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003, estimated LAE reserves for claims occurring in
prior years developed favorably by $13.8 million, $15.8
million and $34.1 million, respectively. The favorable
development in 2005 is primarily attributable to the
aforementioned improvement in ultimate loss activity on
prior accident years which results in the decrease of ulti-
mate loss adjustment expenses. Development in all these
periods was also favorably affected by claims process
improvement initiatives taken by the Company during
the 1997 to 2001 calendar-year period. Since 1997, the
Company has lowered claim settlement costs through
increased utilization of in-house attorneys and consoli-
dation of claim offices. As actual experience begins to

establish certain trends inherent within the claim settle-
ment process, the actuarial process recognizes these
trends, resulting in favorable development. Management
believes that the impact of these actions has been previ-
ously recognized and expects less favorable LAE prior
year reserve development from these process improve-
ments. This fact is reflected in the decline in favorable
LAE prior year reserve development for the year ended
December 31, 2005 versus 2004.

The Company may be required to defend claims relat-
ed to policies that include environmental damage and
toxic tort liability. The table below summarizes direct
business asbestos and environmental reserves (net of
reinsurance and excluding pools):

December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Reserves for losses and LAE, 
beginning of year $ 24.7 $24.9 $25.6

Incurred losses and LAE (0.3) 1.5 2.6
Paid losses and LAE 0.1 1.7 3.3

Reserves for losses and LAE, 
end of year $ 24.3 $24.7 $24.9

Ending loss and LAE reserves for all direct business
written by the Company’s property and casualty busi-
nesses related to asbestos, environmental damage and
toxic tort liability, included in the reserve for losses and
LAE, were $24.3 million, $24.7 million and $24.9 million,
net of reinsurance of $16.2 million, $16.3 million and
$15.0 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The
outstanding reserves for direct business asbestos and
environmental damage have remained relatively consis-
tent for the three-year period ended December 31, 2005.
As a result of the Company’s historical direct underwrit-
ing mix of commercial lines policies of smaller and mid-
dle market risks, past asbestos, environmental damage
and toxic tort liability loss experience has remained min-
imal in relation to the total loss and LAE incurred expe-
rience.

In addition, and not included in the table above, the
Company has established loss and LAE reserves for
assumed reinsurance pool business with asbestos, envi-
ronmental damage and toxic tort liability of $49.2 mil-
lion, $46.4 million and $45.6 million in 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively. These reserves relate to pools in which
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the Company has terminated its participation; however,
the Company continues to be subject to claims related 
to years in which it was a participant. The Company
participated in the Excess and Casualty Reinsurance
Association voluntary pool during 1950 to 1982, until it
was dissolved and put in runoff in 1982. The Company’s
percentage of the total pool liabilities varied from 1.15%
to 6.00% during these years. The Company’s participa-
tion in this pool has resulted in average paid losses of
approximately $2 million annually over the past ten
years. 

The Company estimates its ultimate liability for
asbestos and environmental claims, whether resulting
from direct business, assumed reinsurance and pool
business, based upon currently known facts, reasonable
assumptions where the facts are not known, current law
and methodologies currently available. Although these
outstanding claims are not significant, their existence
gives rise to uncertainty and are discussed because of the
possibility that they may become significant. The
Company believes that, notwithstanding the evolution
of case law expanding liability in asbestos and environ-
mental claims, recorded reserves related to these claims
are adequate. The environmental liability could be
revised in the near term if the estimates used in deter-
mining the liability are revised.

21.Commitments and Contingencies

Regulatory and Industry Developments
Unfavorable economic conditions may contribute to an
increase in the number of insurance companies that are
under regulatory supervision. This may result in an
increase in mandatory assessments by state guaranty
funds, or voluntary payments by solvent insurance com-
panies to cover losses to policyholders of insolvent or
rehabilitated companies. Mandatory assessments, which
are subject to statutory limits, can be partially recovered
through a reduction in future premium taxes in some
states. The Company is not able to reasonably estimate
the potential impact of any such future assessments or
voluntary payments.

From time to time, the Company is involved in inves-
tigations and proceedings by governmental and self-reg-
ulatory agencies, which currently include investigations
relating to “market timing” in sub-accounts of variable
annuity and life products, and inquiries relating to tax
reporting calculations to policyholders and others in
connection with distributions under a subset of variable
annuity contracts in this business. In the Company’s
opinion, based on the advice of legal counsel, the ulti-
mate resolution of such proceedings will not have a
material effect on the Company’s financial position,
although they could have a material effect on the results
of operations for a particular quarter or annual period.

Litigation 
On July 24, 2002, an action captioned American National
Bank and Trust Company of Chicago, as Trustee f/b/o
Emerald Investments Limited Partnership, and Emerald
Investments Limited Partnership v. Allmerica Financial
Life Insurance and Annuity Company was commenced
in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Illinois, Eastern Division. In 1999, plaintiffs
purchased two variable annuity contracts with initial
premiums aggregating $5 million. Plaintiffs, who AFLI-
AC subsequently identified as engaging in frequent
transfers of significant sums between sub-accounts that
in the Company’s opinion constituted “market timing”,
were subject to restrictions upon such trading that AFLI-
AC imposed in December 2001. Plaintiffs allege that such
restrictions constituted a breach of the terms of the annu-
ity contracts. In December 2003, the court granted partial
summary judgment to the plaintiffs, holding that at least
certain restrictions imposed on their trading activities
violated the terms of the annuity contracts. The
Company filed a motion for reconsideration and clarifi-
cation of the court’s partial summary judgment opinion,
which was denied on April 8, 2004.

On May 19, 2004, plaintiffs filed a Brief Statement of
Damages in which, without quantifying their damage
claim, they outlined a claim for (i) amounts totaling
$150,000 for surrender charges imposed on the partial
surrender by plaintiffs of the annuity contracts, (ii) loss
of trading profits they expected over the remaining term
of each annuity contract, and (iii) lost trading profits
resulting from AFLIAC’s alleged refusal to process five
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specific transfers in 2002 because of trading restrictions
imposed on market timers. With respect to the lost prof-
its, plaintiffs claim that pursuant to their trading strategy
of transferring money from money market accounts to
international equity accounts and back again to money
market accounts, they have been able to consistently
obtain relatively risk free returns of between 35% to 40%
annually. Plaintiffs claim that they would have been able
to continue to maintain such returns on the account val-
ues of their annuity contracts over the remaining terms
of the annuity contracts (which are based in part on the
lives of the named annuitants). The aggregate account
value of plaintiffs’ annuities was approximately $12.8
million in December 2001.

The Company continues to vigorously defend this
matter, and regards plaintiffs’ claims for lost trading
profits as being speculative and, in any case, subject to an
obligation to mitigate damages. Further, in the
Company’s view, these purported lost profits would not
have been earned because of various actions taken by the
Company, the investment management industry and
regulators, to deter or eliminate market timing, includ-
ing the implementation of “fair value” pricing.

The monetary damages sought by plaintiffs, if award-
ed, could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s financial position. Although AFLIAC was
sold to Goldman Sachs on December 30, 2005, the
Company indemnified AFLIAC and Goldman Sachs
with respect to this litigation. However, in the
Company’s judgment, the outcome is not expected to be
material to the Company’s financial position, although it
could have a material effect on the results of operations
for a particular quarter or annual period. The trial date
for the damage phase of the litigation has not been set.

The Company has been named a defendant in various
other legal proceedings arising in the normal course of
business. This includes class actions and other litigation
in the southeast United States, particularly Louisiana
and Mississippi, relating to the scope of insurance cover-
age under homeowners and commercial property poli-
cies of losses due to flooding, civil authority actions, loss
of landscaping and business interruption. 

Residual Markets
The Company is required to participate in residual mar-
kets in various states. The results of the residual markets
are not subject to the predictability associated with the
Company’s own managed business, and are significant
to the workers’ compensation line of business and both
the personal and commercial automobile lines of business.

22. Statutory Financial Information

The Company’s insurance subsidiaries are required to
file annual statements with state regulatory authorities
prepared on an accounting basis prescribed or permitted
by such authorities (statutory basis), as codified by the
National Association of Insurance Commissioners.
Statutory surplus differs from shareholders’ equity
reported in accordance with generally accepted account-
ing principles primarily because policy acquisition costs
are expensed when incurred, statutory accounting prin-
ciples require asset valuation and interest maintenance
reserves, postretirement benefit costs are based on differ-
ent assumptions and reflect a different method of adop-
tion, life insurance reserves are based on different
assumptions and the recognition of deferred tax assets is
based on different recoverability assumptions.

Statutory net income and surplus are as follows:

2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Statutory Net Income – Combined
Property and Casualty 

Companies $ 92.7 $ 114.2 $ 106.0
Life and Health Companies (1) 40.9 204.6 9.0

Statutory Shareholders’ Surplus 
– Combined

Property and Casualty 
Companies $1,208.6 $1,102.7 $1,005.4

Life and Health Companies (1) 164.7 555.6 495.6

(1) Net Income and Statutory Shareholders’ Surplus decreased in 2005 due to the sale
of one of the Company’s primary life insurance companies, AFLIAC (See Note 2 –
Sale of Variable Life Insurance and Annuity Business on pages 82 and 83 of this
Form 10-K). Balances in 2005 represent the results and surplus of FAFLIC, while in
2004 and 2003, they include both AFLIAC and FAFLIC.
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23. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The quarterly results of operations for 2005 and 2004 are
summarized below:

For the Three Months Ended

(In millions, except per share data)

2005 March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31

Total revenues $ 681.8 $656.2 $ 629.2 $657.1
Income (loss) from 

continuing operations $ 40.4 $ 57.1 $(105.4) $ 84.4
Net income (loss) $ 46.5 $ 72.0 $(562.4) $118.7
Income (loss) from 

continuing operations 
per share:

Basic $ 0.76 $ 1.07 $ (1.97) $ 1.57
Diluted $ 0.75 $ 1.06 $ (1.97) $ 1.56

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic $ 0.87 $ 1.35 $(10.51) $ 2.21
Diluted $ 0.86 $ 1.34 $(10.51) $ 2.19

Dividends declared per share $ — $ — $ — $ 0.25

2004 March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31

Total revenues $ 693.9 $685.4 $ 665.7 $672.1
Income from continuing 

operations $ 54.8 $ 29.2 $ 17.8 $ 43.5
Net income $ 12.1 $ 32.4 $ 17.7 $ 63.1
Income from continuing 

operations per share:
Basic $ 1.03 $ 0.55 $ 0.33 $ 0.82
Diluted $ 1.02 $ 0.54 $ 0.33 $ 0.81

Net income per share:
Basic $ 0.23 $ 0.61 $ 0.33 $ 1.19
Diluted $ 0.23 $ 0.60 $ 0.33 $ 1.18

Dividends declared per share $ — $ — $ — $ —

Note: Due to the use of weighted average shares outstanding when calculating
earnings per common share, the sum of the quarterly per common share data may not
equal the per common share data for the year. Diluted loss from continuing
operations per share and net loss per share for the three months ended September 30,
2005 represents basic loss per share due to antidilution.

ITEM 9 — CHANGES IN AND
DISAGREEMENTS WITH
ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None. 

ITEM 9A — CONTROLS AND
PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures Evaluation
Under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of
our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is
defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
Exchange Act). 

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls
Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our dis-
closure controls over financial reporting will prevent all
error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives
will be met. Further, the design of a control system must
reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the
benefits of controls must be considered relative to their
costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute
assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if
any, have been detected. These inherent limitations
include the realities that judgments in decision-making
can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of
simple error or mistake. Controls can also be circum-
vented by the individual acts of some persons, by collu-
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sion of two or more people, or by management override
of the controls. The design of any system of controls is
based in part on certain assumptions about the likeli-
hood of future events, and there can be no assurance that
any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals
under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls
may become inadequate because of changes in condi-
tions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with
policies or procedures. Because of the inherent limita-
tions in a cost-effective control system, misstatements
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Based on our controls evaluation, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of
the end of the period covered by this annual report, sub-
ject to the limitations noted above, our disclosure con-
trols and procedures were effective to provide
reasonable assurance that material information was
made known timely to our management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer.

Management’s Report on Internal Control 
Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule
13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participa-
tion of our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting based on the framework in Internal
Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis-

sion. Based on our evaluation under the framework in
Internal Control – Integrated Framework, our management
concluded that our internal control over financial report-
ing was effective as of December 31, 2005.

Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005 has been audited by
PricewaterhousCoopers LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is
included herein.

Changes in Internal Control
Our management, including the Chief Executive Officer
and the Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation
of the internal control over financial reporting, as
required by Rule 13a-15(d) of the Exchange Act, to deter-
mine whether any changes occurred during the period
covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive and Chief
Financial Officer concluded that there was no such
change during the last quarter of the fiscal year covered
by this Annual Report on Form 10-K that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B — OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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ITEM 10 — DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE
OFFICERS OF THE
REGISTRANT 

Directors of the Registrant 

Information regarding our directors is incorporated
herein by reference from the Proxy Statement for the
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held May 16, 2006,
to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

Executive Officers Of The Registrant 

Set forth below is biographical information concerning
our executive officers. 

Frederick H. Eppinger, Jr., 47
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Eppinger has been a director and the Chief
Executive Officer and President of THG since August
2003. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Eppinger was
Executive Vice President of Property and Casualty Field
and Service Operations for The Hartford Financial
Services Group, Inc. From 2000 to 2001, he was Senior
Vice President of Strategic Marketing for ChannelPoint,
Inc., which specialized in business-to-business technolo-
gy for insurance and financial service companies. Prior
to that, he was a partner in the financial institutions
group at McKinsey & Company, an international man-
agement consulting firm, which he joined in 1985. Mr.
Eppinger began his career as a certified public account-
ant with Coopers & Lybrand. Mr. Eppinger is an employ-
ee of the Company, and therefore is not an independent
director.

J. Kendall Huber, 51
Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Assistant
Secretary

Mr. Huber has been Senior Vice President, General
Counsel and Assistant Secretary of THG since October
2002. From March 2000 until October 2002, Mr. Huber
served as Vice President, General Counsel and Assistant
Secretary of the Company. Prior to joining THG, Mr.
Huber was Executive Vice President, General Counsel
and Secretary of Promus Hotel Corporation from
February 1999 to January 2000. Previously, Mr. Huber
was Vice President and Deputy General Counsel of Legg
Mason, Inc., from November 1998 to January 1999. He
has also served as Vice President and Deputy General
Counsel of USF&G Corporation, where he was
employed from March 1990 to August 1998. 

PART III 

Edward J. Parry, III, 46
Director, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

Mr. Parry has been Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of THG since November 2003 and a
Director of THG since December 2003. Prior to that, Mr.
Parry served as Chief Financial Officer of THG since
December 1996. Mr. Parry joined the Company in 1992.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Parry worked at the
accounting firm then known as Price Waterhouse from
1987 until 1992. Mr. Parry is an employee of the
Company, and therefore is not an independent director.

Gregory D. Tranter, 49
Vice President and Chief Information Officer

Mr. Tranter has been Vice President and Chief
Information Officer of THG since October 2000. Mr.
Tranter has been a Vice President of THG’s insurance
subsidiaries since August 1998. Prior to joining THG, Mr.
Tranter was Vice President, Automation Strategy of
Travelers Property and Casualty Company from April
1996 to July 1998. Mr. Tranter was employed by Aetna
Life and Casualty Company from 1983 to 1996.

Marita Zuraitis, 45
Executive Vice President and President of the Property &
Casualty Companies

Ms. Zuraitis has been Executive Vice President of the
Company and President, Property and Casualty
Companies since April 2004. Prior to joining THG, Ms.
Zuraitis was President and Chief Executive Officer of the
commercial lines division of The St. Paul Companies
from 1998 to 2004.

Pursuant to section 4.4 of the Company’s by-laws,
each officer shall hold office until the first meeting of the
Board of Directors following the next annual meeting of
the stockholders and until his or her respective successor
is chosen and qualified unless a shorter period shall have
been specified by the terms of his election or appoint-
ment, or in each case until such officer sooner dies,
resigns, is removed or becomes disqualified.

CODE OF CONDUCT

Our Code of Conduct is available, free of charge, on our
website at www.hanover.com under “Corporate
Governance”. The Code of Conduct applies to our direc-
tors, officers and employees, including our Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Controller.
While we do not expect to grant waivers to our Code of
Conduct, any such waivers to our Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer or Controller will be post-
ed on our website, as required by applicable law or New
York Stock Exchange requirements. 
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NEW YORK STOCK EXHANGE RULE 303A.12

Our Chief Executive Officer filed his annual certification
required by New York Stock Exchange Rule 303A.12(a)
with the New York Stock Exchange on or about June 15,
2005. The certifications of our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer regarding the quality of our
disclosure in this Annual Report on Form 10-K have been
filed as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2.

ITEM 11  — EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
Incorporated herein by reference from the Proxy
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
held May 16, 2006, to be filed pursuant to Regulation
14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

ITEM 12 — SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF
CERTAIN BENEFICIAL
OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Incorporated herein by reference from the Proxy
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
held May 16, 2006, to be filed pursuant to Regulation
14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

ITEM 13  — CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS
AND RELATED
TRANSACTIONS 

Incorporated herein by reference from the Proxy
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
held May 16, 2006, to be filed pursuant to Regulation
14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

ITEM 14 — PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
FEES AND SERVICES

Incorporated herein by reference from the Proxy
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
held May 16, 2006, to be filed pursuant to Regulation
14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
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PART IV

ITEM 15 — EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

(a)(1) Financial Statements 

The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes thereto are included on pages 67 to 112 of this 
Form 10-K.

Page No. in 
this Report

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .67-68

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 . . . . . . . . . . . . . .69

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .70

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 . . . . . .71

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 . . . .72

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. . . . . . . . . . . .73

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .74-112

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules

Page No. in 
this Report

I Summary of Investments—Other than Investments in Related Parties. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 121

II Condensed Financial Information of Registrant . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 122-124

III Supplementary Insurance Information . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 125

IV Reinsurance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 126

V Valuation and Qualifying Accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 127

VI Supplemental Information Concerning Property and Casualty Insurance Operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 128
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(a)(3) Exhibit Index 

Exhibits filed as part of this Form 10-K are as follows: 

2.1 Plan of Reorganization. †

2.2 Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement by and
among State Mutual Life Assurance Company of
America, 440 Financial Group of Worcester, Inc.,
and The Shareholder Services Group, Inc. dated
as of March 9, 1995. †

2.3 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of August
22, 2005, between The Goldman Sachs Group,
Inc., as Buyer, and Allmerica Financial
Corporation, as Seller (the schedules and exhibits
have been omitted pursuant to item 601(b)(2) of
Regulation S-K) previously filed as Exhibit 2.1 to
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on August 24, 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference.

2.4 Certificate of Ownership and Merger, dated
November 22, 2005, merging a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Registrant into the Registrant
pursuant to Section 253 of the General
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, previ-
ously filed as Exhibit 2.1 to The Hanover
Insurance Group, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-
K filed on December 1, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference.

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of THG.

3.2 Amended By-Laws of THG. 

4 Specimen Certificate of Common Stock. 

4.1 Form of Indenture relating to the Debentures
between the Registrant and State Street Bank &
Trust Company, as trustee, previously filed as
Exhibit 4.1 in the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (No.33-96764) filed on
September 11, 1995 and incorporated herein by
reference.

4.2 Form of Global Debenture. 

4.3 Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of
AFC Capital Trust I dated February 3, 1997. ††

4.4 Indenture dated February 3, 1997 relating to the
Junior Subordinated Debentures of AFC. ††

4.5 Series A Capital Securities Guarantee Agreement
dated February 3, 1997. ††

4.6 Common Securities Guarantee Agreement dated
February 3, 1997. ††

4.8 Rights Agreement dated as of December 16, 1997,
between the Registrant and First Chicago Trust
Company of New York as Rights Agent, previ-
ously filed as Exhibit 1 to the Company’s Form 8-
A dated December 17, 1997 and incorporated
herein by reference.

4.9 Amendment No. 1, dated as of December 30,
2005, to Rights Agreement dated as of December
16, 1997, between the Registrant and
Computershare Trust Company, N.A. (as succes-
sor to First Chicago Trust Company of New York,
a New York trust company).

10.3 Administrative Services Agreement between
State Mutual Life Assurance Company of
America and The Hanover Insurance Company,
dated July 19, 1989. †

+10.4 First Allmerica Financial Life Insurance
Company Employees’ 401(k) Matched Savings
Plan previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Allmerica Financial Corporation Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-576) originally
filed with the Commission on January 24, 1996
and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.5 State Mutual Life Assurance Company of
America Excess Benefit Retirement Plan. †

+10.18 State Mutual Life Assurance Company of
America Non-Qualified Executive Deferred
Compensation Plan. †

+10.19 The Allmerica Financial Cash Balance Pension
Plan previously filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the
Allmerica Financial Corporation September 30,
1995 report on Form 10-Q and incorporated here-
in by reference.

+10.21 Amended and Restated Form of Non-Solicitation
Agreement previously filed as Exhibit 10.21 to
the Allmerica Financial Corporation June 30, 1997
report on Form 10-Q and incorporated herein by
reference. 

+10.23 Amended Allmerica Financial Corporation Long-
Term Stock Incentive Plan previously filed as
Exhibit 10.23 to the Allmerica Financial
Corporation 2001 Annual Report on Form 10-K
originally filed with the Commission on April 1,
2002 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.25 Reinsurance Agreement dated September 29,
1997 between First Allmerica Financial Life
Insurance Company and Metropolitan Life
Insurance Company previously filed as Exhibit
10.25 to the Allmerica Financial Corporation
March 27, 1998 report on Form 10-K and incorpo-
rated herein by reference.
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+10.30 Form of Deferral Agreement dated January 30,
1998. †††

+10.31 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, dated
January 30, 1998. †††

+10.37 Allmerica Financial Corporation Short-Term
Incentive Compensation Plan previously filed as
Exhibit A contained in the Registrant’s Proxy
Statement (Commission File No. 001-13754) orig-
inally filed with the Commission on March 31,
1999 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.52 Agreement, dated November 6, 2002, between
the Registrant and Michael P. Angelini. *

10.53 Agreement, dated December 23, 2002, between
the Registrant and the Massachusetts Division of
Insurance. *

10.54 Asset Transfer and Acquisition Agreement, effec-
tive as of December 31, 2002, by and among
Allmerica Financial Life Insurance and Annuity
Company, First Allmerica Financial Life
Insurance Company and John Hancock Life
Insurance Company. **

+10.55 Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director
Stock Ownership Plan. *

+10.57 Offer Letter, dated August 14, 2003, between the
Registrant and Frederick H. Eppinger, Jr. ***

+10.61 Form of Restricted Share Unit Agreement dated
March 1, 2004. ****

+10.62 Form of Performance Based Restricted Share Unit
Agreement dated March 1, 2004. ****

+10.63 Short-Term Incentive Compensation Plan previ-
ously filed as Exhibit A contained in the
Registrant’s Proxy Statement (Commission File
No. 001-13754) originally filed with the
Commission on April 5, 2004 and incorporated
herein by reference. 

+10.64 Allmerica Financial Non-Qualified Retirement
Savings Plan. *****

+10.65 Description of Incentive Compensation
Conversion Program. *****

+10.66 Form of Election/Deferral Agreement. *****

+10.67 Offer Letter dated April 1, 2004 between the
Registrant and Marita Zuraitis. *****

+10.68 Non-Employee Director Compensation
Summary previously filed as Exhibit 10.68 to the
Allmerica Financial Corporation March 31, 2005
report on Form 10-Q and incorporated herein by
reference.

+10.69 Amended Allmerica Financial Corporation
Employment Continuity Plan previously filed as
Exhibit 10.69 to the Allmerica Financial
Corporation June 30, 2005 report on Form 10-Q
and incorporated herein by reference.

10.70 Letter from The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. to
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Division
of Insurance, dated December 30, 2005 regarding
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. Keepwell
relating to First Allmerica Financial Life
Insurance Company, previously filed as Exhibit
10.53 to The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 6,
2006 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.71 Description of 2005 Short-Term Incentive Com-
pensation Awards, 2006 Short-Term Incentive
Compensation Program and 2006 Long-Term
Incentive Awards previously filed as Item 1.01 to
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on February 21, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference.

+10.72 Form of Performance Based Restricted Stock Unit
Agreement dated February 2006.

+10.73 Separation agreement executed February 27,
2006, by and between John P. Kavanaugh and
First Allmerica Financial Life Insurance
Company, previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to 
the Registrant’s current Report on Form 8-K filed
on March 1, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference.

21 Subsidiaries of THG. 

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm.

24 Power of Attorney.

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pur-
suant to 15 U.S.C. 78m, 78o(d), as adopted pur-
suant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, pur-
suant to 15 U.S.C. 78m, 78o(d), as adopted pur-
suant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pur-
suant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pur-
suant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
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32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, pur-
suant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pur-
suant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

99.1 Internal Revenue Service Ruling dated April 15,
1995. †

99.2 Important Factors Regarding Forward-Looking
Statements.

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or
arrangement.

† Incorporated herein by reference to the corre-
spondingly numbered exhibit contained in the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(No. 33-91766) originally filed with the
Commission on May 1, 1995. 

†† Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibits 2, 3,
4, 5 and 6, respectively, contained in the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
February 5, 1997. 

††† Incorporated herein by reference to the corre-
spondingly numbered exhibit contained in the
Registrant’s 1998 Annual Report on Form 10-K
originally filed with the Commission on March
29, 1999.

* Incorporated herein by reference to the corre-
spondingly numbered exhibit contained in the
Registrant’s 2002 Annual Report on Form 10-K
originally filed with the Commission on March
27, 2003. 

** Incorporated herein by reference to the corre-
spondingly numbered exhibit contained in the
Registrant’s 2002 Annual Report on Form 10-K
originally filed with the Commission on March
27, 2003 (confidential treatment requested as to
certain portions of this exhibit). 

*** Incorporated herein by reference to the corre-
spondingly numbered exhibit contained in the
Registrant’s September 30, 2003 Report on Form
10-Q originally filed with the Commission on
November 14, 2003.

**** Incorporated herein by reference to the corre-
spondingly numbered exhibit contained in the
Registrant’s June 30, 2004 Report on Form 10-Q
originally filed with the Commission on August
5, 2004.

***** Incorporated herein by reference to the corre-
spondingly numbered exhibit contained in the
Registrant’s 2004 Annual Report on Form 10-K
originally filed with the Commission February
25, 2005.
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Signatures 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC.
Registrant 

Date: March 13, 2006 By: /S/ FREDERICK H. EPPINGER, JR.
Frederick H. Eppinger, Jr., 

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Date: March 13, 2006 By: /S/ FREDERICK H. EPPINGER, JR.
Frederick H. Eppinger, Jr., 

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 

Date: March 13, 2006 By: /S/ EDWARD J. PARRY, III
Edward J. Parry, III,

Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice President, 
Principal Accounting Officer and Director

Date: March 13, 2006 By: *
Michael P. Angelini,

Chairman

Date: March 13, 2006 By: *
Gail L. Harrison,

Director

Date: March 13, 2006 By: *
Wendell J. Knox,

Director

Date: March 13, 2006 By: *
Robert J. Murray,

Director

Date: March 13, 2006 By: *
Joseph R. Ramrath,

Director

Date: March 13, 2006 By: *
Herbert M. Varnum,

Director

Date: March 13, 2006 *By: /S/ EDWARD J. PARRY, III
Edward J. Parry, III,

Attorney-in-fact
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SCHEDULE I 

The Hanover Insurance Group

Summary of Investments—Other than Investments in Related Parties 

December 31, 2005 

(In millions)

Amount at
which shown

in the 
Type of Investment Cost(1) Value balance sheet

Fixed maturities:
Bonds:

United States Government and government agencies and authorities $ 587.3 $ 579.6 $ 579.6
States, municipalities and political subdivisions 823.6 853.9 853.9
Foreign governments 4.4 4.4 4.4
Public utilities 555.3 555.1 555.1
All other corporate bonds 3,639.9 3,636.4 3,636.4

Redeemable preferred stocks 75.4 78.8 78.8

Total fixed maturities 5,685.9 5,708.2 5,708.2

Equity securities:
Common stocks:

Public utilities 1.7 3.7 3.7
Banks, trust and insurance companies 10.9 11.7 11.7
Industrial, miscellaneous and all other 0.4 2.6 2.6

Total equity securities 13.0 18.0 18.0

Mortgage loans on real estate 99.6 XXXXXX 99.6
Policy loans 139.9 XXXXXX 139.9
Other long-term investments (2) 41.6 XXXXXX 42.6

Total investments $5,980.0 XXXXXX $ 6,008.3

(1) Original cost of equity securities and, as to fixed maturities, original cost reduced by repayments and adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts.

(2) The cost of other long-term investments differs from the carrying value due to market value changes in equity ownership of limited partnership investments.
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SCHEDULE II 

The Hanover Insurance Group

Condensed Financial Information of Registrant 
Parent Company Only 
Statements of Income

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Revenues
Net investment income $ 5.4 $ 2.4 $ 1.3
Net realized investment gains (losses) 1.4 3.4 (1.3)

Total revenues 6.8 5.8 — 

Expenses
Interest expense, net 40.6 40.6 40.6
Operating expenses 0.4 0.1 3.8

Total expenses 41.0 40.7 44.4

Net loss before federal income taxes and equity in net income of unconsolidated subsidiaries (34.2) (34.9) (44.4)
Income tax benefit:

Federal 14.3 19.9 12.5
State 0.5 0.6 1.7

Equity in net income of unconsolidated subsidiaries 138.6 139.7 117.1

Income from continuing operations 119.2 125.3 86.9
Loss from disposal of variable life insurance and annuity business (444.4) — — 

Net (loss) income $ (325.2) $ 125.3 $ 86.9

The condensed financial information should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto.
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SCHEDULE II (CONTINUED)

The Hanover Insurance Group

Condensed Financial Information of Registrant 
Parent Company Only 
Balance Sheets 

December 31 2005 2004 

(In millions, except share and per share data)

Assets
Fixed maturities – at fair value (amortized cost of $78.4 and $50.8) $ 76.8 $ 50.7
Equity securities – at fair value (cost of $9.3) 9.3 9.3
Cash and cash equivalents (1) 256.9 4.9
Investment in unconsolidated subsidiaries 2,096.2 2,809.3
Net receivable from subsidiaries (2) 61.3 73.7
Net receivable from Goldman Sachs 74.9 —
Deferred federal income taxes 14.5 0.5
Other assets 2.6 2.7

Total assets $ 2,592.5 $ 2,951.1

Liabilities
Federal income taxes payable $ 75.5 $ 88.0
Payable for securities acquired 19.7 —
Expenses and state taxes payable 5.8 2.4
Liability for legal indemnification 19.0 —
Interest payable 12.4 12.4
Long-term debt 508.8 508.8

Total liabilities 641.2 611.6

Shareholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share, 20.0 million shares authorized, none issued — —
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 300.0 million shares authorized, 60.5 million 

and 60.4 million shares issued 0.6 0.6
Additional paid-in capital 1,785.1 1,782.1
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income (59.5) 3.0
Retained earnings 589.8 943.4
Treasury stock at cost (6.8 million and 7.2 million shares) (364.7) (389.6)

Total shareholders’ equity 1,951.3 2,339.5

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 2,592.5 $ 2,951.1

(1) Included in 2005 were cash proceeds of $235.8 million as a result of the sale of the variable life insurance and annuity business to Goldman Sachs on December 30, 2005.

(2) Included in 2005 was $64.0 million of dividends from FAFLIC and other Life Companies’ non-insurance subsidiaries to the holding company. Included in 2004 was a $75.0
million dividend from the Life Companies to the holding company.

The condensed financial information should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto.
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SCHEDULE II (CONTINUED)

The Hanover Insurance Group

Condensed Financial Information of Registrant 
Parent Company Only 
Statement of Cash Flows 

For the Years Ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

(In millions)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net (loss) income $ (325.2) $ 125.3 $ 86.9
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash used in operating activities:

Loss from disposal of variable life insurance and annuity business 444.4 — —
Equity in net income of unconsolidated subsidiaries (138.6) (139.7) (117.1)
Dividend received from unconsolidated subsidiaries 2.4 3.0 3.2
Net realized investment (gains) losses (1.4) (3.4) 1.3
Deferred federal income tax (benefit) expense (3.6) (5.1) 5.3
Change in expenses and state taxes payable (1.9) (2.1) (6.7)
Change in federal income taxes payable — 4.4 18.9
Change in net payable from subsidiaries 0.2 0.8 7.6
Other, net (0.4) 1.0 0.6

Net cash used in operating activities (24.1) (15.8) — 

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital contributed to unconsolidated subsidiaries — — (0.1)
Proceeds from disposals and maturities of available-for-sale fixed maturities 90.4 26.2 20.9
Proceeds from sale of variable life insurance and annuity business 235.8 — —
Purchase of available-for-sale fixed maturities (45.0) (20.2) (26.1)
Other investing activities (0.3) — —

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 280.9 6.0 (5.3)

Cash flow from financing activities
Dividends paid to shareholders (13.4) — —
Exercise of options 8.6 4.3 0.3

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (4.8) 4.3 0.3

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 252.0 (5.5) (5.0)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 4.9 10.4 15.4 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year $ 256.9 $ 4.9 $ 10.4 

The condensed financial information should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto.
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SCHEDULE III 

The Hanover Insurance Group

Supplementary Insurance Information 

December 31, 2005

(In millions)

Future
policy

benefits, Other Benefits Amortization
Deferred losses, policy claims, of deferred

policy claims claims and Net losses and policy Other
acquisition and loss Unearned benefits Premium investment settlement acquisition operating Premiums

Segments costs expenses premiums payable revenue income expenses costs expenses written 

Property and Casualty $ 201.9 $3,458.7 $1,009.7 $ 3.0 $2,161.3 $209.1 $1,596.9 $ 458.5 $ 253.2 $2,150.4
Life Companies 7.1 1,300.7 1.6 251.7 36.9 112.1 106.2 6.7 100.7 —
Interest on Corporate 

Debt — — — — — — — — 40.6 — 
Eliminations — — — — — 0.2 — — (9.8) — 

Total $ 209.0 $4,759.4 $1,011.3 $254.7 $2,198.2 $321.4 $1,703.1 $ 465.2 $ 384.7 $2,150.4

December 31, 2004

(In millions)

Future
policy

benefits, Other Benefits Amortization
Deferred losses, policy claims, of deferred

policy claims claims and Net losses and policy Other
acquisition and loss Unearned benefits Premium investment settlement acquisition operating Premiums

Segments costs expenses premiums payable revenue income expenses costs expenses written 

Property and Casualty $ 211.4 $3,068.6 $1,026.5 $ 4.8 $2,249.1 $196.9 $1,552.0 $ 470.1 $ 281.8 $2,236.2
Life Companies 694.1 3,572.7 3.3 374.7 39.5 132.2 94.7 6.9 137.3 — 
Interest on Corporate 

Debt — — — — — — — — 40.6 — 
Eliminations — — — — — 0.2 — — (10.8) —

Total $ 905.5 $6,641.3 $1,029.8 $379.5 $2,288.6 $329.3 $1,646.7 $ 477.0 $ 448.9 $2,236.2

December 31, 2003

(In millions)

Future
policy

benefits, Other Benefits Amortization
Deferred losses, policy claims, of deferred

policy claims claims and Net losses and policy Other
acquisition and loss Unearned benefits Premium investment settlement acquisition operating Premiums

Segments costs expenses premiums payable revenue income expenses costs expenses written 

Property and Casualty $ 220.9 $3,019.7 $1,029.0 $ 8.2 $2,240.4 $185.5 $1,653.5 $ 457.6 $ 252.8 $2,234.2
Life Companies 894.6 3,662.0 3.5 675.5 41.9 179.0 129.7 10.1 238.2 — 
Interest on Corporate 

Debt — — — — — — — — 39.9 — 
Eliminations — — — — — (0.6) — — (11.5) — 

Total $1,115.5 $6,681.7 $1,032.5 $683.7 $2,282.3 $363.9 $1,783.2 $ 467.7 $ 519.4 $2,234.2
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SCHEDULE IV

The Hanover Insurance Group

Reinsurance 

December 31 

(In millions)

Assumed Percentage
Ceded to from of amount

Gross other other Net assumed
2005 amount companies companies amount to net

Life insurance in force (1) $ 2,833.9 $ 1,163.1 $ 55.6 $ 1,726.4 3.22%

Premiums:
Life insurance $ 51.1 $ 14.6 $ 0.3 $ 36.8 0.80%
Accident and health insurance 21.7 21.6 — 0.1 —
Property and casualty insurance 2,388.5 284.5 57.3 2,161.3 2.65%

Total premiums $ 2,461.3 $ 320.7 $ 57.6 $ 2,198.2 2.62%

2004

Life insurance in force $21,386.7 $15,737.7 $ 33.6 $ 5,682.6 0.59%

Premiums:
Life insurance $ 54.5 $ 15.7 $ 0.5 $ 39.3 1.27%
Accident and health insurance 25.7 25.5 — 0.2 — 
Property and casualty insurance 2,432.2 239.9 56.8 2,249.1 2.53%

Total premiums $ 2,512.4 $ 281.1 $ 57.3 $ 2,288.6 2.50%

2003

Life insurance in force $24,368.7 $15,962.9 $ 35.8 $ 8,441.6 0.42%

Premiums:
Life insurance $ 58.5 $ 17.2 $ 0.5 $ 41.8 1.20%
Accident and health insurance 22.7 22.6 — 0.1 — 
Property and casualty insurance 2,432.2 254.2 62.4 2,240.4 2.79%

Total premiums $ 2,513.4 $ 294.0 $ 62.9 $ 2,282.3 2.76%

(1) Life insurance in force represents policies of FAFLIC only, due to the sale of the Company’s variable life insurance and annuity business on December 30, 2005. 



Our policy is performance.TM

127

SCHEDULE V 

The Hanover Insurance Group

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 

December 31

(In millions)

Additions 

Description Balance at Charged to Charged to Balance
beginning of costs and other at end of 

2005 period expenses accounts Deductions period

Mortgage loans $ 1.5 $ (0.5) $ — $ — $ 1.0
Allowance for doubtful accounts 10.4 7.2 — 7.9 9.7

$ 11.9 $ 6.7 $ — $ 7.9 $ 10.7

2004

Mortgage loans $ 1.8 $ (0.3) $ — $ — $ 1.5
Allowance for doubtful accounts 19.2 5.9 — 14.7 10.4

$ 21.0 $ 5.6 $ — $ 14.7 $ 11.9

2003

Mortgage loans $ 2.8 $ (1.0) $ — $ — $ 1.8
Allowance for doubtful accounts 12.2 16.1 — 9.1 19.2

$ 15.0 $15.1 $ — $ 9.1 $ 21.0
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SCHEDULE VI 

The Hanover Insurance Group

Supplemental Information Concerning Property and Casualty Insurance Operations 

For the Years Ended December 31 

(In millions)

Reserves for Discount, if
Deferred losses and any, deducted

policy loss from Net Net
acquisition adjustment previous Unearned premiums investment

Affiliation with Registrant costs expenses(2) column(1) premiums(2) earned income

Consolidated Property and Casualty
Subsidiaries

2005 $ 201.9 $ 3,458.7 $ — $1,009.7 $ 2,161.3 $ 209.1

2004 $ 211.4 $ 3,068.6 $ — $1,026.5 $ 2,249.1 $ 194.6

2003 $ 220.9 $ 3,018.9 $ — $1,029.0 $ 2,240.4 $ 183.3

Amortization
Losses and loss of deferred Paid losses

adjustment expenses policy and loss Net
incurred related to acquisition adjustment premiums

Current year Prior years expenses expenses written

2005 $1,677.5 $ (79.5) $ 458.5 $ 1,408.4 $ 2,150.4

2004 $1,570.2 $ (14.5) $ 470.1 $ 1,473.1 $ 2,236.2

2003 $1,610.6 $ 40.4 $ 457.6 $ 1,652.7 $ 2,234.2

(1) The Company does not employ any discounting techniques. 

(2) Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses are shown gross of $1,107.6 million, $907.1 million and $940.0 million of reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses in 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively. Unearned premiums are shown gross of prepaid premiums of $52.3 million, $58.2 million and $47.9 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 



Industry Ratings

Financial Strength Ratings

Property and Casualty Insurance Companies:

The Hanover
Insurance Company A- BBB+ Baa1

Citizens Insurance 
Company of America A- BBB+ –

Life Insurance Companies:

First Allmerica Financial
Life Insurance Company B+ BBB- Ba1

Debt Ratings

Allmerica Financial
Corporation Senior Debt bbb- BB+ Ba1

Allmerica Financial 
Corporation Capital 
Securities bb B+ Ba2

First Allmerica 
Financial Life Insurance 
Company Short-Term 
Insurance Financial 
Strength Rating – – NP

Registrar and Stock 
Transfer Agent
Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
PO Box 43076, Providence, RI 02940-3076
1-800-317-4454

Independent Accountants
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
125 High Street, Boston, MA 02110

Corporate Offices & 
Principal Subsidiaries
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.
440 Lincoln Street, Worcester, MA 01653

The Hanover Insurance Company
440 Lincoln Street, Worcester, MA 01653

Citizens Insurance Company of America
645 West Grand River, Howell, MI 48843
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Shareholder Information

Our policy is performance.TM

Annual Meeting of Shareholders
The management and Board of Directors of The Hanover Insurance Group, 
Inc. invite you to attend the company’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders. 
The meeting will be held on May 16, 2006, at 9:00 a.m. at The Hanover, 
440 Lincoln Street, Worcester, Massachusetts.

Common Stock and Shareholder Ownership Profile
The common stock of The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. is traded on the 
New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “THG”. As of the end of business
on February 28, 2006, the company had 34,217 shareholders of record. On the
same date, the trading price of the company’s common stock closed at $48.45
per share.

Common Stock Prices
2005 High Low 2004 High Low

First Quarter $36.50 $30.27 First Quarter $38.25 $30.84

Second Quarter $37.29 $32.85 Second Quarter $36.10 $30.71

Third Quarter $42.11 $37.13 Third Quarter $34.61 $26.05

Fourth Quarter $42.03 $37.20 Fourth Quarter $33.00 $25.45

Investor Information
Call our toll-free investor information line, 1-800-407-5222, to receive addi-
tional printed information, including Form 10-Ks or quarterly reports on Form
10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and for access to fax-
on-demand services, shareholder services, pre-recorded messages and other
services. In addition, the company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission are available on our web site at www.hanover.com. Alternatively,
investors may address questions to:

Sujata Mutalik Debra Casey, CPA
Vice President, Investor Relations Director, Investor Relations
The Hanover Insurance Group The Hanover Insurance Group
t. 508-855-3457 / f. 508-853-4481 t. 508-855-6658 / f. 508-852-7588
smutalik@hanover.com dcasey@hanover.com

Corporate Governance
Our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Board Committee Charters, 
Code of Conduct and other information are available on our web site at
www.hanover.com under “Corporate Governance.” For a printed copy 
of any of these documents, shareholders may contact the company’s 
secretary at our corporate offices.

Regarding the quality of our public disclosures: The Company has filed its 
CEO and CFO Section 302 certifications as exhibits to its Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005. The company has also
submitted its annual CEO certification to the New York Stock Exchange, a 
copy of which is available on the company’s website, www.hanover.com, 
under “Corporate Governance-Certification.”
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